
Cabinet
Date: Monday, 24 February 2020
Time: 10.00 a.m.

Venue: Council Chamber - Birkenhead Town Hall

This meeting will be webcast at
https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Contact Officer: Andrew Mossop
Tel: 0151 691 8501
e-mail: andrewmossop@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any 
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest, in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER'S UPDATE

3. EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS (Pages 1 - 6)

Key Decisions – taken under delegated powers. Period 7 February, 
2020 (date of publication of last Cabinet agenda) to date.

Green Travel Corridors Sustainable Urban Development (SUD: 
Leasowe to Seacombe Ferry)

Decision Maker: Leader of the Council
Date of Decision: 7 February, 2020
Effective from: 15 February, 2020

Public Document Pack



Pollinators Action Plan and Grass Verge Pollinators Maintenance

Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate 
Change
Date of Decision: 13 February, 2020
Effective from: 21 February, 2020

4. WIRRAL GROWTH COMPANY (Pages 7 - 36)

5. WIRRAL YOUTH OFFER - PHASE 1 (Pages 37 - 78)

6. ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR COMMUNITY AND 
VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED PRIMARY AND SECONDARY 
SCHOOLS AND THE COORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEMES FOR 
2021-2022 (Pages 79 - 116)

7. CONSIDERATION OF PROPOSAL TO IMPLEMENT SELECTIVE 
LICENSING FOLLOWING CONSULTATION (Pages 117 - 296)

8. COMMUNITY WEALTH BUILDING STRATEGY (Pages 297 - 332)

9. REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARES (Pages 333 - 354)

The Licensing, Health and Safety and GP Committee, at its meeting 
on 22 January, 2020, has referred this matter to the Cabinet with a 
recommendation that the proposed increase to the Hackney Carriage 
fare tariff, be approved.

10. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act. The 
Public Interest test has been applied and favours exclusion. 

11. WIRRAL GROWTH COMPANY - EXEMPT APPENDICES
(Pages 355 - 460)

Exempt appendices to agenda item 4.

Audio/Visual Recording of Meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees 
using non-disruptive methods. For particular meetings we may identify a 
‘designated area’ for you to record from. If you have any questions about this 



please contact Committee and Civic Services (members of the press please 
contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair of the meeting has the 
discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons, including disruption 
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.

Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the 
material produced so that it can be reused and edited by all local people and 
organisations on a non-commercial basis.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



CABINET
Monday, 24 February 2020

WIRRAL GROWTH COMPANY

Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader of the Council, said:

“Our plans for economic growth are about creating community wealth. They’re about 
creating jobs and opportunities for local people, regenerating our commercial areas 
and inspiring ambition. Prosperous communities are happier, healthier and better 
places to live.

The Partnership Business Plan (PBP) will set out the strategic regeneration 
objectives of the Wirral Growth Company and pave the way for the next steps of 
Wirral’s major regeneration journey.

The plan will focus on several key priority sites, that together can bring about millions 
of pounds worth of investment and development to help deliver real regeneration and 
environmental improvements as well as numerous social benefits for Wirral.

It further demonstrates that we will not stop there. The approval of the Partnership 
Business Plan is a key step forward for the programme of regeneration that will help 
shape development in Wirral and enable the Growth Company to bring forward 
transformational schemes that deliver a real sense of place.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report seeks approval for the Wirral Growth Company Y1-3 Partnership 
Business Plan (PBP) and draft indicative Site Development Plans (SDPs) for initial 
priority sites.  In support of the PBP a full business case is also presented to seek 
approval for the Council to invest (through a forward funding annuity lease 
arrangement) in the first 2 office buildings (total 150,000 square foot) which form part 
of Birkenhead town centre masterplan, referred to as ‘Birkenhead Commercial 
District’ (BCD).

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and the decisions are key decisions.

EXEMPT INFORMATION

This report contains exempt information in the Appendices as defined in Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. It is in the public interest to exclude the press 
and public under Paragraph 3 ‘Information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding the information)’. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Appendix 1 includes the Wirral Growth Company Partnership Business Plan (PBP)

Appendix 2 includes the Full Business Case for investment the first phase of 
Birkenhead Commercial District (BCD.)

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Cabinet:

(a) Approve the Wirral Growth Company Y1-3 Partnership Business Plan, noting 
that it will be updated and reviewed on an annual basis. 

(b) Approve the draft indicative Site Development Plans for initial priority sites, 
which are; Moreton (Pasture Road), Moreton (Foxfield), Bromborough (Old 
Hall Road) and Birkenhead Town Centre, noting that these are indicative and 
final SDPs will be prepared and submitted for approval in line with the agreed 
site development process.

(c) Note that following approval of the PBP, planning applications will be taken 
forward as appropriate for initial priority sites. No work on site (other than site 
investigations and enabling work) will take place until an approved final SDP 
is in place

(d) Note that the Birkenhead Commercial District ‘redline’ for town centre site 
development has been extended to include Birkenhead Market, recently 
acquired land (B&M stores) and land which the Council is in the process of 
acquiring (Milton Pavements). This is attached as Appendix 3.

(e) Approve the Birkenhead Commercial District Full Business Case, specifically:

o approve funding arrangement set out in the report (annuity lease) as the 
preferred funding route;

o delegate authority to the S151 Officer, through the Wirral Growth 
Company, to appoint a commercial investment advisor to commence 
marketing of the investment opportunity; and

o note the use of forecast business rates income generated from the BCD 
phase 1 as a funding contribution to the project. 

Page 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 It is recommended that the WGC PBP is approved as it meets the Council’s 
strategic regeneration objectives and Wirral Growth Company LLP objectives 
as well as enabling the delivery of numerous social and economic benefits for 
the borough. Strategic objectives are attached as Appendix 4.

1.2 It is recommended that draft indicative Site Development Plans are agreed as 
this will enable site development planning to progress across all priority sites. 
Next steps will be public outreach consultation and progression of planning 
applications for Moreton (Foxfield), Moreton (Pasture Road) and Bromborough 
(Old Hall Lane) and more detailed design work and the progression of planning 
applications for Birkenhead Town Centre.

1.3 It is recommended that the preferred funding option for BCD is agreed as this 
is a key component to unlocking regeneration opportunities in Birkenhead. By 
funding the first phase of office development in Birkenhead through an annuity 
lease forward funding model a surplus will be created which will enable surplus 
contributions to be made towards the funding of a new Market in Birkenhead 
a well as residential development within Birkenhead which would be otherwise 
unviable. The cross subsidy of such surplus is a key principle of the WGC and 
one of the drivers for creation of the WGC LLP. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The ‘do nothing’ option was not considered as it would not achieve the 
Council’s strategic regeneration objectives or the WGC LLP Objectives, it 
would also be in breach the LLP Partnership Agreement.

2.2 Public Works & Loans Board (PWLB) funding (borrowing) was considered as 
an alternative funding option for BCD Offices but discounted as the annuity 
lease forward funding model was considered to better meet the Council’s 
objectives. This is detailed fully in the attached business case (Appendix 2.)

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 On 19th June 2017, the Cabinet considered and approved a Full Business 
Case (FBC) which set out a proposal to create a Property Company (‘Wirral 
Growth Company’). The Corporate Director for Business Management was 
authorised to commence and conduct an OJEU works concession competitive 
dialogue process to identify a private sector partner with which to form a Joint 
Venture (JV) vehicle to develop sites and areas within Wirral to meet the 
Council’s strategic objectives.

3.2 Following the Cabinet’s approval, an OJEU notice was issued on 4th July 2017 
and the procurement process commenced. A four-stage competitive dialogue 
process was followed and on 3rd January 2018 final tenders were received 
from two short-listed bidders. Bidders were scored against a series of 
questions each with set criteria and weightings. Key areas tested were 
stakeholder engagement, sales and marketing approach, assets 
management, business planning, programme and supply chain management, 

Page 9



approach to social value, masterplanning /design and financial modelling. 
Specifically, bidders were required to provide RIBA 1 masterplans for sample 
schemes which the Council had identified as initial priority sites. 

3.3 On 28th February 2018, the Cabinet agreed to award the works concession to 
Muse Developments and to form a JV LLP between Muse Developments and 
Wirral Borough Council (’Wirral Growth Company’)

3.4 On 19th March 2019 the Council and Muse Developments signed the Joint 
Venture Partnership Agreement and Wirral Growth Company LLP was 
created. 

3.5 As agreed in the Partnership Agreement, the Objectives of the WGC are:

(a) to bring forward, in a timely manner and responding to market demand, 
the development of the indicative sites and potentially to undertake 
other site development;

(b) to bring forward, responding to market demand, the development of 
sites which are considered more difficult to develop at a comparable 
rate with sites which are considered easier to develop; 

(c) to make strategic and opportunistic acquisitions, in particular 
interventions that support the implementation of the Council's Growth 
Plan or the development of an improved retail, commercial and public 
sector offer in Birkenhead and other Wirral town centres; 

(d) to secure an adequate return to the JV Partners commensurate to their 
investment and the level of risk in respect of such investment to 
maximise the profits made by the LLP; and

(e) to support the Council in pursuit of its wider objectives by identifying 
and helping deliver favourable solutions that balance financial, 
economic and social returns.

3.6 Since signing the Partnership Agreement the Wirral Growth Company has 
been reviewing, in detail, the development opportunities afforded by the sites 
made available by the Council through the WGC Option Agreement.

3.7 In preparing the Partnership Business Plan WGC has identified and focused 
its attention on the initial priority sites as identified in the Partnership 
Agreement. These sites are Moreton (Foxfield), Moreton (Pasture Road), 
Bromborough (Old Hall Road) and Birkenhead Town Centre. The PBP 
demonstrates that together these opportunities can bring about millions of 
pounds worth of investment and development over the next 3-5 years to help 
deliver real regeneration and environmental improvements as well as a 
number of social benefits for Wirral residents and communities.

3.8 It further demonstrates that development will not stop there. This Business 
Plan prepares a financial platform for further development projects to be 
delivered across the borough as other sites and opportunities are identified.  

3.9 This WGC Partnership Business Plan (focusing in detail on the first 3 years of 
the partnership), incorporates indicative Site Development Plans (SDPs) for 
the initial priority sites.  

Page 10



3.10 Each SDP is set out under the following headings and includes commentary 
on:

(i) Site description and location plan
(ii) Development overview and design strategy
(iii) Planning and environmental issues
(iv) Site assembly and third-party land requirements
(v) Construction Strategy and phasing
(vi) Financial appraisal and viability
(vii) Development programme
(viii) Procurement of works and services

3.11 Following approval of the draft indicative Site Development Plans a final Site 
Development Plan will be prepared for each phase of the development. These 
will be prepared following receipt of the appropriate planning consent and in 
advance of the relevant site transfer under the Option Agreement. They will 
include a detailed financial appraisal and QS cost report and will be submitted 
for approval to the JV Board and the Council prior to any development work 
commencing on site.

3.12 A summary of the nature of development proposed for each site is provided 
below.

Moreton (Foxfield) Draft Indicative Site Development Plan

Redline plan attached as Appendix 5.

3.13 It is proposed that the site of the former Foxfield school is to be redeveloped 
for new family housing which is much needed across the borough and for 
which there is anticipated to be much demand in the Moreton area. The 
development will provide a variety of new homes for both sale and affordable 
tenure in the local housing market. The scheme has been designed to offer a 
number of varying house types including 2,3 and 4 bedroom of both 2 and 2.5 
storey heights. Current plans indicate in the region of 69 housing units on this 
site with a minimum of 20% being affordable (in accordance with planning 
policy).

3.14 The Wirral Growth Company seek to work with Council Officers and the local 
community moving forward to ensure that the proposals will deliver a high-
quality residential development that is compatible with the surrounding area.  
This will include pre-application outreach consultation events and further 
consultation during the planning application process.  

3.15 The construction will be delivered over a series of phases which will then be 
released / drip fed into the market for sale. Following public consultation and 
planning application, construction is planned to commence on site in 
Summer/Autumn 2020 with final phase completion anticipated in Autumn 
2022.

Moreton (Pasture Road) Draft Indicative Site Development Plan

Redline plan attached as Appendix 6.

Page 11



3.16 The masterplan for the Pasture Road site at Moreton represents an 
opportunity to redevelop a partially derelict and under-utilised site for a 
combination of new uses to assist the regeneration and environmental 
improvement of Moreton town centre for the benefit of local residents.

3.17 The proposed masterplan provides for the following on the site; food store, 
Extra Care residential accommodation, family housing, youth/community 
provision (exact nature yet to be determined) and retained library and health 
centre.

.
3.18 WGC are proposing a single storey food store at the southern end of the site 

closest to the existing retail core of Moreton. The development would include 
a car park which would be accessed directly from Pasture Road and will also 
be available (subject to time constraints) to shoppers visiting the existing 
Moreton shops.

3.19 The indicative site development plan includes a three storey extra-care 
residential facility of approximately 60 bedrooms together with an external 
garden area. This is situated on the Pasture Road frontage close to the health 
centre and adjoining Maurice Jones Court.

3.20 Much of the balance of the site is proposed development for 2, 3 and 4 
bedroom family housing accessed from Knutsford Road. The precise mix of 
homes is to be determined but WGC is confident that there will be strong 
demand from first time buyers and families for housing in such a sustainable 
and central location in Moreton. 

3.21 Both the library and health centre provide valuable community facilities in the 
centre of Moreton for local residents and shall be retained within the wider 
masterplan proposals. At the time of writing, the Council is undertaking a 
review of youth services and is yet to identify what facilities may be required 
in and around this site for young people. Although the type and nature of this 
youth facility is yet to be determined, WGC is proposing a capital contribution 
towards it. 

3.22 As is the case with Moreton Foxfield development, WGC will work with Council 
Officers and the local community to ensure that the proposals will deliver a 
high-quality development across the site which is compatible with the 
surrounding area. This will include pre-application outreach consultation 
events and further consultation during the planning application process.  

3.23 It is anticipated that the Food Store and Extra Care facility will be land sales to 
the specialist sectors. The key phases of construction are set out below:

 Food store land sale – December 2020 
 Extra Care land sale – May 2021
 Residential (potential land sale or start on site) – May 2021

 
3.24 The proposed sale of land for this development reflects the requirement for 

freehold to be relinquished to enable the end users to agree to the relevant 
schemes and it does not set a precedent for other WGC schemes.   

Page 12



3.25 In accordance with the Partnership Business Plan the Council will receive 
100% of the residual land sale value from the relevant elements of the Pasture 
Road site. No WGC partner is receiving a separate profit element on land sales 
for this site. The land value owed to the Council will be reinvested into the 
Growth Company via loan. This will earn interest for the Council and enable 
support for otherwise unviable schemes to come forward which will in turn 
provide further income for the Council through business rates and /or Council 
tax. The loan will be repaid to the Council at the end of the phase 1 Partnership 
Business Plan. 

Bromborough (Old Hall Road) Draft Indicative Site Development Plan

Redline plan attached as Appendix 7.

3.26 The site at Old Hall Road in Bromborough comprises approximately 20 acres 
of vacant brownfield land previously utilised by the MOD. The site was cleared 
in circa. 2005 and over time it has become overgrown with self-seeded trees 
and vegetation. Despite its locations on the edge of the existing Business Park, 
the site lies directly to the north of existing leisure uses and its redevelopment 
potential for family homes represents a clear opportunity to act as a transition 
between the suburban areas of Bromborough and the employment uses to the 
north and east. 

3.27 The site has been designated for industrial development for over 20 years but 
no development has been brought forward in over two decades. WGC has 
undertaken industrial appraisal work including full design layouts for a mix of 
industrial, trade-counter and warehousing units across the site. Market and 
viability testing however suggests that delivering these employment uses on 
the site is unviable. This helps explain why no development has been 
undertaken to date.

3.28 Since preparation of the first draft PBP in November it has come to light that 
an adjoining occupier has a requirement to expand its manufacturing facility 
on Tebay Road. This will help secure jobs in the borough if the facility can be 
accommodated on the site, although the facility will be delivered by another 
developer (not WGC) due to their land ownerships.

3.29 Whilst discussions are at an early stage it is understood that the expansion 
requirement could be in the order of 100,000 square foot and require 6-7 acres 
of the 20-acre site.  In addition, a new access road is likely to be required which 
will run across the site and further reduce the net developable land which will 
remain. The scale, layout and proximity of this new facility will naturally impact 
on the balance of the site to be brought forward by WGC.

3.30 Residential layout plans and options will therefore be prepared in due course 
when these proposals are further advanced, and the form of development is 
known. In the meantime, efforts will initially focus on establishing a residential 
change of use on the retained land through the planning process and the 
emerging local plan. 

Page 13



Birkenhead Commercial District (& Europa Blvd) Draft Indicative Site 
Development Plan

Redline plan attached as Appendix 3.

3.31 The proposed masterplan for Birkenhead Commercial District & Europa Blvd 
presents an opportunity for a transformational mixed-use redevelopment to 
bring about much needed intervention and improvement to the social, physical 
and economic environment of the town. The masterplan is a guiding template 
for future development but equally it is flexible to be able to adapt to changes 
in the market to ensure pace of development is maintained throughout an 
envisaged delivery period of 10-15 years. The Council is also developing a 
masterplan / delivery action plan to cover the wider town centre. The Wirral 
Growth Company masterplan will form a key element of this plan and together 
produce a comprehensive approach to the regeneration of the town centre.

3.32 The Wirral Growth Company masterplan will be delivered in several phases 
over this period and it may well be necessary to change the sequencing and 
timing of individual phases in the future to adapt to prevailing market conditions 
and Council’s priority requirements at that time. The masterplan responds to 
feedback from local consultation and stakeholder engagement undertaken by 
the WGC to date. Stage One and Two Consultation Reports can be found 
here: http://www.wirralgrowthcompany.co.uk/. 

3.33 It is a robust plan with built in flexibility which meets the WGC objective for the 
regeneration of Birkenhead Town Centre to redesign and redevelop the 
existing assets of the town to transform it into a modern, thriving centre with a 
bustling civic hub, a new and vibrant market offer dedicated to quality food and 
fresh produce and the potential for an enhanced leisure offer for the town’s 
residents and visitors.

3.34 The wider aspirations of the masterplan will see the new development spread 
to the north along Europa Boulevard through the introduction of high-quality 
homes into the town centre. This development will reach out to connect with 
the historic centre of Birkenhead at Hamilton Square and must link in with 
wider initiatives for the town including Wirral Waters and the future 
redevelopment of Woodside waterfront area whilst constantly reinforcing 
connections to the civic and retail heart at the core of the town centre. This will 
be addressed through the wider Birkenhead delivery action plan.

3.35 The regeneration proposals covered by the masterplan offer a significant 
development opportunity for Birkenhead’s long-term future prosperity. It 
covers an area of the town centre that has been suffering slow decline for 
many years which has been accelerated in the recent past due to well 
documented problems being faced by traditional high street retailers. This 
strategic masterplan seeks to reverse that trend by introducing new high-
quality offices into a town centre alongside a rejuvenated market and family 
leisure together with new town houses and apartments. All these uses will be 
focused on new public spaces, including green squares and pedestrian 
friendly streets which link back into the surrounding street network.

Page 14

http://www.wirralgrowthcompany.co.uk/


3.36 The character of the immediate area is peppered with poor quality buildings 
architecturally, making the site a relatively blank canvas, whereas the area 
around Hamilton Square to the north east possesses buildings of fine 
architectural quality including Birkenhead Town Hall. The longer-term 
ambitions are to see the regeneration spreading to connect strongly with 
Hamilton Square area and then on further to Woodside waterfront.

3.37 A new central business district comprising a mix of Council and commercial 
offices that will add a civic function into the town centre as well as introducing 
jobs and significant footfall. These buildings will consolidate a number of 
existing council offices, introducing a modern working environment and 
reducing the Council’s costs in maintaining and operating inefficient properties 
across the borough.

3.38 A new purpose designed modern market is also being proposed. At the time 
of writing, a number of potential locations are being explored with the preferred 
options being either the former M&S unit or re-provision of the market on the 
existing market footprint. There are benefits and potential constraints of each 
option which are being fully assessed. Once the options appraisal has been 
completed a Full Business Case with the recommended and preferred option 
will be presented to Cabinet (in March 2020).

3.39 In later phases, a proposed new hotel will support visitors to the town and new 
business district.

3.40 The introduction of much needed residential development in the form of town 
houses and new build apartments will bring residents and consumers back 
into the town centre and help to support the evening economy. 

3.41 New public squares, event spaces and pedestrian friendly streets will link new 
development to the existing network and key modes of transport.

3.42 The development summary (across entire masterplan) is highlighted below:

 Offices: Up to 500,000 square foot net internal area
 Retail/Leisure: 36,000 square foot gross internal area
 New market
 Residential: 700 apartments and townhouses
 Hotel: 110 bed
 Car parking (if dictated by demand): up to 300 parking spaces
  

3.43 The masterplan will be delivered over several phases over a number of years.  

Some of the key milestones for the initial phase are, as follows:

Submit Planning Applications June 2020
Start demolition on site July 2020 

(subject to Vacant Possession)
Start construction of Office 1 and 2 Feb 2021
Start construction of New Market Feb 2022
Complete Office 1 and Office 2 Jan 2023
Complete New Market Jan 2023

Page 15



Birkenhead Commercial District Investment

3.44 In order to unlock these regeneration opportunities in Birkenhead a number of 
funding opportunities including the Future High Street Fund and Town Deal 
Fund are being progressed. In addition, Avison Young (AY) have been 
appointed by the Council to produce a full business case to support the 
Councils decision to invest in Birkenhead Commercial District (BCD). 

3.45 This full business case builds on the previous report presented to Cabinet on 
26th November 2018, which approved the following recommendations in 
relation to BCD: - 

 (Agreed) to initiate a consultation programme with a view to informing a 
Masterplan for the Redevelopment of Birkenhead recognising that the 
Commercial District will be a key element.
Stage one public consultation was carried out in May/June 2019 and stage 
two was carried out in Oct/Nov 2019

 (Agreed) draft Business Case for Birkenhead Commercial District that will 
be refined through public consultation and engagement with a funder. 
The final full business case has been developed and presented as 
Appendix 2 to this report.

 (Agreed) the recommended funding approach and authorise the S151 
Officer to initiate work on a Forward Funding model of finance with Wirral 
Growth Company.
The final full business case has been developed preferred funding model 
presented as Appendix 2 to this report,

 (Agreed) the Staff Relocation Business Case with a view to moving 
administrative functions to Birkenhead whilst retaining front line services in 
communities. This will result in disposal / development / termination of 
lease/s of 14 existing sites.
A programme of works has since been developed to manage the asset 
consolidation and staff relocation. The current focus of this programme is 
to develop an assets consolidation plan and to identify the design and 
space requirements of the new Council occupied office space.

 (Approved) capital expenditure from the budget set aside for strategic 
acquisitions to complete land assembly within the BCD redline boundary.
The Vue cinema was acquired as part of the strategic acquisitions 
programme in December 2019 and authority has since been given for the 
acquisition of the Birkenhead current B&M store (purchase completed 
January 2020) and Milton Pavements site (acquisition in process.) These 
are all key elements of the masterplanning area.
 

3.46 This full business case focuses on the financial proposition associated with the 
Council investment into BCD and is summarised in the Financial Implications 
section below. The full report can be found in exempt Appendix 2.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Partnership Business Plan outlines phase 1 activity over the sites outlined 
above in the report. The financial returns based upon an annuity lease 
financing arrangement for the Birkenhead Commercial district are summarised 

Page 16



in the table below. These are subject to change as the plan develops and 
activity takes place.

Wirral Growth 
Company

£ millions Comments

Land Value / 
Development Surplus 

31.3 To support viability of sites agreed by 
Wirral Council and committed in the 
WGC PBP.

JV Profit 19.6 50% each to partners
Total Value of Phase 1 
Business Plan Return

50.9

Less JV Partner Profit -9.8 Partner Share
Wirral Council element 41.1 Development surplus, 50% JV profit 

and Land Value

4.2 The annuity lease is forecasted to produce significant development surplus 
which can be reinvested to support sites that would otherwise be unviable. 
This will benefit Wirral in developing sites which otherwise would not be 
developed in the timescale required. 

4.3 An annuity lease would require the Council to enter into a long-term 
commitment for a 35-year headlease for the Birkenhead Commercial District 
Offices. This requires a substantial financial commitment with associated 
upside and downside risk. Upside is the ability to retain all profit on sub lettings 
if generated. Downside is ability to fund commitment if target rent levels are 
not achieved, void space from non-letting occurs or indexation of headlease 
annual uplift is higher than anticipated. The above table does not include these 
elements.

4.4 The Council will become owners of the assets after the headlease period 
ends for a nominal fee of £1. 

4.5 A key to mitigating financial risk is the successful migration from and disposal 
of current occupied Council buildings. Savings on running costs of older 
buildings, and any capital receipts received will help support the Council’s 
finances. 

4.6 A successful regeneration will lead to increased revenues from Council Tax 
and Business Rates. The level of return will be determined by timing and size 
of regeneration and the uplift this causes to the wider area. 

4.7 Other financing options have been considered such as Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) and Bond financing. Whilst having some advantages such as 
PWLB rates being fixed and payments known, or bond repayment being on 
maturity of loan period it would be difficult to generate the development surplus 
to reinvest whilst the ability to bring profit into the Council revenue budget 
would be curtailed. A forward funder will be financing all costs ahead of 
completion removing such liabilities from the Council.

4.8 There will be additional costs which fall to the Council in terms of fit out of any 
building the Council occupies. There would also be costs of foregone income 

Page 17



for any rent-free periods which are common for new tenancies. Fit out costs 
could be funded via capital funding whilst any costs of incentives would be 
spread out across the whole term of tenant leases reducing any early impact 
on the council revenue budget. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The preferred funding arrangements for the BCD must not expose the Council 
to undue financial risk and must provide value for money.

5.2 If the Cabinet agrees to include the Milton Pavement and B&M sites in the 
BCD (and there is no legal obligation on the Council to do so), the Council will 
not be able to use the land for non-WGC purposes.

5.3 Milestone dates for granting WGC an option on, and vacant possession of, 
Milton Pavement and the B&M building and for entering into an annuity lease 
become legally binding on the Council if they are agreed. Any extensions to 
these dates will need to be agreed by all JV Board Members, such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

5.4. At the present moment Milton Pavement is in the process of being acquired by 
the Council and is subject to 7 tenancies. Negotiations are continuing with the 
owners for the purchase of the properties and a longstop date for vacant 
possession has been agreed within the Heads of Terms.  

           
5.5 The Council should seek the best price reasonably obtainable for land which 

it agrees to convey or lease to WGC.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The Partnership Business Plan will be delivered by the Wirral Growth 
Company (both Muse Developments and Council Officers.) and in line with the 
Partnership Agreement (PA) agreed by both parties in March 2019.

6.2 All Site Development Planning (SDPs) and construction will be managed by 
the Development Manager (Muse) in line with the Development Management 
Agreement (DMA) agreed by both parties in March 2019.

6.3 All sites (Council assets) will be transferred and managed in line with the 
Options Agreement (OA) agreed by both parties in March 2019.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

Risks are set out in the table below:

Risk Occurrence Impact Action to mitigate in 
advance

Action to mitigate if 
event occurs

Planning and Design

7.1 Failure to 
secure planning 
permission 
within the 
timescales. 

Low High

Engage with planning 
officers as soon as 
possible to map any 
potential constraints and 
objections. 

Review and revise 
planning strategy 
through 
engagement with 
the LPA. 

Page 18



Risk Occurrence Impact Action to mitigate in 
advance

Action to mitigate if 
event occurs

7.2 Changes in 
national and 
local planning 
policy and 
strategy.

Moderate Moderate

Engage within the 
Council to ensure that 
appropriate changes are 
made to draft policies 
where necessary to 
facilitate site delivery.

Revise planning 
strategy to reflect 
new policy 
requirements.

7.3 Planning 
obligations 
(S.278) 
impacting 
viability. 

Moderate High 

Identify possible heads 
of terms early, 
understand likely impact 
on viability, develop 
robust negotiation 
strategy and engage 
with LPA early. 

Assess level and 
type of impact, 
agree extent to 
which issues need 
to be addressed, 
design and 
implement strategy 
for negotiating 
amendments.  

7.4 Judicial 
Review. Low High

Ensure application is 
technically robust (if 
needs be with legal 
review prior to 
application submission). 
Ensure LPA processes 
application in sound 
manner and all 
procedures correctly 
followed. Review draft 
committee report prior to 
publication if possible.

Instruct legal team 
to defend challenge 
and seek early 
dismissal by the 
Courts.

Political and Economic

7.5 Changes in 
Government 
and Policy at 
national level.

Low Low / 
Moderate

Monitor political 
positions forward plan 
prior to election.

Evaluate changed 
policies and revise 
delivery strategy 
and programme 
accordingly.

7.6 Change in 
political control 
at Wirral 
Borough 
Council.

Low Moderate
Monitor political position 
– forward plan working 
with officers.

Evaluate any 
changes in political 
instruction and 
revise strategy and 
programme 
accordingly.

Market/ Commercial

7.7 Market 
uncertainty. 
negatively 
impacting on 
rate of take-up, 

Low 
/Moderate High

Implementation of a 
Commercial letting 
strategy in place to 
mitigate commercial 
risk. 

Assess extent of 
potential impact and 
revise strategy and 
timetable to reflect 
changed 
circumstances if 
needed.

Page 19



Risk Occurrence Impact Action to mitigate in 
advance

Action to mitigate if 
event occurs

rents, yields and 
incentives. 

7.8 Lack of 
long-term 
investor 
appetite. 

Low High

Soft market testing of 
the investment 
opportunity and 
awareness raising of the 
opportunity at an 
appropriate time to 
ensure the proposition 
adequately responds to 
the market.

Assess extent of 
potential impact and 
revise viability 
strategy and 
timetable to reflect 
changed 
circumstances if 
needed.

7.9 Surplus 
office supply 
and competing 
sites impacting 
ability to deliver.

Low Moderate 
/High

Continually monitor 
pipeline of 
sites/schemes and 
delivery programmes to 
ensure the opportunity 
is offered at an 
appropriate time.

Assess extent of 
potential impact and 
revise strategy and 
timetable to reflect 
changed 
circumstances if 
needed.

7.10 Poor 
viability of 
scheme as a 
result of high 
enabling costs, 
and 
environmental 
issues 
negatively 
impacting on 
marketability.
 

Moderate Moderate

Procure all necessary 
works and engage with 
third parties to 
understand enabling 
and infrastructure costs 
and impact on 
development.

Seek to secure 
external grant 
funding support for 
the enabling and 
infrastructure costs.  
Liaise with third 
party stakeholders 
on any financial 
support that can be 
provided.

7.11 Cost 
Inflation on 
infrastructure 
and/or build 
costs negatively 
impacting on 
viability.

Moderate Moderate

Monitor economic 
position through 
Research Team, and 
run sensitivities on 
appraisals completed to 
understand viability 
tolerances.

Seek to secure 
external grant 
funding support for 
the enabling and 
infrastructure costs.  
Liaise with third 
party stakeholders 
on any financial 
support that can be 
provided.

Page 20



Risk Occurrence Impact Action to mitigate in 
advance

Action to mitigate if 
event occurs

7.12 Economic 
downturn / 
Recession.

Low / 
Moderate

Moderate
/ High

Prepare contingency 
plan and monitor 
economic position 
regularly via Research 
Team, relating this to 
the timing of the 
development. 

Assess extent of 
potential impact and 
revise strategy and 
timetable to reflect 
changed 
circumstances.

Procurement

7.13 Financial 
stability of the 
main contractor/ 
risk of 
administration.

Moderate/ 
High High

Ensuring there is a clear 
strategy set out within 
the Developer/ 
Contractor agreement 
with financial 
management checks.

Implementation of 
the strategy 
immediately as set 
out with the legal 
agreement. 

Legal

7.14 Inability of 
Council to 
achieve 
contractual 
Milestone Dates
In Partnership 
Business Plan 
and Partnership 
Agreement
for reasons 
beyond its 
Reasonable 
control.

Moderate/
High      High

Seek agreement of 
Muse and WGC that 
Partnership Business 
Plan will allow the 
Council to apply for 
reasonable extensions 
of time to achieve 
Milestone Dates, such 
consents not to be 
unreasonably withheld 
or delayed.

Submit prompt 
requests for 
extensions backed 
up by sufficient 
evidence to support.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
 

8.1 WGC operates on an open and transparent basis to ensure that both partners 
are fully aware and engaged in the strategy, ideas and proposals for the 
business going forward. Regular programme review meetings with senior 
Officers and update meetings with the Council’s Chief Executive and Leader 
are fixed in the diary.  

8.2 Member drop-in events have been held and meetings have also been held 
with local Members on development proposals for specific sites to ensure an 
inclusive approach. WGC has also set out to fully engage with the residents of 

Page 21



the Wirral through extensive public consultation on all major development 
proposals.  

8.3 Stages one and two of consultation for Birkenhead Development have taken 
place and outcomes incorporated into masterplan development. Consultation 
reports can be found on the WGC website.

8.4 Consultation plans for other priority sites are being developed and will be 
launched at the appropriate stage after approval of the draft indicative site 
development plans.

8.5 The incorporation of WGC presents an opportunity to build a long-term 
partnership that can renew and re-energise key sites and communities 
across the Wirral. In order to generate awareness, interest and support for 
WGC’s regeneration activity, a meaningful programme of engagement with 
stakeholders and the local community is critical. This is not only to meet with 
the Council’s corporate governance and planning policy requirements but 
also for encouraging ‘buy-in’ to the deliverability of well-considered and 
viable development proposals.

8.6 WGC is committed to putting communities at the forefront of the placemaking 
agenda. Every site has its own set of issues and opportunities that are unique. 
WGC acknowledge that a flexible approach to outreach, engagement and 
consultation is important so that the issues, concerns, suggestions and ideas 
identified by local people can be considered as part of the masterplanning 
process.

8.7 WGC is currently focusing its consultation and engagement strategy for the 
priority sites in Bromborough, Birkenhead and Moreton. For each project, 
engagement styles and techniques will be selected and specially tailored to 
inspire and involve the communities we are working with. This process 
includes agreeing a communications protocol at the outset of each project to 
ensure the activity reaches out and engages with a wide range of people and 
businesses.

8.8 To aid the communication process, a dedicated website and social media 
account has been established. WGC’s approach will ensure that these digital 
channels of communication are maintained alongside more traditional targeted 
physical displays, one to one meetings, handouts and press articles. 

8.9 This multi-channel approach is being progressed to ensure that the risks that 
arise during the life of the JV partnership can be fully appraised and addressed 
through each project. This staged process of implementation and review will 
also ensure that outreach activity and communication is transparent about the 
steps involved with the regeneration and transformation of sites and 
communities across the Wirral.

8.10 Full details of the WGC Communications Strategy are included in the 
Partnership Business Plan attached as Appendix 1.

Page 22



8.11 WGC understands the importance and opportunity of collaborating with the 
local and wider Liverpool City Region community to bring about positive 
economic and social benefits, through the development of our sites.    

8.12 WGC will work in partnership with Supply Chain Contracting Partners on each 
phase of development to ensure the successful delivery of social value 
objectives on a project by project basis.

9.0 SOCIAL VALUE

9.1 A draft Social Value strategy is also included in the WGC Business Plan. This 
document sets out the minimum expected targets and outlines the framework 
against which a more detailed, comprehensive Social Value Plan (SVP) is to 
be developed and subsequently, implemented for each Development Site. 

9.2 It is not intended for this document to be overly prescriptive, given each project 
will contain different variables, based upon location, size and the nature of the 
project. Contractors who are procured will need to be creative in how they 
deliver an expansive SVP that delivers real benefits to the local and wider 
communities.

9.3 A Social Value Plan will be brought forward for each phase of development 
and will consider: 

 Employment Opportunities
 Local Economy & Community
 Safety, Health & the Environment

  
9.4 WGC will give consideration to the young and old, and the more vulnerable 

members of the community to assess how it can assist them through 
developments and present them with opportunities. WGC will use the Social 
Value Portal, established and used by various Councils in the region to target, 
report and measure the impact and results of Social Value.

10.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The equality impact assessment associated with this report can be accessed 
here: https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-
impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/busine-0

11.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Through the Wirral Growth Company, the Council will be an advocate of 
promoting energy efficient buildings and of ensuring that any new 
developments minimise their impact on climate change. One example of this 
is that all Office buildings proposed will be designed and built to BREEAM 
Excellent standards. 

11.2 The Council is putting in place a range of measures to accelerate progress to 
adopting a zero-carbon environment and the recommendations in this report 
will be taken forward to reflect these measures.  

 

Page 23

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/busine-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/busine-0


11.3 Environment and climate considerations are key elements which will be 
specifically tested by WGC throughout the procurement of all contractors (in 
line with standards set out within the WGC Partnership Agreement). 

11.4 Through Social Value Plans and in line with the Social Value strategy (as 
detailed above) consideration will be given to a number of Health, Safety and 
Environmental issues. These will be identified specific to each development 
and appropriate targets set (by the JV Board) which will be measured and 
reported against at quarterly JV Board meetings.

 
REPORT AUTHOR Alan Evans, 

Director of Regeneration & Place
Email: alanevans@wirral.gov.uk
Tel: 0151 691 8319

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Wirral Growth Company Y1-3 
Partnership Business Plan

Exempt by virtue of Para 3, Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972

Appendix 2 Birkenhead Commercial District 
Full Business Case

Exempt by virtue of Para 3, Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972

Appendix 3 BCD Redline Plan

Appendix 4 Council and LLP Objectives

Appendix 5 Moreton (Foxfield) Redline Plan

Appendix 6 Moreton (Pasture Road) Redline 
Plan

Appendix 7 Bromborough (Old Hall Lane) 
Redline Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
JV Partnership Agreement (Exempt)
JV Options Agreement (Exempt)
JV Development Management Agreement (Exempt)
JV Corporate Services Agreement (Exempt)
Background working papers as referred to in the Partnership Business Plan (Exempt)

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Cabinet – Property Company Strategic Options Report

Cabinet – Property Company Full Business Case (FBC)

27/02/17

19/06/17

Page 24

mailto:alanevans@wirral.gov.uk


Cabinet – Preferred Bidder decision

Cabinet – Draft BCD Business Case and Staff Relocation FBC

Cabinet – Land Assembly to support BCD

28/02/18

26/11/18

04/11/19

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



..
issue status

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all related drawings.  All dimensions must be checked and

verified on site before commencing any work or producing shop drawings. The originator should be

notified immediately of any discrepancy.  This drawing is copyright and remains the property of AHR.

drawing number

project number

rev

scale

drawing

project

client

Rev

original by

Description Date App byDr by

@A1

date created Approved by

MUSE Developments Ltd

Wirral Growth Company
Birkenhead Town Centre Masterplan

Existing Site Plan - Red Line Boundary

2017 00877 000

EX(00)023

1:1250

29.08.18 DM

AHR Architects Ltd

Parsonage Chambers

3 The Parsonage

Manchester

M3 2HW

United Kingdom

T  +44(0)161 8287900

E  manchester@ahr-global.com

www.ahr-global.com

Page 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
CLIFTON CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Memorial

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
20 to 24

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
8.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Ramp

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Rising Bollards

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
11.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Europa Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
155

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
PARK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Tunnel

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Tunnel

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
11 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
EUROPA BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
(Station)

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
9 to 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
St John Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Milton Pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
10 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
CLAUGHTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Bus Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Market Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
4 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Rose Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Vincent

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
FEARNLEY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
LOWWOOD GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
6.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
WOOD CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
12 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
16 to 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
1 to 15

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
210

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
28 to 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
33 to 35

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
1 to 15

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
BANK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
82 to 90

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
10.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Viaduct

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
St Werburgh's

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
4 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Central Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
2 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
EUROPA BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
9.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
Telephone Exchange

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
DACRE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
9.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
5 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
ELM STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
Borough Pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
7.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
Childrens

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
Tranmere

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
St Laurences

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
152 to 186

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
ST JOHN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
Emmanuel Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
192

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
6.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
Cathcart Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
ARGYLE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
RC Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
40 to 44

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
KENDAL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
WALTON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
Presbytery

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
11a

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
17 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
Birkenhead Central (Station)

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
PRICE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
Cleveland

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
Conway Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
HEMINGFORD STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
CLWYD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
Campus

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
Car Pk

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Pumping

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
Business Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
6.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
3 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
Bandstand

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
CONWAY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
The Europa Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
Elm House

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
Day Care

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
9.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
46a

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
BOROUGH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
ST LAURENCE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
WATSON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
RC Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
202

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
32 to 38

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
The Guild Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
11 to 15

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
LORN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
MARION STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
10.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
ADELPHI STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
(Government Offices)

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
20 to 23

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
OLIVER LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
99 to 105

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
Queensgate

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
10.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
Warehouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
BOROUGH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
Ramp

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
War

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
Carriage Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
BOROUGH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
THE WOODLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
MP .25

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
7.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
Europa Pools

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
Conway Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
ADELPHI STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
Europa House

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
142

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
6.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
188

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
185

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
BURLINGTON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
(Council Office)

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
BACK OLIVER STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
GRANGE ROAD EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
Cinema

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
PARK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
RUSSELL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
9.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
Railway (disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
Post Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
St John's

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
PINE COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
Harkins

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
42a

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
37a

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
&

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
208

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
185 to 199

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
The Pyramids

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
Warehouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
158

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
201

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
ST ANNE'S CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
ST ANNE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
Cygnet Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
3 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
Warehouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
Sloping masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
Municipal Building

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
TAYLOR STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
10.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
11.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
8.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
Multistorey Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
Health

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
3a

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
WOOD STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
CLEVELAND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
120a

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
PARK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
10.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
PARKFIELD AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
PARKFIELD PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
9.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
50a

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
Day Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
192

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
TCPs

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
8.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
194

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
Factory

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
Brunswick House

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
Egan Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
23 to 28

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
3 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
St Werburgh's

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
Clock Tower

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
Warehouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
13 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
Vincent Naughton Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
CLIFTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
KINMEL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
BOROUGH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
(Council Offices)

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
CONWAY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Price Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
8.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
Europa Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
59a

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
CARDIGAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
ST LAURENCE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
161

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
9.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
Multistorey Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
ROBERT STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
22 to 26

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
ATHOL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
24 to 28

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
Niord House

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
Factory

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
WILBRAHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
88 to 92

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
OLIVER STREET EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
Princes Pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
32 to 38

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
26 to 30

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
GRANGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
1 to 73

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
8.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
BIRCHWOOD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
BIRCHWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
Trinity Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
Hamilton Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
CLWYD STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
7.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
5 to 9

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
9.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
BROOK STREET EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
MARION STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
Conway Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
Borough Pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
St John's Pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
6.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
32 to 36

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
FLORENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
BECKWITH STREET EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
6.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
WOODLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
48a

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
Birkenhead

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
LOWWOOD GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
ST ANNES WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
10.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
187

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
164

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
Ventilating

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
72a

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
Lorn Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
ARGYLE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
12.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
11.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
1 to 22

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
GRANGE ROAD EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
BOROUGH PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
BOROUGH

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
HIND STREET



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

WIRRAL GROWTH COMPANY OBJECTIVES AGREED IN JV PARTERNERSHIP AGREEEMENT 

1. COUNCIL'S OBJECTIVES 

The Council's Objectives in relation to the Business are to: 

(a) secure local economic growth;

(b) make a positive contribution towards delivery of the Council's Asset Transformation 
Programme;

(c) contribute to ensuring that businesses encouraged to invest in the Wirral have 
access to property that meets their needs and delivers business rate growth;

(d) better utilise the Council's assets to drive socio-economic change to secure a 
sustainable future for the benefit of the community; 

(e) maximise the Council’s financial return from the disposal of its land and property 
assets with a preference to generate secure revenue streams; 

(f) positively contribute towards the Council's Medium/Long Term Financial Strategy 
(LTFS);

(g) improve the environment;

(h) ensure the Council is not exposed to undue financial risk;

(i) comply with the Council's obligation to obtain best consideration reasonably 
obtainable on a disposal of its land; 

(j) to ensure and encourage additional private sector investment, capacity and 
capability which is enabled to support the broad regeneration objectives of the 
Council.

2. LLP'S OBJECTIVES

The LLP's Objectives in relation to the Business are to:

(k) bring forward, in a timely manner and responding to market demand, the 
development of the Sites and to undertake other site development;

(l) bring forward, responding to market demand, the Development of Sites which 
are considered more difficult to develop at a comparable rate with Sites which 
are considered easier to develop;

(m) make strategic and opportunistic acquisitions, in particular interventions that 
support the implementation of the Wirral Growth Plan or the development of an 
improved retail commercial and public sector offer in Birkenhead and other 
Wirral town centres; 

(n) secure an adequate return to the JV Partners commensurate with their 
investment and the level of risk in respect of such investments to maximise the 
profits made by the LLP; and

(o) support the Council in pursuit of its wider objectives by identifying and helping 
deliver favourable solutions that balance financial, economic and social returns.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET
Monday, 24 February 2020

WIRRAL YOUTH OFFER- PHASE 1

Councillor Tom Usher, Cabinet Member for Children, Families and Education, said:

“Local people want to be involved in shaping the services they use, and young people are 
no different. We are dedicated as a council to ensuring our services fit around our people 
and their needs.

We decided it was important to ask children and young people how we could improve, and 
more broadly, how we could make this borough an amazing place to grow up in. What we 
found was that when we ask young people their ideas, they have a real sense of what they 
want and need. Their contributions were clear, honest and realistic. This report is a 
summary of the findings, and what we should do based on those findings. We have asked. 
Now we have a duty to act.

This report would not have happened without the help of the young volunteers who 
delivered the questionnaire and all of those young people who stepped forward to give us 
their views.

REPORT SUMMARY

This report details Phase 1 of Wirral Council and the multi-agency partnership’s response to 
the youth consultation undertaken in the summer of 2019 and outlines the first phase of a 
Youth Offer which aims to enable young people in Wirral to be all that they can be. 

The proposals contained in this report seek to improve life chances and reduce inequalities 
for young people across the borough. The proposals support the delivery of the following 
objectives:

- Young people are ready for work and adulthood (Wirral Plan 2020);
- Vulnerable children reach their full potential (Wirral Plan 2020);
- Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their background 

or where they live (Wirral Council Plan 2025); and 
- Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, with 

public services there to support them when they need it (Wirral Council Plan 2025)

A commitment was made to young people that wherever possible their words would be 
used in reports. 

This matter affects all wards within the borough.

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



This is a key decision. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is asked to demonstrate a commitment to the young people of Wirral by endorsing 
the proposals for Phase 1 of the Youth Offer, which outlines the multi-agency partnership 
response to the youth consultation and associated findings report, Care More About Us 
(Appendix, Section 1).  

Cabinet is asked to endorse the proposed arrangements for management and governance 
of the Phase 1 of the Youth Offer and its implementation. 

Cabinet is asked to support the reallocation of £27,000 funding for website provision from 
Wirral Council to Wirral Metropolitan College. 

Page 38



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 In the summer of 2019 we, the multi-agency Wirral partnership, commenced a 
review of youth provision in Wirral. To enhance our needs analysis we undertook a 
consultation with young people. Asking them how we could make Wirral an amazing 
place for young people provided not only a wealth of brilliant ideas, but also an 
extraordinary insight into their day-to-day experience of being a young Wirral 
resident. Whilst for some participants they reflected on opportunity and positive 
experiences, for too many young people this was not the case and they conveyed a 
sense of disillusion, disappointment and exclusion from what Wirral, and childhood, 
should be offering them. 

1.2 We have a collective responsibility to learn from the consultation findings and to take 
action. We need to do more to reduce health inequalities and to break cycles of poor 
outcomes. In their response one young person stated, “Only the wealthy get the 
chance to do what they want and enjoy life, while us who are poor only get to 
survive.” We know from Public Health England data that there are significant health 
inequalities in the borough, and we need to act now to prevent the next generation 
experiencing the same outcomes. 

1.3 We need to do more for those facing disadvantage and be proactive about it. 
Already, at a young age, there are many adolescents who believe their future 
outcomes will be determined by where they live and their family’s financial situation. 
This is articulated by one respondent who stated, “The Wirral gives us low 
expectations in life, from the poor quality housing, buildings and poor areas. No one 
can afford anything to make things look better so we know we will live somewhere 
gross and unsafe.” Young people highlighted that we need to “improve inequalities in 
areas”, to “help those who need it better” and that they “shouldn’t have to ask for 
help”. 

1.4 We need to show young people that we care by investing in them. We need to 
remind ourselves that they are our children, and we need to provide them with the 
support and care we would want for our children. Not feeling valued or cared for was 
evident in many responses such as, “How young people are perceived is very poor. 
No respect for us, they think we are all the same”, and, “stop treating all adolescents 
as criminals”, and “make adults more accepting that not all teenagers are chavs”. By 
delivering these proposals we will demonstrate that we do care and begin to restore 
some of the faith that is clearly lacking in those young people who stated, “nothing 
will change” and “why ask if you don’t act on the issues”. 

1.5 In addition to the voice of young people, data and professional experience also 
provide a case for change. Currently we do not have a co-ordinated youth offer and 
although we have a wide range of good quality services and provision for young 
people, without co-ordination there is a lack of consistency, both gaps and 
duplication, and inequity. 

 1.6 Providing a Youth Offer which is part of an early intervention strategy, as detailed in 
these proposals, will help to create the supportive environment that all young people 
need in order to thrive. These Phase 1 proposals seek to improve daily life for any 

Page 39



young person by providing learning, fun, care, new experiences, socialisation and 
activities that are not just easy to access but hard to avoid. For those young people 
who are facing challenges or disadvantage their life chances should not be set in 
stone. Giving them the opportunity to become all that they can be is in our hands. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Responding to the recommendations of the Care More About Us report (Appendix, 
Section 1) has involved consideration of a wide range of options over a period of 
several months. Using a collaborative approach, the multi-agency Project and 
Management Groups have met on a regular basis, as has the Young People’s Action 
Group. These stakeholder forums have appraised relevant options, and all endorse 
the Phase 1 proposals set out in this report. Details of group membership and 
meetings are outlined in Partnership Approach to Formulating Proposals (Appendix, 
Section 2). 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 We want Wirral to be an amazing place for young people that supports them to be all 
that they can be. 

3.2 Throughout the review of the Youth Offer we have aimed to understand what young 
people in Wirral need to support their development and help them to achieve the 
best possible outcomes. With insight from the consultation, we have worked 
collaboratively to propose a Youth Offer which will be accessible and beneficial to all 
young people in the borough. 

3.3 The review focused on listening to what young people are telling us rather than 
making assumptions about what we think they want they are the experts. It is 
important to note that the Youth Offer is about more than youth clubs and leisure 
activities, it considers all aspects of young people’s lives, including: health & 
wellbeing; education, employment & learning; hobbies, activities & free time; youth 
voice & democracy; young people in their communities; and, advice, information and 
access. The proposed Youth Offer is a partnership venture, of which Council-run 
services are important, but they are part of a wider system for children and young 
people. 

             

Page 40



3.4 An amazing offer for young people in Wirral means:

- When they need help, they get it, quickly and easily;
- When they need someone to talk to, they know who that person is and how to 

contact them;
- They can access the types of hobbies, sports, pastimes, and leisure activities that 

interest them;
- They are inspired through education and learning to attend and achieve their 

goals;
- They can enjoy all that Wirral has to offer as a place;
- They are encouraged to have aspirations and there are people and services that 

support them to achieve their ambitions;
- Information, advice and guidance for the present and the future is readily 

available; 
- They have belonging in their communities, feel accepted and can live without fear 

for their safety;
- They can participate in their communities and make a positive contribution.

 
3.5 Working collaboratively with young people, public services, communities, voluntary 

and faith groups, residents, schools and other organisations, the proposed Phase 1 
Youth Offer seeks to meet the outcomes described above and enable young people 
to have the best possible experience in their daily lives.

3.6 The review of the Youth Offer has been underpinned by an agreed set of key 
principles:

- The voice and views of young people direct the review;
- Professionals, agencies, services, and commissioners set aside their own 

agendas to work collaboratively in the interest of meeting the needs of our 
young people;

- We will make the best possible use of all resources available, including 
people, buildings, funding, services, facilities and natural resources; 

- All agencies and individuals in the partnership recognise that there may be a 
need to change or re-purpose what we currently do and deliver to meet the 
needs of our young people;

- The review will allow all partners to play to their strengths, recognising that 
there is a part for each to play, regardless of size or status; and 

- All partners will seek to avoid any reductions in funding or investment in 
young people. Potential savings should be re-invested in the new Youth Offer.
 

3.7 As a partnership we have developed a Youth Offer logic model and four proposals 
for the Phase 1 of the Youth Offer. These are detailed below. 

Page 41



3.8 Phase 1 Youth Offer Logic Model 

P
age 42



3.9 Proposal One

P
age 43



3.10 Proposal Two

P
age 44



3.11 Proposal Three

P
age 45



3.12 Proposal Four

P
age 46



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Phase 1 proposals contained within this report would be delivered within the 
current budget allocation. Existing resource will be used differently to achieve the 
Youth Offer described. It is anticipated that the financial value of the Youth Offer will 
increase over the long-term as external organisations/philanthropists commit, as 
partners or sponsors, to the offer and to our young people. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 At present the Teen Wirral website is maintained and managed by Wirral Council’s 
Marketing and Communications Team at a cost of £27,000 per annum. It is proposed 
that the website is de-commissioned, and funding re-directed to Wirral Metropolitan 
College as providers of a digital platform for the Youth Offer. This presents a 
reduction of funding for the Marketing and Communications Team. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The most significant risk would be not taking action on the findings of the 
consultation. We asked young people, who make up approximately 20% of Wirral’s 
population, what they need us to do to help them become all they can be, and they 
told us very eloquently and clearly what that is. We now have a collective 
responsibility to act. We must respond in a manner which shows that we care and 
are investing in their future. 

7.2 Deliverability is a potential risk. Aligned with our Council values, the proposed Phase 
1 Youth Offer is customer-focused and ambitious. Establishing and delivering these 
proposals will require a robust implementation plan. With endorsement from the 
Cabinet, a detailed implementation plan will be produced which will be monitored 
through appropriate lines of accountability. This will build on the success of 
partnership working to date, which has seen the consultation being completed June 
to September 2019 as planned, the findings report published in November 2019, and 
proposals outlined by January 2020. The multi-agency Project and Management 
Groups, which have operated over this period, will continue.  

7.3 Mitigating against deliverability risk requires effective arrangements for management 
and governance. 

Management Arrangements:
Implementation of the Youth Offer will be led through Children’s Services under the 
line management of the Corporate Director for Children. The Principle Youth Worker 
(Senior Manager) will act as Project Manager, overseeing the implementation plan 
and reporting to the Assistant Director: Early Help & Prevention. 

Page 47



Governance Arrangements:

The above chart will be updated to reflect the Committee System at the appropriate 
time. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Extensive consultation has been undertaken with young people in Wirral. The survey 
was designed in partnership with members of the Youth Voice Group and Children In 
Care Council to elicit views on the support and services needed for them to be all 
that they can be. The consultation was completed between June to September 2019 
with almost 3,000 young people taking part. Surveys were received from 2,736 
young people and several groups took part in the consultation events, forums, and 
workshops. Events for young people and the public were expertly facilitated by 
members of the Youth Voice Group.

8.2 Analysis of the returned surveys confirmed that the sample was representative of the 
population, that groups considered ‘hard to reach’ had been engaged and that the 
response levels were statistically valid. A breakdown of respondents can be found in 
the Care More About Us report (Appendix, Section 1) and an overview of responses 
to each survey question detailed in the Young People’s Questionnaire Summary 
Report (Appendix, Section 4). 

8.3 It is our intention that communication and consultation with young people and 
stakeholders will be continuous throughout the development and implementation of 
the Youth Offer. The Young People’s Action Group, Youth Voice Group and Children 
in Care Council continue to be involved and updated on the progress of the review. 
The Care More About Us report has been shared with young people and a short film 
made by them which captures the ‘Top 10 Recommendations’ publicised. A group of 
young photographers, working with Creative Youth Development, have been 
engaged to produce a photo-journalism series, entitled In Our Hands, to complement 
the Youth Offer proposals. The Council website will provide a platform to continue 
communication with young people, their families and residents. 

Page 48



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 An Equality Assessment Impact can be found via the following link:

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The proposals contained within this report are expected to, by proxy, reduce 
emissions of CO2. As the survey results demonstrate, environment and climate 
change are increasingly important to our youth. By enabling our young people to 
have a stronger voice and increased engagement in democracy, we anticipate that 
their determination to reduce carbon emissions will positively influence our decision-
making and that they will play a worthwhile role in holding residents, officers, leaders 
and politicians to account. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Elizabeth Hartley
Assistant Director: Early Help & Prevention
telephone: (0151) 666 4238
email:   elizabethhartley@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix - Reviewing the Youth Offer Report

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Not applicable

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
  
Council Meeting Date
Not applicable Not applicable 

Page 49

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1
mailto:elizabethhartley@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Q: How can we make Wirral an 
amazing place for young people?

A: Care more about us. 

Reviewing the Youth Offer in Wirral 
October 2019 

Section 1- Care More About Us 

Page 51



What is the Review of the Youth Offer?

The Review of the Youth Offer aims to understand what young people in Wirral 
need and want to support their development and help them to achieve the best 
possible outcomes. With this insight, we will review current provision and work 
collaboratively to design a Youth Offer which will be accessible and beneficial 
to all young people in the borough. 

The review is focused on listening to what young people are telling us rather 
than making assumptions about what we think they want- they are the experts. 
The review isn’t just about youth clubs or leisure activities, it considers all 
aspects of young people’s lives, including: health & wellbeing; education, 
employment & learning; hobbies, activities & free time; youth voice & 
democracy; young people in their communities; and, advice, information and 
access.  

Why are we doing it?

We want Wirral to be an amazing place for young people that supports them to 
be all they can be. 

Wirral Council and its partners offer a range of services and activities for young 
people and we want to make sure that they are fit-for-purpose and meeting the 
needs of our younger residents. 

As a partnership, we want to work collaboratively with young people, their 
families, communities, voluntary and faith organisations, and schools to develop 
and deliver a Youth Offer which makes the best of the opportunities we have in 
Wirral. 

How are we doing it?

We are doing it in collaboration with young people. 

We are listening to the young people of Wirral. 

From 24th June to 20th September 2019, we supported young people to develop 
and complete a survey with their peers. This included an online survey, group 
sessions, workshops, surveys in public spaces such as shopping centres and 
cafes, and promotion through schools and other organisations. 

The young people leading the consultation worked hard to make sure the survey 
reached as many different groups and individuals as possible. 

Page 52



Who took part in the Youth Offer Consultation?

 Number of surveys submitted 2 736

Age

Participants under 12 years 750 27%

Participants over 12 years 1 986 73%

Gender

Female 1 484 54%

Male 1 172 43%

Self-defined 29 1%

Prefer not to say 54 2%

Status

In school 1 781 65%

In college 537 20%

In employment 245 9%

Other 168 6%

Page 53



What young people told us they like to do

68%

55%

47%

26%

54%

12%

27%

10%

25%

60%

12%

51%

79%

54% 55% 57%

42%

8%

14%

6%

16%

36%

24%

41%

Meet 
friends & 

family

Watch 
TV

Cinema Social 
Media

Computer 
games

Library Dance, 
drama, 

art, 
music

Brownies, 
Scouts, 
Cadets

Youth 
clubs

Outdoor 
activities

Music, 
bands

Swim, 
gym, 

sports

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Under 12 years Over 12 years

All young people, regardless of age, enjoy meeting friends and family, watching 
television, and playing computer games. These are activities they do at home 
and like to do in an organised way either through youth provision or in an online 
community. 

The results suggest that younger children like organised pastimes and clubs 
which are led by an adult such as outdoor activities and sports. Older young 
people have more of a preference for activities based around socialising, such 
as using social media and attending events or festivals.

It is positive that so many young people in Wirral like to do physical activity, a 
good basis for a healthy lifestyle. 

Page 54



What young people told us they would like to do more of

Care
ers 

ac
tiv

ity

Lif
e sk

ills

Volunteerin
g

Outdoor e
duca

tio
n

Work 
exp

ereince

Politi
cs 

& democra
cy

Helping o
ther p

eople

Park
 ac

tiv
itie

s

Bike
 rid

ing

Sk
ate

 park

Envir
onmental

 ac
tiv

itie
s

Drop in
 ad

vic
e

Sw
im

ming

Chill 
& m

ediat
ati

on
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Under 12 years Over 12 years

Our young people under 12 want to do more outdoors- park activities, bike 
riding, skate parks, and outdoor education. Living in a borough with as much to 
offer as Wirral, with its coastline, green spaces, parks, and natural features 
should make this possible. If they have to come indoors, under 12s want more 
access to swimming. 

Older young people are more focused on their future and preparation for 
adulthood. They would like more activities based around careers, life skills, 
volunteering, and work experience. A significant number are keen to be active 
citizens by helping others and being involved in politics and democracy. 

All young people would like to do more to protect and improve the environment- 
they present themselves as an environmentally aware generation.

Page 55



What young people told us they would like to know more about
Be

in
g 

sa
fe

M
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

Ch
ild

re
n'

s R
ig

ht
s

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s f
or

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
Do

m
es

tic
 a

bu
se

Ca
re

er
s &

 v
ol

un
te

er
in

g 

Bu
lly

in
g

Pe
er

 p
re

ss
ur

e

Be
in

g 
co

nf
id

en
t 

Bo
dy

 im
ag

e

In
te

rn
et

 sa
fe

ty

Sp
or

t &
 k

ee
p 

fit

Li
fe

 sk
ill

s

Dr
ug

s &
 a

lc
oh

ol

Da
nc

e 
&

 d
ra

m
a

Ea
tin

g 
he

al
th

y

Ge
tt

in
g 

in
vo

lv
ed

An
ti-

so
ci

al
 b

eh
av

io
ur

Re
la

tio
ns

hi
ps

Fe
el

in
gs

 &
 e

m
ot

io
ns

Ho
us

in
g

Ha
vi

ng
 a

 sa
y

M
on

ey
 &

 b
an

ks
Ap

pr
en

tic
es

hi
ps

 &
 b

us
in

es
s 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

Po
lit

ic
s 

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%

Under 12 years Over 12 years

The response to this question clearly shows that young people in Wirral are 
keen to know more about a whole range of subjects and issues. Schools, 
residents, parents, professionals and politicians need to respond to their 
eagerness by working together to provide the right opportunities. 

Our under 12s want to know more about being safe, the environment and getting 
involved in their communities. 

Over 12s are once again focused on preparation for adulthood, wanting to know 
more about careers and volunteering, money and banks, and politics. 
Interestingly, the younger age group are equally interested in life skills as the 
older teens.

The results show that a significant proportion of the over 12s want to know more 
about mental health, being confident and relationships. Pastoral care and 
access to services need to address this through the revised Youth Offer.  

Page 56



What young people told us stops them from taking part 

Build
ing n

ot s
uita

ble

Fe
elin

g l
eft o

ut

Don't f
eel co

mforta
ble

Nothing I
 w

an
t t

o do

Prefer n
ot t

o sa
y

Needs n
ot u

nderst
ood

Being a
cce

pted

Don't f
eel sa

fe

Peer p
ressu

re

Disa
bilit

y

Not a
llo

wed

Bully
ing

Heard
 bad

 th
ings 

ab
out it

Don't k
now an

yo
ne

Not b
eing i

nclu
ded

Don't k
now ab

out a
cti

vit
ies

Cost

Tim
e it'

s o
n

Where it 
is

Getti
ng t

o it
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Under 12 years Over 12 years

There are a number of practicalities stopping young people from taking part in 
activities, including: cost; timing; location; transport; and not knowing what’s on. 
For older teens cost is far more significant, which may be related to the types of 
activities they want to do, or that the cost of these activities and the travel 
expense to get there increases as they get older. 

The results suggest that the current offer for young people in Wirral is not 
attracting older teens with 20% stating there isn’t anything on offer that they 
want to do. 

For all young people in Wirral, there are fears to engaging: fear of bullying, 
feeling left out; not feeling comfortable or safe; or not being accepted. Inclusion 
must be a priority for the future Youth Offer. 

Page 57



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Focus on health and wellbeing

When we asked young people what would make Wirral an amazing place 91 
responses were given relating to their health and wellbeing.

Category No. of responses
Mental health- anxiety, depression, awareness 54
Substances- alcohol, drugs, smoking, prevention 16
Confidence- body image, self-esteem, 9
Healthy lifestyles- healthy eating, fitness 6
Period poverty- cost of sanitary products 3
Pressure in education- exam stress, decisions, careers 2
Sexual health- awareness 1

Understanding their own mental health and how to stay well is a priority for the 
young people of Wirral. A revised Youth Offer needs to respond to that. 

In their own words:
“I think we should make the Wirral more safe for people who have mental 
illness.”

“Mental health workshops. Mental health summer camps. Suicidal help groups. 
Little groups and camps with churches or schools. Not too costly but donations 
required….Support groups for parents to understand teens and their problems.”

“Places for kids to open up- look beyond the smiles.”

“Designated smoking areas for children's safety.”

“There needs to be more support around mental health, body issues and LGBT 
as it is often hard to talk to trusted adults about these things for fear of 
disappointing them.”

“Free sanitary products in toilets where people can’t afford them.”

Page 58



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Focus on education, employment and learning 

When we asked young people what would make Wirral an amazing place 180 
responses were given relating to their education, employment and learning.

Category No. of responses
Curriculum for life- learning about jobs, money, life skills 79
More employment opportunities- jobs, apprenticeships 41
More flexible education- options, individual approach 17
Improving provision- school facilities, quality, access 16
More post-16 support- advice, guidance, information 8
More arts opportunities- art, drama, film, writing, dance 8
More after school clubs- open access, more choices 7
School lunches- cost 4

Having a curriculum that prepares them for adulthood is a priority for the young 
people of Wirral. A revised Youth Offer needs to respond to that. 

In their own words:
“Help young people in schools to know how to progress as an adult, e.g. learning 
about insurance, money and politics.”

“Very talented and experienced teachers to teach how to chase your dreams.”

“Better advice in school. More school meet ups and outside meetings or events 
supporting needs of teenagers such as housing, finances and mental health and 
job opportunities.”

“Provide real job opportunities for young people.”

“Improve school treatment towards children.”

“We need to know how we can get to what we want to be. How do we get the 
job we want? How can we afford our first home?  I also want time to be a young 
person and enjoy it without the stress of everything (exams, money, fitting in 
etc.). Affordable housing is VITAL. But also jobs and nice cafes - I go to 
Liverpool because there is more to do so my friends like to go. But why can’t I 
stay on Wirral to do that?”

Page 59



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Focus on hobbies, activities and free time 

When we asked young people what would make Wirral an amazing place 779 
responses were given relating to hobbies, activities and free time. 

Category No. of responses
Variety- older teens, different formats, more choices 388
Facilities- quality, access, choices 100
Cost- discounts, memberships, travel 94
Location- local options, barriers to travel, inequalities 54
Existing facilities- condition 45
Spaces to socialise- engagement with peers, permissions 40
Inclusion- being accepted, activities that cater for all 30
Events- festivals, outdoor events, competitions 28

Having access to a range of activities, delivered in a variety of ways is a priority 
for the young people of Wirral. A revised Youth Offer needs to respond to that. 

In their own words: 
“Run longer, open more often, more workers….Places made just for teens”

“Advertise spare courts on facebook - cheap rates for young people to use. I 
see so many empty ones.”

“Get rid of no ball games signs.”

“Just having more things locally as it is hard to get to activities because they are 
normally straight after school and most people’s parents are in work.”

“Lots more events like bike race and festivals.”

“More access to cheap/free activities such as athletics, gymnastics, dance, 
swimming. The private clubs are so expensive. It’s hard to be involved in these 
if you don’t have a high income. I really miss the free swimming in the school 
holidays when we could go nearly every day, this summer I have only been once 
because it is too expensive for my family to take me and my siblings.”

 “Leave football goals up in the summer.”

Page 60



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Focus on youth voice and democracy

When we asked young people what would make Wirral an amazing place 102 
responses were given relating to youth voice and democracy. 

Category No. of responses
Being heard- being asked, being heard, action taken 33
Engagement- how we engage and when, approaches 24
Acceptance- being valued as a young person 16
Inclusion- involve everyone, access, understanding 16
Creating communities- local approach, togetherness 6
Aspirations- believe in and want more for young people 4
Politics- understanding politics 3

 
Having their voice heard is a priority for the young people of Wirral. A revised 
Youth Offer needs to respond to that. 

In their own words:
“Approach kids in a more sensible way, consider lesser fortunate kids, take kids 
with serious disabilities more seriously.”

“Ask us what we want.”

“Be fair listen to everyone.”

“Bring the community together and doing things to make sure Wirral is a great 
place to live.”

“By sticking together and sharing opinions, we can do this maybe monthly 
meeting.”

“Connect with young people more.”

“Everybody to show kindness and respect.”

“Give young people more of a choice on large decisions being made now that 
will greatly affect us in the future.”

Page 61



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Focus on young people in their communities

When we asked young people what would make Wirral an amazing place 547 
responses were given relating to young people in their communities. 

Category No. of responses
Improve the environment- litter, improve rundown areas 160
Feeling safe- street lighting, traffic management, CCTV 140
Cheaper transport- discounted travel 60
Being environmentally responsible- plastics, recycling 51
Shaping the future- being involved, reducing inequalities 45
Transport links- frequency, routes, later services 27
Social spaces for young people- indoor, outdoor, safe 26
Community approach- togetherness, inter-generational 22
Kindness- showing kindness to each other 16

Making the physical environment more pleasant to live in is a priority for the 
young people of Wirral. A revised Youth Offer needs to respond to that. 

In their own words:
“I want to feel accepted here. Always feel like an outsider.”

“Only the wealthy get a chance to do what they want and enjoy life, while us 
who are poor only get to survive.”

“We can be inspired to help and volunteer in the community.”

“The Wirral gives us low expectations in life from the poor quality housing, 
buildings and poor areas. No one can afford anything to make things look better 
so we know we will live somewhere gross and unsafe.”

“Free public toilets everywhere.”

“Open old buidings, give them to small/new businesses to use. Would make the 
town centre look better….More creative arty decorations on buildings.”

“Make the parks a safer place for us to be.”

 “If someone is lonely get them a friend.”

Page 62



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Focus on advice, information and access

When we asked young people what would make Wirral an amazing place 205 
responses were given relating to advice, information and access. 

Category No. of responses
Modernise- the offer, communications, advertising 73
Inclusion- make services/advice/provion accessible to all 70
Flexible access- online services, opening times, locations 28
People first- Youth Workers, communities, relationships 27
Social spaces- social groups, support networks 7

Updating the ways that we advertise, communicate and engage is a priority for 
the young people of Wirral. A revised Youth Offer needs to respond to that. 

In their own words:
“Mostly make us aware of what activities there are for us to do and take part in 
instead of getting bored and then as we get older causing trouble etc.”

“We're all more aware than people think, just more support and feeling like we 
belong.”

“Face to face advice, not just over the phone.”

“Get People involved more. More workers to talk to.”

“Have more LGBT friendly communities.”

“I would really like a support group so I can feel included and talk about my 
feelings as I sometimes feel alone.”

“Make more student deals.”

“More friendly places, more places to go, understanding family with anyone with 
additional needs.”

“By being more friendly and open to people.”

Page 63



What would make Wirral an amazing place for young people?
Top 10 Recommendations

In total 1904 responses were made about what would make Wirral an amazing 
place for young people. Using all that information, these are the top 10 
recommendations:

1.  “…make the place feel like there’s stuff to do…”

Young people are asking us to co-ordinate and publicise what already goes 
on, to add new activities and opportunities, and wherever possible to make it 
local to them.  

2. “…make parts of the Wirral look less run down…”

Young people are bothered by litter, derelict buildings, empty shops, dog 
fouling and neglected neighbourhoods. They’re asking for more trees, more 
flowers, more appealing buildings and housing, inviting green spaces and 
more bins. 

3. “…make it a place where I feel safe all the time, as I don’t at the moment…”

Young people are asking us to make the places they go and travel through 
feel safer by improving outdoor lighting, managing traffic and having an 
increased presence of trusted adults, particularly on public transport and on 
the streets. 

4. “…let everybody be included…”

Young people are asking us to make our services, facilities and activities 
more inclusive. Additionally, they are challenging adults to be accepting of all 
people regardless of age, gender, sexual orientation, disability, race, or 
religion. 

5. “…support young people to stay on the Wirral more…”

Young people report that they go out of borough to enjoy cafes, music 
venues, shopping, for further education and to find work. They would like to 
be able to do more of those things in Wirral by having improved facilities and 
opportunities. 

Page 64



6. “…have activities for us to do that our parents can afford…”

Young people want to participate in activities, they want to do more but are 
often unable to because of financial pressures, particularly where they 
experience transport costs or are part of a sibling group. 

7. “…stop increasing my ticket prices and improve trains and transport…”

Young people are asking for better transport links, increased frequency of 
buses, later services (particularly on Sundays) and subsidised travel. They 
want to enjoy all that Wirral has to offer but struggle to access it. 

8. “…help young people in schools to know how to progress as an adult…”

Young people are asking us to provide a curriculum for life, one that teaches 
them about mortgages, insurance, benefits, politics, sex, substances, DIY, 
health, careers, jobs, domestic abuse and relationships. They want this to be 
delivered in their schools by subject experts.

9. “…get out on social media…”

Young people are asking us to modernise how we communicate, advertise 
and deliver services to them. Online booking, apps, live chat, web-based 
services and reward schemes that can be accessed via mobile phones are 
more suited to their lifestyles and habits. 

10.“…give us space to talk and relax with friends…”

Young people want to be accepted, to be treated fairly, and not to be pre-
judged because they are young. They want to have places where they are 
allowed to meet with friends, not for activities, but just to socialise and be 
young.

Page 65



Acting on what the young people of Wirral have told us
Next Steps

With almost 3,000 young people taking part in this consultation (survey and 
focus groups) we need to make sure their voice is heard and acted on. 

What we will do next:

1. We will take share this report as widely as possible to make sure that the 
voice of Wirral’s young people is heard. 

2. We will bring professionals, agencies and communities together to learn 
from the findings.

3. We will collaborate as a partnership, with young people, to look at how we 
can make the resource we currently have (in people, services, funding, 
buildings, facilities, and natural resources) go as far as possible to provide 
the young people of Wirral with a Youth Offer which meets their needs. 

4. We will negotiate, on behalf of the young people in Wirral, with external 
agencies who can contribute to and/or improve the Youth Offer.

5. We will act now, wherever possible, to make improvements to current 
services. 

6. We will keep an open communication with young people via the internet, 
media and youth groups on the progress of the review, ensuring that they 
know what we are doing on their behalf and can hold us to account. 

7. We will work collaboratively to develop a business case for a Youth Offer 
which makes Wirral an amazing place for young people and supports 
them to be all they can be. 

Page 66



Acknowledgements

To the young people who designed and tested the survey- thank you.

To the young people who facilitated the focus groups and went out into Wirral 
to complete surveys face-to-face with their peers- thank you.

To the young people who are members of the Young People’s Advisory Group 
and have provided oversight and guidance to the process- thank you.

To all the young people who took part in focus groups, drew pictures, left 
comments and shared ideas- thank you.

To every young person who took time to complete the survey, submitted open, 
honest and helpful comments- thank you. 

The contribution of more than 3,000 young people in Wirral, either as a 
participant or a facilitator, has given us a fantastic opportunity to understand 
what it is young people need and want from their Youth Offer. Not only was the 
volume of response positive, but the quality of the response was amazing. 
We will do all we can to make sure an amazing Youth Offer in Wirral becomes 
a reality. 

“Let’s hope it gets done.” 

Page 67



Section 2- Partnership Approach to Formulating Proposals

Young People’s Action Group

Membership:
2 x Members of Youth Parliament
2 x Youth Voice Representatives 
2 x SEND Youth Voice Representatives
2 x Children in Care Council Representatives
2 x Hive Ambassadors
Cabinet Member for Children, Families and Education 
Councillor representing the Liberal Democrats
Councillor representing the Conservative Party
Councillor representing the Green Party
Councillor representing Independent Candidates
6 x Local Authority Officers

Meetings discussing the Youth Offer:
10/07/2019
28/08/2019
23/09/2019
12/11/2019
17/12/2019

Project Group

Membership 
Children’s Services
Assets Management
Housing
Leisure Services
Libraries
Parks
Education
Public Health England
Transport 
Cultural Services 
Wirral Metropolitan College
Safer Wirral Services
Merseyside Police

Meetings discussing the Youth Offer:
01/10/2019
25/11/2019
09/12/2019

Page 68



Management Group

Membership:
Children’s Services
Leisure Services
Community Action Wirral
Assets Management
Housing
Libraries
Parks
Education
Clinical Commissioning Group
Public Health England
Cultural Services 
Wirral Metropolitan College
Safer Wirral Services
Merseyside Police
Transport

Meetings discussing the Youth Offer:
04/11/2020
08/01/2020

In addition to the 2 x group meetings, each agency was invited to a 1:1 meeting to discuss 
their individual position and contribution. 

Page 69



Section 3- Expectations of The Hive

New contractual arrangements between The Hive Youth Zone and Wirral Council will include:

 Provide live-chat with a professional youth worker 8am-10pm, 365 days per year
 Provide 2.0 FTE qualified Youth Workers to Birkenhead A and Birkenhead B 

neighbourhoods
 Provide dedicated youth club hours to deliver Birkenhead A and Birkenhead B 

neighbourhoods
 Provide scheduled access to The Hive for young people from across Wirral, with free 

transport
 Remove the £5.00 membership 
 Provide 225 hours of delivery towards the curriculum for life
 Lead on the development of a Children & Young People Friendly kitemark 

Page 70



Section 4- Young People’s Questionnaire Summary Report 

Youth Offer Review- Young People Questionnaire
Summary Report
October 2019 

Q1. To be entered in a prize draw please tell us:
- [Your name]
- [Your email address]

Q2. What is the first part of your postcode? (E.g.CH44)
[Free text box supplied]

Q3. How old are you? (Answered:  2 736, Skipped: 54)
Answer Choices Responses
8-11 24.41% 750
12-15 32.97% 902
16-18 26.94% 737
19-25 12.68% 347
Total respondents 2 736

Q4. What is your gender? (Answered: 2 739, Skipped: 51)
Answer Choices Responses
Male 42.79% 1 172
Female 54.18% 1 484
Self-defined 1.06% 29
Prefer not to say 1.97% 54
Total respondents 2 739

Q5. Are you in: (Answered: 2 731, Skipped: 59)
Answer Choices Responses
School 65.21% 1 781
College 19.66% 537
Employment 8.97% 245
Not in school, college or 
employment 

6.15% 168

Total respondents 2 731

Q6. What do you like to do in your free time? Please tick all that apply (Answered: 2 
742, Skipped: 48)

Answer Choices Responses
Meet up with friends/family 74.33% 2 038
Go to the cinema 52.59% 1 442
See live bands/music 20.86% 572
Go to Brownies, Guides, Scouts, 
Cadets 

7.40% 203

Watch TV 54.49% 1 494

Page 71



Play computer games 45.30% 1 242
Take part in a sport, swimming, 
gym, etc

43.87% 1 203

Attend a youth club, youth 
project or play project

18.31% 502

Attend a dance, drama, art or 
music group

17.94% 492

Visit a library 8.90% 244
Outdoor activities 42.82% 1 174
Social media 48.72% 1 336
Other (please specify) 12.80% 351 
Total respondents 2 742

Q7. Which of these do you go to in your free time? (Answered: 2 734, Skipped: 56)
Answer Choices Responses
Scouts/Guides/Brownies/Cadets 12.69% 347
Library 16.06% 439
Leisure Centre-Europa Pools 25.82% 706
Leisure Centre-Oval Leisure 
Centre

12.07% 330

Leisure Centre-West Kirby 
Concourse

9.88% 270

Leisure Centre-Leasowe Leisure 
Centre

7.50% 205

Leisure Centre-Guinea Gap 
Leisure Centre

7.90% 216

Leisure Centre-Woodchurch 
Leisure Centre

5.52% 151

Wirral Tennis and Sports Centre 5.27% 144
Beechwood Recreation Centre 1.06% 29
Wirral Sailing Centre 1.90% 52
The Gym 24.80% 678
Parks 46.96% 1 284
Youth Clubs and Hubs 12.11% 331
The Hive 16.31% 446
Football 24.87% 680
Rugby 6.58% 180
Tennis 7.35% 201
Cricket 4.28% 117
Sailing Centre 1.43% 39
Dance Group 13.75% 376
Drama Group 8.01% 219
Pilgrim Street Arts Centre 3.15% 86
After School Clubs 16.86% 461
Youth Voice Group 2.27% 62
Kontactabus 1.21% 33
Open Door Centre 1.35% 37
Activities in school 19.90% 544
Response Counselling Service 0.99% 27
Drugs and Alcohol Services 1.39% 38

Page 72



Chill with friends at home 41.00% 1 121
Chill with friends at the park 32.93% 901
Go to town 46.56% 1 273
Shopping 50.66% 1 385
Church groups 5.23% 143
Do nothing 11.23% 307
Other (please specify) 10.28% 281
Total respondents 2 734

Q8. How often do you attend these? (Answered: 2 637, Skipped: 153)
Answer Choices Responses
Daily 26.09% 688
Weekly 64.01% 1 688
Monthly 6.26% 165
Every few moths 3.64% 96
Total respondents 2 637

Q9. What is stopping you going to activities? (please tick all that apply) (Answered: 2 
478, Skipped: 312)

Answer Choices Responses
The building does not meet my 
needs

4.25% 105

Not being included 10.01% 248
Being left out because my needs 
are not understood

5.73% 142

Bullying 9.36% 232
Cost 29.50% 731
Where it takes place 19.41% 481
Getting to the activity 21.51% 533
The time the activity is 16.67% 413
Don’t know about the activities 17.72% 439
Being accepted when there 7.95% 197
Not knowing anyone going 23.81% 590
Heard bad things about it 7.38% 183
Don’t feel comfortable when 
there

12.43% 308

I’m not allowed 6.21% 154
My disability 5.13% 127
Not feeling safe 8.96% 222
Peer pressure 4.68% 116
Nothing on that I want to go to 18.72% 464
Being left out because my needs 
are not understood

2.99% 74

Prefer not to say 6.17% 153
Other (please specify) 18.32% 454
Total respondents 2 478

Page 73



Q10. What is important to you? (Please pick the 5 most important) (Answered: 2 718, 
Skipped: 72)

Answer Choices Responses
Being included 30.02% 816
Being safe 50.88% 1 383
Exams and schoolwork 25.39% 690
Money 32.63% 887
Friendships/relationships 68.69% 1 867
Family 68.29% 1 856
Having somewhere to go to 
meet friends

15.53% 422

Getting involved with the 
community

3.46% 94

Advice, support and 
information

3.13% 85

Future career/job 25.35% 689
Going somewhere safe 6.70% 182
Health and wellbeing 16.67% 453
Peer pressure/bullying 2.35% 64
Body image 10.38% 282
Growing up 7.80% 212
Being safe and feeling safe 0.00% 0
Having something to do outside 
school

8.83% 240

Having someone to talk to 9.20% 250
Environment 10.78% 293
Green spaces and parks 5.56% 151
Politics/democracy 2.98% 81
My community 3.53% 96
Having a say about things that 
matter to you

5.85% 159

Pressure to buy and wear 
brands and new things

1.36% 37

Recycling 5.52% 150
Pollution and global warming 7.87% 214
Religion 2.32% 63
Having someone to talk to 7.32% 199
Trusted adults I can speak to 6.59% 179
Other (please specify) 14.39% 391
Total respondents 2 718

Q11. What would you like to know more about? (Please choose no more than 5 options) 
(Answered: 2 656, Skipped: 134)

Answer Choices Responses
Mental health 33.06% 878
Politics and government 17.09% 454
Opportunities in Wirral for 
young people

21.80% 579

Our rights as children and 
young people

18.22% 484

Page 74



Environment 22.85% 607
Apprentice/business 
opportunities

11.97% 318

Handling money, banks, 
budgeting

24.55% 652

Having a say about things that 
matter to me

11.94% 317

Housing 14.01% 372
Relationships 15.74% 418
Managing feelings and 
emotions

10.39% 276

Anti-social behaviour/crime 7.12% 189
Being safe 19.73% 524
Getting involved in my local 
community

4.41% 117

Eating healthy 19.50% 518
Drugs/alcohol and smoking 7.34% 195
Dance/drama/art/music 13.59% 361
Internet safety 7.34% 195
Life skills (cooking, money) 19.62% 521
Sport/exercise/keep fit 16.34% 434
Body changes 5.53% 147
Bullying 6.36% 169
Being more confident 14.04% 373
Peer pressure 2.48% 66
Careers and volunteering 8.92% 237
Domestic abuse and violence 4.10% 109
Other (please specify) 12.84% 341
Total respondents 2 656 

Q12. What activities would you like to see more of?
[Free text box supplied]
Analysis in Care More About Us report. 

Q13. What help and advice services would you like to see more of? (Please tick all that 
apply) (Answered: 2 338, Skipped: 452)

Answer Choices Responses 
Counselling 27.29% 638
Benefit advice 11.33% 265
Family advice 22.84% 534
LGBTQ 20.10% 470
Disability 18.01% 421
Depression 32.16% 752
Mental health 48.46% 1 133
Growing up 28.96% 677
Social media 26.35% 616
Body image 25.36% 593
Sexual health 20.32% 475
Careers 30.41% 711

Page 75



Relationships 24.42% 571
Bullying 25.58% 598
Exploitation 12.06% 282
Smoking/drugs/alcohol 22.46% 525
Peer support groups 11.04% 258
Domestic violence 17.07% 399
Other (please specify) 8.60% 201
Total respondents 2 338

Q14. How would you like to see activities and advice for young people advertised? 
(Answered: 2 493, Skipped: 287)

Answer Choices Responses 
Mobile app 41.12% 1 025
Website online 36.22% 903
Instagram 47.81% 1 192
Twitter 22.74% 567
Snapchat 41.56% 1 036
Facebook 36.06% 899
Leaflets 29.08% 725
Advertised through schools/ 
youth services/ hubs and 
clubs/ local shops/ bus stops/ 
transport

42.52% 1 060

Youtube 41.64% 1 038
Other (please specify) 5.05% 126
Total respondents 2 493

Q15. We want to make Wirral an amazing place for young people, that supports them 
to be all they can be. Please let us know your thoughts on how we can do this: 
[Free text box supplied]
Analysis in Care More About Us report. 

Page 76



Section 5- Wirral Neighbourhoods Map 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET
Monday, 24 February, 2020

ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR COMMUNITY AND 
VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED PRIMARY AND SECONDARY 

SCHOOLS AND THE COORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEMES FOR 
2021-2022

Councillor Thomas Usher Cabinet Member - Children Families and Education, 
said: 

“Making sure your child gets into the right school is incredibly important for every family 
in the borough. It is important we have a fair, equitable policy to determine school 
admission arrangements. This report provides that policy for Wirral parents”.

REPORT SUMMARY

This report invites the Cabinet to determine the Authority’s admission arrangements for 
community and voluntary controlled primary and secondary schools and the co-
ordinated schemes for 2021-2022. This is a statutory requirement.

RECOMMENDATION/S

That Cabinet be requested to approve the proposed admission arrangements for 
community and voluntary controlled schools and the Wirral co-ordinated schemes for 
2021-2022.

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1 The Authority is required to determine admission arrangements for community 
and voluntary controlled primary and secondary schools. The New School 
Admissions (England) Regulations (2003) also require the Authority to have in 
place a co-ordinated scheme for admissions to all primary and secondary 
schools including Academy schools, in 2021-22. The proposed schemes are 
attached along with proposed admission numbers for community and controlled 
schools (Appendices 1 and 2).

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 None.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 No changes have been made to the 2020-21 determined admission 
arrangements published in the co-ordinated schemes for admissions. A 
consultation was therefore not required (see 8.1). Information relating to the 
status of schools and admission numbers has been updated to reflect the current 
position. This information is updated throughout the school year as it changes.

  
3.2 The Council as the admission authority must determine the admission 

arrangements every year, even if they have not changed from the previous year 
and a consultation has not been required. This must take place by 28th February.

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 No new financial implications arise as a result of this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 It should be noted that the relevant co-ordinated schemes and the Fair Access 
Protocol apply to all Wirral primary and secondary schools, including Academy 
schools. There is additional emphasis on the importance of school governing 
bodies to understand and apply the Admissions Code, Wirral co-ordinated 
scheme and FAP correctly and fairly, otherwise schools will be open to challenge 
both at parental appeal and by the Schools Adjudicator and/or Secretary of State.

5.2 Section 8.20 of the secondary co-ordinated scheme and 7.8 of the primary co-
ordinated scheme refers to overseas applications. This section may need to be 
further revised in the light of upcoming changes to the United Kingdom’s position 
in relation to the European Economic Area. If so, amendments will be made at 
the time.

5.3 The date by which the arrangements must be determined is 28th February. These 
admission arrangements must then be published on the Council’s website by 15th 
March. The deadline for objections against the admission arrangements to the 
Schools Adjudicator is 15th May.

Page 80



6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The Fair Access Protocol which is part of the co-ordinated scheme for 
admissions requires a Local Authority Clerk to organise Fair Access Panels, 
prepare paperwork and disseminate Panel decisions to parents and schools. The 
cost of this is met from the Council’s budget.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 Failure to determine the admission arrangements by 28th February of the 
preceding year would contravene the 2014 Admissions Code and associated 
guidance.

7.2 See also 5.1 above.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1 Where the admission arrangements have not changed from the previous year, 
there is no requirement to consult, subject to the requirement that admission 
authorities must consult on their admission arrangements at least once every 7 
years, even if there have been no changes during that period. As no changes 
have been proposed since the previous consultation held in Autumn 2018, a 
consultation was not required in relation to the 2021-22 co-ordinated admission 
schemes.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to 
ensure equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision 
or activity.

An equality impact assessment was completed in relation to the 2020-21 co-
ordinated scheme. As no changes have been made to the scheme, this impact 
assessment stands and can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are none associated with this report.

The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to:

- Have no impact on emissions of CO2       

REPORT AUTHOR: Sally Gibbs
Senior Manager, School Admissions and Place Planning
telephone:  (0151) 666 4487
email: sallygibbs@wirral.gov.uk

Page 81

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017-1


APPENDICES

Primary co-ordinated scheme for admissions 2021-2022
Secondary co-ordinated scheme for admissions 2021-2022

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date
Cabinet
Delegated Authority
Cabinet
Delegated Authority
Cabinet

25th February 2019
2nd October 2018
26th February 2018
17th October 2017
27th February 2017

Page 82



1

Children and Young People’s Department

SCHEME FOR THE CO-ORDINATION OF ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 
FOR MAINTAINED PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN THE WIRRAL AREA

FOR THE ACADEMIC YEAR 2021-2022

This scheme fulfils the requirements for a scheme for co-ordinating admission arrangements 

under the School Admission (Co-ordination of Admissions Arrangements) (England) 

Regulations 2008, made under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, for the area 

of Wirral Council. It builds on the well-established co-ordination of primary school admissions 

that have been a longstanding feature of local practice.

The scheme applies to arrangements whereby children are to be admitted to primary schools 

in the academic year 2021/22 and for subsequent years, subject to any review. 

The co-ordinated scheme applies to all schools, excluding special schools, maintained by 

Wirral Council (“the Council”) and to preferences expressed by Wirral resident parents and 

carers for schools maintained by other English local authorities (LA), academies and free 

schools. Admissions to other schools with independent status are not be covered by this 

scheme.

1.0 Applications for school places for admission into Foundation 2 – 
the normal admission round

1.1 Wirral Council will act as the co-ordinating authority for all applications. Offers will be 

made by the Council, in its role as the home authority, on behalf of the admissions 

authority for the school allocated as follows:

Admissions Authority Category of School

Wirral Council All Wirral community and voluntary 

controlled schools

Governing body of school All Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Trust and 

Academy schools

Maintaining Local Authority Non-Wirral community and voluntary 

controlled schools

1.2 The admission arrangements for schools maintained by Wirral Council are published 

on the Council’s website and in its information booklets, in line with the requirements 

Page 83



2

set out in the School Admissions Code (2014). The Council’s information booklets will 

be available electronically on the Council’s website from 1 September. Hard copies 

will be obtainable by request from the Council from the start of the autumn term. 

Admissions arrangements are also available from each school on request. 

1.3 All parents who live in the area administered by Wirral Council must apply for places 

in maintained and Academy primary schools either in Wirral or in the area of another 

Local Authority by completing a Wirral Parental Preference application. On-line 

applications are recommended and are made through the Council’s website: 

www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions. Parents who are unable to access the online 

admission system can request a paper application form from Wirral Council from the 

start of the autumn term. 

The application (online or paper) provides an opportunity for the parent to:

 apply for up to 3 schools

 rank the schools applied for in order of preference

1.4 Applications for all schools, including Foundation, Trust, Academy and Voluntary 

Aided schools must be included on the application.

1.5 Applications for places sent direct by parents and carers to individual schools cannot 

be accepted and must be sent to the Council for inclusion within these arrangements.

1.6 Parents must return online and paper applications to Wirral Council by 15th January 

to ensure the allocation of a school place on 16th April or next working day (the 

National Offer date). Applications received after the published deadline of 15th 

January will be dealt with once the offer of places has been sent to parents on 16th 

April or next working day.

1.7 Parents can apply for school places only from the 1st September preceding 

admission to Foundation 2, that is, at the beginning of the academic year in which 

their child’s 4th birthday falls. Children are normally admitted to school at the 

beginning of the academic year in which their 5th birthday falls.

1.8 Deferred entry and part-time places. Parents can request deferred entry or part-

time attendance up until their child reaches compulsory school age (the term 

following their 5th birthday). The request must be made in writing to the Local 

Authority.

Page 84

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions


3

Child’s age 5 birthdate between First term of compulsory education 

1st January and 31st March Summer term (April)

1st April and 31st August Autumn term (September)

1st September and 31st December Spring term (January)

Parents should note that if a summer born child delays entry to the September after 

their fifth birthday, the child will ordinarily be expected to enter Year 1, not 

Foundation 2. 

Parents of children born between 1st April and 31st August who wish to delay their 

child’s entry to September, but are intending to request their child enters Foundation 

2 rather than Year 1 are advised to apply as usual and to contact Wirral Council in 

writing prior to 15th January to discuss options (primaryplaces@wirral.gov.uk)

These requests will be considered on the circumstances of each individual case and 

will also require written agreement in principle from the allocated or intended 

preferred school. If agreed, deferred entry to Foundation 2 for a full year does not 

guarantee a place in any school. The child will then be in the year below their 

chronological age for the rest of their school career, including Key Stage 

assessments and selective tests for grammar schools. Parents must re-apply by 15th 

January of the following year and the application will be considered alongside the 

entry cohort according to the protocols and criteria in place at that time.

1.9 Applications from separated parents. Only one application can be processed for 

each child; therefore it is important that both parties in shared custody arrangements 

are in agreement over the preferred school(s) named. Where a child spends equal 

time with both parents, the child’s main permanent residence should be submitted as 

their home address. If agreement cannot be reached, or if neither parent has been 

granted a Specific Issues Order in this respect, then the Council will accept the 

application from the parent with whom the child is “ordinarily resident”. This is the 

address where the child lives for the majority of the school week (Monday to Friday), 

and is usually where the parent/carer receives child benefit for the child (where 

eligible). Proof of address and residence arrangements will be required with the 

application. 

1.10 Changes of address. Parents and carers must inform the Council immediately of a 

change of address, even if details of a future change of residency were included on 

Page 85

mailto:primaryplaces@wirral.gov.uk


4

the application form. The Council will require supporting evidence to show that the 

place of residency has changed; e.g. a letter from the solicitor confirming the 

completion date; a signed rental agreement showing the start of the tenancy and its 

duration. In addition further information may be requested – for example, copies of 

council tax and utility bills or any other information considered relevant to the 

application, including evidence of disposal of previous property. Information and 

supporting evidence must be received by 28th February. Proof of residency received 

after 28th February will not be used to assign a higher criterion for admission, but will 

be used to send the decision letter on the published offer date. We may remove a 

place where it has been identified that a change of address has taken place before 

28th February and has not been declared.

1.11 Home address. This must be the child’s permanent home address where he/she 

lives with a person of parental responsibility as the main carer as defined by the 

Children Act 1989. Applicants must not give the address of a business, relative, 

childminder, friend, a temporary address or an address to which they hope to move. 

The home address must not be where parents have taken out a short term let on a 

property solely to use its address on the application form without any intention of 

taking up permanent residence there. Arrangements where parents leave and collect 

children from another relative or carer on a daily basis will be regarded as childcare 

arrangements, and the child will not be deemed to be “ordinarily resident” with that 

person. The Council will require proof of residence which may include proof of sale of 

a previous property. 

Wirral Council regularly check addresses and any deliberate misrepresentation 
will result in a place being withdrawn. The Council acts on behalf of all Wirral 

admission authorities and reserves the right to request independent confirmation of 

the child’s place of residence, as felt appropriate. The Mainstream Admissions team 

may have to share the information provided with other departments of the Council in 

order to verify the authenticity of pupil’s addresses. This may include data held by 

Council Tax and/or Housing Benefit teams. The Council’s Fraud and Investigations 

Team may be asked to review the information that has been provided. This may 

include interviewing and taking a signed statement from the applicant.

1.12 Withdrawal of places. The Council has the right to withdraw any place offered on 

the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally misleading application, or where a place has 

been offered in error.

Page 86



5

 2.0 Dealing with Applications

2.1 The Council’s admissions criteria will be applied to rank the order of priority of each 

application for community schools and voluntary controlled schools.

2.2 The Council will provide Academy and Voluntary Aided Schools with details of those 

preference forms which include an application for their school by 16th February.

2.3 Preference ranking will not be shared with school admission authorities in 

accordance with paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014 as this cannot 

lawfully be used when applying oversubscription criteria. 

2.4 The Governing Bodies of Academy and Voluntary Aided schools will rank each 

application by applying the school’s admission criteria and notify the Mainstream 

Admissions team of their ranking by 28th February.

2.5 Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the 

Council will allocate the highest priority preference.

2.6 The Mainstream Admissions team will notify the Governing Bodies of Academy and 

Voluntary Aided primary schools of those pupils who will be allocated places at their 

school by 9th April.

2.7 In March the Council will inform other Local Authorities of any pupils who are not 

resident in Wirral and to whom the Council can offer places at Wirral schools.

3.0 Determination of applications for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled schools

3.1 Allocation of places. Applications for all Community schools and also for Bidston 

Village Church of England (CE) Primary School, Holy Trinity CE Primary School 

(Hoylake), Millfields CE Primary School and St Bridget’s CE Primary School (West 

Kirby) will be determined on the following basis:

3.1.1 All children who have applied before 15th January will be eligible for a place so long 

as there is space within the school’s admission number. If there are more 

applications than there are places available, then eligibility will be determined in 

accordance with the following scheme of priorities:

 Children in care, and children who were in care but have been adopted or are 

subject to a residency order or special guardianship order (“previously in care”)

Page 87



6

 Then children who live in the school’s catchment zone in the following priority 

order:

 Children who already have older brothers or sisters (including half or step 

siblings living in the same household) at the school when they are due to start 

school. If there are more children with older brothers or sisters at the school 

than there are places available, we will give priority to children with the 

youngest brothers or sisters at the school. We will also treat a brother or sister 

at a corresponding junior school as a sibling. Where there is more than one 

applicant with a sibling in the same year group, priority will be given to those 

children who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from the child’s 

home to the school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road 

route, unless it is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe 

walking route, using the Council’s computerised routing system.

 Children who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to 

the school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route, 

unless it is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking 

route, using the Council’s computerised routing system.

3.1.2 If places remain available, eligibility for children who do not live in the school’s 

catchment area will be determined in accordance with the following scheme of 

priorities.

 Children who already have older brothers or sisters (including half or step-

brothers and sisters living in the same household) at the school when they are 

due to start school. If there are more children with older brothers or sisters at 

the school than there are places available, we will give priority to children with 

the youngest brothers or sisters at the school. We will also treat a brother or 

sister at a corresponding junior school as a sibling. Where there is more than 

one applicant with a sibling in the same year group, priority will be given to 

those children who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from 

home to the school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road 

route, unless it is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe 

walking route, using the Council’s computerised routing system.

 Pupils who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to the 

school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route, unless it 

Page 88



7

is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking route, 

using the Council’s computerised routing system.

3.1.3 If places remain available at the school after all “on time” applicants have been 

allocated at the initial allocation point, places will then be allocated to late 

applications received after 15th January, in accordance with the policy criteria, up to 

the school’s admission number. See paragraph 5.0 below.

3.2 Aided schools and Academies. Applications for Academy schools and the Catholic 

and Church of England voluntary aided schools will be determined by the governing 

bodies of these schools in accordance with their published admission criteria.

Christ Church CE Aided Primary School in Birkenhead shares part of its catchment 

zone with two other schools - Woodchurch Road Primary School and Woodlands 

Primary School.  Priority is given as detailed above in 3.1.1- 3.1.3.

3.3 Mandatory Allocation. Where it is not possible to allocate a place at any of the 

schools applied for, children resident in Wirral will be allocated a place at the nearest 

appropriate Wirral school where there are places available. “Appropriate “ where 

possible means community school if the parents’ preferences indicate preferences for 

non-denominational education; or a Catholic school or Church of England school if 

the parents indicated a preference for education in a school of that denomination. 

The nearest school will be measured on shortest walking distance using the Council’s 

computerised routing system.

3.4 Special Needs. All schools will be required to admit a pupil with a Statement of 

Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care Plan naming the school.

3.5 Route measurements

The “shortest road route” from home to school starts at the “seed point” of the home 

address as provided by the Ordnance Survey compiled from Royal Mail and/or local 

council data. The starting point connects to the nearest point of the Authority’s 

digitised routing network. The digitised network is based on the Integrated Transport 

Network (ITN) supplied by Ordnance Survey and is accurately digitised to measure 

along the centre of roads. The Ordnance Survey ITN dataset is the most accurate 

road dataset available and is the definitive national road network for Great Britain. 

The ITN has been augmented by the Authority to take into account public footpaths 

and alleyways etc. that are approved to be safe for use by children, accompanied as 

necessary by an adult, by the Authority. The end point of the “shortest road route” is 

Page 89



8

the nearest open gate of the school officially available for use by pupils at the start 

and end of the school day. The location of these gates has been set by the Authority 

based on information provided by the school. 

The “shortest road route” is not necessarily a driving route as it may use in part a 

non-driveable route, such as a footpath. The shortest road route is also not 

necessarily a walking route, because the measurement is along the centre of the 

road, not the edge (pavement or equivalent).

The same measuring system must be used for pupils in relation to admission to 

schools as this treats all pupils equally. Other measuring systems may give a 

different measurement but the Authority cannot take a measurement from another 

system into account. Online systems that parents may use for comparison, including 

Google Maps and walk-it.com etc. use the free Ordnance Survey Meridian dataset 

which is far less detailed, and consequently less accurate. They will not have an 

accurate starting point, will not bar unsuitable paths, and will not include accurate 

positions for the gates of the school being measured to. 

For addresses outside the Authority’s digitised network of approximately 48 square 

miles, including overseas addresses, an internet mapping solution will be used, e.g. 

maps.google.co.uk. 

4.0 Offer of Places

4.1 Parents and carers resident in Wirral who have made an online application will be 

informed by the Director of Children’s Services of the school allocated by e-mail on 

16th April or next working day, if a valid e-mail address has been provided. The e-mail 

will also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal to an independent panel and 

who to contact to make an appeal.

4.2 Parents and carers resident in Wirral who have submitted a paper application will be 

informed by the Director of Children’s Services of the school allocated in writing. 

Letters will be despatched on 16th April or next working day, and will be sent by 

second class post. The letter will also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal to 

an independent panel and who to contact to make an appeal.

4.3 If places become available before the start of the autumn term, the Council will 

allocate them to children whose parents have either lodged an appeal but not been 

successful or who have expressed a continuing interest in a place at the school 

concerned. Parents can do this by online by e-mail or by returning the reply slip 

Page 90



9

attached to the paper allocation letter. If there are more children interested in a 

particular school than places available, the Council will use the same criteria to 

determine priorities as is used for the initial allocation.

4.4 All offers of places for schools covered by the Wirral scheme will be issued by the 

Council. Schools cannot offer places directly to parents.

5.0 Late applications

5.1 Applications received after the published deadline of 15th January will be dealt with 

after the offer of places have been sent to parents on 16th April or next working day. 

Wirral Council will send details of late applications for Academy and Voluntary Aided 

schools to the governors of the schools concerned by 23rd April or, for applications 

received after that date, within five days of receipt.

5.2 Preferences for community and voluntary controlled schools will be dealt with in the 

date order they are received by the Council. The Council will allocate places up to the 

school’s admission number. If several applications are received on the same day for 

the same school, the scheme of priorities given in 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 above will be used. 

5.3 Parents will be notified in writing by Wirral Council. The letter will also inform the 

parent of their legal right to appeal for any Wirral school and who to contact to make 

an appeal. Parents should, where possible, lodge an appeal within 20 working days 

of receipt of notification of the outcome of their application.

5.4 Applications for Catholic or Church of England Aided Primary Schools and the 

Academies received after the published deadline of 15th January will be determined 

by reference to the schools’ published admission arrangements and the governors 

will inform Wirral Council of the outcome of the applications. Parents will be notified in 

writing by Wirral Council. The letter will also inform the parent of their legal right to 

appeal and who to contact to make an appeal. Parents should, where possible, lodge 

an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of notification of the outcome of their 

application.

5.5 Parents and carers must accept or decline the offer of a late place within 10 working 

days of the offer date.

6.0 Waiting Lists

6.1 If at the end of the Summer Term a school is believed to be full, the Council will close 

the procedures and make no more reallocations. However, it may be that places will 

Page 91



10

become available at the beginning of or during the Autumn Term. The Council will 

keep a list of children whose parents have expressed an interest in obtaining a place 

at the school if a place becomes available. In August, the Council will write to the 

parents of those children included in paragraph 4.3 who have expressed a continuing 

interest. This list will be held open during the Autumn Term. Priority on the list for 

community and controlled schools will be given to children in accordance with the 

criteria given in paragraphs 3.1.1 and 3.1.2. Each added child requires the list to be 

ranked again in line with the published admission criteria.

6.2 The Council will contact parents directly if a vacancy does occur. Schools must not 

notify parents that a place has become available but must inform the Council in order 

that an offer can be made by the home Local Authority. The Council will cease to 

hold the Foundation 2 waiting list at the end of the Autumn Term.

7.0 In Year applications outside the normal round of admissions 

7.1 ‘In year’ applications are those made during the school year into any year group, 

other than at the normal point of entry (i.e. the normal admission round). This will 

include applications from parents and carers of children moving into Wirral from 

another Local Authority area, moving within Wirral, or seeking to transfer to an 

alternative school for other reasons.

7.2 Applications for all schools including Academy and Voluntary Aided schools must be 

made on a common Primary School Transfer Form. Parents/carers seeking places ‘in 

year’ will be advised to complete their ‘home’ Local Authority’s common application 

form stating up to three school preferences ranked in priority order.

7.3 Schools should not deal with transfer application forms. Any forms received by 

schools should be forwarded to the Mainstream Admissions team in the Children and 

Young People’s Department.

7.4 Upon receipt of a transfer request Mainstream Admissions staff will establish whether 

or not the parent has discussed the request with the headteacher of the pupil’s 

current school. If this is not the case, parents will be advised to contact the 

headteacher to discuss their request.

7.5 If the parents have discussed the request with the headteacher, the transfer request 

form will be acknowledged and parents informed that the Mainstream Admissions 

team will forward the documentation to their current and preferred school(s). 

Requests for transfer in Y6 other than moves from outside Wirral will be discouraged 

Page 92



11

on educational grounds, but parents have the ultimate right to proceed with the 

request.

7.6 The Council will arrange for children in Years 1 and 2 to start at a community or 

voluntary controlled primary school in a similar way as Foundation 2 (Reception) age 

children. The appropriate year group is determined by the chronological age of the 

child.

Key Stage 1 – The Council will offer children places at their catchment school as 

long as this will not bring the class size to more than 30, and if the Council cannot 

offer an alternative school place within two miles of the parents home address.

The Council will agree a place in an out-of-zone school as long as:

i) there is room within the admission number; and 

ii) there are not already 30 children in the class.

Where a school, which is below its admission number, has organised its Key Stage 1 

into classes of 30 and the only way to admit another child would require the 

admission authority to take Qualifying Measures (that is, it would require the school 

to provide additional resources in terms of staff and accommodation), these are 

grounds on which the Council or other admission authority may refuse an application. 

Key Stage 2 – Children are usually entitled to a place at their catchment school even 

though the school may be on or above its admission number. However, where there 

is a serious concern, for example about health and safety, there may be 

circumstances in which a Key Stage 2 place may be refused at a catchment school.

The Council will agree a place in an out-of-zone school as long as there is room 

within the admission number.

7.7 Infant Class Size limit exceptions

There are a limited number of exceptions to the Infant Class Size limit of 30. These 

children remain an excepted pupil for the time they are in an infant class, or until the 

class numbers fall back to the infant class size limit. They are:

 Children with statements of special educational need (SEN) or Education 

Health and Care Plan (EHCP) admitted outside the normal admission round

 Looked after children and previously looked after children

Page 93



12

 Children admitted because of a procedural error made by any admission 

authority in the original application process

 Children admitted following an appeal upheld by an independent appeals 

panel

 Children who move into a catchment area outside the normal admission round 

for whom there is no other school place within a shortest walking distance of 2 

miles

 Children of UK service personnel admitted outside the normal admission 

round who move into a catchment area

 Twins and children from multiple births when one of the siblings is the 30th 

child admitted

 Children with SEN who are normally taught in an SEN unit attached to the 

school or who are registered with a special school, but attend some infant 

classes within a mainstream school

7.8 Children of UK service personnel. Places for these children will be allocated in 

advance if accompanied by an official letter with a relocation date and Unit postal 

address or quartering area address.

7.9 Overseas applications. Parents who have already moved to the UK from overseas 

who are British or European Economic Area (EEA) nationals, or who have an 

endorsed passport showing right of abode, can apply for places for their child at any 

school covered by this scheme. 

Parents or children in these categories who do not yet live in the UK can apply before 

the date they move to the UK. However, the address to be used in the allocation will 

be the address that the child is living at on the closing date, unless a subsequent 

house move has been accepted up to the last date for changes in the coordinated 

scheme. A UK address will only be used once the child is residing at that address, 

and evidence will be required of this, as in paragraph 1.10 of this document.

For non-EEA nationals, the Council may ask to see passports and visas for 

verification and may confirm visa status with the Home Office if this is unclear or 

missing.

Children in the UK on a visitor’s visa are not entitled to free state education. Any 

parents wishing to access education for their child whilst visiting the UK may however 

Page 94



13

choose to pay for private education during their stay. The only waiver to this applies 

to children of visiting academics (parent has an Academic Visitor visa, up to 12 

months) who may access free state education during their visit.

Visa over-stayers must be able to provide evidence of an on-going appeal in order to 

access free state education for the duration of the appeal process. 

7.10 Waiting Lists. The Council will not keep waiting lists for places in Year 1 and above. 

Parents may wish to contact schools directly to establish whether there is space in 

their child’s year group prior to completing an inyear transfer request form. The 

Council will confirm the availability of a place with the school before issuing a formal 

offer of a place. Schools must not offer places to parents.

7.11 The Council will provide Voluntary Aided and Academy schools with relevant on-line 

and paper form preference information for those applications which include a 

preference for their school. 

7.12 The Governing Bodies of Voluntary Aided and Academy schools will consider each 

application by applying the school’s admission criteria and notify the Council of their 

decision within 5 days of receipt of the application.

7.13 Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the 

parent’s highest priority eligible preference will take precedence.

7.14 All parents will be informed by the Council of the school place allocated by letter. The 

letter will also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to 

make an appeal. Parents should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 

working days of receipt of the letter notifying them of the outcome of their application. 

7.15 If the relevant body is refusing admission the Council will write to the parent advising 

them that the application has been refused and informing the parent of the legal right 

to appeal against the decision. Where a house move from outside the area or within 

Wirral is the reason for requesting an in year transfer and none of the preferred 

schools are able to offer a place, the Council will, where possible, indicate on the 

refusal letter the nearest appropriate school with vacancies at the time of application, 

where “nearest” uses the shortest walking distance from the Council’s computerised 

Ordnance Survey Address Point based routing system. The letter will also inform the 

parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to make an appeal. Parents 

should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of the 

letter notifying them of the outcome of their application.

Page 95



14

8.0 Pupils transferring from Infant to Junior Schools

8.1 All children who are on roll at one of the Infant Schools listed below at the time of 

transfer from Year 2 to Year 3 are eligible to transfer to the linked junior even if they 

do not live in the school’s catchment area. Children who live in the catchment area of 

the Junior School are also eligible.

Black Horse Hill Infant School to Black Horse Hill Junior School

Brackenwood Infant School to Brackenwood Junior School

Greasby Infant School to Greasby Junior School

Overchurch Infant School to Overchurch Junior School

Town Lane Infant School to Higher Bebington Junior School

8.2 Admissions to St John’s Junior School are detailed by the governing body in 

accordance with the school’s admission arrangements.

9.0 The Fair Access Protocol 

9.1 All requests for in-year places will be considered with reference to the Council’s 

current admission arrangements and procedures for in year placements. 

9.2 All schools will take part in the Fair Access Protocol, which is published separately. 

Schools must respond immediately to requests for admission to school according to 

the timescales above so that admission of the pupil is not unduly delayed.

9.3 Children who are looked after and previously looked after, and children with an 

Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) naming the school are NOT included in the 

Fair Access protocol. These children MUST be placed in the school of their carer’s 

preference irrespective of the availability of places in the year group. 

9.4 Permanent Exclusions. For pupils who are at risk of permanent exclusion and on 

the roll of a Wirral school it is open to the headteacher to refer the child to Gilbrook 

Outreach Service or to consider a Managed Move. All such placements will be 

initially on a trial basis for a minimum of six weeks. Confirmation of placement or the 

school roll will be subject to a satisfactory report. 

9.5 Pupils who have been permanently excluded will normally be placed on the roll of 

Gilbrook School or the Progress School. Schools should contact the Exclusions 

Officer as soon as the exclusion has taken place. The Exclusions Officer will consider 

whether the pupil can be transferred immediately to an alternative primary school. 

Page 96



15

Such transfers will be agreed with the parent and relevant headteacher. All primary 

schools will take a minimum number of 1, or the number of permanent exclusions in 

the previous academic year, as the agreed quota of permanently excluded pupils for 

placement. 

9.6 Parents retain their legal right to an appeal for a place at any school of their 

preference. This right is not affected by the decision of the Fair Access Panel.

Page 97



16

Admissions Authorities in Wirral

Wirral Council

Community Primary Schools (54)

Voluntary Controlled Primary Schools (4)

The Governing Bodies of:

Academy Schools

Birkenhead High School Academy for Girls (Junior)

Christ Church (Moreton) CE Primary School

Church Drive Primary School

Co-Op Academy Portland

Co-Op Academy Woodsee

Egremont Primary School

Great Meols Primary School

Our Lady of Pity Catholic Primary School

  Poulton Lancelyn Primary School

  Stanton Road Primary School

  St Joseph’s (Birkenhead) Catholic Primary School

  Townfield Primary School

  Town Lane Infant School

Church of England Aided Primary Schools

Christ Church (Birkenhead) CE Primary School

Dawpool CE Primary School

St Andrew’s CE Primary School 

St Peter’s CE Primary School 

St Saviour’s CE Primary School

Page 98



17

The Priory CE Primary School 

Woodchurch CE Primary School 

Catholic Aided Primary Schools

Christ The King Catholic Primary School

Holy Cross Catholic Primary School 

Ladymount Catholic Primary School 

Our Lady and St Edwards Catholic Primary School 

Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School 

St Alban’s Catholic Primary School 

St Anne’s Catholic Primary School 

St John’s Catholic Infant School 

St John’s Catholic Junior School 

St Joseph’s (Upton) Catholic Primary School 

St Joseph’s (Wallasey) Catholic Primary School 

St Michael and All Angels Catholic Primary School 

St Paul’s Catholic Primary School 

St Peter & St Paul Catholic Primary School 

St Peter’s Catholic Primary School 

St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School 

Joint Denominational Aided Primary Schools

Holy Spirit Catholic and CE Primary School

A full list and map is provided in the Council’s information booklets for parents, 

available on-line at www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions.

* Status subject to confirmation at time of publication.

Page 99

file://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/mgReportDbDocs/5/8/CABINET%20REPORTS/Nov%202012%20-%20%20Permission%20to%20consult/www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions


18

Children and Young Peoples Department 

PROPOSED ADMISSION NUMBERS FOR 2021-22

WIRRAL COMMUNITY AND VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED
PRIMARY SCHOOLS

SCHOOL ADMISSION NUMBER 

2021-2022

Barnston Primary 45

Bedford Drive Primary 60

Bidston Avenue Primary 60

Black Horse Hill Infant 60

Black Horse Hill Junior 60

Bidston Village CE Primary School 52

Brackenwood Infant 60

Brackenwood Junior 60

Brookdale Primary 30

Brookhurst Primary 30

Castleway Primary 30

Cathcart Street Primary 30

Devonshire Park Primary 60

Eastway Primary* 30

Fender Primary 42

Gayton Primary 30

Greasby Infant 60

Greasby Junior 60

Greenleas Primary 45

Page 100



19

SCHOOL ADMISSION NUMBER 

2021-2022

Grove Street Primary 60

Heswall Primary 30

Heygarth Primary 45

Higher Bebington Junior* 97

Hillside Primary 30

Hoylake Holy Trinity CE Primary 45

Irby Primary 30

Kingsway Primary 25

Leasowe Primary 30

Lingham Primary* 57

Liscard Primary 90

Manor Primary 30

Mendell Primary 30

Mersey Park Primary 60

Millfields CE Primary 30

Mount Primary 48

New Brighton Primary 90

Overchurch Infant 90

Overchurch Junior 103

Park Primary School 60

Pensby Primary 30

Prenton Primary 60

Raeburn Primary 60

Page 101



20

SCHOOL ADMISSION NUMBER 

2021-2022

Riverside Primary 30

Rock Ferry Primary 45

Sandbrook Primary 30

Somerville Primary 90

St. Bridget’s CE Primary 60

St. George’s Primary* 120

Thingwall Primary 30

Thornton Hough Primary 25

Well Lane Primary 30

West Kirby Primary 40

Woodchurch Road Primary 75

Woodlands Primary 45

*Note that the status of these (and potentially other) primary schools is subject to change at 

time of determination. These tables will be updated accordingly should this occur.

Page 102



   

Children and Young People’s Department

SCHEME FOR THE CO-ORDINATION OF ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 
FOR MAINTAINED SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN THE WIRRAL AREA

FOR THE ACADEMIC YEAR 2021-2022

This scheme fulfils the requirements for a scheme for co-ordinating admission arrangements 

under the School Admission (Co-ordination of Admissions Arrangements) (England) 

Regulations 2008, made under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, for the area 

of Wirral Council. It builds on the well-established coordination of secondary school 

admissions that have been a longstanding feature of local practice.

The scheme applied for admissions to secondary schools in the academic year 2021/22 and 

for subsequent years, subject to any review. 

The co-ordinated scheme applies to all schools, excluding special schools, maintained by 

Wirral Council (“the Council”)and to preferences expressed by Wirral resident parents and 

carers for schools maintained by other English local authorities, academies and free schools. 

Admissions to other schools with independent status are not be covered by this scheme.

1.0 Applications for school places for admission into Year 7 - the 
normal admission round 

1.1 Wirral Council will act as the co-ordinating authority for all applications. Offers will be 

made by the Council, in its role as the home authority, on behalf of the admissions 

authority for the school allocated as follows:

Admissions Authority Category of School

Wirral Council All Wirral community and voluntary 

controlled schools

Governing body of school All Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Trust 

and Academy schools

Maintaining Local Authority Non-Wirral community and voluntary 

controlled schools

1.2 The admission arrangements for schools maintained by Wirral Council are published 

on the Council’s website and in its information booklets, in line with the requirements 

set out in the School Admissions Code (2014). The Council’s information booklets will 

be available electronically on the Council’s website from 1 September. Hard copies 

Page 103



are obtainable by request from the Council at the start of the autumn term. 

Admissions arrangements are also available from each school on request.

1.3 All parents who live in the area administered by Wirral Council must apply for places 

in maintained secondary schools either in Wirral or in the area of another Local 

Authority by completing the Wirral Parental Preference application. On-line 

applications are recommended and are made through the Council’s website: 

www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions. Parents of Year 6 pupils who are unable to 

access the online admission system can request a paper application form from Wirral 

Council from the start of the autumn term.

The form (online or paper) provides an opportunity for the parent to:

 apply for up to 3 schools

 rank the schools applied for in order of preference

1.4 Applications for places sent direct by parents and carers to individual schools cannot 

be accepted and must be sent to the Council for inclusion within these arrangements.

1.5 Preference forms should be returned to Wirral Council by 31st October to ensure the 

allocation of a school place on 1st March or next working day (the National Offer 

date). Applications received after the published deadline of 31st October will be dealt 

with once the offer of places has been sent to parents on 1st March or next working 

day.

1.6 Applications from separated parents. Only one application can be processed for 

each child; therefore it is important that both parties in shared custody arrangements 

are in agreement over the preferred school(s) named. Where a child spends equal 

time with both parents, the child’s main residence should be submitted as their home 

address. If agreement cannot be reached, or if neither parent has been granted a 

Specific Issues Order in this respect, then the Council will accept the application from 

the parent with whom the child is “ordinarily resident”. This is the address where the 

child lives for the majority of the school week (Monday to Friday), and is usually 

where the parent/carer receives child benefit for the child (where eligible). Proof of 

address and residence arrangements will be required with the application.

1.7. Changes of address. Parents and carers must inform the Council immediately of a 

change of address, even if details of a future change of residency were included on 

the application form. The Council will require supporting evidence to show that the 

place of residency has changed; e.g. a letter from the solicitor confirming the 

completion date; a signed rental agreement showing the start of the tenancy and its 

duration. In addition further information may be requested – for example, copies of 

Page 104

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions


council tax and utility bills or any other information considered relevant to the 

application, including evidence of disposal of previous property. Information and 

supporting evidence must be received by 1st January. Proof of residency received 

after 1st January will not be used to assign a higher criterion for admission, but will be 

used to send the decision letter on the published offer date. We may remove a place 

where it has been identified that a change of address has taken place before 1st 

January and has not been declared.

1.8 Home address. This must be the child’s permanent home address where he/she 

lives with a person of parental responsibility as the main carer as defined by the 

Children Act 1989. Applicants must not give the address of a business, relative, 

childminder, friend, a temporary address or an address to which they hope to move. 

The home address must not be where parents have taken out a short term let on a 

property solely to use its address on the application form without any intention of 

taking up permanent residence there. Arrangements where parents leave and collect 

children from another relative or carer on a daily basis will be regarded as childcare 

arrangements, and the child will not be deemed to be “ordinarily resident” with that 

person. The Council will require proof of residence which may include proof of sale of 

a previous property. 

Wirral Council regularly check addresses and any deliberate misrepresentation 
will result in a place being withdrawn. The Council acts on behalf of all Wirral 

admission authorities and reserves the right to request independent confirmation of 

the child’s place of residence, as felt appropriate. The Mainstream Admissions team 

may have to share the information provided with other departments of the Council in 

order to verify the authenticity of pupil’s addresses. This may include data held by 

Council Tax and/or Housing Benefit teams. The Council’s Fraud and Investigations 

Team may be asked to review the information that has been provided. This may 

include interviewing and taking a signed statement from the applicant.

1.9 Withdrawal of places. The Authority has the right to withdraw any place offered on 

the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally misleading application, or where a place has 

been offered in error.

2.0 Dealing with Applications
2.1 The Council’s admissions criteria will be applied to rank the order of priority of each 

application for community schools.

2.2 The Council will provide Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary Aided Schools 

with details of applicants for their school by 15th January. Details of preferences for a 

Page 105



school place in the area of another Local Authority will be sent to that Authority along 

with any details and supporting evidence provided by the parent by 1st January.

2.3 Preference ranking will not be shared with school admission authorities in 

accordance with paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014 as this cannot 

lawfully be used when applying oversubscription criteria.

2.4 The Governing Bodies of Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary Aided schools 

will rank each application by applying the school’s admission criteria and are required 

to notify the Mainstream Admissions team of their ranking by 30th January.

2.5 Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the 

Council will allocate the highest priority preference.

2.6 The Mainstream Admissions team will notify the Governing Bodies of Wirral 

Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary Aided schools of those pupils who will 

provisionally be allocated places at their school by 13th February.

2.7 When the Council receives from other Local Authorities details of their provisional 

allocation for Wirral children seeking places in schools maintained by them, the 

Council will then offer the highest preference if they are eligible for more than one 

school.

2.8 On 23rd February Wirral Council will inform schools and neighbouring Authorities of 

the final allocations. On-line applicants will receive an e-mail notification on 1st March 

(or next working day). Paper form applicants will receive a letter posted by second 

class post on 1st March (or next working day).

3.0 Determination of applications for Community schools
3.1 Each secondary school has a published admission number. Places will be allocated 

up to but not beyond this number.

3.2 All children who have applied before 31st October will be eligible for a place so long 

as there is space within the school’s admission number. If there are more 

applications than there are places available, then eligibility for community schools will 

be determined in accordance with the following scheme of priorities:

 Children in care, and children who were in care but have been adopted or are 

subject to a residency order or special guardianship order (“previously in 

care”)

 Pupils who have a medical reason for attending a particular school. A letter in 

support from a health care professional will be required as evidence. A letter in 

support from a senior health care professional will be required as evidence 

Page 106



which must make it clear why only this school is appropriate for your child’s 

medical needs.

 Pupils who have a brother or sister of statutory school age (including half or 

step-brothers and sisters living in the same household) at the school when the 

pupil starts school. If there are more children with older brothers or sisters at 

the school than there are places available, we will give priority to children with 

the youngest brothers or sisters at the school. 

 Pupils who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to the 

school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route, unless it 

is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking route, 

using the Council’s computerised routing system.

3.3 If places remain available at the school after all “on time” applicants have been 

allocated, places will then be allocated to late applications received after 31st 

October according to the admissions criteria, up to the school’s admission number. 

3.4 Multiple births. For community schools, where the final place in a year group is 

offered to one of twins (or triplets etc.) it will be our policy to admit the other twin 

even if that means going above the admission number.

3.5 Applications for Academy, Foundation, Trust and Aided schools will be determined 

by the governing bodies of these schools in accordance with their published 

admission criteria.

3.6 Mandatory Allocation. Where it is not possible to allocate a place at any of the 

schools applied for, children resident in Wirral will be allocated a place at the 

nearest appropriate Wirral school where there are places available. “Appropriate “ 

where possible means community school if the parents’ preferences indicate 

preferences for non-denominational education; or a Catholic school if the parents 

indicated a preference for education in a school of that denomination. The nearest 

school will be measured on shortest walking distance using the Council’s 

computerised routing system.

3.7 Special Needs. All schools will be required to admit a pupil with an Education 

Health and Care Plan (EHCP) naming the school. 

A Health Care Plan does not give any particular priority for admission to a specific 

school.

3.8 Route measurements
The “shortest road route” from home to school starts at the “seed point” of the home 

address as provided by the Ordnance Survey compiled from Royal Mail and/or local 

Page 107



council data. The starting point connects to the nearest point of the Authority’s 

digitised routing network. The digitised network is based on the Integrated Transport 

Network (ITN) supplied by Ordnance Survey and is accurately digitised to measure 

along the centre of roads. The Ordnance Survey ITN dataset is the most accurate 

road dataset available and is the definitive national road network for Great Britain. 

The ITN has been augmented by the Authority to take into account public footpaths 

and alleyways etc. that are approved to be safe for use by children, accompanied as 

necessary by an adult, by the Authority. The end point of the “shortest road route” is 

the nearest open gate of the school officially available for use by pupils at the start 

and end of the school day. The location of these gates has been set by the Authority 

based on information provided by the school. 

The “shortest road route” is not necessarily a driving route as it may use in part a 

non-driveable route, such as a footpath. The shortest road route is also not 

necessarily a walking route, because the measurement is along the centre of the 

road, not the edge (pavement or equivalent).

The same measuring system must be used for pupils in relation to admission to 

schools as this treats all pupils equally. Other measuring systems may give a 

different measurement but the Authority cannot take a measurement from another 

system into account. Online systems that parents may use for comparison, including 

Google Maps and walk-it.com etc. use the free Ordnance Survey Meridian dataset 

which is far less detailed, and consequently less accurate. They will not have an 

accurate starting point, will not bar unsuitable paths, and will not include accurate 

positions for the gates of the school being measured to. 

For addresses outside the Authority’s digitised network of approximately 48 square 

miles, including overseas addresses, an internet mapping solution will be used, e.g. 

maps.google.co.uk. 

4.0 Admission to Grammar Schools
4.1 Admissions authorities for the grammar schools in Wirral will allocate places only to 

children who have achieved the required standard. If they are oversubscribed with 

children who have achieved the standard, they will not be able to offer places to all; 

they will use other non-academic criteria to decide which children should be offered 

places. 

4.2 Request for Assessment. Parents who wish their child to be assessed for non-

Catholic grammar school education should register with Wirral Council by 31st May 
in Year 5 by completing either the online or paper Request for Assessment form. 

Page 108



4.3 The Council administers the assessment arrangements for Calday Grange 

Grammar School, West Kirby Grammar School, Wirral Grammar School for Boys 

and Wirral Grammar School for Girls. The grammar schools have criteria to 

determine which children will be given places if more children achieve the standard 

than there are places available.

4.4 Parents who wish their children to be assessed for a place at Upton Hall School 

FCJ or St. Anselm’s College must follow the procedures for requesting an 

assessment set out by those schools; those children will be assessed by the 

schools themselves. 

4.5 The selection tests. The assessment is based on the results of a test comprising 

two papers that pupils take in September of Year 6. The tests have been designed 

to predict a pupil’s potential performance at secondary school and so preparation 

for the tests is not necessary. However, familiarisation materials containing sample 

questions will be available by 30th June to help children prepare for the tests. 

To ensure that children are not disadvantaged because of their date of birth, in 

each case the score is age standardised to take account of each child’s exact age. 

A total weighted score is calculated from the Verbal, Maths and Non-verbal 

components, for boys and girls. Children who reach the qualifying score will be 

deemed to have reached the required grammar school standard. 

4.6 At the end of the process, the Council will have a list of the children who have 

reached the qualifying score. This does not necessarily mean that they will go to a 

grammar school; that will depend on the number of preferences that we have for 

the grammar schools. If a grammar school is oversubscribed, the governors use 

other criteria to decide who should be given places. 

4.7 The Council will send the outcome of the assessment tests by e-mail to parents 

who have provided a valid e-mail address on their request for assessment form by 

21st October. Postal notification will be despatched to all other parents on the same 

date as e-mails are sent out, by first class post.

4.8 A late test will take place later in the Autumn term for pupils who were registered to 

take the test but were unable to do so due to illness or absence on the main test 

date. No other arrangements will be made to assess children if request forms were 

received after 31st May, unless they have moved from another part of the country. 

Parents should still submit a preference form before 31st October naming at least 

one grammar school. If their child does not meet the grammar standard, any 

grammar preferences will be withdrawn.

Page 109



5.0 Determination of applications for Foundation, Trust, Academy and 
Aided schools

5.1 The governing bodies of Foundation, Trust, Academy and Aided schools publish their 

own admission arrangements which include the criteria which they will use to 

determine priorities if their school is oversubscribed.

5.2 Special Educational Needs. All schools will be required to admit a pupil with a 

Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care Plan naming 

the school.

6.0 Offer of Places 

6.1 Where online applications have been received from parents resident in Wirral, the 

parent or carer making the online application will receive their offer by e-mail on 1st 

March (or next working day). Parents applying on a paper form will be informed in 

writing by second class post by the Director of Children’s Services posted on 1st 

March (or next working day) of the school allocated to their child. 

6.2 This will include the allocation of a place in a school of another Local Authority if the 

parent’s application for a place there has been successful. The letter or e-mail will 

also inform parents of their legal right to appeal to an independent panel and who to 

contact to make an appeal. Parents should, wherever possible, make an appeal 

within 20 working days of receipt of the letter or e-mail notifying them of the outcome 

of their application.

7.0 Late Applications
7.1 Preferences which are received on or after 1st November will be dealt with after 

places have been allocated on 1st March (or next working day). At that point some 

schools may be full and no more places will be allocated at those schools. In the 

case of schools which have places available, places will be allocated up to the 

school’s admission number in accordance with the arrangements described in 

paragraphs 3 and 5.  

7.2 Late applications for grammar schools will require separate arrangements for testing.  

See 4.9 above.

7.3 Parents will be notified in writing by Wirral Council. The letter will also inform the 

parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to make an appeal. Parents 

should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of the 

letter notifying them of the outcome of their application. Parents and carers must 

accept or decline the offer of a late place within 10 working days of the offer date.

Page 110



7.4 If places become available before the start of the autumn term, the Council will re-

allocate them up to the school’s admission number. If there are more children 

interested in a particular school than places available, in the case of Community 

schools the Council will use the same criteria to determine priorities as is used for the 

initial allocation. In most cases the re-allocation will be made depending on where the 

children live. If this is the case, the Council will keep a list in order of those who will 

have priority because they live nearer the school in question. 

7.5 If at the end of the Summer Term a school is believed to be full, the Council will close 

the procedures and make no more reallocations. However, it may be that places will 

become available at the beginning of or during the Autumn Term. The Council will 

keep a waiting list of children whose parents are interested in obtaining a place at the 

school if a place becomes available, following the same criteria as when places were 

first offered. The waiting list will be kept open until the last day of the autumn term.

8.0 In Year applications outside the normal round of admissions
8.1 ‘In year’ applications are those made during the school year into any year group, 

other than at the normal point of entry (i.e. the normal admission round). This will 

include applications from parents and carers of children moving into Wirral from 

another Local Authority area, moving within Wirral, or seeking to transfer to an 

alternative school for other reasons.

8.2 Applications for all schools including Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary 

Aided schools must be made on a common Secondary School Transfer Form. 

Parents/carers seeking places ‘in year’ will be advised to complete their ‘home’ Local 

Authority’s common application form stating up to three school preferences ranked in 

priority order.

8.3 Schools should not deal with transfer application forms. Any forms received by 

schools should be forwarded to the Mainstream Admissions team of Wirral Council. 

The Council coordinates all parental requests for in-year transfers and placements.

8.4 Upon receipt of a transfer request Mainstream Admissions staff will establish whether 

or not the parent has discussed the request with the headteacher of the pupil’s 

current school. If this is not the case, parents will be advised to contact the 

headteacher to discuss their request.

8.5 If the parents have discussed the request with the headteacher the transfer request 

form will be acknowledged and parents informed that the Mainstream Admissions 

Team will request completion of appropriate documentation from their current school 

to forward to their preferred school. Requests for transfer in Y10 and Y11 will be 

Page 111



discouraged on educational grounds, but parents have the ultimate right to proceed 

with the request. Requests for transfer in these year groups due to relocation to 

Wirral from another area or country will be processed automatically.

8.6 For transfers between Wirral schools, the Council will request from the Headteacher 

of the child’s current or previous school, information relating to the child’s curriculum 

record, attendance and behaviour. The headteacher of the school must sign the form 

and return it to Mainstream Admissions within 5 school days. Where a child has 

relocated to Wirral from another area or country, this information will not be 

requested by the Council.

8.7 A copy of the parent’s preference form, along with the background information and 

any relevant documentation from other agencies such as the Education Social 

Welfare Service, social worker, educational psychologists and so on (where 

provided), will then be forwarded to the Headteacher of the requested school(s). 

8.8 The governing body of the requested school should reply to the Council within 10 

school days of receipt of the application notifying the decision whether a place will be 

offered.

8.9 If the school believes that the child should be considered under any of the elements 

of the Fair Access Protocol, this must be notified to the Mainstream Admissions team 

within 5 school days of receipt of the application. Where it would be helpful, the 

Exclusions Officer, Managed Move Officer or Negotiated Transfer officer may 

facilitate meetings between the parents and the schools involved in order to resolve 

any difficulties. 

8.10 For Community Schools the Council will consider all available information and decide 

whether to agree or refuse the request within 10 school days of receipt of the 

application. 

8.11 If a parent expresses a preference for one or more of the grammar schools, then their 

child will be assessed by the school or schools concerned and a decision made by 

the governing body as to whether to offer a place. The governing body will then 

inform the Council of the outcome of the application.

8.12 Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the 

parent’s highest eligible preference will take precedence. Headteachers will be 

informed of the decision.

8.13  All parents will be informed by the Council of the school place allocated by letter and 

advised to contact the headteacher of the school to arrange admission. The letter will 

also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to make an 

Page 112



appeal. Parents should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days 

of receipt of the letter notifying them of the outcome of their application.

8.14 In accordance with the School Admissions Code 2014 admission authorities must not 

refuse to admit a child solely because:

(a) they have applied later than other applicants;

(b) they are not of the faith of the school in the case of a faith school;

(c) they have followed a different curriculum at their previous school;

(d) information has not been received from their previous school;

(e) they have missed entrance tests for selective places.

8.15 Parental preference must be met unless the school believes that do so would 

“prejudice the efficient education or the efficient use of resources”, under Section 86 

of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. In effect, schools are expected 

to offer a place if there are places available in the year group. Parents who are 

refused a place have a right to an appeal to an Independent Appeal Panel. Schools 

considering refusing to offer a place when places are available in the year group 

should consider whether they believe their decision to refuse was one that a 

reasonable admission authority would have made in the circumstances of the case, 

as the onus will be on the school to prove prejudice. 

8.16 Challenging behaviour: The Admissions Code 2014 says that if a governing body 

does not want to admit a child with challenging behaviour as an in-year transfer, 

even though places are available, it must refer the case to the local authority under 

the Fair Access Protocol. The definition of “challenging behaviour” is set out in the 

Fair Access Protocol. Any such cases must be raised with the local authority within 

5 working days of receiving the transfer paperwork. Children not meeting the Fair 

Access definition of “challenging behaviour” must be considered as in year 

transfers. Fair Access does not apply to a looked after child, previously looked after 

child or a child with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) naming the school 

as these children MUST be admitted.

8.17 If the request is refused, headteachers are informed of the decision and parents are 

informed in writing and given details of their legal right to appeal. Parents should, 

wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of the letter 

notifying them of the outcome of their application. If a parent lodges an appeal, 

copies of the relevant documentation will be sent to the preferred school.

Page 113



8.18 The time taken for a transfer request to be processed should be as short as 

possible. The Council expects that parents will be informed of the outcome of their 

request within 16 school days.

8.19 Children of UK service personnel. Places for these children will be allocated in 

advance if accompanied by an official letter with a relocation date and Unit postal 

address or quartering area address.

8.20 Overseas applications. Parents who have already moved to the UK from overseas 

who are British or European Economic Area (EEA) nationals, or who have an 

endorsed passport showing right of abode, can apply for places for their child at any 

school covered by this scheme. 

Parents or children in these categories who do not yet live in the UK can apply before 

the date they move to the UK. However, the address to be used in the allocation will 

be the address that the child is living at on the closing date, unless a subsequent 

house move has been accepted up to the last date for changes in the coordinated 

scheme. A UK address will only be used once the child is residing at that address, 

and evidence will be required of this, as in paragraph 1.10 of this document.

For non-EEA nationals, the Council may ask to see passports and visas for 

verification and may confirm visa status with the Home Office if this is unclear or 

missing.

Children in the UK on a visitor’s visa are not entitled to free state education. Any 

parents wishing to access education for their child whilst visiting the UK may however 

choose to pay for private education during their stay. The only waiver to this applies 

to children of visiting academics (parent has an Academic Visitor visa, up to 12 

months) who may access free state education during their visit.

Visa over-stayers must be able to provide evidence of an on-going appeal in order to 

access free state education for the duration of the appeal process. 

9.0 The In Year Fair Access Protocol

9.1 All requests for in-year places will be considered with reference to the Council’s 

current admission arrangements and procedures for in year placements. The 

majority of requests will be agreed or refused by admission authorities with reference 

to two important factors: parental preference, and the availability of places within the 

relevant year group.

Page 114



9.2 All Wirral schools will take part in the Fair Access Protocol, which is published 

separately. Schools must respond immediately to requests for admission to school 

according to the timescales above so that admission of the pupil is not unduly 

delayed.

9.3 Children who are looked after and previously looked after, and children with an 

Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) naming the school are NOT included in the 

Fair Access protocol. These children MUST be placed in the school of their carer’s 

preference irrespective of the availability of places in the year group. 

9.4 Parents retain their legal right to an appeal for a place at any school of their 

preference. This right is not affected by the decision of the Fair Access Panel.

Admission Authorities in Wirral
Wirral Council

Community Secondary Schools (2)
    Mosslands School
    Pensby High School*

The Governing Bodies of:
Academy Schools

Birkenhead High School Academy for Girls (Senior)
Calday Grange Grammar School for Boys
Co-Op Academy Bebington
Hilbre High School 
Oldershaw School
Prenton High School for Girls
St Anselm’s College
St John Plessington Catholic College
St Mary’s Catholic College
The Birkenhead Park School
Upton Hall School FCJ
Weatherhead High School for Girls
West Kirby Grammar School for Girls
Wirral Grammar School for Boys
Wirral Grammar School for Girls
Woodchurch High School 

Foundation Schools
Ridgeway High School
South Wirral High School

*  Status subject to confirmation.

A full list of schools and a map showing locations is provided in the Council’s 

information booklets for parents, available on-line at 

www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions 

The scheme will be amended if there are further changes to the status of schools.

Page 115

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions


PROPOSED ADMISSION NUMBERS FOR WIRRAL COMMUNITY SECONDARY 
SCHOOLS

SCHOOL
ADMISSION NUMBER 

2021 – 2022
Mosslands School 225
Pensby High School 165

Page 116



CABINET
Monday, 24 February, 2020

CONSIDERATION OF PROPOSAL TO IMPLEMENT SELECTIVE 
LICENSING FOLLOWING CONSULTATION

Councillor Stuart Whittingham, Cabinet Member - Housing and Planning said: 

“Wirral residents demand – and deserve – to live in good quality, safe and attractive 
housing. The availability of private rented accommodation has more than doubled in Wirral 
in the last 10 years and while we know that many of these properties are of an excellent 
standard, evidence from current Selective Licensing Schemes has demonstrated that there 
are others that aren’t up to scratch.

“We will not tolerate Wirral residents being forced to live in poor conditions by irresponsible 
landlords. This licensing scheme is a good way for us to tackle this issue and, where a 
landlord does not live up to their responsibilities to their tenants, we will not hesitate to take 
action against them.

“Our Selective Licensing scheme supports improvement in the quality of housing in the 
areas of Birkenhead and Wallasey where it is applied. It has brought many social and 
health benefits along with it and people from across the political spectrum have rightly 
highlighted its success and championed it for their own area, calling for its expansion.

“This is where the council needs to step in and use all the powers that we have to drive up 
the standards of this housing on behalf of tenants and this is what we are aiming to do by 
continuing with Selective Licensing in the four areas introduced in July 2015 and extending 
the scheme to two additional areas.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report presents Members with the results of the consultation exercise for re-
designating a Selective Licensing Scheme in the four areas introduced in July 2015 and 
extending it to two more designated areas in the Borough. It is proposed that these six 
areas listed below are included in a new scheme (referred to as scheme 3) starting on 1st 
July 2020:

 Birkenhead South (LSOA E01007129)
 Egerton North (LSOA E01007179)
 Egremont Promenade South (LSOA E01007215)        existing scheme 
 Seacombe Library (LSOA E01007278)
 Tranmere Lairds (LSOA E01007291)
 Egremont South (LSOA E01007275)                           2 additional areas

Page 117

Agenda Item 7



The maps and address lists for the scheme 3 areas are detailed in the updated Business 
Case (Appendix 1)

Based on the feedback from the consultation undertaken and the robust evidence used for 
the Business Case rationale, Members are asked to approve the designation of Wirral’s 
Selective Licensing Scheme (scheme 3) for all tenanted private rented properties within 
these six designated areas under Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004.

The Wirral Plan 2020 set out a commitment to work together up to 2020 and beyond to 
achieve the 20 pledges, including ‘good quality housing which meets the needs of 
residents. Wirral’s Housing Strategy has supported the 2020 Plan and clearly sets out the 
long-term strategic housing direction for Wirral. The Council has worked in partnership to 
deliver the ambitions of the plan and housing priorities working with a wide range of 
partners and stakeholders to improve the quality, quantity and access to housing. Building 
on this good track record, the Council will continue this approach as it adopts the new 
Wirral Council Plan 2025, its priorities and future strategies which Selective Licensing has a 
key role to play.

Wards affected include Birkenhead & Tranmere, Claughton, Liscard, Oxton, Prenton, 
Rock Ferry and Seacombe.

This is a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

Cabinet are requested to:-

a) approve the draft proposal for Selective Licensing in the following six 
areas of the borough based on the robust evidence base:
 Birkenhead South (LSOA E01007129)
 Egerton North (LSOA E01007179)
 Egremont Promenade South (LSOA E01007215)
 Egremont South (LSOA E01007275)
 Seacombe Library (LSOA E01007278)
 Tranmere Lairds (LSOA E01007291)

b) agree that the Selective Licensing designation for these six areas 
shall commence on 1st July 2020 until 30th June 2025.

c) agree to the exclusion of Mariners Park from the proposed Selective 
Licensing Scheme.

Page 118



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The report sets out the reasons for implementing a Selective Licencing scheme 
(scheme 3) in six designated areas in the borough. There is a robust evidence base 
to justify the targeting of proposed areas and support for the scheme has been 
evidenced through feedback from a wide ranging consultation exercise undertaken, 
with 61.15% of respondents who either strongly agreed or agreed with selective 
licensing proposals compared to 18.37% who either strongly disagree or disagreed.  

1.2 Latest evidence for the existing Selective Licensing Scheme (scheme 1 – see 
Appendix 2 for definition) has confirmed that private rented properties in these areas 
have an extremely low level of compliance (26.78%) with licensing conditions. The 
Council as a result, has prosecuted 57 offences during the 4 ½ years this current 
scheme has been operating, specifically where landlords & agents refused to co-
operate with licensing requirements. While there have been substantial 
improvements in property conditions, the 1st Selective Licensing Scheme 
demonstrates that without pro-active Council intervention in these areas, vulnerable 
tenants would continue to live in poor quality, often hazardous housing. This further 
strengthens the case for rolling out this scheme to the proposed new areas. 

1.3 The Council received an appeal from Nautilus Welfare Fund during the statutory 
consultation against their 125 properties being included in the Selective Licensing 
designation. Section 5 of this reports sets out the reasons why Officers have 
recommended that this specific development is excluded from the scheme due to its 
unique characteristics, tenure and management.

1.4 The Wirral Plan 2020 set out a commitment to work together up to 2020 and beyond 
to achieve the 20 pledges, including ‘good quality housing which meets the needs of 
residents. Wirral’s Housing Strategy has supported the 2020 Plan and clearly set out 
the long-term strategic housing direction for Wirral. The Council has worked in 
partnership to deliver the ambitions of the plan and housing priorities, working with a 
wide range of partners and stakeholders to improve the quality, quantity and access 
to housing. Building on this good track record, the Council will continue this approach 
as it adopts the new Wirral Council Plan 2025, its priorities and future strategies 
which Selective Licensing has a key role to play.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council has used a range of tools for tackling poor management including:
 property accreditation, 
 healthy homes, 
 landlord forums,
 training.  

In addition, the Council uses existing enforcement powers (Housing Act 2004) to 
improve housing conditions such as the operation of a mandatory HMO Licensing 
Scheme and a reactive approach to complaints from tenants and partner agencies. 

Page 119



2.2 Whilst these powers are effective at improving conditions, progressing prosecutions 
and undertaking work in default are resource intensive processes. Landlords often 
avoid prosecution by undertaking a minimal amount of the required works or 
sometimes evicting tenants or selling the property on to a new owner. In these 
cases, the Council may have to invest a significant amount of time into tracking down 
new owners before any enforcement action can be taken. Selective Licensing makes 
it a mandatory requirement for landlords to apply for a licence in designated areas 
requires a co-ordinated, targeted mandatory approach, where the ultimate sanction 
is that a landlord can be prevented from letting out properties.  

2.3 The current Selective Licensing Scheme (scheme 1) has demonstrated that this 
targeted approach has accurately identified areas of properties in very poor condition 
where traditionally residents do not complain about their housing conditions. In the 
current Selective Licensing scheme (scheme 1), 136 dwellings have had serious 
hazards addressed since the scheme commenced. If Selective Licensing was not in 
place in these areas it is highly likely that hazardous housing conditions would not 
have been addressed. 

2.4 A Borough wide approach was also considered however the Selective Licensing of 
Housing (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 is clear that new schemes 
can only be introduced without Secretary of State approval, in areas where the 
private rented stock is greater than the national average (19%). If Wirral wanted a 
borough wide scheme, a request for a designation could be made to the Secretary of 
State, however officers are not confident they could demonstrate a need for a 
Borough wide initiative. The reason for this is that Wirral has very distinct housing 
markets, where the private rented sector is significantly higher and they are 
concentrated in small pockets in the east of the borough, but there are also areas of 
high demand where the levels of private renting are much lower. Recent evidence 
from Wirral Intelligence Service (Appendix 1) supports the fact that there is 
significant polarisation of housing markets in the borough. It is recommended 
therefore that the Council should focus resources in the smaller discrete areas 
displaying the worst problems of low demand and poor property condition.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Scheme 1
Wirral introduced its first Selective Licensing Scheme (referred to as scheme 1) in 
the Borough on 1st July 2015 into four designated areas in Birkenhead, Tranmere, 
Seacombe and Egremont. At December 2019 over 1,300 Licence applications have 
been granted in these areas representing over 99% of known licensable landlords. 
Compliance checks, which are based on license conditions, have been completed for 
997 privately rented properties; however, the compliance rate with license conditions 
has been found to be extremely poor at under 30% of those 997 properties 
inspected. Whilst most landlords and agents have completed any necessary works 
voluntarily, the Council has been proactive in taking enforcement action where 
necessary and have been successful in securing prosecutions for 57 offences 
relating to licensing and non-compliance with notices. More recently, the Council has 
been issuing Rent Repayment Orders where appropriate and has been successful 
with two Orders. Officers have also directly assisted a tenant with a successful Rent 
Repayment Order. In addition, 2,234 Healthy Homes Surveys have been completed 

Page 120



and 5,284 referrals made to over 49 partner organisations to assist residents in 
Selective Licensing Areas improve their health and wellbeing.

3.2 Although the worst properties have been targeted for early inspections, the scheme 
demonstrates that without pro-active Council intervention in these areas, vulnerable 
tenants would continue to live in poor quality, often hazardous housing. Officers aim 
to inspect all privately rented properties in these areas by 30th June 2020, which is 
the end of the current five year designation period, although the higher than 
envisaged volume of complex and time consuming prosecution work may prevent 
100% surveys being achieved in the remaining months.

3.3 It is still too early to assess whether or not Selective Licensing in scheme 1 has had 
its intended impact of reducing low housing demand, however, reviews of the 
scheme were undertaken in 2017 and 2019, including consulting with residents’ and 
landlords to gauge some initial views on progress.  

3.4 Whilst the initial review feedback in 2017 showed that after 18 months residents had 
not yet seen significant improvements in their Selective Licensing Areas, feedback 
was positive in many aspects such as a high overall satisfaction with the areas and 
improving property conditions. Since the introduction of the scheme, some landlords 
have sold their portfolios of properties rather than comply with minimum conditions 
and there are some other professional landlords who have bought and renovated 
these properties to a good standard and licensed them. There have also been some 
excellent outcomes generated as a result of the development of new residents’ 
associations and street clean-up days that are indicative of a renewed pride in some 
areas. The 2019 consultation highlighted overall, residents seem reasonably happy 
with the areas in which they live and have seen further improvement in their 
properties however views on the living environment were more mixed, which remains 
a concern. 

3.5 Scheme 2
In April 2019, a further Selective Licensing Scheme (referred to as Scheme 2 – see 
Appendix One for definition) was introduced into four additional areas. Since April, 
709 licenses have been issued in these additional areas and to date, initial 
compliance inspections have been targeted at properties known to the Council to 
have problems. Of the number inspected, the compliance rate is only 7.89%, which 
gives an indication of the extent of the problems in the areas.

3.6 Consultation with local residents and landlords will be undertaken during the 5 year 
duration of this scheme, in line with the approach adopted for scheme 1, in order to 
review this scheme as it progresses in order to understand progress and target the 
Councils approach effectively.

3.7 Scheme lifespans
Schemes 1 and 2 have a lifespan of five years. Scheme 1 areas are due to cease at 
the end of June 2020 and Scheme 2 areas are due to cease at the end of March 
2024.

Page 121



4.0 CONSULTATION

4.1 The Housing Act 2004, Section 80 imposes statutory consultation requirements in 
respect of local authorities designating a licensing scheme. The Act states the 
Council must take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected 
by designation and then fully consider any representations made. 

4.2 The Business Case and associated appendices were approved by Cabinet on 22nd 
July 2019 as the basis for the selection of six selective licensing areas (scheme 3) 
and subsequent 10-week statutory public consultation. The report also outlined the 
evidence used to determine the six areas. The evaluation involved an analysis of 
individual data sets for the worst performing small geographical areas across the 
borough called Lower Super Output Areas (LOSAs). These are the smallest 
geographical areas where official data collected at a national level, can be used for 
analysis. The LSOAs are determined nationally and to change these boundaries 
would affect the robustness of the analysis. Data analysed included for example the 
number of long term empty properties, low sales values and sales rates, high 
numbers of private rented properties, high turnover of private rented properties and 
longer than average times that privately rented properties took to be re-let as well of 
other data that reflects areas suffering from low-demand

4.3 An extensive public consultation with landlords, residents, business and stakeholders 
commenced on 5th August 2019. All responses and representations made have been 
analysed and considered as part of the Business Case. (Appendix 1). The final 
report which sets out the Public and Stakeholder Consultation findings can be found 
as Appendix 3 of this report.

4.4 The consultation process was significant and wide ranging and included an online 
questionnaire, press release, website information, social media releases and emails.  
In addition, postcards were delivered to all homes within the existing Selective 
Licensing areas (scheme 1) and the proposed two additional area boundaries as well 
as posters placed in shops and local businesses in the proposed areas.

4.5 Various consultation methods were used for different stakeholder groups such as 
attending existing events to engage with residents, letters sent to landlord 
associations and focus groups were set up for local landlords and managing agents. 
In total 353 people and organisations have responded to the consultation, broken 
down as follows:

332   responses received to the on-line questionnaires
8     written submissions (emails and letters)
13     landlords and agents attended two landlord drop-in sessions

4.6 Key messages identified from the consultation findings are detailed below:

 From the on-line surveys, the majority (61.15%) of respondents either strongly 
agreed or agreed with selective licensing proposals compared to 18.37% who 
either strongly disagree or disagreed.  

 14.8% of the respondents to the on-line questionnaire, and many of the landlords 
and agents who attended the workshops made comments in support of the 

Page 122



proposal. A common view was that whilst good landlords were already meeting 
these requirements, there were unscrupulous landlords that were neglecting their 
responsibilities and selective licensing would provide greater protection for 
tenants.

 9.3% of respondents submitted comments via the on-line questionnaire against 
the proposal to extend the Selective Licencing scheme. A number of reasons 
were highlighted for this including unnecessary regulation; it is penalising good 
landlords while not addressing the bad; the Council already has existing powers 
to tackle poor landlords, there are few benefits for landlords and it will increase 
rents as landlords will have to pass the costs on to tenants.  

 4.2% made neutral comments through the on-line questionnaire that were neither 
in support of nor against selective licensing but offered wide-ranging suggestions 
or observations about how the scheme should operate on a practical level.  
These suggestions have been considered.

4.7 There were no proposals during this consultation to amend the licencing conditions, 
which therefore remain unchanged.

5.0 CHANGES TO THE BUSINESS CASE AS A RESULT OF CONSULTATION AND 
REPRESENTATIONS MADE

5.1 In addition to the feedback summarised in section 4 of this report, there were issues 
raised as part of the consultation process which has resulted in the Business Case 
(Appendix 1) and associated appendices being reviewed and amended. The case 
setting out the evidence base and rationale for the introduction of selective licensing 
has remained unchanged. 

5.2 During the comprehensive consultation on the designation of the scheme 3 areas, an 
appeal against the inclusion of Mariners’ Park in the Selective Licensing Scheme 
was received. Mariners’ Park is situated within the LSOA E01007138 Egremont 
Promenade South and consists of 125 private rented properties which are owned 
and managed by the Nautilus Welfare Fund which provides housing, care and 
support to retired merchant mariners and their dependents. The appeal responds in 
detail to the issues that Selective Licensing tackles, demonstrating why Nautilus 
believe the issues do not apply in their discrete 16-acre park. The appeal is 
discussed in further detail in the revised business case.

5.3 Impact on the LSOA if Mariners’ Park estate was removed from Selective Licensing 
proposals.
The following information highlights the impact removing the 125 Mariners’ Park 
properties from the LSOA will have on the indicators and where this LSOA has 
scored in the evidence base matrix.

5.3.1 Private rented properties
In Wirral Selective Licensing Application: Supporting Evidence and Rational 
Egremont Promenade South was 6th highest for the percentage of privately rented 
properties in Wirral with 37.4% or properties. This equates to 293 properties in the 
PRS.  If the 125 Nautilus properties are removed from the LSOA, then 168 of 659 
properties would be privately rented. This equates to 25.5% private rented properties 

Page 123



in the remaining LSOA, compared to an average of 15.8% in Wirral as a whole. The 
government guidance for Selective Licensing states that if an area has more than 
19% of stock in the PRS then it may be considered for Selective Licensing.

5.3.2 Long term empty properties
In Wirral Selective Licensing Application: Supporting Evidence and Rational 
Egremont Promenade South was 10th highest for long term empty properties in 
Wirral, and 3rd highest in the length of time long term properties were empty. As of 1st 
April 2019, Council Tax records show that only one property was empty for more 
than 6 months, and if the Mariners’ Park properties were removed from the LSOA 
figures, the percentage of long term empties would increase to 5.9%, pushing the 
LSOA up the list to 7th highest.

5.3.3 Rate of property sales
In Wirral Selective Licensing Application: Supporting Evidence and Rational 
Egremont Promenade South had the 6th lowest rate of property sales as a proportion 
of housing stock in Wirral. The 125 properties owned by Nautilus will have an impact 
on the sales in the LSOA because the charity do not sell their properties, nor have 
plans to sell. If the 125 properties were removed from the LSOA the rate would 
become 5.09% which would remain in the 6th position in this table.

5.3.4 Property condition
In Wirral Selective Licensing Application: Supporting Evidence and Rational 
Egremont Promenade South was 4th highest for LSOAs with the highest number of 
interventions due to poor property condition. (34 interventions in the LSOA for 2017 
and 2018; a rate of 19.7). Further investigation of the Mariners’ Park in 2017 and 
2018, there were 7 interventions, broadly similar to the LSOA as a whole, and if the 
Mariners’ Park figures were taken out, the LSOA would still have 27 interventions, 
which means that this would not made a difference to the position of the LSOA in the 
table. The issues found on inspection of the properties in Mariners’ Park were very 
minor and already being dealt with or were dealt with promptly.

5.3.5 Other indicators
The Egremont Promenade South LSOA is not scored in the tables for lowest 
average sold prices in Wirral, highest number of deliberately started fires by LSOA, 
highest ratio of environmental health complaints related to privately owned properties 
or LSOAs with the highest rates of HHSRS Category 1 Hazards in private rented 
properties in the Wirral Selective Licensing Application: Supporting Evidence and 
Rational. Of the Supporting Indicators, Egremont Promenade South is scored in only 
two of the tables: Wirral LSOAs with the highest percentage of private rented 
households claiming Housing Benefit (HB) and highest percentage of Employment 
Support Allowance Claimants 2019.

5.3.6 Of the first, 30.6% of the households in the LSOA claim HB which equates to 140 
households. If we assume all 125 properties claim HB, this leaves 115 households in 
the LSOA, which equates to 17.45%. This figure is still high, and therefore the LSOA 
would continue to be in the top 10 of LSOAs for this indicator at joint 4th place.

5.3.7 The final table that Egremont Promenade South appears in, in the Wirral Selective 
Licensing Application: Supporting Evidence and Rational is for the highest 
percentage of ESA claimants 2019. As all of those living in Mariners’ Park are of 

Page 124



pensionable age, this table is irrelevant to these properties and removing the 125 
properties will only increase the percentage, therefore the LSOA will continue to 
score the same.

5.3.8 In conclusion, the LSOA would still score 12, even if the Mariners’ Park properties 
were removed from the calculations and would still therefore be a priority for 
Selective Licensing. Having considered the arguments put forward by Nautilus and 
the impact such an exclusion would have, officers consider the suggested exclusion 
of Mariners Park from the proposed selective licensing scheme should be accepted, 
and the rationale for including the remainder of this LSOA remains robust.  
Furthermore, should the Council choose to dismiss Nautilus’s representations, it is 
considered that a Judicial Review would rule in their favour.

5.4 Fees and Charges

5.4.1 The Housing Act 2004 stipulates that local authorities may charge for the introduction 
and administration of a Selective Licensing Scheme; however, they cannot make a 
profit from such a scheme. The existing Selective Licensing scheme (scheme 1) is 
subsidised by Council funding for some statutory elements of the scheme that cannot 
be charged for through the licence fee. Any efficiency gained from streamlining the 
license processes therefore must be passed on to the landlord.

5.4.2 A common concern for landlords during the consultation related to the level of fees 
which a significant number of landlords felt were too high, particularly when they 
reported experiencing more regulation from central government, lower rental yields, 
difficulties receiving rent payments from delays in their tenant receiving Universal 
Credit and an increasing number of tenants with complex support needs. Officers 
have therefore strived to reduce the actual costs of administering the scheme even 
further and should members give approval for a new scheme to be introduced to six 
areas from 1st July 2020, additional processing efficiencies will enable the fee level 
to be brought down further as set out in Section 6 of this report.

5.5 Existing Selective licensing scheme benefits

5.5.1 Whilst the Council will not provide financial assistance for landlords to carry out 
improvements where their property falls below the minimum statutory standard, 
financial support will be provided towards renovation costs of empty properties that 
have been vacant for more than six months. It was previously agreed by members to 
increase the maximum limit of financial support within designated Selective 
Licensing areas to £5,000 to encourage long term empty properties in Selective 
Licensing Areas to be brought back into use. In addition to this Heating and 
Renovation Loans of up to £4,000 are available to qualifying tenants to enable 
heating repairs or improvements to be made to rented properties. 

5.5.2 The Council currently has a small team of Healthy Homes Community Workers 
which are externally funded by Public Health until March 2021. Their work is focused 
in the existing Selective Licensing Areas and supports very vulnerable residents via 
a referral hub to multiple agencies to improve wellbeing and reduce health 
inequalities. Officers will look at opportunities to see if this can be extended into the 
proposed Selective Licensing areas. 

Page 125



5.5.3 The Council will continue to offer information and advice to landlords and residents in 
both the existing and proposed Selective Licensing Areas to help address issues 
relating to anti-social behaviour (ASB); will offer mediation where this is applicable 
and offer an Anti-Social Behaviour case management service to landlords where the 
level of ASB does not warrant enforcement action. Where required, practical training 
sessions will be provided for landlords and where appropriate cases may also be 
referred to the Troubled Families Project. Consultation feedback so far has also 
identified that a high number of tenants in these areas lack general lifestyle and 
tenancy management skills, putting them at a higher risk of homelessness due to 
tenancy breakdown. Tenants who are at risk of losing their tenancy or their landlords 
who have properties in Selective Licensing areas will have access to a free, 
commissioned tenancy support service. Where necessary a case worker will be 
provided to offer support as well as advising tenants of their rights, responsibilities 
and implications of their actions including how to behave and act within the terms of 
their tenancy agreements.

5.5.4 The Council has introduced a facility of assisting landlords of licenced properties 
within the existing Selective Licensing areas in the removal of waste from privately 
rented accommodation. The provision of this facility was introduced to reduce the 
number of occurrences of fly tipping to the Borough as a whole, providing an 
environmental improvement to communities.

5.6 Monitoring of Impacts

It is proposed that the following outputs are collected and reported on an annual 
basis and published on the council’s website:

 No of properties licensed in each designated area.
 No of properties compliant.
 Number of properties where informal action has been taken to improve 

properties.
 Number of properties where Improvement Notices have been served to 

improve properties.
 Number of hazards removed from properties.
 Number of prosecutions.
 Number of Empty Properties brought back into use in Selective Licensing 

Areas; and
 Number of long-term empty properties.

5.7 Evaluation – How will success be measured?

5.7.1 By agreeing to extend the Selective Licensing Scheme in the scheme 1 areas, it is 
acknowledged in government guidance that selective licensing can take longer than 
the initial five-year designation period to have a sustainable positive impact within 
these areas. While property condition has undoubtedly improved in the scheme 1 
areas following Council intervention, it is recommended that follow-up inspections on 
all sub-standard properties will be undertaken in the next designation period to 
ensure that landlords & agents are maintaining them to the correct standard. Spot 
checks on the remainder of privately rented properties in these areas will also be 
undertaken. A higher rate of inspections will be programmed for the 2 new 
designated areas Egremont South (LSOA E01007275) and Tranmere Lairds (LSOA 

Page 126



E01007291) on a risk basis, as is the case for the second Selective Licensing 
scheme 2, which commenced in April 2019.

5.7.2 It must also be acknowledged that a change in some indicators may not necessarily 
be as a result of selective licensing as it is sometimes difficult to separate the various 
factors contributing to low demand which can be due to national policy or national 
economic conditions.

5.7.3 As well as statistical indicators, the council will obtain qualitative evidence on the 
impact of selective licensing in the new areas through a resident and landlord survey 
towards the end of year two and in year five. The council will judge success on the 
following:

 Improved resident satisfaction in the designated neighbourhoods
 All high risk private rented properties will be inspected, and hazards removed.
 All landlords who fail to license their properties or comply with improvement 

notices will be prosecuted.
 There will be a significant improvement in the condition of the private rented 

properties. 
 High positive awareness of selective licensing amongst landlords and 

residents and high awareness of the assistance that can be provided to 
improve private rented property management and to improve the health and 
welfare of residents in the areas. 

 There will be a reduction in the number of long-term empty properties.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The estimated costs of operating a scheme in the four areas are estimated to be in 
the region of £261k per year over the five-year designation period with a projected 
income being received of £128k per year during this period.  

6.2 The Council’s contribution for scheme 3 will be the same for the existing scheme 1 at 
around £132k per year despite the scheme encompassing two new areas. This 
Council funding, is required to support the scheme as there are elements of the 
scheme which the Council is not legally able to charge landlords for and will cover 
the cost of the staffing resource to cover enforcement costs to address hazardous 
housing conditions. This is already a statutory duty of the Council and therefore 
cannot be funded from the license fee, but a budget is already in place to cover 
these costs without an additional resource been required by the Council.

6.3 As with previous schemes, 100% of the income received from the Selective 
Licensing scheme fees will be ring-fenced to cover the operational costs on this 
scheme, which is prescribed by statute. 

6.4 The fee level of a licence within the existing scheme 1 is £695 for the five-year 
duration of the scheme (without discounts). The fee level has been reviewed and 
efficiencies in processing will enable fees to be set at £595 for the five-year duration 
of the scheme based on the costs associated with processing applications, 
administration costs for issuing the licence and staff monitoring compliance of the 
scheme conditions over the five-year designation period. In setting the fee level, 
Officers are of the opinion that landlords who don’t come forward and co-operate 

Page 127



with the Council should be charged the full fee, whilst landlords who are accredited 
or come forward promptly to licence their properties should be rewarded with 
discounts.  

6.5 The ‘early bird’ discount can be justified by the increased workload to identify 
landlords who haven’t come forward voluntarily to be licensed. The accreditation 
discount recognises landlords who are already accredited with either the Council’s 
accreditation scheme or a national landlords association equivalent scheme, have 
declared they meet the statutory minimum standards in terms of property and 
management standards, all of which will reduce the time needed for certain 
compliance checks to be completed. 

 

6.6 Members should note assumptions on costs regarding fee income have had to be 
made on an estimated level of private rented properties across the areas. This could 
be subject to change if there are less private rented properties in the area or 
landlords make more properties empty to try and avoid fees. This would have an 
impact on the level of fee income generated and would need to be reported to 
members however there would be a small contingency of 10% of costs in reserve to 
mitigate this which officers consider is a low risk based on the number of licences 
applied for in the first scheme. This risk however will be managed through regular 
monitoring of income generation and by the proposed new team working to establish 
an accurate private landlord database. There will be the ability to re-charge for 
specific services over the duration of the scheme and in the event of the full income 
being realised, this will result in a one off saving to the Council which will be 
considered in the final year of the programme.

6.7 Member’s attention is drawn to Appendix three of this report which sets out the 
Public and Stakeholder Consultation findings, which officers have had regard to 
when proposing the final fee structure and the range of discounts which will be 
available

During the landlord consultation drop-in events, landlords and agents discussed the 
proposed fees, fee structure of the proposed licence, and asked many general 
operating questions over payments for licence fees and discounts. Landlords and 
agents were split about the cost of the licence, as some thought the fee was 
reasonable whilst the majority, 57% considered it was expensive. Another comment 

The overall license fee for the proposed scheme has therefore reduced to £595 per 
property for the 5-year duration of the scheme. Discounts on the fee include:

Accredited with the Council or a national landlord association scheme £100 
discount.
Early Bird Discount (for applications within 3 months) £100 
Multi-property discount for 2nd and subsequent properties   £50 
discount

There will be an additional charge of £50 per property for payments by instalments 
and £50 per application for landlords who make paper applications (as opposed to 
on-line applications) or request assistance to make an on-line application in Council 
Offices.

Page 128



“Good idea in principle but as with other licensing just quite expensive / could 
payment be spread paid monthly” will be recognised with payments possible over a 
12-month period.

7.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Housing Act 2004 and regulations under the Act contain provisions for local 
authorities to license the private rented sector in some circumstances. Selective 
Licensing is one form of licensing that can be used. The Housing Act 2004 also 
imposes statutory consultation requirements in respect of local authorities 
designating a licensing scheme. The Act states that the authority must ensure that 
any exercise of the power is consistent with the authority’s overall housing strategy. 
Guidance requires the Local Authority to present the case for selective licensing, why 
it is the most appropriate solution, how consultations have been undertaken and how 
responses have been dealt with.

7.2 Previously an application for licensing had to be approved by the Secretary of State 
for Housing, Communities and Local Government. Since April 2010 local authorities 
can approve schemes themselves under “general consent “powers. From April 2015 
the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government has to 
confirm any scheme which would cover more than 20% of a Local Authority’s 
geographical area or that would affect more than 20% of privately rented homes in 
the local authority area. This proposed scheme 3 would not need that approval.

7.3 After formal designation it will be an offence for a person who has control of or 
manages a property within the designated area (landlord or managing agent) not to 
have a licence unless the property is exempt. The fine payable following summary 
conviction is now unlimited (previously £20,000). It will also be an offence if someone 
who is so licensed breaches a condition of the licence. The fine payable following 
summary conviction is now unlimited (previously £5000). Any person who is 
convicted of these offences may be regarded not to be a ’fit and proper’ person and 
may be refused a licence upon application or have an existing licence revoked.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

8.1 It is intended that the staff required to operate the proposed scheme is broadly the 
same as the existing Selective Licensing Scheme with the addition of a compliance 
officer to help with the additional property inspections from the two new areas to be 
completed. If approval is given for the proposed scheme, it will enable staff currently 
in post delivering the existing scheme (1) which is due to come to an end on 30th 
June 2020, to be retained for a further 5-year period. If approval is not given for this 
proposal, this will result in 5 FTE staff being redeployed and potential redundancy.

9.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

9.1 A full Risk Assessment can be found in the Business Case however Members 
attention is drawn to the following key risks: -

Page 129



Risk Controls
Low take up by landlords resulting in an
income shortfall

 Full Consultation taken place
 Prediction of number of licenses based 

on the existing SL schemes 1&2
 Early bird discount offered to encourage 

landlords to come forward.
 Enforcement and publicity of 

noncompliant landlords
 Small contingency in place that will be 

offered as a saving if not required.
Inability to process and respond to high
level of licence applications all submitted
at the same time

 Existing staff are fully trained and 
experienced with processing large 
numbers of applications

 New software to improve processing of 
applications with payment module

 Fixed term staff to assist in early stage of 
programme if higher level of applications 
than anticipated are received.

Challenge of the Councils decision by
seeking judicial review of the decision
resulting in cost implications for the
council

 Councils legal team involved in
feasibility and consultation
processes

 Robust consultation plan agreed by
cabinet

 License fee
changed to reflect views and
concerns from consultation with
landlords.

 Exclusion of Mariners Park from Scheme 3 
following representation made as part of the 
consultation exercise

10.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

10.1 As detailed in sections 4 & 5 of this report.

11.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 It is anticipated that the proposed implementation of Selective Licensing scheme 3 
will have a positive impact on stakeholders in those affected areas through 
improvements in the standards and management of private rented properties, 
improving the Boroughs Housing Offer and improved access to quality housing in 
those areas.  

11.2 The introduction of Selective Licensing scheme 3 in six areas of the borough is 
consistent with the priorities identified in Wirral’s Housing Strategy of which an 
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed. An new Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) in relation to all Selective Licensing schemes, including the 
proposed scheme 3 is available through the following link: 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/delivery 

Page 130

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/delivery
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/delivery
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2017/delivery


12.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

12.1 Selective Licensing focuses on areas of poorest property condition and areas where 
the housing stock is generally oldest and harder to heat and therefore it could be 
argued that the opportunity to reduce CO2 emissions in these areas is greatest. The 
Selective Licensing Scheme would seek to reduce CO2 emissions by undertaking 
compliance inspections in Selective Licensing areas and take action where ‘excess 
cold’ hazards are identified in properties.  Selective Licensing, together with the 
Healthy Homes initiative that is focused in these areas will ensure that residents, 
where needed, receive assistance to improve the thermal efficiency of their homes 
and/or get support to reduce fuel poverty through support to combat fuel debt or 
other debts that are reducing their ability to heat their homes adequately.

The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to:

Reduce emissions of CO2  
        

REPORT AUTHOR: Emma Foley
Housing Services Senior Manager
Telephone: 0151 691 8198
Email: emmafoley@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Selective Licensing Business Case 2019
Appendix 2: Selective Licensing Area Definitions
Appendix 3: Selective Licensing Public and Stakeholder Consultation 

Findings

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Approval Steps for additional and selective licensing designations in England, 
Department of Communities and Local Government, Revised addition 2010
Selective Licensing of Privately Rented Housing December 2013, House of Commons
Selective Licensing of Housing (Additional Conditions)(England) Order 2015, 
Department of Communities and Local Government.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Cabinet – Approval of business case and 
consultation approach for proposed selective 
licensing 
Cabinet – Consideration of proposal to implement 
selective licensing following consultation
Cabinet – Approval of business Case and 
consultation approach for the proposed extension 

22nd July 2019

1st October 2018

27th November 2017

Page 131



of Selective Licensing
Cabinet – Consideration of proposal to implement 
Selective Licensing following consultation
Cabinet – Approval of Business Case and 
consultation approach for the proposed 
introduction of Selective Licensing

12th March 2015

6th November 2014

Page 132



  

 

Wirral Council 

 

Selective Licensing Business Case 

 

December 2019 

 

Page 133



 2 

Contents 

 

1 Foreword         4 

2 Executive Summary       5 

3 Introduction         7 

4 Strategic Housing Context      9  

5 Wirral’s Socio Economic & Housing Profile    12 

 Population projections       12 

 Age profile         12 

 Ethnicity         14 

 Health Inequalities & Deprivation      14 

 Household Incomes        16 

 Fuel poverty         17 

 Number of Households       18 

 Tenure Breakdown        18 

 Housing Types        19 

 Empty Dwellings        20 

 Profile and Stock Condition of the Private Rented Sector  21 

 Housing Demand        21 

 Rents and Sales Data       23  

6 Why is Wirral Council introducing continuing with  

 Selective Licensing and introducing further areas?  24 

 What have we been doing to improve the Private Rented Sector? 25 

Property Accreditation       25 

Empty Property Policy Approach      26 

Homelessness        27 

Healthy Homes        28 

Use of Existing Housing Act Powers     29 

 What alternative options have we considered?    29 

Page 134



 3 

7 What is Selective Licensing?      31 

 Legal Provisions        31 

 License Conditions        31 

 Fit & Proper Persons       31 

 Enforcement of Licensing Requirement     32 

8 The Proposal        33 

 Licensing Fees        33 

 Implementation Timetable       34  

9 Benefits of Selective Licensing      35 

10 Risk Analysis        37 

 Displacement        37 

 Risk Register         38 

11  How will we consult?       33 

12 Monitoring & Evaluation       40 

 

 

 Appendix 1 Evidence Base 

 Appendix 2 Maps and Address List of Proposed Selective Licensing  Areas 

 Appendix 3 Consultation Plan 

 Appendix 4 Selective License Conditions 

 Appendix 5 Risk Register 

Page 135



 4 

1 Foreword 

 Since 2001, Wirral has seen a significant increase in its private rented sector of 

nearly 80%.  This represents both an opportunity to create a strong and 

sustainable housing market and offer for the Borough but also a challenge in that 

some of these properties are being poorly managed and are in areas with higher 

rates of private rented stock, suffering low demand, criminal damage, high 

turnover and empty properties which are all directly affecting the local 

neighbourhood. 

 Wirral wants to see a healthy private rented sector with good quality properties 

and management standards.  In order to achieve this there is a need to address 

some of the housing and related social issues which continue to affect areas 

especially those to the East of the Borough.  Many landlords act responsibly, and 

Wirral has worked in partnership over a number of years to drive up standards 

through the Landlord Accreditation Scheme where in total 3,805 properties have 

been accredited.  While this is a great achievement there are many areas where 

accreditation has not worked and where tenants are reluctant or unwilling to 

report poor housing conditions. In eight of these areas, Wirral has already 

introduced Selective Licensing, the first scheme in 2015 and the second scheme 

in 2019. This scheme has highlighted the need for a rigorous, targeted approach 

to enforcing minimum standards. Licensing inspections in these areas have so 

far demonstrated that almost 70% of privately rented properties do not comply 

with licensing conditions, so clearly more needs to be done to protect vulnerable 

residents living in the private rented sector in certain parts of Wirral. 

 We will continue to use existing powers we have available to tackle irresponsible 

landlords and tenants and at the same time offer support and assistance to 

improve conditions and management practices.  But we also need to do more.  

This Business Case therefore sets out a proposal to extend Wirral’s Selective 

Licensing Scheme in the 4 areas of the first Selective Licencing Scheme for a 

further 5 years as well as to an additional two new small areas.  At the same 

time, we are committed to building on our existing relationships with those 

landlords operating in the Borough, particularly those in existing and proposed 

Selective Licensing Areas. We aim to focus complementary investment into 

these areas to make a clear commitment to tenants, residents and stakeholders 

in these neighbourhoods that we can make a positive change for the future by 

driving up management standards and practices in the private rented sector in 

their communities. 

 

 Councillor Stuart Whittingham, Wirral Council, Cabinet Member for 

Housing and Planning 

Page 136



 5 

2 Executive Summary 

 Wirral has a growing private rented sector within its housing market. There are 

around 23,000 privately rented properties in Wirral1 and the sector is vital in 

meeting the borough’s housing needs, so it is important that what is on offer is of 

high quality. 

 Although many landlords operate professionally, Wirral Council is concerned 

about a number of landlords who rent properties that fail to meet satisfactory 

standards of tenancy and property management. 

 Almost one in six properties within Wirral’s private rented sector contains one of 

the most serious hazards. This has a detrimental impact on the health and 

welfare of local communities. It also impacts negatively on a housing market that 

is already vulnerable in terms of vacant properties, low house prices and 

depressed rental values. 

Poorly managed properties can lead to problems such as low demand, anti-

social behaviour, fly-tipping, and can cause blight on the borough’s 

neighbourhoods.  Wirral Council wants to ensure that it has a good quality 

private rented sector, that tenants can be confident in, and believes that a 

Selective Licensing Scheme can play a major part in helping achieve this. 

Selective Licensing is a scheme where all private landlords within a defined 

boundary must have a license before they can let a property out.  The license will 

have conditions attached to ensure the properties are in good condition, safe and 

well managed. 

Wirral introduced its first Selective Licensing Scheme on 1st July 2015 in four 

small areas and introduced a scheme in four further areas in 2019.  The 2015 

scheme has been in operation for almost four years and has had a significant 

impact in improving properties through compliance inspections and pro-active 

engagement with landlords, tenants and residents.  Selective Licensing schemes 

have a maximum duration of five years and the 2015 scheme is due to end in 

July 2020.  Wirral Council cannot simply extend Selective Licensing in the 

current areas if it wishes but must demonstrate the continued need in the existing 

areas or, utilising the evidence, introduce a scheme into new areas. The Council 

must first demonstrate the case for this continued or new intervention.  This 

document therefore makes the case for continuing Selective Licensing within all 

of the 2015 geographical areas which the evidence shows are continuing to 

experience the worst symptoms of low demand and poor property condition in 

the Borough. It also makes the case for introducing selective licensing into two 

new small areas which are showing similar symptoms.  

Wirral Council undertook a consultation exercise to ensure that everyone who is 

likely to be affected by the proposed scheme had an opportunity to express their 

 
1 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 

Page 137



 6 

views and understand the rationale or ‘business case’, which supports the 

introduction of a scheme.  

Page 138



 7 

3 Introduction 

 This is the Business Case to support the proposal for the continuation of 

Selective Licensing in four areas of the Borough (excluding the Mariners’ Park 

Estate in Egremont Promenade South (E01007215) indicated below by the blue 

shading) and the introduction of Selective Licensing into two new areas to 

operate from 2020 until 2025, as shown in the map below. (The red shading 

indicates the areas that began with Selective Licensing in 2015, the orange 

shading indicates the areas that began with Selective Licensing in 2019, and the 

green shading indicates the two proposed new areas.) 

 

Page 139



 8 

 These areas have been identified through an evidence-based approach using 

research collated by the Council’s Wirral Intelligence Service. 

 Some key aspects of this evidence have been incorporated into Section 5 of this 

report, however a full breakdown of the methodology and findings of the 

evidence base can be found in Appendix 1 together with a matrix combining all 

the data-sets for the worst Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) for the Borough.   

The evidence demonstrates that there is a clear link between high levels of 

private rented properties in the proposed selective licensing areas and low 

demand with its associated socio-economic issues, as well as evidence of issues 

caused by the poor management of private rented properties. 

 Larger maps of each proposed designated area, together with a list of streets / 

properties included in the proposed areas are shown in Appendix 2. 

 During the consultation period, the Nautilus Welfare Fund, the owners of the 

Mariners’ Park estate in Egremont, submitted a compelling case for the estate’s 

exclusion from the scheme. The Nautilus Welfare Fund is a registered charity 

which provides housing, care and support to retired merchant mariners and their 

dependents. It has occupied the site and supported beneficiaries since the 

1880’s. 

The arguments for exclusion centred around the uniqueness of the estate within 

the Egremont Promenade South LSOA, in that the 125 properties, all located 

within a distinct geographical area, do not suffer from low demand and that 

property standards are high. These arguments are borne out by the following: 

• The properties currently have a waiting list of 80 and have a high 

occupancy rate, typically over 97%; 

• There is a low turn-over rate of tenants. Residents who move to Mariners’ 

Park invariably live out their life on the Park. There are many tenants who 

have lived there for over 10, 20 and even 30 years in some cases. The 

main reason for vacancies is residents passing away. 

• All homes meet the Decent Homes Standard, and this has been 

evidenced by visits from the council’s Housing Standards Officers to a 

randomly selected sample of Mariners’ Park homes over the course of the 

current selective licensing designation period.  

The Business Case therefore proposes that Cabinet, if it approves the proposed LSOAs 

for Selective Licencing in Wirral from 2020 to 2025, also approves the exclusion of the 

Mariners’ Park estate from the scheme.  

Analysis on the impact of removing the estate from the Egremont Promenade South 

LSOA has shown that the LSOA would remain in the top 10 for all the indicators for 

which it was selected originally from the Matrix in the Evidence Base (Appendix 1 of the 

documents approved for consultation by Cabinet on 22nd July 2019).   

Page 140



 9 

4 Strategic Housing Context 

Wirral’s Housing Strategy, published in July 2016, focusses activity in Wirral to 
achieve the 2020 Pledge, “Good quality housing which meets the needs of 
residents”. It is clear that access to good quality housing is a foundation on which 
people can build happy and successful lives and is a crucial component of strong 
and sustainable communities. 
 
The Strategy has three clear themes: 
 

• Building more homes in Wirral to meet our economic growth ambitions; 

• Improving the quality of Wirral’s housing offer for our residents; 

• Meeting the housing and support needs of our most vulnerable people to 
enable them to live independently.   

  
The private rented sector underpins each of these themes and in particular plays 
a major role in improving the quality of Wirral’s housing offer.  The sector does 
however often contain many vulnerable households, has the least security of 
tenure, has twice as many people living in hazardous homes than the owner-
occupied sector and a third of all private rented homes are non-decent. 
Continuing pressure on the availability of affordable homes for rent in the social 
sector means it is important to support people to consider all available housing in 
the borough and as such a good quality private rented housing offer is a 
fundamental part of meeting housing need. 
 
Table 1 below summarises the links between Selective Licensing and local 
strategies and policies.  

 

 Table 1 

Local Strategy / 
Policy 

Relevant aim of strategy 
/ policy 

What Will Selective 
Licensing Contribute 

The Wirral Plan: 
a 2020 Vision 

Good quality housing 
which meets the needs 
of residents. 

Selective Licensing 
contributes to addressing 
the need for quality, 
affordable and safe homes 
which in turn assists in 
driving forward 
improvements to the 
quality of life, health and 
levels of achievement for 
our residents. 
 

Wirral Strategic 
Regeneration 
Framework 

High Quality Housing Access to good quality 
housing is a crucial 
component of strong and 
sustainable 
communities and 
maintaining and 
developing 
sustainable housing 

Page 141



 10 

markets is at the heart of 
the Strategic Regeneration 
Framework. The 
framework also seeks to 
maintain, and where 
appropriate, increase 
levels of choice in the 
market whilst protecting 
the character of our 
successful 
neighbourhoods. 

Wirral Growth 
Plan 

Housing Growth  The provision of good 
quality housing that meets 
the needs of Wirral’s 
current residents and 
those of the future 
workforce is a key enabler 
of growth. It is therefore 
critical that we work with 
partners to be clear about 
how housing investment 
should be quantified, 
prioritised and targeted. 

Private Sector 
Housing 
Financial 
Assistance 
Policy 

Assisting vulnerable 
households to remain in 
their homes by 
removing hazards, 
relating to disrepair, 
improving their 
affordable warmth and 
bringing long term 
empty properties back 
into use. 

Selective Licensing will 
help to identify those in 
need of assistance and 
target resources where 
they are needed most to 
generate improvement to 
the quality of the housing 
stock in these areas, 
generate confidence and 
protect vulnerable 
residents. 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

Increasing Access to 
the Private Rented 
Sector 

Licensing will support the 
ongoing development of a 
suitable private rented 
sector offer for all client 
groups, including advice 
and support to both clients 
and landlords. In addition, 
following the Localism Act 
2011, the Council is now 
able to discharge its 
homeless duty in the 
private rented sector; good 
quality private rented 
sector stock will increase 
the range of properties 
available to carry out this 
duty. 
 

Page 142



 11 

Home Energy 
Conservation 
Act 1995; 2019 
Progress Report 
Action Plan. 

Increasing standards in 
the Private Rented 
Sector.  

 

The Plan states the 
Council will continue to 
offer support to 
households through Wirral 
Healthy Homes in the 
Selective Licensing areas 
in order to improve 
housing standards and in 
particular reduce excess 
cold hazards.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 143



 12 

5 Wirral’s Socio Economic & Housing Profile 

 Population  

 Wirral has a population estimated at 323,235 as at mid-20182. Between 2004 

and 2018 the Borough’s population increased by 2.63%. The rate of growth has 

been slower than that of the UK which was 10.8% between 2004 and 20184. 

 Age Profile 

 Wirral’s population profile differs from that of England, the North West and of 

 Merseyside. It has a larger population of older people, both those aged 65-84 

 and those aged 85 and over5. 

Table 2 

Area 0-14 15-44 45-64 65-84 85 and over 

Wirral 17.9% 37.9% 25.8% 15.9% 2.4% 

Merseyside (Met 
County) 17.0% 38.0% 26.0% 16.4% 2.5% 

North West 18.1% 37.3% 26.1% 16.2% 2.3% 

England 18.1% 38.1% 25.6% 15.7% 2.4% 

 

 The predicted change in age profile from 2019 to 2039 reflects the predictions for 

the North West and England in that there is likely to be a significant growth of the 

older population. Those aged 65 and over are predicted to make up 28.1% of 

Wirral’s population by 20396.  

Table 3 shows the age profile of the proposed areas for selective licensing as 

recorded by the 2011 Census7. All areas exhibit a younger age profile than the 

Wirral average. 

  

 
2 Estimates of the population for the UK, mid-2018, ONS June 2019    
3 Estimates of the population for the UK, mid-2018, ONS June 2019 
4 Estimates of the population for the UK, mid-2018, ONS June 2019 
5 Estimates of the population for the UK, mid-2018, ONS June 2019 
6 Wirral Compendium of Statistics, Wirral Intelligence Service, 2019  
7 Age by Single Year, (QS103EW), Office for National Statistics, 2011 

Page 144



 13 

 Table 3 

Area 0-14 15-44 45-64 65-84 

85 
and 
over 

Birkenhead South 19.7% 43.6% 24.5% 11.3% 0.8% 

Egerton North 18.7% 46.1% 24.3% 9.5% 1.5% 

Egremont 
Promenade South 19.6% 36.7% 24.4% 15.8% 3.6% 

Egremont South 20.4% 45.2% 23.1% 10.6% 1.3% 

Seacombe Library  23.3% 43.0% 21.3% 11.3% 1.2% 

Tranmere Lairds 16.9% 49.3% 22.8% 13.7% 0.6% 

Wirral 17.3% 35.0% 27.5% 17.5% 2.7% 

 

 Table 4 shows the changes in population and age profile, between the Censuses 

of 2001 and 2011, of the proposed areas compared to Wirral, the North West 

and England. It shows a particularly marked increase in the total population of 

Tranmere Lairds, reflecting a 22% increase in the number of dwellings in this 

LSOA (see Table 12 further on in this report). Tranmere Lairds has also seen a 

shift in the age demographic away from older people. Conversely, Egremont 

Promenade South has seen a large increase in the rate of households aged 45-

64. It also shows a significant growth in older population groups in Birkenhead 

South, Egremont South and Seacombe Library. 

 Table 4 

Area 

All 
people 0-14 15-44 45-64 65-84 

85 and 
over 

Percentage change between 2001 and 2011 

Birkenhead 
South 

15.86 8.83 16.38 18.58 20.41 30.00 

Egerton North 0.08 -14.54 8.38 5.37 -11.51 -17.39 

Egremont 
Promenade 
South 

17.44 7.59 11.85 53.15 -0.40 48.72 

Egremont South 1.4 -18.3 4.6 23.6 3.8 -5.0 

Seacombe 
Library  

-0.47 -13.13 -4.37 23.14 11.33 -10.53 

Tranmere Lairds 29.4 0 50.1 27.8 -18.7 -56.5 

 Wirral 2.40 8.24 1.91 13.12 6.16 19.13 

North West 4.79 4.89 2.92 13.01 7.40 19.86 

England 7.88 1.02 5.64 15.23 9.14 23.70 

  

 

Page 145



 14 

 Ethnicity  

The ethnicity of the population in five out of the six proposed selective licensing 

areas mostly reflects that of Wirral’s population as a whole. Tranmere Lairds 

differs, notably in that there is a much higher proportion of people of Asian or 

Asian British ethnicity8. 

 

Table 5 

Area White 
Mixed/multiple 
ethnic groups 

Asian/Asian 
British 

Black/African/
Caribbean/ 

Black British 

Other ethnic 
group 

Birkenhead 
South 

96.43% 1.75% 0.81% 0.56% 0.44% 

Egerton 
North 

96.67% 2.05% 1.15% 0.13% 0% 

Egremont 
Promenade 
South 

95.05% 1.42% 2.37% 0.81% 0.34% 

Egremont 
South 

96.16% 1.86% 1.60% 0.19% 0.19% 

Seacombe 
Library  

96.98% 0.70% 1.86% 0.46% 0% 

Tranmere 
Lairds 

93.23% 1.20% 4.91% 0.48% 0.18% 

Wirral 97.52% 0.75% 0.75% 0.26% 0.71% 

 

 Health Inequalities and Deprivation 

 Along with factors such as education, unemployment and health care services, 
housing is a crucial determinant of health. The links between these ‘wider 
determinants’ health (see diagram below) and health outcomes and inequalities 
are long standing and well evidenced. 

A range of local authority services can help reduce the inequalities in these 
determinants and improve people's health and wellbeing; including 
environmental health, leisure, planning, schools, transport and key to this report 
– housing.  

Those living in poverty are likely to live in the poorest quality housing in society 
and also face a range of other disadvantages which impact negatively on their 
health. 

In 2015-17 for example, there was 10 years difference in life expectancy 
between the most and least deprived areas of Wirral. Life expectancy in Heswall 
for example was 85.5, compared to just 75.3 in Rock Ferry9.  

 
8 ONS, Census 2011 
9 Wirral Compendium of Statistics, Wirral Intelligence Service, 2019 

Page 146



 15 

 

 Table 8 shows that the proposed areas for Selective Licensing are all highly 

ranked on the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)10. There are 32,844 LSOAs in 

England and Wales of which the proposed areas are all within the top 5%. 

 Table 8 

Area 
IMD Rank out of 

32,844 

Birkenhead South 
84 

Egerton North 
1,405 

Egremont Promenade South 
652 

Egremont South 
1,621 

Seacombe Library  
273 

Tranmere Lairds 
456 

 

  

 

 
10 Indices of Deprivation 2019, Lower Super Output Areas,  Office for National Statistics / Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government 

Page 147



 16 

Table 9 

LSOA 
Health, Deprivation 

and Disability 

Rank out of 32,844 

Birkenhead South 42 

Egerton North 510 

Egremont Promenade 
South 

186 

Egremont South 1,585 

Seacombe Library  142 

Tranmere Lairds 146 

 

The IMD is made up of seven individual ‘domains’ (or different dimensions of 

deprivation) which together make up the overall IMD. One of these domains is 

“Health, Deprivation & Disability” which measures premature death and the 

impairment of quality of life by poor health and considers both physical and 

mental health. The ranks for this domain for the proposed areas for selective 

licensing are in table 9. All are ranked within the top 5% of LSOAs nationally for 

Health, Deprivation and Disability. 

  

 Household Incomes 

Data from 201811 (table 10) shows that in Wirral, the average annual earnings for 

full-time employees living in Wirral are higher than the North West average, at 

£27,685.   Wirral has the second highest earnings for employees in the Liverpool 

City Region behind Sefton, however, earnings for full-time employees working in 

Wirral are significantly lower than the North West and Great Britain. Wirral has 

the fourth lowest average earnings by workplace in the Liverpool City Region at 

£25,655 per annum.  However, the difference in performance between people 

living and working in Wirral implies that people living in Wirral are accessing high 

value employment outside of the borough and people working in Wirral are not in 

as highly paid employment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
11 ASHE (via Nomis), 2018 

Page 148



 17 

Table 10 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 Fuel Poverty 

The official definition of fuel poverty using the Low-Income High Costs (LIHC) 

indicator defines a fuel poor household where: 

• They have required fuel costs that are above average (the national median 

level); and 

• Were they to spend that amount, they would be left with a residual income 

below the official poverty line. 

Nationally, 19.4% of private rented households are defined as fuel poor. This is 

much higher than in the owner-occupied sector (8.0%)12. In Wirral, it is estimated 

that fuel poverty affects 21% of private rented households compared to 9% of 

owner-occupied households13. 

The rates of fuel poverty within the proposed areas for selective licensing 

compared to the Wirral and English averages are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12 BEIS 2017 Fuel Poverty Statistics, June 2019 
13 Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling & Database, Client Report for Wirral Council, BRE 2018 

Area 
Average Annual Pay 

(workplace) 
Average Annual Pay 

(resident) 

Halton £28,890 £27,482 

Knowsley £32,367 £26,638 

Liverpool £27,236 £26,703 

Sefton £25,651 £28,746 

St Helens £24,770 £25,899 

Wirral £25,655 £27,685 

North West £27,315 £27,492 

Great Britain £29,648 £29,661 

Page 149



 18 

Table 11 

Area Rate of fuel poverty (all housing 
tenures) 

Birkenhead South 24.3% 

Egerton North 25.4% 

Egremont Promenade South 24.9% 

Egremont South 21.5% 

Seacombe Library  25.7% 

Tranmere Lairds 20.9% 

Wirral 13.5% 

Liverpool City Region 14.5% 

England 10.9% 

 

 The main drivers of fuel poverty are income, fuel prices and energy efficiency. 

The depth and likelihood of being fuel poor increases markedly with lower energy 

efficiency levels. In 2017, 23.4 per cent of English households living in G-rated 

properties were fuel poor compared to only 3.2 percent of A, B and C-rated 

properties14.  

 Number of households 

 Table 12 shows information from the 2001 Census and the 2011 Census. It 

shows that there have been increases in household numbers across four out of 

six of the LSOAs, most significantly in Tranmere Lairds. 

 Table 12 

  2001 2011 
% 

change 

Birkenhead South 718 761 5.99 

Egerton North 632 612 -3.16 

Egremont Promenade South 740 784 5.95 

Egremont South 637 680 6.75 

Seacombe Library  680 658 -3.24 

Tranmere Lairds 746 917 22.9 

Wirral 139221 140583 0.98% 

 

 Tenure breakdown 

The 2011 Census reported that 15.8% of Wirral’s households rented privately 

(22,275). This has significantly increased since 2001 when it was 8.8%. The 

tenure breakdown in the proposed areas, in Wirral15 and in England16 in 2011 

was as follows: 

 
14 BEIS 2016 Fuel Poverty Statistics, June 2018 
15 Tenure - Households 2011 (QS405EW), ONS, 2012 
16 2011 Census: Table KS402EW Tenure, ONS, 2012 

Page 150



 19 

Table 13 shows that private rented households account for at least a quarter of 

the housing stock in the proposed LSOAs, far above the rate for the whole of the 

Borough.  

 Table 13 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The proportions of private rented households in the proposed LSOAs are all 

above the Borough and national average. 

Area Owner 
Occupied 

Social rented Private 
Rented 

Other 

No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Birkenhead 
South 

235 30.9% 222 29.2% 287 37.7% 17 2.2% 

Egerton 
North 

252 41.2% 122 19.9% 231 37.7% 7 1.1% 

Egremont 
Promenade 
South 

283 36.1% 196 25.0% 293 37.4% 12 1.5% 

Egremont 
South 

388 57.1% 30 4.4% 238 35.0% 24 3.5% 

Seacombe 
Library  

273 41.5% 141 21.4% 235 35.7% 9 1.4% 

Tranmere 
Lairds 

295 32.2% 322 35.1% 240 26.2% 60 6.5% 

Wirral  67.5%  15.2%  15.8%  1.5% 

England   63.3%  17.7%  16.8%  2.2% 

Page 151



 20 

 Housing Types 

 The table below shows that both Birkenhead South and Tranmere Lairds have 

high proportions of purpose-built flats. Egremont South and Seacombe Library 

are dominated by terraced properties.  

The breakdown of house types for the proposed LSOAs compared to Wirral as a 

whole is as follows (all tenures): 

Table 14 

Area Detached Semi-
detached 

Terraced Purpose-
built flat 

Converted 
/ mixed-
use flat 

Birkenhead 
South 

1.5% 24.4% 27.1% 23.2% 20.6% 

Egerton 
North 

2.9% 23.2% 52.9% 15.5% 4.8% 

Egremont 
Promenade 
South 

4.7% 23.7% 34.3% 16.4% 15.1% 

Egremont 
South 

1.5% 22.8% 61.9% 4.5% 8.1% 

Seacombe 
Library  

3.0% 13.4% 68.0% 6.1% 3.5% 

Tranmere 
Lairds 

2.8% 14.5% 48.8% 30.9% 2.4% 

Wirral 16.7% 41.0% 24.8% 11.8% 4.3% 

 

 Empty dwellings  

 The measurement used to assess the prevalence of empty dwellings in an area 

is dwellings that have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for over six 

months. These are known as long-term vacant dwellings. The rate of long-term 

vacant dwellings in Wirral in 2018 was the 3rd highest in Merseyside and 

although was below the average for Merseyside it was higher than the English 

average, as shown in the table 6.17 

 Table 6 

Area Rate of long-term vacant dwellings18 

Knowsley 1.31% 

Liverpool 1.74% 

St Helens 1.16% 

Sefton 1.53% 

Wirral 1.43% 
 

17 Table 615, Vacant Dwellings by Local Authority District, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 
March 2019 
18 As a percentage of the total number of chargeable dwellings, Council Taxbase local authority level data 2018, 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, November 2018. 

Page 152



 21 

Merseyside 1.51% 

England 0.90% 
 

 As of April 2019, the rates of long-term privately-owned vacant dwellings as a 

proportion of privately owned properties for the proposed Selective Licensing 

areas were as shown in table 719. It shows all of the target areas have higher 

proportions of long term private vacants than the Borough as a whole.  

 Table 7 

Area % of long-term privately-owned vacant 
dwellings 

Birkenhead South 8.42% 

Egerton North 7.47% 

Egremont Promenade South 5.08% 

Egremont South 3.00% 

Seacombe Library  5.65% 

Tranmere Lairds 16.67% 

Borough 1.54% 

 

 Profile and Stock Condition of the Private Rented Sector 

 The main findings from the Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling & 

Database 2018 for Wirral, compiled by BRE, with regards to the private rented 

sector were as follows: 

• 34% of private rented homes are occupied by low income households, compared 

with 16% in the owner-occupied sector and 78% in the social sector. 

• Rates of Category 1 Hazard failure under the Housing Health & Safety Rating 

System were higher within the private rented sector at 15% of homes compared 

to 12% within the owner-occupied sector and 6% within social stock; 

• Disrepair was estimated to be present in 7% of private rented homes, compared 

to 5% of owner-occupied homes and 2% of social homes. 

• The private rented sector in Wirral performs better than the owner-occupied 

sector with regards to estimated energy efficiency ratings. Based on Simple 

SAP20, 28.3% of private rented dwellings are in the higher Energy Performance 

Certificate bands A-C, compared to 15.9% of owner-occupied dwellings. 

  

 Housing Demand 

 
19 Council Tax data, Wirral Council, April 2017 
20 An estimate of a residential dwelling’s likely SAP score, not based on the full required range of data for a SAP 
calculation or a reduced SAP calculation (RdSAP), it should only ever be considered an estimate of the SAP score 
and used as a guide. 

Page 153



 22 

 As at 20th May 2019, there were 3,063 households registered with Property Pool 

Plus Wirral (the choice-based lettings system for social housing) that were 

currently renting from a private sector landlord and wishing to move to social 

housing. 

Property Pool Plus policy provides for priority to be given to people who are 

homeless or at risk of homelessness, living in overcrowded conditions or in some 

cases those living in serious disrepair where remaining in the home is not 

feasible/safe. Higher priority is given to these categories than those with no 

housing need, however allocations within Property Pool Plus enable rehousing 

for banding categories to support sustainable communities.   

          As such, the Property Pool Plus application form asks a series of questions in 

relation to the reasons why a household wishes to move from their current 

accommodation.  Table 15 gives a breakdown of the reasons selected which 

directly relate to tenure for the 3,063 private sector tenants registered with the 

scheme (applicants may choose more than one reason):  

          Table 15 

 Reason for wishing to move Number 

Threat of Eviction by Landlord 188 

Repossession / Eviction 103 

Unable to afford Rent 822 

Landlord Selling Property 321 

Home in poor condition 421 

          The Property Pool Plus application form also asks a series of questions in relation 

to any disrepair issues in the current accommodation. The specific questions and 

answers given by the 3,063 private tenants registered are shown in table 16: 

          Table 16 

 Questions relating to disrepair Yes No Not 

Answered 

Are you living in a property in disrepair? 318 1982 763 

If yes, does the disrepair affect your health or safety? 255 42 21 

Have you reported the disrepair to your landlord? 288 19 11 

If yes, have you reported this to your Local Authority? 64 213 41 

 Rents and Sales Data 

Page 154



 23 

 Valuation Office Agency data provides information on monthly rents recorded 

between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 201921. It shows that average rents 

charged by Wirral’s private landlords are higher than those charged in Liverpool 

and St Helens and is higher than the Merseyside average but lower than those 

charged in Sefton, and Knowsley and lower than the North West and English 

averages. 

 Table 17 

Area Average Lower 
quartile 

Median Upper quartile 

Knowsley £571 £495 £550 £625 

Liverpool £499 £371 £450 £575 

Sefton £578 £450 £550 £660 

St Helens £533 £445 £495 £595 

Wirral £550 £430 £500 £625 

Merseyside £525 £400 £495 £600 

North West £610 £450 £550 £695 

England £858 £525 £695 £975 
 

 
21 Table 2.7 Summary of monthly rents recorded between 01.04.18 and 31.03.19 by admin area for 

England, Valuation Office Agency, December 2018  
Page 155



 24 

6 Why is Wirral Council continuing with Selective Licensing and introducing 

 further areas? 

 At least 16.8% of Wirral’s housing stock is privately rented which has increased 

from 11% in 200122. A more recent estimate in 2018 shows that it could now be 

as high as 18.1%23. The Selective Licensing scheme that commenced in 2015 

has issued over 25% more licenses than was forecast using the 2011 Census 

information on private rented properties, suggesting that this sector is still 

growing. Housing conditions across the private sector are generally better than 

the national average however in Wirral, where 89% of properties are free of 

Category 1 hazards, this rate falls to 85% in the private rented sector24.  These 

properties tend to be the older, terraced and flatted housing stock.   

Wirral also has a high number of empty properties, which are concentrated in the 

older, terraced housing stock on the east side of the borough.  Wirral Council, 

over recent years, targeted interventions in those areas which have a high 

concentration of empty properties.  Realistically however tackling this problem 

alone is unlikely to reverse the trend, particularly in areas which are experiencing 

other symptoms of low demand such as low house values and a high number of 

privately rented properties where the turnover households is high.  This all 

contributes to a feeling of transience and instability in a neighbourhood. 

In July 2015, Wirral Council introduced Selective Licensing into four areas of the 

Borough and has licensed over 1,300 private rented properties. Over 997 

properties have been inspected with only 30% of these properties meeting 

minimum standards. There have been 57 individual prosecutions so far for 

landlords who have failed to get a licence and other Housing Act 2004 offences. 

It is still too early to assess whether or not the scheme has had its intended 

impact of reducing low housing demand as indicators used have a time-lag.  An 

initial review of the scheme which included feedback from residents, 

stakeholders and landlords, was undertaken in 2017.  Whilst feedback was 

positive in many aspects such as satisfaction with areas and improving property 

conditions, what has become apparent is that housing conditions were worse 

than expected. In addition, a landlord and resident survey carried out in May and 

June 2019 found that overall, residents seem reasonably happy with the areas in 

which they live and have seen further improvement in their properties. Views on 

the living environment were more mixed, which remains a concern. 

Wirral Council’s Intelligence Service were again commissioned to undertake 

research into a wide range of evidence from a variety of data sources to help 

identify further areas of low demand and poor property condition where a 

Selective Licensing Scheme would be justified and where the Council could 

make a significant impact in specific neighbourhoods through the introduction of 

 
22 Census 2011, ONS 
23 Figure 2, Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling & Database, Client Report for Wirral Council, BRE 
2018 
24 Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling & Database, Client Report for Wirral Council, BRE 2018 

Page 156



 25 

a scheme or where the evidence showed, the continuation of a scheme in any of 

the 2015 areas.  The evaluation this time involved an analysis of 17 individual 

data sets (shown in appendix 1) including the number of long term empty 

properties, low sales values and sales rates, high numbers of private rented 

properties, property condition as well of other socio-economic data that reflects 

areas suffering from low-demand. 

 Each of the indicators were scored either one or two points depending on their 
specific relevance to low demand as this is one of the main factors for which 
Local Authorities can apply for Selective Licensing.  Consequently, all of the 
indicator measures used to indicate low demand and poor property condition as 
deemed by the Government were scored the highest.   

All of the LSOAs in Wirral were ranked based on these indicators and the worst 

performing 10 LSOAs were entered onto a master matrix document. This 

represented the 5% worst performing LSOAs in terms of the low demand and 

property condition criteria that was evaluated.  

The evidence highlighted that two LSOAs that hadn’t been subject to Selective 

Licensing previously scored worse than the other LSOAs, namely Egremont 

South and Tranmere Lairds. The other LSOAs scoring highest on the matrix that 

were not the areas declared in 2019, were all areas where Selective Licensing 

were introduced in 2015 (Birkenhead South, Egerton North, Egremont 

Promenade South and Seacombe Library). The matrix shows some improvement 

upon the data gathered in 2014 however as they still score higher than LSOAs, 

there was a justification for including them in the consultation.   

The introduction of a Selective Licensing Scheme in specific, targeted areas of 

low demand and poorer property standards would help to stabilise these 

neighbourhoods by declaring an intention to drive up property management 

practice and property standards in the private rented sector.  In addition, it would 

continue to align other interventions including targeted activity to help bring 

empty properties back into use and Healthy Homes interventions. The use of 

Selective Licensing would help with other neighbourhood issues contributing to 

low demand and poor property condition within a neighbourhood through a multi-

agency approach with wider public, community and voluntary sector stakeholders 

and residents in the designated areas. 

 What have we been doing to improve the Private Rented Sector? 

 Property Accreditation 

Wirral has operated a Property Accreditation Scheme since 2003 which is a 

voluntary scheme where landlords can sign up to a code of standards and sets a 

minimum standard for property condition and management practice.  Wirral has 

accredited 7,271 properties since the scheme began, including renewals, 

however due to the level of churn in the private rented sector, there are currently 

only 1,613 properties accredited. Whilst recognised as a successful scheme by 

Page 157



 26 

other local authorities due to the high number of properties accredited, this still 

only represents just over 6% of the private rented stock in the borough. It also 

appeals to better landlords and agents operating in the property market as these 

landlords are more willing to make the necessary investment in their properties to 

ensure their properties comply with the standards.  The accreditation scheme 

also introduced a tenancy bond scheme, tenant referencing, landlord forums, 

newsletters and training events in an effort to support accredited landlords to let 

their properties in a responsible way. 

Experience of operating Wirral’s accreditation scheme has demonstrated that 

poor landlords are unlikely to join a voluntary scheme, which is why the 

mandatory approach using Selective Licensing powers is needed as an 

additional tool to address poor standards in the private rented sector. 

          Empty Property Policy Approach 

The council also offers a range of options to aid property owners in bringing their 

empty dwellings back into occupation.  

          An additional incentive for accredited landlords is the option of an Empty Property 

Grant for properties that have been long term empty for over six months. Whilst 

this assistance is available borough wide, grants have been targeted at empty 

properties in Selective Licensing areas where vacancy levels are significantly 

above the borough average.   To date 67 Empty Property Grants have been 

approved in the existing Selective Licencing areas since the start of the licencing 

scheme of which 33 refurbishments have now been successfully completed and 

the properties brought back into use. Enhanced Empty Property Grant funding is 

available for properties in the Selective Licensing areas and access to the 

additional funding is dependent on the applicant providing nomination rights for 

private rented accommodation to Wirral Council for a period of 12 months to 

assist with the Council’s statutory homelessness responsibility. Two of the 

existing four selective licensing areas have also previously been targeted as 

priority intervention areas under the Government’s Empty Property Cluster 

Programme, which was specifically aimed at areas with clusters of long-term 

empty properties.  This has attracted empty property grant funding and other 

funding to bring properties back into use in these areas. Other tools used by the 

Council in its strategic approach in tackling empty properties include: 

• Support and assistance through the Housing Renewal Team to enable 

property owners to decide which option is the most suitable for their 

specific circumstances. 

• Owners can sell their property to a private developer through the 

Developers list who will then refurbish the property for sale or let. 

• Accredited properties can be advertised to thousands of potential tenants 

through the Council’s Property Pool Plus website and the Housing Options 

Team can also help find a tenant for the property. 
Page 158



 27 

• The Council have also acquired and refurbished long-term vacant 

properties for sale to first time buyers/owner occupiers through the Home 

Ownership using Sustainable Empty Dwellings (HOUSED) initiative.  

• Should vacant property owners not wish to take up an offer of assistance 

from the Council to return the property to use, then enforcement action 

has been successfully employed using a range of legislation to achieve 

the ultimate objective of the property being occupied. This includes the 

possibility of an enforced sale to enable a properties return to use. 

• From April 2013 the Council implemented a 50% additional Long-Term 

Empty Council Tax premium for long term empty properties to encourage 

their return to use. After a property has been empty and unfurnished for 

two years an empty property premium of an additional 100% above the full 

Council Tax cost can now be charged due to recent amendment in 

Government legislation. From April 2020, the Council has decided to 

implement the option of increasing the Long Term Empty Premium for 

those premises vacant for a period longer than five years therefore 

owners will be liable for an additional 200% council tax premium from this 

date with the possibility of further future increases for those properties 

vacant for longer than ten years from April 2021. 

 Homelessness  

An unregulated private rented market often means an unsupported environment 

for the most vulnerable in society. In order to tackle some of the key problems 

associated with vulnerable people entering and remaining in the private housing 

sector the Council’s Supported Housing and Homelessness Division offers a 

range of interventions including:  

▪ A Private Rented Access Scheme (PRAS) which is available to potential 

tenants who are vulnerable and are looking to rent privately in Wirral. This 

scheme assists the more vulnerable households in the Borough, especially 

those unable to raise the necessary deposit or meet their rent and helps to 

prevent and relieve homelessness. In 2018/19, 51 individuals have secured 

homes in the private rented sector across the borough as a result of the 

assistance of the PRAS. 

▪ The availability of a range of floating support services that are able to deliver 

housing related support to vulnerable people with complex needs that may be 

experiencing difficulties in maintaining their accommodation.  During 2018/19, 

floating support services assisted over 440 people across Wirral that were 

struggling to sustain their housing.  Of this number, 28 households in the 

Selective Licensing areas received support via referrals through the Healthy 

Homes Team.”  The Council has recently recommissioned its floating support 

services to ensure a greater focus on homelessness prevention. 

Page 159



 28 

The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act in 2018 resulted in a 

significant increase in the legal duties placed on the Council to prevent and 

relieve homelessness and the private-rented sector makes a significant 

contribution to meeting the housing needs of more vulnerable households, 

including homeless households that the Council has a statutory duty to assist. 

This is where private renting directly supports the Council’s Homeless Strategy. 

The Council works in partnership with a number of private landlords and would 

like to see this service area expand. Selective Licensing will ensure that the 

private rented sector is delivering better management standards which will 

enable an increased emphasis on homeless preventions that are attributed to 

tenancy breakdown or poor housing standards.  Homelessness prevention 

activity assists to limit the financial impact of homelessness on wider Council 

services and agencies, whilst directly benefitting households. 

The Selective Licensing scheme will also increase the number of landlords 

working with the Council with well-managed, good quality accommodation.  In 

the future access to private rented properties will play a key role in the discharge 

of statutory homeless duties.  The ability to offer good quality private rented 

accommodation, not only assists to minimise disruption to homeless household, 

but minimises their time spent in costly Council temporary accommodation, while 

waiting for settled housing. 

Healthy Homes 

Wirral’s Healthy Homes Scheme has been in operation since 2010 when it was 

piloted in a targeted intervention area that was experiencing high levels of empty 

properties, privately rented properties and deprivation, including being one of the 

worst areas in the borough for health deprivation.  The scheme employs a multi-

agency approach co-ordinating services across a range of agencies and initially 

used council officers from a range of services including police, fire service and 

other agencies to undertake a door knocking approach in an effort to contact 

every household within the boundary area.  Sub-standard privately rented 

properties were then brought up to standard and other services offered to 

provide a range of support and assistance aimed at tackling the wider 

determinants of poor heath which included poor housing conditions.   

Within the current Selective Licensing areas, between July 2015 and December 

2019, the Council have completed a total of 2,234 Healthy Homes surveys and 

visits and made 5,284 referrals to over 49 referral partners which include Energy 

Projects Plus, Tomorrow’s Women, Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service, Stop 

Smoking Services, Inclusion Matters and other Local NHS Services.  

This approach complements Selective Licensing and offers a holistic service to 

improve the health and wellbeing of residents in addition to addressing low 

demand and poor property condition. 

Page 160



 29 

Use of Existing Housing Act Powers 

In addition to the above schemes, the Council uses existing enforcement powers 

under the Housing Act 2004 to improve housing conditions including the 

operation of a mandatory HMO Licensing Scheme and a reactive approach to 

complaints from tenants and partner agencies. Whilst these powers are effective 

at improving conditions, taking prosecutions and undertaking work in default are 

resource intensive processes. Landlords are also able to avoid prosecution by 

doing a small amount of the required works but delaying completion or evicting 

tenants and sometimes selling the property on to a new owner.  In these cases, 

the Council may have to invest a significant amount of time into tracking down 

new owners before any enforcement action can be taken. Selective licensing 

helps help to avoid this wasted time tracking down the person managing the 

property by making it a mandatory requirement for landlords to apply for a 

licence in designated areas. 

 What alternative options have Wirral Council considered? 

All of the initiatives identified in this document, have contributed to improving 

standards and management practices in the private rented sector and it is 

proposed that these services will still be used to complement Selective 

Licensing.    

 With the rapid growth however in the sector since 2001 and following changes 

over recent years Council enforcement activity generally has been driven by 

tenant or partner agency complaints to tackle poor landlords.  As at May 2019, 

318 private rented tenants registered on Wirral’s Housing Register said they 

were living in disrepair, but only 64 had complained to the Council. 421 private 

tenants gave “home in poor condition” as a reason for wishing to move. These 

reasons, together with the fact that many tenants of poor landlords feel 

vulnerable to eviction, has steered the Council to consider selective licensing in 

the worst areas suffering from low demand and poor property condition to 

ensure those neighbourhoods don’t decline further.   

A co-ordinated Selective Licensing approach where landlords must register, 

meet conditions, and where the ultimate sanction is that the responsibility of 

managing a property can be removed from them with a management order, 

represents a much clearer and stronger sanction.  Wirral believes that this 

approach is justified and necessary in further neighbourhoods in order to prevent 

these areas from spiralling into further decline. This approach will also help to 

empower residents and the wider community to come forward and report poor 

practice, knowing that there are robust sanctions in place. 

Wirral has very distinct housing markets which are clearly concentrated in small 

pockets in the east of the borough as evidenced in various research studies 

conducted in Wirral and the Merseyside sub-region into low demand. Although 

the former Housing Market Renewal programme has not operated since 2011 

Page 161



 30 

the recent Supporting Evidence from the Council’s Intelligence Service in June 

2019 (Appendix 1 of the Business Case approved by Cabinet for consultation on 

22nd July 2019) still supports the fact that there is significant polarisation of the 

housing markets in different parts of the borough.  The Council therefore needs 

to focus resources in the areas displaying the worst problems of low demand and 

poor property condition. 

 

7.0 What is Selective Licensing? 

 Legal Provisions 

Selective licensing is a regulatory tool provided within Part 3 of the Housing Act 

2004. Section 80 of the Act allows local housing authorities to designate areas 

for selective licensing that are suffering from one or more of the following factors: 

low housing demand, significant and persistent antisocial behaviour, poor 

property conditions, high levels of migration, high levels of deprivation or high 

levels of crime. A designation can be in force for a maximum of 5 years, but it 

can be re-declared for a further 5 year period after this time if there is evidence to 

support this. By making the designation, all privately rented accommodation in 

the designated area not fitting into the definition of a Mandatory Licensable 

House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) will require a selective licence.  

Owners of rented properties will be required to make an application to the 

Council for a licence and will need to nominate either the manager or the owner 

to be the licence holder. Landlords will require a licence for any properties they 

rent out within the designated area.  

 License Conditions 

The licence is valid for up to 5 years and will contain a series of conditions that 

the licence holder will be required to comply with. These conditions will include 

items relating to the management of the property, fire safety and anti-social 

behaviour. There will also be a requirement that landlords provide references for 

tenants that move on from their properties.  The Selective Licensing Team will be 

responsible for ensuring compliance with the designation.  Wirral’s Selective 

Licensing Conditions were attached in Appendix 4 of the Business Case 

approved by Cabinet for consultation on 22nd July 2019.   

 Fit & Proper Persons 

In addition to ensuring compliance with the license conditions, Wirral Council will 
need to determine the proposed licence holder as a ‘fit and proper’ person in 
terms of their suitability to manage their properties before issuing a licence. In 
deciding for the purposes of section 88(3)(a) or (c) whether a person is a fit and 
proper person to be the licence holder or the manager of the house, the local 
housing authority must have regard to: 

 

Page 162



 31 

(a) Any offences involving fraud or other dishonesty, or violence or  drugs, or any 
offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003.  
 
(b) Any unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national 
origins or disability in, or in connection with the carrying on of any business.  

 
(c) Any contravention of any provision of the law relating to housing or of landlord 
and tenant law.  
 
(d) Any person involved in the management of the property has sufficient level of 
competence to be so involved.  
 
(e) Any person involved in the management of the house is a fit and proper 
person to be so involved.  

 
 Enforcement of Licensing Requirement 

Where a breach of licence conditions is identified, for example misleading 

information on a licensing application form, the licence holder may be prosecuted 

with a fine of up to £5,000 per breach. Failing to apply for a licence, when a 

property is being let, could lead to prosecution an unlimited fine. (Previously the 

limit was £20,000 but this upper limit has been lifted). 

In addition to the above fines, Local authorities and tenants can claim back up to 

12 months benefits/rents paid during the period a property has not been 

licensed. Ultimately landlords who continuously fail to licence a property can 

have control of their property taken away from them through a Management 

Order. 

 During the course of the designation the Housing Standards Team will be 

carrying out a programme of pro-active inspections and will take a firm approach 

where un-licensed properties or breaches of conditions are found, meaning that 

landlords in these circumstances are likely to be prosecuted. These enforcement 

activities will not be met from the revenue from fees and will be funded through 

Council investment into the Selective Licensing Team. 

 

8.0 The Proposal 

 The designation will be used to improve the area by raising the standard of 

 property management of privately rented properties, improve property 

 conditions through pro-active inspections and help to reduce the number of 

 empty properties in the area by giving residents and local businesses 

 confidence that the Council is focusing on improving the area through a range 

 of complementary activities and investment. 

Every privately rented flat, house or room (unless already licensed as a HMO 

under the existing mandatory scheme or classed as a business let such as tied 

Page 163



 32 

accommodation) will require a licence to operate in the area and landlords will be 

responsible for making an application to the Council for a selective licence. 

Initially it is expected that compliant landlords will apply for the relevant licence 

shortly after the designation, however it will be necessary to introduce a 

comprehensive enforcement programme to capture un-licensed properties. 

Enforcement will be carried out on a phased approach in order to effectively 

coordinate the tackling of identified problems. 

 Licensing Fees 

The Council has identified funding to meet some of the costs involved in running 

the scheme however the legislation allows the Council to recover certain other 

costs by charging fees.     

Wirral’s fees will be based on the actual costs of administering a scheme in the 

six proposed areas of the borough.  Wirral will have regard to the fees set or 

proposed by other local authorities operating Selective Licensing Schemes in the 

region on a similar small area approach. The Council will also review the current 

scheme and look for opportunities for efficiencies to keep licensing fees as low 

as possible. 

It is also proposed to offer the following discounts on license fees: - 

• Applications made during the first 3 months of the scheme for each property 

• Landlords with multiple properties 

• Accreditation with the Council or a  national landlord association 
 
The following charges are also proposed: - 

• Charge for yearly direct debits 

• A pre-application fee 

• Variation Fee 

• A Temporary Exemption Notice Fee 

• 1 year licenses where previous contraventions 
 

Licenses will be applicable for 5 years unless enforcement action against the 

landlord has been taken within the previous two years due to poor property 

management practices.  In this case an initial 1-year license will be issued which 

will be reviewed annually but can be upgraded to a full licence on meeting all the 

licensing conditions. 

The final fee will be determined as part of the consultation process and detailed 

discussions with the Landlord Selective Licensing Working Group. 

 

Page 164



 33 

 Implementation Timetable 

July 2019 In principle approval by Wirral’s Cabinet to 

undertake public consultation within 6 areas of 

the borough. 

August 2019 Formal consultation began for 10 weeks 

October 2019 Consultation results & feedback analysed 

November - 

December 2019 

Finalised scheme to take account of 

consultation feedback 

January 2020 Preparation of report to summarise 

consultation findings 

February 2020 Report to Cabinet for final consideration of 

scheme 

March 2020 Notice of proposed designation to run for 3 

months 

July 2020  

 

Commencement of Licensing scheme (three 

months after designation as required by the 

Housing Act 2004) 

 

9.0 Benefits of Selective Licensing  

Selective Licensing provides the Council with the powers to regulate the private 

rented sector. For it to succeed in its goals of improving demand for an area and 

make an impact on the area, it is important that the Council supports landlords 

and disseminates good practice in order to achieve the best possible outcomes. 

It is expected that introducing these schemes into the four selected  areas will 

have a number of benefits to the community, landlords, tenants and owners, both 

directly and indirectly. 

The defined aim of the scheme and a key outcome for the project is to take 

measures that will lead to an improvement in management and property 

conditions in the area during the 5 year period of the proposed designation.  A 

benefit for landlord’s, tenants and the wider community will be a dedicated point 

of contact within the Council’s Selective Licensing Team for complaints, advice 

and support. 

The Council is now in a position to be able to offer the following support services:  

• A named Selective Licensing Officer in proposed Selective Licensing 

areas that will raise awareness in the community about minimum 

Page 165



 34 

standards and act as a contact for complaints and queries about property 

management and standards 

• Whilst the Council will not provide financial assistance for landlords to 

carry out improvements where their property falls below the minimum 

statutory standard, financial support (up to £3,000) will be provided 

towards renovation costs of empty properties that have been vacant for 

more than 6 months and Heating & Renovation Loans where tenants meet 

the qualifying criteria. 

• The Council has four Healthy Homes Community workers currently 

employed to work exclusively in the existing Selective Licensing Areas, 

with their remit expanded into the additional proposed new areas if the 

scheme is approved.  The workers act as a referral hub to multiple 

agencies to support tenants and residents living in designated areas and 

reduce health inequalities.   

• The Council will offer information and advice to landlords and residents in 

proposed Selective Licensing Areas to help address issues relating to 

anti-social behaviour (ASB), will offer mediation where this is applicable 

and offer an Anti-Social Behaviour case management service to landlords 

where the level of ASB does not warrant enforcement action.  Where 

appropriate cases can also be referred to the Troubled Families Project or 

Council commissioned tenancy support services Practical training 

sessions for landlords. 

• A Tenancy Support Service is available to vulnerable tenants to help them 

sustain their tenancy when required. 

• Tenant information to increased tenant awareness of their rights, where to 
seek help and their responsibilities to behave and act within the terms of 
their tenancy agreements 

 

10.0 Risk Analysis 

 Displacement 

There is a risk that with the introduction / continuation of Selective Licensing in 

the six areas, landlords who are keen to avoid bringing their properties up to the 

minimum statutory standard and adhering to the mandatory conditions will decide 

to sell their properties, leave their properties empty, or decide to move 

elsewhere.   

There have also been some landlords of very poor-quality rented properties who 

have sold their properties when they were made aware of the extent of work 

required to bring them up to a minimum standard.  A number of these properties 

have been bought by more reputable landlords who have now brought the 

properties up to a good standard. Generally, however the level of vacant 
Page 166



 35 

properties has stayed broadly similar in existing areas. The Council will also 

ensure that in areas where there is the potential for displacement to occur, the 

Selective Licensing Team will raise awareness with tenants and service 

providers of landlord’s statutory responsibilities which can still be enforced even 

if these areas haven’t been declared as selective licensing areas. 

Where landlords decide to leave their properties empty, to avoid paying a license 

fee and complying with management conditions, the Council will continue to 

ensure all long-term empty properties are actively targeted for intervention and 

brought back into use.  This is the current approach taken for priority areas which 

have high volumes of empty properties. 

The Council will take enforcement action on all long-term vacant properties that 

are in disrepair and causing blight in the community. Landlords and empty 

property owners with properties which have been vacant for more than two years 

will also have to pay a Council Tax Long Term Empty Premium of 100% of the 

standard council tax rate and, as previously stated, the Council has decided to 

implement legislation which allows for a further increase for those properties 

vacant for a period longer than five years of 200% additional council tax, from 

April 2020, and the possibility of a future further increase for those properties 

vacant over ten years of 300% from April 2021.The Council does however want 

to work positively with landlords in Selective Licensing Areas and subject to 

resources being available, will make Empty Property Grants available to 

landlords to help towards the improvement costs associated with bringing their 

long term empty properties (vacant 6 months or more) up to the required 

standard.  The Council will also try to assist in finding suitable tenants for empty 

properties via its Housing Options Service. 

The risk of displacement in Wirral with the controls outlined above are therefore 

considered to be relatively low, especially as Selective Licensing Areas are 

already experiencing low demand making it less advantageous for landlords to 

sell properties quickly in these areas for a reasonable return.  The Selective 

Licensing Team will play a key role in convincing landlords of the economic 

benefits of investing in their properties, renting them out responsibly and 

retaining them for the long term to generate an income that over time will offset 

the Selective Licensing Fees as well as generating confidence and greater 

stability in the area, creating the right conditions for the housing market in these 

areas to grow. 

There is little evidence from other similar Local Authorities with Selective 

Licensing Schemes that displacement has occurred. Local Authority areas 

including Blackburn with Darwin have re-designated and expanded existing 

Selective Licensing areas. 

Page 167



 36 

 Risk Register 

 Other risks have been summarised in the Risk Register in Appendix 5 showing 

the current and proposed controls that would be implemented subject to the 

additional scheme getting approval to proceed.   

 One of the major risks to the scheme is a Judicial Review if landlords want to 

challenge that the Council has not followed due process in implementing a 

scheme, including the consultation process. 

The risks would be managed through the Council’s existing performance 

management framework. 

 

11.0 How did we consult? 

  

Wirral completed a formal consultation process on the Selective Licensing 

proposals which lasted for a period of 10 weeks following Cabinet Approval in 

July 2019. 

The Consultation closed on 14th October 2019 and a summary report and full    

report can be found on the Council’s website: 

www.wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing 

 

12.0 Monitoring & Evaluation 

As with the current Selective Licensing Schemes, it is proposed that a robust set 

of annual indicators would monitor how effective the scheme was if it were 

implemented. The full 18 datasets that were used to determine low demand and 

poor property condition for the purpose of selecting the four selected licensing 

areas would be updated on a periodic basis, i.e. after two years and then 

repeated in year four of the scheme.  It is also proposed that the following 

condensed set of indicators are to be measured and reported on an annual 

basis: 

1 Number of properties licensed in each designated area 

2 Number of properties improved 

3 Reduction in empty properties (N.B it is anticipated that this figure may 

increase in the first year if some landlords sell their properties to avoid 

paying a licence fee) 

4 Number of residents supported through Healthy Homes, ASB team or 

tenancy support services or partner agencies as a result of Selective 

Licensing

Page 168

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing


 37 

 

Appendix 1 – Evidence Base 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wirral Council 

June 2019 

kingsleyej 

Page 169

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/


 38 

Table of contents 

 

Section 

1 Introduction 

2 Proportion of privately rented properties 

3 Low demand for housing  

- Long-term empty properties 
- Length of time properties remained empty 
- House sales  
- House prices 
- Deliberately started fires  
- Environmental Health complaints  

4 Properties in poor condition  

- Housing Services interventions  
- Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS) Category 1 

Hazards  

5 Supporting indicators  

- Index of Multiple Deprivation 
- Living Environment deprivation  
- Housing 

benefit (paid to private landlords only)  
- Out of work benefits 
- Disability benefits 
- Criminal damage 
- Injuries data (injuries sustained in the home environment only) 

6 Matrix  

7 Conclusions & Maps 

- Map 7.1 Egremont South Lower Super Output Area  
- Map 7.2 Tranmere Lairds Lower Super Output Area  
- Map 7.3 Birkenhead South Lower Super Output Area  
- Map 7.4 Egerton North Lower Super Output Area 
- Map 7.5 Egremont Promenade South Lower Super Output Area 
- Map 7.6 Seacombe Library Lower Super Output Area  
- Map 7.7 Total current and potential Selective Licensing Areas  

Page 170



 39 

8 References 

9 Glossary 

 

Page 171



 40 

 

List of Tables 

No. Description 

1.1 Matrix points awarded per indicator 

2.1 Highest percentage of privately rented properties in Wirral (2011) 

3.1 Highest percentage of empty properties in Wirral (2019) 

3.2 
Length of time (in days) long term empty properties (privately owned) were 

empty (to 31st March 2019) 

3.3 
Lowest rate of house sales as a proportion of private housing stock in Wirral 

(2013-2016) 

3.4 Lowest average sold prices in Wirral (2017 and 2018) 

3.5 Highest number of deliberately started fires (2017 to 2019) 

3.6 
LSOAs with the highest ratio of environmental health complaints (per 

private rented unit) 2017 and 2018 

4.1 
Highest number of interventions due to poor condition (private housing, 

2017 and 2018 

4.2 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System HHSRS Category 1 hazards in 

privately rented properties 

5.1 Most acute needs according to the overall IMD (2015) 

5.2 Most acute needs according to the IMD Living Environment domain (2015) 

5.3 Highest percentage of Housing Benefit claimants (renting privately) 

5.4 
Highest percentage of Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and Universal Credit (UC) 

benefit claimants (2016) 

5.5 Highest percentage of Disability (ESA) claimants (2019) 

5.6 Highest rate of reported criminal damage in 2018 and 2019  

5.7 
Highest rate of A&E attendances for home injuries, by LSOA of residence of 

patient, 2010-13 (3 pooled years) 

 

Page 172



 41 

List of Figures 

Number Description 

1.1 Evidence used to determine appropriate Selective Licensing LSOAs 

 

List of Maps 

Number Description 

7.1 Egremont South Lower Super Output Area    

7.2 Tranmere Lairds Lower Super Output Area 

7.3 Birkenhead South Lower Super Output Area 

7.4 Egerton North Lower Super Output Area 

7.5 Egremont Promenade South Lower Super Output Area 

7.6 Seacombe Library Lower Super Output Area 

7.7 All 10 current and potential areas of Selective Licensing in Wirral 

Page 173



 42 

Section 1: Introduction 

 

The private rented sector is the only housing option available to some of the most vulnerable people in 

society [1]. However, in some areas, properties in the private rented sector suffer from poor condition 

and poor management, which are both a consequence and a cause of low demand [1]. The proportion 

of private rented properties in Wirral increased significantly between the 2001 Census and 2011 Census, 

from 11% to 16%. According to the English Housing Survey, the national figure in 2017-18 was 19% but 

hasn’t increased in the previous five years. This figure is likely to be mirrored in Wirral.  

The Housing Act 2004 enabled local authorities to introduce selective licensing, if deemed appropriate, 

for privately rented properties in designated areas as an additional tool to improve both the lives of 

tenants and communities.  

 

Local authorities are permitted introduce selective licensing of privately rented properties in areas 

experiencing factors such as low housing demand and anti-social behaviour (ASB) to ensure a minimum 

standard of management is undertaken by landlords. On 1st April 2015 the Selective Licensing of 

Housing (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 was made law which allowed local authorities to 

introduce selective licensing based on further factors including poor property conditions, high levels of 

migration, high level of deprivation and high levels of crime. Any new schemes can now only be 

introduced where the proportion of private rented properties in the designated area is above the 

national average of 19%. The Order also makes local authorities seek confirmation from the Secretary of 

State for any selective licensing scheme covering more than 20% of their geographical area, or affecting 

more than 20% of privately rented homes in the local authority area.  

 

Wirral introduced its first Selective Licensing Scheme in the Borough on 1st July 2015 into four 

designated areas in Birkenhead, Tranmere, Seacombe and Egremont. Over 1,300 Licence applications 

have been granted in these areas representing over 99% of known licensable landlords. Checks have 

been completed to 825 privately rented properties. The compliance rate with license conditions has 

been found to be poor at only 30% of the properties inspected. 

 

Following a refresh of the evidence and MCDA (Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis) process in 2017, a 

further four LSOAs in Wirral were designated in April 2019 to the existing four, to make eight LSOAs in 

Wirral where Selective Licensing would operate.  

 

To May 2019, there have been 50 individual prosecutions so far for landlords who have failed to get a 

licence and other Housing Act 2004 offences. There is a requirement after 5 years of operation, to 

review how Selective Licensing schemes have operated. This means that the initial four areas of Wirral 

will shortly be up for review. This Supporting Evidence and Rationale will form part of that review 

process.  

Page 174



 43 

 

What is Selective Licensing? 

 
In areas subject to selective licensing, all private landlords must obtain a licence and if they fail to do so, 

or fail to achieve acceptable management standards, the Local Authority can take enforcement action - 

e.g. issuing an unlimited fine or in some cases, assuming management control of the property. The 

London Borough of Newham introduced a selective licensing scheme covering all private rented 

properties in the borough in January 2013 and since this time a number of authorities have also 

introduced this option of introducing Selective Licensing in the entire area under their jurisdiction, 

rather than in selected neighbourhoods. Since the 2015 Order referred to above, it now much more 

challenging to do this.  It is currently unknown how many local authorities have introduced selective 

licensing generally as the information is not held centrally. In the Liverpool City Region, Liverpool City 

Council, Sefton Council and Wirral Council have introduced schemes. 

 

What can Selective Licensing achieve? 

 

If implemented effectively, selective licensing can increase the professionalism and quality of the private 

rented sector in an area by ensuring:  

 

• That landlords are ‘fit and proper persons’ 

• Good and fair management of tenancy relations 

• Support for landlords to participate in regeneration and tackle antisocial behaviour effectively 

• Protection for vulnerable tenants from the worst housing conditions and from bad landlords 

• Strategic knowledge to support Local Authorities in targeting health and safety inspections 

• Support for landlords to improve the worst properties by helping them to achieve decent 

minimum standards in housing conditions and management 

• Successful schemes may also increase the supply and choice of housing stock and reverse 

housing market decline in housing market renewal areas when used in conjunction with other 

measures 
 

 

Page 175



 44 

Benefits of Selective Licensing 

 

Benefits to neighbourhoods and communities 

• Increasing housing demand by improving property condition and reducing antisocial behaviour 

will improve problem areas, making these safer, more desirable places to live 

• Reducing environmental costs and costs of crime, such as street cleaning and tackling fly tipping 

• Making it easier to involve all landlords in wider strategies including crime reduction initiatives, 

local spatial strategies and other countywide plans 

• Protecting vulnerable groups, who are often occupiers of privately rented accommodation 

which is poorly managed and maintained 

 

Benefits to tenants 

• More professional landlords should bring improvements to the quality and management of 

properties 

• Potential economic benefits, for example in reduced heating costs and improved likelihood of 

regaining deposits 

• Improvements to neighbourhoods will also benefit private tenants sense of security  and 

community and improve social capital 

• Better management practices should help to increase length of tenure and reduced incidence of 

unplanned moves or homelessness 

 

Benefits to landlords: 

• Responsible landlords will receive training, information and support 

• A level playing field, where decent landlords are not undercut by an unscrupulous minority 

• Poorly performing/inexperienced landlords will receive extra support to improve 

• Improved rental incomes/fewer voids as areas improve  

• Improvement in the reputation of all private landlords 

• Shorter void periods and reduced tenant turnover 

• The option to join the accredited scheme for additional support and advice 

• A discounted selective licensing fee for landlord who already have their properties accredited 

within the selective licensing areas. 

 

Benefits to Wirral Council 

• Increased supply of good quality homes 

• Landlords who have not responded to previous voluntary measures (such as Wirral’s property 

accreditation scheme) will be forced to engage with the Local Authority. Landlords not meeting 

housing and management standards will be forced to improve their practices or leave the 

market 

Page 176



 45 

• Wirral will gain more knowledge about private renting in particular areas, enabling the Council  

to target support, information and enforcement more effectively, and to better understand the 

root of the problems the areas face 

• Selective licensing is not however, a panacea and benefits should be expected to be realised in 

the longer term, rather than straight away 

 

A wide range of evidence from a variety of relevant data sources has been compiled in this document to 

help identify potential areas which would be most appropriate to become areas of Selective Licensing. 

Evidence must demonstrate that an area is experiencing one or more of the following factors: 

 

• low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area); 

• a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour; 

• poor property conditions; 

• high levels of migration; 

• high level of deprivation; 

• high levels of crime. 

 

The evidence sought by Wirral Council has concentrated on indicators which together can demonstrate 

low housing demand and poor property conditions, which are heavily interlinked. Some of the other 

factors can be demonstrated by local indicators, however making a case that selective licensing will 

positively contribute towards these factors, or that the private rented sector could at the moment be a 

negative contributor to these, is more challenging. Supporting evidence related to deprivation, anti-

social behaviour and crime have however been used as secondary indicators.     

 

All data used is the most recent available for each individual indicator. Some data is provided as a 

snapshot at a moment in time, other data is provided by financial year or calendar year and some 

indicators span more than one 12 month period to provide a fuller dataset.    

 

Data on all of the indicators (summarised in Figure 1 below) is detailed in the following sections. The 

data is analysed on small geographic areas known as Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs). LSOAs are used 

as they are the lowest level of geographic data for which indicators are generally produced by central 

Government and other agencies and allow Wirral Council to produce a more localised picture of the 

different areas within the Borough. All LSOAs in Wirral were ranked based on these indicators and the 

10 worst performing areas for every indicator were entered onto a master matrix document. This 

number of LSOAs (10) was decided upon, as it represents the 5% worst performing LSOAs in Wirral. 

Other targeted community projects and initiatives in Wirral have also chosen to operate in the 5% worst 

performing Wirral LSOAs (e.g. the Health Action Area initiative). 

 

No LSOA where the proportion of private rented properties was below the national average reported in 

the most recent English Housing Survey was included in the tables in the following sections, complying 

Page 177



 46 

with the Selective Licensing of Housing (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 – Article 3 (1) (a) as 

Wirral Council is proposing to introduce selective licensing on the grounds of property conditions (as 

well as low housing demand). The 2017-18 English Housing Survey Headline Report released in January 

2019 stated the national average was 19%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Each of the indicators scored either one or two points. Those indicators which according to Government 

guidance [2] demonstrate low housing demand and poor property condition scored two points. 

Supporting indicators (e.g. which demonstrate deprivation) scored one point. The indicators and scoring 

differ from that used in the 2015 selective licensing scheme’s Supporting Evidence and Rationale written 

in 2014 due to the release of the 2015 Government guidance referred to above. The indicators also 

differ slightly from those used in 2017 for the Selective Licensing scheme begun in April 2019 due to the 

availability to the Council of certain data sources.  The combined data sources and weightings applied 

remain a strong method for indicating of low demand and property condition within LSOAs.   

 

Figure 1.1: 

Evidence used to 

determine the 

appropriate  

LSOAs for 

Selective 

Licensing in 

Wirral 

Page 178



 47 

Table 1.1 below shows the list of indicators and points awarded for each in the matrix (see end of this 

document for matrix).  

 

Table 1.1: Matrix points awarded per indicator 

 

2 points 

• House sales 

• House prices 

• Long Term Empty property 

• Time property spent empty 

• Private rented property (%) 

• Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS) Category 1 hazards (%) 

• Deliberately started fires  

• Environmental Health Complaints 

• Housing Team Interventions 

1 point 

• Housing Benefit rates 

• Criminal damage 

• Deprivation (overall 2015 IMD) 

• Deprivation (Living domain of 2015 IMD) 

• Workless benefits (ESA/UC) 

• Workless benefits (JSA/UC) 

• Injuries (sustained in the home) 

• Educational Attainment (KS4) 
 

 

 

 

Page 179



 48 

Section 2: Privately rented properties in Wirral 

 

Only privately rented properties are subject to Selective Licensing, therefore, those LSOAs in Wirral with 

the highest concentrations of this kind of housing are likely to be candidates for the scheme. The ten 

LSOAs with the highest concentrations are shown in the table below.  

 

Table 2.1: Ten LSOAs with highest percentage of privately rented properties in Wirral (2011) 

 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward % private rented 
No. private 

rented 

E01007240 Oxton North Oxton 40.9% 352 

E01007130 Tranmere North Birkenhead & Tranmere 38.8% 278 

E01007238 Victoria Parade New Brighton 38.4% 335 

E01007179 Egerton North Birkenhead & Tranmere 37.7% 231 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 37.7% 287 

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 37.4% 293 

E01007244 Oxton East Birkenhead & Tranmere 37.1% 339 

E01007218 Egremont North Liscard 36.2% 237 

E01007217 Liscard Central Liscard 35.9% 284 

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe 35.7% 235 

Wirral average 15.8% 112 

Source: Census, 2011 

As the table shows, 15.8% of housing stock in Wirral is privately rented (Census 2011), with an average 

per LSOA of 112 privately rented properties. All of the LSOAs shown here however, have rates of 

privately rented properties which are more than double this figure, with more than one in three of all 

the properties in the LSOAs shown, privately rented.  

According to the Council’s Housing Stock Modelling produced by BRE (2018), private rented property in 

the Borough is more likely to contain Category 1 hazards (the worst rating under the Housing Health & 

Safety Rating System) than the owner-occupied sector. High levels of private rented properties, when 

combined with other evidence, can therefore also indicate greater levels of poor property condition in 

an area.  

Page 180



 49 

Section 3: Low housing demand 

 

When Wirral Council was assessing evidence for the introduction of its current selective licensing 

scheme, official guidance as to how the authority should measure low housing demand was less specific 

than the subsequent 2015 Government guidance which recommends local authorities consider the 

following factors when deciding if an area is suffering from, or likely to become, an area of low housing 

demand: 

 

• The value of residential premises in the area, in comparison to the value of similar premises in 

other areas which the authority considers to be comparable (whether in terms of type of 

housing, local amenities, availability of transport); 

• The turnover of occupiers of residential premises (in both rented and owner occupied 

properties); 

• The number of residential premises which are available to buy or rent, and the length of time 

for which they remain unoccupied; 

• The general appearance of the locality and the number of boarded up shops and properties. 

 

The indicators available to the local authority to LSOA level which can demonstrate the above and which 

have been used in the indicator matrix are described in more detail below.  

 

Long term empty properties 

 

Long-term empty properties are those which have been empty for longer than 6 months. The data 

presented here is as of April 2019 and refers to privately owned empty property only. It shows that 

although overall Wirral has a low proportion of long term empty homes (privately owned), there are still 

many LSOAs with a much higher proportion of long term empties than the Borough average. Wirral’s 

average long term vacant privately owned property rate of 1.7% (of the total stock) is very slightly 

higher than when this analysis was conducted in 2014 (when it was 1.6%). In 2014 Wirral Council 

introduced the “empty property premium” which increased Council Tax by 50% for those properties 

empty for more than two years in order to encourage landlords to bring empty properties back into use. 

In April 2019 the premium was increased to 100%. 

 

Tackling empty homes and bringing them back into use can help tackle homelessness, prevent 

neighbourhood decline, improve the local economy and regenerate areas. It can also contribute 

providing wider housing choice and is an important part of the Government’s Housing Strategy (2011) 

[3]. It is also seen as one of the priorities within the Government’s most recent housing White Paper, 

“Fixing our broken housing market” (February 2017) [4].  

 

Page 181



 50 

The table below shows the ten LSOAs in Wirral with the highest proportion of private empty property in 

Wirral as of April 2019.  

 

Table 3.1: Ten LSOAs with highest percentage of long term empty properties in Wirral (2019) 

 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward Percentage empty* 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead & Tranmere 16.67% 

E01007295 Tranmere Urban Village Birkenhead & Tranmere 9.70% 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 8.42% 

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton 7.47% 

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead & Tranmere 6.72% 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead & Tranmere 6.08% 

E01007130 Tranmere North Birkenhead & Tranmere 5.68% 

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe 5.65% 

E01007139 New Ferry West Bromborough 5.16% 

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 5.08% 

Wirral average (private stock only) 1.54% 

*Percentage of privately owned stock empty for >6months 

Note: Only those LSOAs where the proportion of private rented accommodation is in excess of 20% of all housing stock were 

included 

Source: Wirral Council Tax data, Wirral Council Housing Services, 2019 

 

Page 182



 51 

Length of time empty properties remained empty  

 

As mentioned above, long term empty properties are those which have been empty for 6 months or 

longer. The table above showed properties which fell into this category as a percentage of all privately 

owned properties in Wirral (by LSOA). The measure shown in the table below shows the length of time 

(in days) that long term empty, privately owned property had been empty. The ten LSOAs with the 

largest number of empty days (to April 2019) are shown in the table and were entered onto the matrix. 

 

Table 3.2: Length of time (in days) long term empty properties (privately owned) were empty, by LSOA 

to April 2019 

 

LSOA Code LSOA Name Ward Total days empty  

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 32,697 

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe 23,388 

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 21,720 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead and Tranmere 21,491 

E01007244 Oxton East Oxton 21,278 

E01007130 Tranmere North Birkenhead & Tranmere 21,253 

E01007237 New Brighton North New Brighton 18,341 

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead & Tranmere 18,006 

E01007139 New Ferry West Bromborough 17,499 

E01007239 Oxton North East Birkenhead & Tranmere 17,230 

Wirral LSOA Average 4,947 

Source: Wirral Council Tax data, Wirral Council Housing Services, 2019 

 

 

Page 183



 52 

House sales 

 

The data in Table 3.3 below refers to the total number of house sales per LSOA, compared to the total 

amount of private housing stock in that LSOA. The Wirral average was 8.5%, but many LSOAs in Wirral 

had rates significantly lower than this. The ten LSOAs with the lowest number of house sales (as a 

percentage of the total number of private housing stock), for the two pooled calendar years of 2017 and 

2018 are shown in the table below and were entered onto the overall matrix (see end).  

 

Table 3.3: LSOAs with the lowest rate of house sales as a proportion of private housing stock (2017-

2018) 

 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward Percentage (%) 

E01007144 Clatterbridge West Clatterbridge 4.2 

E01007277 Town Hall Seacombe 4.5 

E01007270 Poulton South Seacombe 4.5 

E01007240 Oxton North Oxton 4.6 

E01007232 Egremont Promenade North New Brighton 4.9 

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 4.9 

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe 5.4 

E01007236 Liscard East New Brighton 5.5 

E01007180 Egerton West Prenton 5.5 

E01007181 Prenton North East Prenton 5.6 

Wirral average 8.5% 

Source: HM Land Registry,  2017 and 2018 

 

There were a total of 10,506 house sales in Wirral in 2017 and 2018, an average of 51 sales per LSOA 

over this period. 

 

 

 

Page 184



 53 

House prices 

 

The average house price in Wirral in 2017 and 2018 (2 years pooled) was £184,896 (median value 

£173,998), but this figure hides large variations between Wirral LSOAs. For example, the average price 

in Heswall North was £402,900 – which was five times higher than prices in Seacombe West. It is worth 

noting that since this analysis was last conducted (using 2013-16 data) the average house price in the 

LSOA with the lowest house prices in Wirral has increased from £46,000 (in Bidston St. James East) to 

£85,666 in Seacombe West, so prices at the lower end of the market have almost doubled in just a few 

years. The ten LSOAs with the lowest average sale prices in Wirral across 2017 and 2018 are shown in 

the table below. These ten were entered onto the matrix document at the end of this briefing. 

 

Table 3.4: Ten LSOAs with lowest average sold prices in Wirral in 2017 and 2018 (2 years pooled) 

 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward Average house price 

E01007272 Seacombe West Seacombe £85,666 

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe £89,666 

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton £94,980 

E01007277 Town Hall Seacombe £104,766 

E01007271 Poulton East Seacombe £104,837 

E01007294 Tranmere Parklands Birkenhead & Tranmere £105,562 

E01007295 Tranmere Urban Village Rock Ferry £106,428 

E01007292 Higher Tranmere Birkenhead & Tranmere £107,588 

E01007296 Tranmere Well Lane Rock Ferry £108,840 

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe £108,875 

Wirral LSOA (average) £184,896 

Source: HM Land Registry, 2017 and 2018 

 

Page 185



 54 

Deliberately Started Waste Fires 

Deliberately started small waste fires involve wheelie-bins and fly-tipped waste. They can destroy 

property and be a threat to life as well as being another indicator of the poor appearance of an area due 

to the fly-tipping.  There was a total of 637 deliberately started fires between February 2017 and 

February 2019.  This is an average of 4 per LSOA in Wirral, but as the table shows, the top LSOAs have 

more than double this number, with the highest LSOA having more than 7 times the Wirral average.  

 

Table 3.5: Number of deliberately started reported fires by LSOA in Wirral, 2 pooled years: top 10 LSOAs  

 

LSOAs LSOA Name Ward Number (both years) 

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead and Tranmere 30 

E01007155 Birkenhead Park East Claughton 24 

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe 19 

E01007269 Seacombe Docks Seacombe 19 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead and Tranmere 15 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead and Tranmere 14 

E01032903 Birkenhead North Bidston & St James 13 

E01007125 Bidston St James South Bidston & St James 12 

E01007131 West Tranmere Birkenhead and Tranmere 11 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead and Tranmere 11 

Wirral average per LSOA 4 

Wirral Total 637 

Source: Wirral Council, Waste Reduction Team, 2019 

Page 186



 55 

Environmental Health Complaints 

Wirral Council’s Environmental Health Team receives complaints on a range of subjects, much of which 

can indicate an area having a poor quality environment or poor housing conditions. The type of 

complaints used to compile the data include complaints against private landlords, low level private 

rented housing repair complaints, vermin and noise.    

Table 3.6: LSOAs with the highest ratio of environmental health complaints related to privately owned 

properties (ratio of complaints to privately rented properties), 2017 and 2018 (2 pooled years) 

 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward 
No. of 

complaints 

Ratio of 

complaints  

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe 44 4.6 

E01007131 West Tranmere Birkenhead & Tranmere 43 5.9 

E01007220 Egremont Central Liscard 25 6.3 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead & Tranmere 37 6.5 

E01007175 Egerton Park Rock Ferry 34 6.6 

E01007176 Rock Ferry West Rock Ferry 25 6.7 

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton 33 7.0 

E01007144 Clatterbridge West Clatterbridge 16 7.1 

E01007270 Poulton South Seacombe 34 7.4 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 23 7.7 

Wirral average per LSOA 21 11.6 

Source: Wirral Council, Housing Services, 2019 

 

As Table 3.9 shows, the average number of interventions per LSOA in Wirral between 2017 and 2018, 

was 21 and the average ratio was 11.6. The ratio of interventions per private rented units takes into 

account the amount of private rented accommodation in the area, so allowing for differences in the 

housing composition, a true comparison is possible. The ratio means that in the worst LSOA in Wirral 

(Seacombe St. Pauls), there was one intervention for every 4.6 (privately rented) houses in that LSOA. 

Just for comparison, the average for Wirral was that there was only one intervention for every 11.6 

privately rented properties in the borough.   

 

Page 187



 56 

Section 4: Properties in poor condition 

In order to ensure the safety and wellbeing of local residents, Local Authorities have the duty to ensure 

that remedial action is taken on private properties where there are serious hazards that affect the 

health, safety and wellbeing of the occupiers. They carry out this duty using the Housing, Health and 

Safety Rating System (HHSRS) during inspections, a risk-based evaluation tool to help identify and 

protect against potential risks and hazards from deficiencies in residential properties.  This was 

introduced under the Housing Act 2004 [5]. The underlying principle of the HHSRS is that, “any 

residential premises should provide a safe and healthy environment for any potential occupier or visitor” 

[5]. There are two categories of hazards in the HHSRS with category 1 hazards being the most severe 

(see the Housing, Health & Safety Guidance for more information on what these categories refer to). 

Housing Services interventions due to poor property condition 

Given that a decision to enforce remedial action has financial implications for both the owner and the 

occupier (and such decisions may be subject to legal challenge and scrutiny), inspections clearly record 

information and are robust enough to provide evidence to support action. Decisions to intervene are 

not undertaken lightly and as such, are a good indicator to areas where housing in a state of poor repair 

may be concentrated. In addition to enforcement action, interventions may be informal such as a 

Healthy Homes visit, or request for help with heating via the former Cosy Homes heating grant.  These 

measures are also an indicator of poor property condition in the private rented sector and so are 

included as interventions in the data below.  

There was a total of 774 interventions in the two years of 2017 and 2018 (that could be matched to an 

LSOA). The ten LSOAs with the highest number of interventions as a ratio of all private housing stock, 

are show in the table below. 

Table 4.1: LSOAs with the highest number of interventions due to poor condition, 2017 and 2018 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward 
No. of 

interventions 

Ratio of 

interventions to 

private rented  

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton 66 7.5 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 56 10.8 

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe 51 12.1 

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 34 19.7 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 10 40.6 

E01007220 Egremont Central Liscard 15 42.4 

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe 10 43.4 

E01007294 Tranmere Parklands Birkenhead & Tranmere 9 47.9 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead & Tranmere 4 51.0 

Page 188

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15810/142631.pdf


 57 

E01032903 Birkenhead North Bidston and St James 12 52.6 

Wirral average per LSOA 5 228 

Source: Wirral Council, Housing Services, 2019 

An average for Wirral of 228 means that there was one intervention for every 228 privately rented 

properties. As the table shows therefore, a ratio of 7.5 for Egerton North means that there was 1 

intervention for every 7.5 privately rented houses in that LSOA, indicating severe issues with housing 

quality. Some of the top ranked LSOAs are already existing selective licensing areas, reflecting the 

concentration of activity in these areas over the past two years.  

Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) Category 1 Hazards 

In 2018, the Building Research Establishment produced an Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock 

Modelling & Database for Wirral Council. This provides an overview of house condition at various levels 

of geography, including to LSOA level, for the different housing tenure types. Although the database is 

produced on modelled data, it provides a relatively accurate picture of the geographic and tenure 

differences for house condition. Amongst the indictors, the database provides the rate of those homes 

with hazards classed as Category 1 under the HHSRS. The highest rates amongst private rented sector 

stock within LSOAs is shown below. 

Table 4.2: LSOAs with the highest rates of HHSRS Category 1 hazards in privately rented properties 

LSOA code LSOA Name Ward Percentage (%) 

E01007141 Port Sunlight North Bromborough 27 

E01007217 Liscard Central Liscard 27 

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton 26 

E01007216 Liscard South Liscard 24 

E01007234 Magazine Promenade New Brighton 24 

E01007219 Egremont West Liscard 23 

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe 23 

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe 22 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 22 

E01007218 Egremont North Liscard 21 

Wirral average  15 

Note: Only those LSOAs where the proportion of private rented accommodation is in excess of 20% of all housing stock were 

included 

Source: Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling & Database for Wirral Council, BRE, 2018 

Page 189



 58 

Section 5: Supporting indicators  

 

Supporting indicators have been identified which help provide a wider picture of areas that might 

additionally be experiencing three of the alternative factors which the Government stipulate can be 

used to introduce selective licensing: deprivation, anti-social behaviour and crime. Wirral Council 

however is not specifically introducing selective licensing to tackle any of these factors but a by-product 

of the scheme will be to have a positive impact on them.      

 

Overall Indices of Deprivation (2015) 

 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 (IMD) is a measure of relative deprivation at a small area level, 

important in identifying disadvantaged areas so that limited resources can be targeted where they are 

most needed. The IMD covers a broad range of issues and refers to unmet need caused by a lack of 

resources of all kinds, not just financial resources. The IMD attempts to capture deprivation in its 

broadest sense, using seven distinct ‘domains’ (which together form the overall IMD). 

 

Wirral’s 2018 Housing Stock Modelling reported that the highest rates of poor housing conditions were 

in the geographical areas with the highest levels of deprivation.  Table 5.1 shows the 10 most deprived 

LSOAs in Wirral by name and ward they fall within. These ten LSOAs were entered onto the overall 

matrix. 

 

Living Environment deprivation (2015) 

 

One of the seven individual ‘domains’ (or different dimensions of deprivation) which together make up 

the overall IMD includes ‘Living Environment’ and this measures the quality of individuals immediate 

surroundings, including housing quality. There is a domain titled, ‘Barriers to housing and services’, but 

this is a less appropriate indicator for this work, since it deals primarily with distance and accessibility to 

local services. The IMD Living Environment domain is therefore a relevant and appropriate measure to 

use when considering areas for Selective Licensing. See Map 5.1 and Table 5.2 below for information on 

where the most areas of most acute need in Wirral are according to this measure.  

 

Page 190



 59 

Table 5.1: Ten LSOAs with most acute levels of deprivation according to the overall IMD (2015) 

LSOA LSOA Name Ward IMD Score* 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead and Tranmere 78.2 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead and Tranmere 75.7 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead and Tranmere 75.6 

E01007220 Egremont Central Liscard 69.5 

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead and Tranmere 69.4 

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe 67.6 

E01007123 Bidston St James West Bidston and St James 66.3 

E01007292 Higher Tranmere Birkenhead and Tranmere 65.8 

E01007131 West Tranmere Birkenhead and Tranmere 60.9 

E01007290 Tranmere Esplanade Rock Ferry 60.3 

Wirral average 42.4 

*higher score indicates greater deprivation 

Table 5.2: Ten LSOAs with most acute needs according to the IMD Living Environment domain 

LSOA LSOA Name Ward IMD Living Domain Score 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 53.51 

E01007217 Liscard Central Liscard 53.41 

E01007234 Magazine Promenade New Brighton 49.85 

E01007276 Poulton North Seacombe 49.48 

E01007216 Liscard South Liscard 48.99 

E01007296 Tranmere Well Lane Rock Ferry 47.96 

E01007130 Tranmere North Birkenhead & Tranmere 47.55 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 46.00 

E01007233 Earlston Gardens East New Brighton 44.95 

E01007277 Town Hall Seacombe 44.89 

Wirral average 23.24 

*higher score indicates greater deprivation 

Page 191



 60 

Housing benefits data 

 

As Selective Licensing aims to tackle properties which are privately rented and in poor condition, rates 

of Housing Benefit claimants (renting from private landlords only) is likely to be an important indicator 

of where problems may be most acute.  

Housing Benefit data for this indicator is sourced from the DWPs own data tool (Stat-Xplore) and is for 

November 2018.  

 

Table 5.3: Wirral LSOAs with the highest percentage private rented households claiming Housing Benefit  

 

LSOA LSOA name Ward % Households  

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 30.6% 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 23.6% 

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe 20.3% 

E01007277 Town Hall Seacombe 17.4% 

E01007217 Liscard Central Liscard 17.4% 

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe 17.1% 

E01007131 West Tranmere Birkenhead & Tranmere 16.7% 

E01007271 Poulton East Seacombe 15.9% 

E01007272 Seacombe West Seacombe 15.6% 

E01007292 Higher Tranmere Birkenhead and Tranmere 15.5% 

Wirral Average 5.7% 

Source: Department for Work & Pensions (DWP) Stat-Xplore tool, November 2018 

 

The ten LSOAs with the highest percentage of housing benefit claimants (renting from private landlords 

only) are shown in the table above. As the table shows, all of the LSOAs shown had rates that were 

around three times the Wirral average of 5.7%, whilst in the LSOA with the highest rates (Egremont 

Promenade South LSOA, in Liscard Ward), the claimant rate was six times higher than the Wirral 

average. As the table shows, one in three households in the LSOA (30.6%) claimed Housing Benefit. 

These ten LSOAs were the areas entered into the overall matrix. 

 

Page 192



 61 

Out of work benefits 

 

Those receiving out of work benefits are particularly vulnerable to poor housing conditions. The main 

out of work benefits are Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and Employment Support Allowance (ESA) and 

those who have been moved onto Universal Credit. The ten LSOA’s with the highest proportions of 

people of working age in receipt of these benefits are shown in the tables below (and have been 

entered onto the overall Matrix in Section 14).  

 

Table 5.4: Wirral LSOAs with the highest percentage of Job Seekers Allowance and Universal Credit 

(combined) claimants (numbers rounded to nearest 10) as of March 2019 

 

LSOA LSOA name Ward Claimants % LSOA population* 

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead & Tranmere 220 14.8% 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 130 12.6% 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead & Tranmere 130 11.9% 

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe 100 11.8% 

E01007292 Higher Tranmere Birkenhead & Tranmere 110 10.9% 

E01007220 Egremont Central Liscard 85 10.6% 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead & Tranmere 130 10.5% 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 105 9.7% 

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe 90 9.5% 

E01007295 Tranmere Urban Village Rock Ferry 80 9.4% 

Wirral average 37 3.4 

*working age population 

Source: NOMIS, June 2017 

Page 193



 62 

Disability Benefits 

 

Disability benefits were included for much the same reasons as outlined above (see out of work 

benefits).  See table below for top 10 LSOAs for working age claimants of Employment Support 

Allowance or Universal Credit (disability element) as of March 2019.  

 

Table 5.5: Wirral LSOAs with the highest percentage of Employment Support Allowance claimants, 2019 

 

LSOA LSOA name Ward Claimants % LSOA population* 

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere 230 22.7% 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead & Tranmere 240 22.5% 

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead & Tranmere 295 19.9% 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 210 19.5% 

E01007155 Birkenhead Park East Claughton 220 19.4% 

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe 145 17.2% 

E01007290 Tranmere Esplanade Rock Ferry 200 16.8% 

E01007270 Poulton South Seacombe 185 16.4% 

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard 160 16.2% 

E01007138 New Ferry East Bromborough 165 16.1% 

Wirral average 77 8.1% 

*working age population 

Source: NOMIS, 2017 

 

 

Page 194



 63 

Criminal damage 

 

Crime results in unsettled communities, undermines efforts to regenerate areas and is associated with 

other social and economic problems including deprivation. Criminal damage was chosen as an indicator 

to demonstrate crime levels due to its overlap with anti-social behaviour, both of which are further 

factors in considering whether or not to introduce selective licensing into an area. The table below 

shows the 10 LSOAs with the highest rates of recorded criminal damage in 2018-19 (January 2018 to 

January 2019). 

 

Table 5.6: Rate of reported criminal damage and arson by LSOA in Wirral in 2018-19: top 10 LSOAs (rate 

per 1,000 population) 

 

LSOAs LSOA Name Ward Rate (per 1,000) 2018-19 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead & Tranmere 5.9 

E01007272 Seacombe West Seacombe 4.6 

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe 4.5 

E01032903 Birkenhead North Bidston & St. James 3.2 

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere 3.1 

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton 2.9 

E01007176 Rock Ferry West Rock Ferry 2.5 

E01007139 New Ferry West Bromborough 2.4 

E01007138 New Ferry East Bromborough 2.4 

E01007271 Poulton East Seacombe 2.4 

Wirral Average 1.3 

Source: https://data.police.uk  

Note: January 2018-January 2019 

 

All of the ten LSOAs in the table have rates of criminal damage which are considerably more than the 

Wirral average of 1.3 per 1,000 – and one, Birkenhead Central, has a rate which is more than four times 

the Wirral average. 

 

Page 195

https://data.police.uk/


 64 

Injuries (sustained in the home environment)  

 

Data on injuries sustained in the home environment were provided by the Trauma, Injury Intelligence 

Group (TIIG). Clearly, not all home injuries are due to people living in non-decent, dilapidated homes. It 

is however, a contributory factor. It is therefore appropriate to include this indicator as part of the 

rationale for selective licensing in Wirral. Rates were calculated for the previous 2 years (2017/18 to 

2018/19) and the table shows the ten LSOAs with the highest rates of home injuries in Wirral. 

 

Table 5.7: Rate of A&E attendances for home injuries by LSOA, 2017/18 to 2018/19 (2 pooled years) 

 

LSOA LSOA name Ward No. home injuries Rate per 1,000 

E01007155 Birkenhead Park East Claughton 211 120.8 

E01007123 Bidston St James West Bidston & St James 140 91.9 

E01007290 Tranmere Esplanade Rock Ferry 178 91.2 

E01007144 Clatterbridge West Clatterbridge 127 91.0 

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead & Tranmere 157 86.0 

E01007236 Liscard East New Brighton 113 83.4 

E01007292 Higher Tranmere Birkenhead & Tranmere 125 80.5 

E01007175 Egerton Park Rock Ferry 143 78.8 

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead & Tranmere 131 77.7 

E01007296 Tranmere Well Lane Rock Ferry 122 76.6 

 Wirral average (per LSOA)  99 60.1 

Source: TIIG (Trauma, Injury & Intelligence Group), 2017 

 

Page 196

http://www.tiig.info/
http://www.tiig.info/
http://www.cph.org.uk/tiig/


 65 

Section 6: Matrix 

All of the criteria examined in this briefing are show in the matrix below and indicate (via highest 

scores), those areas which are potentially the most suitable locations for Selective Licensing in Wirral. 

LS
O

A
 c

o
d

e

LS
O

A
 n

am
e

W
ar

d

C
o

n
st

it
u

e
n

cy

In
ju

ri
e

s 
(o

cc
u

ri
n

g 
at

 h
o

m
e

)

D
e

p
ri

va
ti

o
n

 (
liv

in
g)

D
e

p
ri

va
ti

o
n

 (
o

ve
ra

ll)

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

al
 a

tt
ai

n
m

e
n

t 
(K

S4
)

W
o

rk
le

ss
 b

e
n

e
fi

ts
 (

ES
A

)

W
o

rk
le

ss
 b

e
n

e
fi

ts
 (

JS
A

 &
 U

C
)

H
o

u
si

n
g 

B
e

n
e

fi
t

C
ri

m
in

al
 d

am
ag

e

En
vi

ro
n

m
e

n
ta

l H
e

al
th

 

H
o

u
si

n
g 

In
te

rv
e

n
ti

o
n

s

H
H

SR
S 

C
at

 1
%

D
e

lib
e

ra
te

 f
ir

e
s

H
o

u
se

 s
al

e
s

H
o

u
se

 p
ri

ce
s

Lo
n

g-
te

rm
 e

m
p

ty
 p

ro
p

e
rt

y

Ti
m

e
 p

ro
p

e
rt

y 
sp

e
n

t 
e

m
p

ty

P
ri

va
te

 r
e

n
te

d
 p

ro
p

e
rt

y 
(%

)

To
ta

l

E01007127 Birkenhead West Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 14

E01007129 Birkenhead South Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 13

E01007179 Egerton North Prenton Birkenhead 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 13

E01007275 Egremont South Seacombe Wallasey 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 12

E01007291 Tranmere Lairds Birkenhead and Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 12

E01007215 Egremont Promenade South Liscard Wallasey 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 12

E01007278 Seacombe Library Seacombe Wallasey 1 2 2 2 2 2 11

E01007126 Hamilton Square Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 10

E01007273 Seacombe St Pauls Seacombe Wallasey 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 10

E01007128 Birkenhead Central Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 9

E01007220 Egremont Central Liscard Wallasey 1 1 1 2 2 7

E01007130 Tranmere North Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 1 2 2 2 7

E01007292 Higher Tranmere Birkenhead and Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 1 1 2 6

E01007277 Town Hall Seacombe Wallasey 1 1 2 2 6

E01007131 West Tranmere Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 1 1 2 2 6

E01007295 Tranmere Urban Village Rock Ferry Birkenhead 1 1 2 2 6

E01032903 Birkenhead North Bidston and St James Birkenhead 1 2 2 5

E01007144 Clatterbridge West Clatterbridge Wirral South 1 2 2 5

E01007272 Seacombe West Seacombe Wallasey 1 1 1 2 5

E01007270 Poulton South Seacombe Wallasey 1 2 2 5

E01007139 New Ferry West Bromborough Wirral South 1 2 2 5

E01007217 Liscard Central Liscard Wallasey 1 1 2 4

E01007271 Poulton East Seacombe Wallasey 1 1 2 4

E01007296 Tranmere Well Lane Rock Ferry Birkenhead 1 1 2 4

E01007294 Tranmere Parklands Birkenhead and Tranmere Birkenhead 2 2 4

E01007290 Tranmere Esplanade Rock Ferry Birkenhead 1 1 1 1 4

E01007155 Birkenhead Park East Claughton Birkenhead 1 1 2 4

E01007240 Oxton North Oxton Birkenhead 2 2 4

E01007244 Oxton East Oxton Birkenhead 2 2 4

E01007218 Egremont North Liscard Wallasey 2 2 4

E01007176 Rock Ferry West Rock Ferry Birkenhead 1 2 3

E01007123 Bidston St James West Bidston & St James Birkenhead 1 1 1 3

E01007236 Liscard East New Brighton Wallasey 1 2 3

E01007175 Egerton Park Rock Ferry Birkenhead 1 2 3

E01007238 Victoria Parade New Brighton Wallasey 1 2 3

E01007216 Liscard South Liscard Wallasey 1 2 3

E01007234 Magazine Promenade New Brighton Wallasey 1 2 3

E01007125 Bidston St James South Bidston & St James Birkenhead 2 2

E01007180 Egerton West Prenton Birkenhead 2 2

E01007181 Prenton North East Prenton Birkenhead 2 2

E01007232 Egremont Promenade North New Brighton Wallasey 2 2

E01007138 New Ferry East Bromborough Wirral South 1 1 2

E01007237 New Brighton North New Brighton Wallasey 2 2

E01007239 Oxton North East Birkenhead & Tranmere Birkenhead 2 2

E01007269 Seacombe Docks Seacombe Wallasey 2 2

E01007217 Liscard Central Liscard Wallasey 2 2

E01007141 Port Sunlight North Bromborough Wirral South 2 2

E01007219 Egremont West Liscard Wallasey 2 2

E01007233 Earlston Gardens East New Brighton Wallasey 1 1

E01007276 Poulton North Seacombe Wallasey 1 1

10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 260

1 point 2 points

 

 

Page 197



 66 

Those LSOAs marked in blue on the matrix denote the four LSOAs which were most recently designated 

areas of selective licensing. Those in yellow are the initial 4 areas which are coming up for review.  

Page 198



 67 

Section 7: Conclusions & Maps 

 

As the matrix shows, excluding the four LSOAs marked in blue (second wave selective licensing areas, 

not currently due for review), there are a further 6 LSOAs which are either: 

 

a) Areas of selective licensing (first wave) now coming up to review (n=4) 
b) New LSOAs which have never before been areas of selective licensing (n=2) 

 

These 6 LSOAs are shown in further detail in the following maps. The last map (Map 7.7 shows all of the 

proposed and current areas of selective licensing; it therefore shows a total of 10 LSOAs in total).  

 

Map 7.1: Egremont South Lower Super Output Area (E01007275) 

 

Page 199



 68 

 

Map 7.2: Tranmere Lairds Lower Super Output Area (E01007291) 

 

Page 200



 69 

 

Map 7.3: Birkenhead South Lower Super Output Area (E01007129) 

 

 

Page 201



 70 

 

Map 7.4: Egerton North Lower Super Output Area (E0107179) 

 

 

Page 202



 71 

 

Map 7.5: Egremont Promenade South Lower Super Output Area (E01007215) 

 

 

 

Page 203



 72 

 

Map 7.6: Seacombe Library Lower Super Output Area (E01007278) 

 

 

 

Page 204



 73 

Map 7.7: Total current and potential Selective Licensing Areas in Wirral (10 LSOAs) 

 

 

 

Page 205



 74 

Section 8: References 

1. Selective licensing for local authorities: A good practice guide. Shelter (2006). Available at: 
http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/57779/Selective_licensing_for_local_authoriti
es.pdf  

2. Selective licensing in the private rented sector – a guide for local authorities, Department for 
Communities and Local Government, March 2015. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-
for-local-authorities  

3. Laying the Foundations. A Housing Strategy for England (2011). Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2 

4. Fixing our broken housing market, Department for Communities and Local Government, February 2017. 
Available at:  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market  

5. Housing Health and Safety Rating System Operating Guidance: Guidance about inspections and 
assessment of hazards.  Housing Act 2004 (section 9). Office of the Deputy Prime Minister. February 2006. 
Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15810/142631.pdf  

 

Section 9: Glossary 

Lower Super Output Area or LSOA:  

Small geographical areas with an average population of 1,500. There are 206 LSOAs in Wirral. 

Decent Homes Standard: The Decent Homes Standard is a national standard against which all homes 

can be measured. There are four criteria that a home is required to meet before being classified as 

‘decent’. These are: it meets the current statutory minimum standard for housing (currently the Housing 

Health & Safety Rating System); it is in a reasonable state of repair; it has reasonable modern facilities 

and service, and; it provides a reasonable degree of thermal comfort. In Wirral, 23% of private sector 

dwellings fail the Decent Homes Standard, compared to 32% in the private rented sector. Where a 

household is on welfare benefits and living in the private rented sector, this rises to 36%.   

Category 1 Hazard: The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) outlines potential risks to 

health and safety from any deficiencies identified in homes. There are 29 hazards assessed within the 

HHSRS, arranged in 4 main groups reflecting the basic health requirements of living in a safe home. 

Once these hazards have been scored in a home, they are grouped into categories, with “Category 1” 

hazards being the most serious, for example, the hazard could lead to death, permanent paralysis, 

permanent loss of consciousness, loss of a limb or serious fractures. The Housing Act 2004 puts local 

authorities under a general duty to take appropriate action in relation to Category 1 hazards. In Wirral, 

10% of private sector dwellings have Category 1 hazards, compared to 20% in the private rented sector.  

Housing Disrepair: To meet the Decent Homes Standard, dwellings are required to be in a reasonable 

state of repair. Dwellings which fail to meet this criterion are those where either: One or more of the 

key building components are old and because of their condition, need replacing or major repair, or; Two 

or more of the other building components are old and because of their condition need replacing or 

major repair. Across Wirral, 13% of private sector dwellings fail the repair requirements of the Decent 

Homes Standard, compared to 17% in the private rented sector.  

Page 206

http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/57779/Selective_licensing_for_local_authorities.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/57779/Selective_licensing_for_local_authorities.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15810/142631.pdf


 75 

Appendix 2 Maps and Address List of Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 

 

 

 

The maps below show the proposed Lower Super Outputs Areas (LSOAs) for Selective 

Licensing. The LSOA boundary is shown in blue with the proposed boundary for 

consultation including neighbouring properties shown in green. Address lists are 

provided as guidance however any private rented properties located within the LSOA 

boundary at the time of designation or over the lifetime of the scheme would be liable 

for a licence.  

Page 207



 76 

1. Birkenhead South (LSOA E01007129)  

 

Prop Numbers  Street  Postcode Post Town  

1-24 ALL ALEXANDRA ROAD CH43 4XX PRENTON 

1-40 ALL ALFRED ROAD CH43 4TU 
CH43 4TX 

PRENTON 

12-24 EVENS BALLS ROAD CH43 5RE PRENTON 

1-8 ALL BELMONT GROVE CH43 4TR PRENTON 

Page 208



 77 

298-300 EVENS  BOROUGH ROAD CH41 2RB 
CH41 2UW 

BIRKENHEAD 

4-7 ALL CARNFORTH CLOSE CH41 2TX BIRKENHEAD 

3-39 ODDS EUSTON GROVE CH43 4TY 
CH43 4TZ 

PRENTON 

1-19 ODDS FRANCIS AVENUE CH43 4XL PRENTON 

1-65 ODDS GRANGE MOUNT CH43 4XN PRENTON 

4-58 EVENS GRANGE MOUNT CH43 4XW PRENTON 

1-14 THOMAS 
COURT 

ALL GRANGE MOUNT CH43 4XU PRENTON 

75-125 ODDS GRANGE ROAD WEST CH43 4XB 
CH43 4XF 

PRENTON 

90-140 EVENS GRANGE ROAD WEST CH43 4XF 
CH43 4XG 
CH43 4XQ 

PRENTON 

1-28 ALL GRANGE VIEW CH43 4TN 
CH43 4TL 

PRENTON 

1-20 ALL HAWARDEN AVENUE CH43 4XJ PRENTON 

1-8 ALL HENTHORNE STREET CH43 4TA PRENTON 

1-21 ALL MERTON PLACE CH43 4XD PRENTON 

1-27 ODDS OSBORNE ROAD CH43 4XT PRENTON 

13-67 ODDS OXTON ROAD CH41 2QQ 
CH41 2TL 

BIRKENHEAD 

44-150A EVENS OXTON ROAD CH41 2TP 
CH41 2TW 

BIRKENHEAD 

7-61 ODDS PARK ROAD SOUTH CH43 4UN 
CH43 4UW 

PRENTON 

1-23 ODDS QUARRY BANK CH41 2XF BIRKENHEAD 

1-22 ALL RADNOR PLACE CH43 4XH PRENTON 

1-20 ALL RAVENSCROFT ROAD CH43 4XY PRENTON 

1-45A ALL RIDLEY STREET CH43 4TT PRENTON 

2-32 ALL SHAW STREET CH41 2XE BIRKENHEAD 

1-33 ALL THE LINDENS, ALFRED 
ROAD 

CH43 4YH PRENTON 

2-3 ALL TETBURY STREET CH41 2XP BIRKENHEAD 

1-11 ALL TOWN VIEW CH43 4YE PRENTON 

1-3 ODDS TOWN VIEW MEWS CH43 4YD PRENTON 

THE SPIRE ALL WESTBOURNE ROAD CH43 4TG PRENTON 

12-98 ALL WESTBOURNE ROAD CH43 4JE 
CH43 4TF 
CH43 4TG 
CH43 4TQ 

PRENTON 

32-42 EVENS WHETSTONE LANE CH41 2TF BIRKENHEAD 

 

Page 209



 78 

2. Egerton North (LSOA E01007179)   

 

 

Page 210



 79 

 

Prop Numbers Street  Postcode Post Town 

575A-605 ODDS BOROUGH ROAD CH42 0HD BIRKENHEAD 

60-88 EVENS CHURCH ROAD CH42 0LH BIRKENHEAD 

70-124 EVENS DERBY ROAD CH42 7HD BIRKENHEAD 

18-28 EVENS ELM ROAD CH42 0LX BIRKENHEAD 

3-149 ODDS ELMSWOOD ROAD CH42 7HN 
CH42 7HW 

BIRKENHEAD 

1-89 ALL FOUNTAIN STREET CH42 7JD 
CH42 7JH 

BIRKENHEAD 

2-23 ALL GREENBANK ROAD CH42 7JS BIRKENHEAD 

1-57A ALL GREENWAY ROAD CH42 0ND 
CH42 0NG 

BIRKENHEAD 

4-156 ALL HARROWBY ROAD CH42 7HU 
CH42 7HS 

BIRKENHEAD 

1-25 ALL HARROWBY ROAD SOUTH CH42 7HY BIRKENHEAD 

1-28 ALL HEATHBANK ROAD CH42 7LD BIRKENHEAD 

2-66 ALL NORTH ROAD CH42 7JE 
CH42 7JG 

BIRKENHEAD 

1-43 ALL ST. CATHERINES GARDENS CH42 7JJ BIRKENHEAD 

1-7A ALL WALKER MEWS CH42 0NH BIRKENHEAD 

17-31 ODDS WALKER PLACE CH42 0LZ BIRKENHEAD 

4-10A EVENS WALKER STREET CH42 0LY BIRKENHEAD 

1-19 
WALKER 
HEIGHTS 

3 WALKER STREET CH42 0LY BIRKENHEAD 

1-128 ALL WHITFORD ROAD CH42 7HZ 
CH42 7JA 

BIRKENHEAD 

Page 211



 80 

3. Egremont Promenade South (LSOA E01007215) excluding properties within 

Mariners’ Park as shown by the red boundary 

 

 

Property Numbers Street Postcode 
Post 
Town 

4-24 EVENS BLENHEIM ROAD CH44 8BR Wallasey 

1-23 ALL CHURCH GARDENS CH44 8HF Wallasey 

2-48 ALL EGREMONT PROMENADE CH44 8BG 
CH44 8BQ 

Wallasey 

AVENUE 
COTTAGE 

 GREENWOOD LANE CH44 1DQ Wallasey 

1-5 YORK 
COTTAGES 

ALL GREENWOOD LANE CH44 1DQ Wallasey 

2-132 EVENS KING STREET CH44 8AN 
CH44 8AU 
CH44 8AW 

Wallasey 

1-129 (EXC 73) ODDS KING STREET CH44 0BY 
CH44 0BZ 
CH44 8AT 

Wallasey 

1-19 ALL KINGLAKE ROAD CH44 8BS Wallasey 

1-21 ALL MARSDEN CLOSE CH44 1EA Wallasey 

Page 212



 81 

1-9 ODDS POOLE ROAD CH44 1EB Wallasey 

2-42 EVENS POOLE ROAD CH44 1ED Wallasey 

1-6 ALL POOLEY CLOSE CH44 0FA Wallasey 

2  RICE LANE CH44 0AF Wallasey 

3-19 ODDS RUDGRAVE PLACE CH44 0EJ Wallasey 

2-8 EVENS RUDGRAVE PLACE CH44 0EJ Wallasey 

2-36 EVENS RUDGRAVE SQUARE CH44 0FD 
CH44 0EL 

Wallasey 

13-51 ODDS RUDGRAVE SQUARE CH44 0EL Wallasey 

1-16 ALL SEABANK AVENUE CH44 1EH Wallasey 

2-18 EVENS SEABANK ROAD CH44 8BA 
CH44 8BB 

Wallasey 

3-45  ODDS SEABANK ROAD CH44 0EE 
CH44 8BA 

Wallasey 

1-32 ALL ST BRIDES ROAD CH44 8BN Wallasey 

1-21 ALL ST COLUMBAS CLOSE CH44 8EY Wallasey 

1-29 ALL ST ELMO ROAD CH44 8BL Wallasey 

2-24 ALL ST LUCIA ROAD CH44 8BW Wallasey 

1-28 ALL ST VINCENT ROAD CH44 8BJ Wallasey 

3-17 ODDS TOBIN STREET CH44 8DF Wallasey 

1-21 ALL TRAFALGAR AVENUE CH44 8BP Wallasey 

6-26 EVENS TRAFALGAR ROAD CH44 0EA Wallasey 

11-73  ODDS TRAFALGAR ROAD CH44 0DZ Wallasey 

1-66  ODDS WRIGHT STREET CH44 8BD 
CH44 8BE 

Wallasey 

 

 

Mariners’ Park addresses within LSOA E01007215 excluded from the designation 

Property Numbers Street Postcode 
Post 
Town 

2-19 ALL CUNARD AVENUE CH44 0ET Wallasey 

1-11 ALL ISMAY DRIVE CH44 0EU Wallasey 

FLATS 1 – 13, 
JOHN FAY 

HOUSE 

ALL ISMAY DRIVE CH44 0BF  
 

Wallasey 

1A-31 ALL KING GEORGE DRIVE CH44 0ES Wallasey 

1-14 GIBSON 
TERRACE 

ALL ROYDEN AVENUE CH44 0HN Wallasey 

FLATS A & B MERE 
BANK 

WEBSTER AVENUE CH45 7AB Wallasey 

1-21 ODDS WEBSTER AVENUE CH44 0AE 
CH44 0EP 

Wallasey 

1-12 ALL WHITLEY DRIVE CH44 0ER Wallasey 

 

 

 

Page 213



 82 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



 83 

4. Egremont South (LSOA E1007275) 

 

 

Prop Numbers Street  Postcode Post Town 

1-42 ALL ALVERSTONE ROAD CH44 9AA WALLASEY 

2-56 ALL BIRNAM ROAD CH44 9AX 
CH44 9AY 

WALLASEY 

Page 215



 84 

1-15 ALL CHURCH CLOSE CH44 8HG WALLASEY 

21-219 ODDS CHURCH STREET CH44 8AF 
CH44 8AG 

WALLASEY 

1-11  ALL CHURCHMEADOW CLOSE CH44 8HQ WALLASEY 

33-75 ODDS CLARENDON ROAD  CH44 8EJ WALLASEY 

44-90 EVENS CLARENDON ROAD CH44 8EP 
 

WALLASEY 

1-16 ALL DALEHURST CLOSE CH44 8AE WALLASEY 

2A 
 

DRAYTON ROAD CH44 9EQ WALLASEY 

1-11 ALL ELMBANK STREET CH44 9BG WALLASEY 

49-87 ODDS FALKLAND ROAD CH44 8EW  WALLASEY 

128-158 EVEN FALKLAND ROAD CH44 8ER WALLASEY 

1-12  ALL GORSEBANK STREET CH44 9BQ WALLASEY 

2-50 EVEN HALVILLE ROAD CH44 9AZ WALLASEY 

67-107 ODDS LISCARD ROAD CH44 8AE  WALLASEY 

62A-84 EVENS LISCARD ROAD CH44 8AA WALLASEY 

South 
Lodge 

 LISCARD ROAD CH44 0BS WALLASEY 

1-38 ALL LUMLEY ROAD CH44 9AB WALLASEY 

1-77 ALL NORTHBROOK ROAD CH44 9AP 
CH44 9AR 

WALLASEY 

1-9 ALL OAKBANK STREET CH44 9BE WALLASEY 

1-8 ALL PARK AVENUE CH44 9DZ WALLASEY 

1-77 ALL PARK ROAD CH44 9EA 
CH44 9EB 

WALLASEY 

1-46 ALL PARKSIDE CH44 9AH 
CH44 9AJ 

WALLASEY 

117-153 ODDS POULTON ROAD CH44 9DF WALLASEY 

102-122 EVENS POULTON ROAD CH44 9DJ WALLASEY 

1-17 ALL REDFIELD CLOSE CH44 8HY WALLASEY 

2-44 ALL RIVINGTON ROAD CH44 9AN 
CH44 9AW 

WALLASEY 

1-22 ALL TRENTHAM ROAD CH44 9EG WALLASEY 

1-22 ALL WITHINGTON ROAD CH44 9BH WALLASEY 

 

Page 216



 85 

5. Seacombe Library (LSOA E01007278) 

 

Page 217



 86 

 

Prop Numbers Street  Postcode Post Town 

4-14 EVENS ADDINGTON STREET CH44 9DS WALLASEY 

2-68 EVENS ALBEMARLE ROAD CH44 6LX WALLASEY 

71-103 ODDS BELL ROAD CH44 8DP WALLASEY 

78-108 EVENS BELL ROAD CH44 8DP WALLASEY 

8-64 EVENS BELLE VUE ROAD CH44 6JY WALLASEY 

136-192 ALL BOROUGH ROAD CH44 6NH 
CH44 6NE 

WALLASEY 

2-77 ALL BROUGHAM ROAD CH44 6PW 
CH44 6PN 

WALLASEY 

2-24 ALL BULKELEY ROAD CH44 9DR WALLASEY 

1  CLARENCE ROAD CH44 9ES WALLASEY 

1-49 ODDS EDITH ROAD CH44 6LG WALLASEY 

1-17 ODDS ETHEL ROAD CH44 6LR WALLASEY 

2   ETHEL ROAD CH44 6LR WALLASEY 

1-46 ALL FLORENCE ROAD CH44 6LE 
CH44 6LF 

WALLASEY 

1-10 ALL GLADSTONE ROAD CH44 6JZ WALLASEY 

1-19 ODDS GLENBURN ROAD CH44 6PY WALLASEY 

6-57 ALL HATHERLEY STREET CH44 6RA WALLASEY 

1-13 ODDS HOOD STREET CH44 6LS WALLASEY 

2-36 ALL ILCHESTER ROAD CH44 9DP WALLASEY 

1-63 ODDS KENILWORTH ROAD CH44 6QG WALLASEY 

2-42A EVENS LISCARD ROAD CH44 6LN 
CH44 6LW 

WALLASEY 

31-37 ODDS LISCARD ROAD CH44 6LT WALLASEY 

1-45 ALL MAINWARING ROAD CH44 9DN 
CH44 9DW 

WALLASEY 

4-38 EVENS NAPLES ROAD CH44 7HL WALLASEY 

1-73 ODDS POULTON ROAD CH44 6LB 
CH44 9DD 

WALLASEY 

22-58 EVENS POULTON ROAD CH44 9DQ WALLASEY 

1-71 ODDS RAPPART ROAD CH44 6QD WALLASEY 

54-106 EVENS RAPPART ROAD CH44 6QF WALLASEY 

1-5 ODDS WESLEY GROVE CH44 6QB WALLASEY 

1-61 ALL WICKHAM CLOSE CH44 6RD 
CH44 6RB 

WALLASEY 

 

 

 

 

Page 218



 87 

6. Tranmere Lairds (LSOA E1007291) 

 

 

 

Page 219



 88 

Prop Numbers Street  Postcode Post Town 

2-178 ALL ARGYLE STREET 
SOUTH 

CH41 9BX 
CH41 9BY 
CH41 9BZ  
CH41 9DA 

BIRKENHEAD 

CENTRAL 
STATION 

HOUSE 

35 BOROUGH ROAD CH41 2XS BIRKENHEAD 

1A-53 ODDS CLIFTON ROAD CH41 2SE 
CH41 2SF 

BIRKENHEAD 

1-8 
CLIFTON 

COURT 

ALL CLIFTON ROAD CH41 2SE BIRKENHEAD 

9-16 
VENTURE 

COURT 

AL CLIFTON ROAD CH41 2SE BIRKENHEAD 

1-7 ALL FAIRVIEW CH41 9EH BIRKENHEAD 

16-28 EVENS FRODSHAM STREET CH41 9DN BIRKENHEAD 

1-18 ALL GREEN LANE CH41 9AG BIRKENHEAD 

1-23 ALL HELMINGHAM 
GROVE 

CH41 9EY BIRKENHEAD 

1-5 ALL HILLSIDE CLOSE CH41 9HU BIRKENHEAD 

34-60 ALL HILLSIDE ROAD CH41 9EQ 
CH41 9ER 

BIRKENHEAD 

1-11 ALL HINDERTON CLOSE CH41 9HE BIRKENHEAD 

2-165 ALL HINDERTON ROAD CH41 9AA 
CH41 9AB 
CH41 9AD 
CH41 9AE 
CH41 9AF 

BIRKENHEAD 

1-38 ALL HOLBORN HILL CH41 9DJ BIRKENHEAD 

1-86 ALL HOLT HILL CH41 9DG 
CH41 9DH 
CH41 9DQ 

BIRKENHEAD 

3-23 ODDS HOLT HILL TERRACE CH42 5LB BIRKENHEAD 

12-82 EVENS HOLT ROAD CH41 9ES BIRKENHEAD 

2-40 EVENS LEIGHTON ROAD CH41 9DZ BIRKENHEAD 

5-55 ODDS LEIGHTON ROAD CH41 9DU BIRKENHEAD 

1-31 ALL MARQUIS STREET CH41 9DU BIRKENHEAD 

2-48 EVENS OLD CHESTER ROAD  CH41 9AU BIRKENHEAD 

45-69 ODDS OLD CHESTER ROAD CH41 9AW BIRKENHEAD 

STATION 
HOUSE 

1 OLD CHESTER ROAD CH41 9AN BIRKENHEAD 

1-12 ALL OLIVE CRESCENT CH41 9DR BIRKENHEAD 

8-48 EVENS OLIVE MOUNT CH41 9DP BIRKENHEAD 

31-37 ODDS OLIVE MOUNT CH41 9DL BIRKENHEAD 

THE 
WILLOWS 

39 OLIVE MOUNT CH41 9DP BIRKENHEAD 

1-2  PEARSON ROAD CH42 5LA BIRKENHEAD 

1-64 ALL PEMBROKE COURT CH41 9BJ BIRKENHEAD 

1-49 ALL QUEEN STREET CH41 9AS BIRKENHEAD 

1-73 
VINCENT 

ALL RODNEY STREET CH41 2ZA BIRKENHEAD 

Page 220



 89 

NAUGHTON 
COURT 

19-182 ALL RODNEY STREET CH41 2RG 
CH41 2RN 
CH41 2RQ  
CH41 2SB 
CH41 2SD 

BIRKENHEAD 

4 
CROMWELL 

ROW 

 WARRINGTON 
STREET 

CH41 9AL BIRKENHEAD 

1-2 
MARQUIS 

MEWS 

 WARRINGTON 
STREET 

CH41 9AP BIRKENHEAD 

1-19 
MERSEY 

VIEW 

ALL WARRINGTON 
STREET 

CH41 9AR BIRKENHEAD 

1-8 PRIORY 
VIEW  

ALL WARRINGTON 
STREET 

CH41 9AX BIRKENHEAD 

1-19 RIVER 
VIEW 

ALL WARRINGTON 
STREET 

CH41 9AQ BIRKENHEAD 

1-10 ALL WESTBURY STREET CH41 9DT BIRKENHEAD 

101-135 ODDS WHETSTONE LANE CH41 2TE 
CH41 9DE 

BIRKENHEAD 

Page 221



  

 
Appendix 3 – Consultation Plan 

 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 

 

CONSULTATION PLAN 2019 

 

 

PROPOSAL FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF SELECTIVE LICENSING IN 

DESIGNATED WIRRAL AREAS 

P
age 222



Page 91 of 117 

1.0 SUMMARY 

 

1.1 This report sets out Wirral Council’s Consultation Plan in relation to the potential to continue to operate a scheme in the four original areas or 

extend to further areas, depending on the data analysis. 

 

1.2 The consultation programme will be meaningful and comprehensive, providing interested parties with detailed, accessible information on the 

proposal and providing a choice of methods for providing their views. 

 

1.3 Any concerns raised by stakeholders through this consultation process will be accurately reported to Members in order that due regard can be 

given, and informed decisions can be taken. 

 

2.0 CONSULTATION 

 

2.1 Wirral is committed to asking everyone with an interest in the services that the Council provides, including residents, community 

groups, landlords, partners and staff, to consider proposals and share views so that they can be taken into account by Councillors 

when they make decisions on the future service delivery. 

 

2.2 With particular reference to Selective Licensing, Part 3, Section 80 (9) of the Housing Act 2004 states that before considering making a 

designation for Selective Licensing the local housing authority must: 

 

a) Take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the designation; and 

b) Consider any representations made in accordance with the consultation and not withdrawn. 

 

P
age 223



Page 92 of 117 

2.3 The Department for Communities and Local Government has a procedural document on the subject of selective licensing: Selective Licensing 

in the private rented sector. A guide for local authorities March 2015. 

 

2.4 Within this document it is clear that local authorities are required to conduct a full consultation in considering designation of selective 

licensing.  Consultation should include local residents, including tenants, landlords and where appropriate their managing agents and other 

members of the community who live or operate businesses or provide services within the proposed designation.  It should also include local 

residents and those who operate businesses or provide services in the surrounding area outside the proposed designation that will be 

affected. 

 

2.5 The minimum statutory consultation period, on any proposed Selective Licensing Scheme, required by DCLG is ten weeks.  If approved by 

Members, Wirral’s Selective Licensing consultation will commence in August 2019 and end in October or November 2019, depending on the 

start date. 

 

 

3.0 COMMUNICATIONS 

 

3.1 Consultation should be appropriate to the scale, scope and nature of the project being completed.  Effective consultation that is 

meaningful and genuine depends on all stakeholders being sufficiently well-informed about the project, having clear, concise 

information, the opportunity to convey their perspectives and their concerns, and developing confidence that their perspectives 

are being reflected in the design.   

3.2 It is common for consultation processes to result in changes to the project and to its design.  In order to make the maximum 

contribution to risk management in return for the smallest cost, consultation therefore needs to commence early and continue 

throughout the project life-cycle. 

P
age 224



Page 93 of 117 

3.3 This is at the heart of Wirral’s consultation plan which has been set out for the proposed Selective Licensing Scheme and we will 

achieve this via:- 

▪ publishing a draft business case outlining the reasons for the proposal, the method used to identify the proposed licensing areas, the 

components of the fee structure. 

▪ priming of discussions by providing some initial information about the project;  

▪ making sure there is ongoing dialogue with consultees throughout the consultation process;  

▪ participation of those tenants and residents affected or likely to be effected by the proposed implementation in the designated areas;  

▪ facilitated interactions among participants; 

▪ making sure that there is sufficient diversity among those groups or individuals being consulted, to ensure that all relevant 

perspectives are represented, and all relevant information is gathered;  

▪ making sure that each group has the opportunity to provide information; 

▪ making sure that the method of consultation suits the consultation group, for example using workshops or focus groups as an 

alternative to, or even as well as, formal written consultation;  

▪ making sure that the information provided and the perspectives, concerns and issues raised during the consultation process are 

analysed and duly considered in the final design and implementation of any scheme taken forward. 

 

 

3.4 Consultation will be taking place using a survey, which will be promoted through the following methods: 

 

• Wirral Council website:www.wirral.gov.uk/selective licensing and other social media. 

• Direct mail-out to landlords and managing/letting agents. 

• Engagement sessions with managing/letting agents. 

• Mail drop to all residents and businesses or services within the selected areas. 

• Direct mail and email to known local community groups such as tenant or resident groups in the areas and any other 

community group that may have an interest in Selective Licensing (this includes a number of harder to reach groups) and which 

may involve officers attending meetings to talk about Selective Licensing. 

• Press releases to local media/press. 

P
age 225



Page 94 of 117 

• Posters erected in local venues such as cafes, pub etc as appropriate in each area. 

• Drop-in sessions planned for stakeholders directly affected across the proposed areas. 

• Communications via LCD screens in council buildings; 

• Written papers and presentations where appropriate. 

• Telephone or face to face interviews with stakeholders. 

 

3.5 The Council will also ensure a copy of the business case will be available on the internet or provided in written format if requested.   A 

questionnaire will also be produced, which will be used to gather views from all stakeholders to the proposal.  

 

3.6 All documents will be published on the Council website and promoted to key groups through the methods outlined in Section 4 below.  

 

4.0 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

 

4.1 To ensure a true reflection of the views of affected groups related to this consultation, it is important that particular groups of stakeholders are 

effectively targeted with communications about the proposal and given every opportunity to share their views. 

 

4.2 The following groups will receive direct communications about the proposal to request their views: 

 

▪ All residents in the proposed Selective Licensing area 

Notification of the consultation will be sent sent direct to the homes address of all residents living within the proposed selective 

licensing areas, inviting them to participate in the consultation.  Some of the residents in the existing and proposed Selective Licensing 

areas may be interviewed on their doorstep in order to reach and gather the views of as many affected residents as possible. 

 

▪ Elected Members and local Members of Parliament 

P
age 226



Page 95 of 117 

The Business case and Consultation plan will be submitted to Cabinet for approval to go out to consultation. Following this the Elected 

members for the proposed areas, the four Members of Parliament and four parliamentary Constituency Managers will be e-mailed 

detailing the key aspects of the proposal.  This e-mail will invite any feedback or comments regarding the proposal. The same will be 

sent to the Leader of each of the political parties to cascade to their colleagues. 

 

▪ Businesses/services within the proposed designation areas in Wirral and in the immediately surrounding areas 

Mail drop - All properties within the proposed streets within the designated areas and in the immediately surrounding areas will be mail 

dropped a card providing information on the proposals and an invitation to participate.  It will be designed to encourage businesses 

and stakeholders to also visit the website to obtain further information and complete the questionnaire either online or they can 

request a paper copy if required.   

 

▪ Social Landlords 

All social landlords who operate in the designated areas or who could manage stock will be contacted directly by e-mail and advised of 

the consultation process, business case and will be invited to complete a questionnaire.   

 

▪ Private Landlords, Letting Agents/Estate Agents and National and Local Landlord Associations 

Direct mail – all known landlords and letting agents and Estate Agents will be sent an email explaining what the proposal is and how it 

will affect them as landlords. The email will include links to the website where the full consultation document is available and will invite 

completion of the questionnaire. 

 

The National Landlords Association, the Association of Residential lettings Agents, the Guild of Residential Landlords, Residential 

Landlords Association and the North West Property Owners Association will be contacted directly by email.  

 

A separate invitation will be sent regarding a number of landlord sessions to be held at various venues and various times of the day. 

These sessions will be aimed predominately at those who are directly affected or are likely to be affected and will be informal so 

P
age 227



Page 96 of 117 

landlords or the public can call in at any time. The sessions will be held so that landlords can find out more about the proposal, ask any 

questions and provide any comments/feedback.  Council staff will be on hand to answer any questions. 

 

 

 

▪ Landlords recorded on Housing Benefit Records 

An email will be sent to all landlords who have properties where Housing Benefit is being claimed, directing them to the Council’s 

website. 

 

▪ Stakeholders, Partners & Community Groups in the proposed Designated areas  

Community groups will be contacted by e-mail with details of the proposal.  They will be advised of the information available on the 

website and that information sessions will be held with details to be made available on the Council website. 

 

Stakeholders and interested parties such as Merseyside Police, Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service, Community Action Wirral (CAW) 

Citizens’ Advice Bureau. 

 

Whilst direct consultation will attempt to be as exhaustive as possible, any interested groups not already identified and consulted 

directly will also encouraged to complete the questionnaire or make comments. Groups not consulted directly are considered likely to 

hear about the proposal though mediums such as the website, posters and local press releases. 

 

▪ Wirral Council Staff 

An e-mail will be sent to relevant Departments/Teams to advise them of the proposal seeking comments.  Relevant areas include but 

are not limited to – Housing Benefits, Community Patrol, Supported Housing and Homelessness, Streetscene, Environmental Health, 

Strategic Planning and Development Control.  For any team who may experience a significant impact from the proposal, a meeting can 

P
age 228



Page 97 of 117 

be arranged to discuss the implications and to provide an opportunity for Council officers to provide suggestions and feedback on the 

proposal.  Information will be sent through to all staff via the Chief Executive’s regular staff e-mail bulletin.   

 

▪ All Other Residents in Wirral 

Press releases will be issued to local media to promote the consultation.  Posters will be placed around the proposed Selective 

Licensing areas advertising the consultation.  The Council will create a micro site within the Councils own website where all information 

regarding the proposal will be posted.  LCD screens in Council buildings will display information and highlight the consultation being 

undertaken.  Some key local venues (shops/cafes/pubs) will be asked to display poster/leaflets. 

 

Information will be available on the council website so any people with internet access will be able to find out more about the proposal 

as well as completing an online questionnaire which also enables the opportunity to add comments.  Details will be made available on 

the website and posters, once they are confirmed, of the number of information sessions to be held in public places in order to make 

them as accessible as possible.  

 

▪ Landlords who operate in neighbouring Local Authority areas 

An email will be sent to all neighbouring authorities inviting them to contact the landlords on their contact lists to participate in the 

consultation by answering the questionnaire.   

 

4.3 Further communication will be sent to a database resident email addresses with information related to the proposal and a direct link to the 

consultation questionnaire.   

 

P
age 229



Page 98 of 117 

5.0 How issues raised will be dealt with as part of the consultation 

 

5.1 Throughout the consultation process a record of each consultation event or period that has been undertaken and what issues were raised 

from these will be formally logged.  This will detail the date of the consultation, what form the consultation took place, who was consulted and 

what were the results/issues raised.  Different methods of communications will be used as part of the consultation process and a separate 

consultation report will be produced for each event to enable a ‘portfolios’ to be produced as one document at the end, with each element 

represented as a section. 

 

5.2 Wirral is committed to ensuring all comments received are recorded and there is a clear audit trail of all decisions made and how consultation 

responses were taken into consideration and balanced with any evidence and specific information gathered.  The consultation report will be 

published and placed on the website. 

 

6.0 TIMESCALES AND REPORTING 

 

6.1 The timetable for component elements of the consultation is in the project plan attached. 

P
age 230



Page 99 of 117 

Consultation and Timetable 

 

Method Target Audience How officer When 

Devise questionnaires All stakeholders and 

members of the public 

Devise questionnaires, 

Set up on-line 

Prepare for going-live 

include telephone, email, on-line and post as 

options to complete the questionnaire.   

 

 July 2019 

Questionnaires and 

leaflets 

Tenants, Residents, 

Accredited landlords, 

as well as letting/ 

managing agents and 

businesses/service 

providers in the area 

Questionnaire highlighted to all local residents, 

stakeholder and businesses also referral to full 

business case on website if required. 

 Duration of the 

consultation 

Cabinet report Cabinet Members Cabinet report on Business Case and Consultation Plan 

for Approval to go out to consultation. 

 July 2019 

E-mail/Letter 

Correspondence 

Councillors,  

Leaders of Three 

Political Parties 

Members of 

Parliament 

E-mail/Letters sent detailing aspects of proposal and 

inviting feedback/comments.  

 July/August 2019 

P
age 231



Page 100 of 117 

Registered Providers  Registered 

providers in 

proposed area 

and across Wirral 

E-mail sent to all Registered Providers in Wirral who form 

the strategic Housing Partnership advising of the proposal 

and seeking views 

 August 2019 

Landlord Working Group  Accredited 

Landlords and 

letting/managing 

agents 

 

 

Separate to questionnaire sent to all landlords.  The 

landlord working group will be invited to comment 

specifically on licensing conditions, proposed component 

fee structure and operation of the scheme via regular 

working group meetings. 

 August / 

September 2019 

Wirral Council 

staff/Teams 
All staff but particular 

emphasis on :- 

Housing Benefits 

Community Patrol 

Supported Housing and 

Homelessness 

Streetscene 

Environmental Health 

Strategic Planning and 

Development 

Management 

 

E-mails sent direct to relevant staff and Project Officer, with 

one to one meetings to take place if requested and Q & A 

session. 

 August – October 

2019 

National and Regional 

Landlord Agencies 

National landlord 

Association, 

Association of 

Residential Agents, 

Guild of residential 

Landlords 

Residential landlords 

Association 

North West property 

Owners Association 

Direct letters to all associations advising of proposal and 

ability to complete questionnaire and invites for meetings 

with Council officers to discuss partnership working. 

 August 2019 

Landlords Briefing All known landlords Email sent to all known landlords  August 2019 

P
age 232



Page 101 of 117 

Community G r o u p s  Local community 

groups in the affected 

areas 

Specific letters sent to known community groups 

operating in the affected areas, attendance of meetings if 

required. 

 August / 

September 2019 

Press release and 

Posters 

All Wirral stakeholders Posters to be placed in service providers i.e. doctors, 

local venues (cafes/pubs) 

Press release to be issue to local media. 

 August 2019 

Partner agencies CAB  

CAW 

 

Direct letters/e-mails to advise of proposal and also direct 

to complete questionnaires and feedback.  One to one 

meeting to be held if requested and Q & A session. 

 August – October 

2019 

Internet Residents 

Landlords 

Tenants and residents 

across the borough 

Community Groups 

Service providers in 

the area  

Information on Wirral website with contact details 

Information distributed and obtained via social media 

 Duration of the 

consultation 

Council LED Screens All users of key Council 

public buildings 

Information on LED screens at One Stop Shops, Libraries 

and Leisure Centres  

 August – October 

2019 

Landlord reminder email Landlords 

 

Reminder sent to Landlords who have not responded as 

a reminder that consultation would be ending soon 

 October 2019 

Open forum sessions Landlords, tenants and 

business within 

proposed designated 

area or likely to be 

affected 

Sessions (daytime and evening) for all 

stakeholders in the area to attend, included Q & A 

Sessions 

 September – 

October 2019 

P
age 233



Page 102 of 117 

Unknown landlords in 

affected areas 

Landlords Letters sent to tenants to forward to landlords 

regarding the open forums, if there are no details 

available. 

Send letters to ‘The Landlord’ to all empty properties 

we are aware of. 

Ask Landlord Association / Letting Agents to advise 

their members, including those which may not be 

known to the Council. 

 August – 

September 2019 

Interviews with 

stakeholders 

Landlords, residents Face to face interviews or telephone interviews where 

the questionnaire can be completed with comments to 

ensure the most people possible will complete the 

questionnaire 

 August – October 

2019 

Email inviting participation 

in questionnaire 

Landlords of 

neighbouring boroughs 

Write to neighbouring boroughs and ask to contact their 

known landlords to invite to participate in the 

consultation via questionnaire. 

 August 2019 

 

P
age 234



  

 

 

Appendix 4 - Selective Licensing Conditions 

    

  

  

Wirral Council  

  

Selective Licence Conditions 

(Amended January 2019)  

  

Page 235



  

 

 

Table of Contents    
Selective Licence conditions ...................................................................................... 1  

Section 1:  Mandatory Conditions ............................................................................. 1  

Section 2:  Additional Conditions .............................................................................. 2  

Section 3  Management Conditions ......................................................................... 3  

3.1 Tenancy Management ...................................................................................... 3  

3.2 Maintenance of Existing Installations and Equipment ....................................... 5  

3.3 Alley Gates ....................................................................................................... 6  

3.4 Pests and Infestations ...................................................................................... 6  

3.5 Fire Safety ........................................................................................................ 6  

3.6 Anti-Social Behaviour  ....................................................................................... 6  

3.7 External Area, Refuse and Waste……………………………………………….…7  

3.8 Energy Performance…………………………………………………………………7  

  

3.9 Training  ............................................................................................................ 7  

3.10 HMOs ………………………………………………………………...……………..8  

3.11 Licence Fee payments……..………………………………………………………9  

  

3.12 New/ Amendments in legislation………………………………………………….9  

  

Selective Licence Guidance notes………………………………………………..10-12  

  

  

Page 236



  

 

 

Selective licence conditions  

  
This document details the mandatory conditions which must to be included within any selective licence 

scheme under Schedule 4 of the Housing Act 2004 (“the Act”) and additional conditions which Wirral 

Council (“the Council”) would also like to introduce under Section 90 of the Act.  

In the attached conditions ‘dwelling’ means a building or part of a 

building which is required to be licensed under Part 3 of the Act.  

Section 1: Mandatory Conditions  

1. The licence holder is required:-  

a) if gas is supplied to the dwelling, to produce to the council annually for their inspection a 

gas safety certificate obtained in respect of the house within the last 12 months;  

b) to keep electrical appliances and furniture made available as part of the tenancy within 

the dwelling in a safe condition (guidance note 1);  

c) to supply the Council, on demand, with a declaration by the licence holder as to the safety 

of such electrical appliances and furniture;  

d) to ensure that appropriately sited smoke alarms are installed on each storey of the 

dwelling  and to keep them in proper working order;  

e) to supply the Council, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the condition and 

positioning of such alarms;  

f) to ensure that an appropriately sited carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room in 

the dwelling which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid 

fuel burning combustion appliance;  

g) to ensure that any carbon monoxide alarm installed in the dwelling is in proper working 

order;  

h) to supply the Council, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the condition and 

positioning of any carbon monoxide alarm installed in the dwelling.  

2. The licence holder must supply to the occupiers of the dwelling a written statement of the terms 

on which they occupy it. (guidance note 2)  

3. The licence holder must demand references from persons who wish to occupy the dwelling before 

entering into any tenancy, licence or other agreement. The references must be kept for the 

duration of the selective licence. This information must be provided to the Council on demand 

within 7 days of the demand.    

  

Page 237



  

 

 

Section 2: Additional Conditions.  

1. The licence holder must be a fit and proper person to be the licence holder under Section 

88(3)(a) or (c) of the Act. Consideration as to the fit and proper person status of the licence 

holder and/or manager of the premises, is in accordance with section 89 of the act.(guidance 

note 3)  

  

2. The licence holder must:-  

a) provide a copy of the licence to the current or incoming occupant;  

b) provide the tenants with a copy of the licence  conditions if requested by the current or 

incoming tenant;  

c) provide an emergency name, telephone number(s) and email address(es) to the tenants 

for the purposes of reporting  responsive maintenance and repair issues. This information 

is also to be provided to the council;  

d) provide all tenants with clear advice on what action is required in the event of an 

emergency; (See Guidance note 4)  

e) ensure that the maximum number of persons allowed to occupy the property is not 

exceeded;  

f) ensure that access to the licensed dwelling is given to officers from the council for the 

purposes of carrying out inspections, where a request has been made in writing giving 

reasonable notice to the occupant and licence holder as necessary;  

g) co-operate fully if the council has reason to believe any conditions contained in the 

licence have been breached;  

h) act lawfully and responsibly when dealing with rent payments, advanced payments, 

protecting and returning deposits and considering deductions from deposits.  

3. The licence for this dwelling is not transferable to another person/organisation or other premises 

once granted in accordance with Section 91(6) of the Housing Act 2004.  

4. Any payment paid in respect of licence fees is non-refundable.  

5. The licence holder must notify the council immediately if:-  

a) the contact information given in the licence changes, e.g. name, telephone number, 
address, email;  

b) the licence holder ceases to have any involvement with the dwelling;  

c) there is a change of managing agent and provide a new contact information including 

address, telephone number(s) and email address(es);  

d) the licence holder is the managing agent and the person specified as the main contact 
ceases to be that contact. They must also provide a new contact, including telephone 

number(s) and email address(es);  

e) there is a change in circumstances for either the licence holder or managing agent where 
they have:-  

Page 238



  

 

 

i. Committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, or violence or drugs, or any 

offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003 (c. 42) (offences attracting 

notification requirements); and/or;  

ii. Practised unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national 

origins or disability in, or in connection with, the carrying on of any business and/or;  

iii. Contravened any provision of the law relating to housing or landlord and tenant law, 

and/or;  

iv. Acted otherwise than in accordance with any applicable code of practice and/or;  

f) they become aware that or suspect that any person involved with the management 

and/or ownership of the dwelling is not a fit and proper person (see guidance note 3);  

g) any person proposed to be involved in the management of the house has insufficient 

competence and experience to be so involved;  

h) there are intended alterations or changes to the use and occupancy levels of the dwelling 

which may affect the conditions of the licence;  

i) there is any material change of circumstance affecting the licence holder or the operation 

of the dwelling. (see guidance note 5)  

Page 239



  

 

 

Section 3 Management Conditions  

3.1 Tenancy Management  

1. The licence holder will provide the tenant with:-   
a)   a ‘Tenant Information Pack’ which will contain the following documentation:-   

i. A true copy of the licence to which these conditions apply;  

ii. A notice with the name, address/care of address, daytime, emergency contact 

number(s) and email address(es) of the licence holder or managing agent;  

iii. A true copy of the current gas safety record;  

iv. A suitable tenancy agreement including a statement  of the terms  on which they 

occupy the premises;(see guidance note  

2)  
v. A copy of the current energy performance certificate (EPC);  

vi. A copy of current version of the Department for Communities and Local 
Government ‘How to rent’ guide. (Downloadable from www.gov.uk).  

vii. Relevant details of the government backed approved tenancy deposit scheme in 

which any deposit is held;  

viii. written instruction on the correct operation and setting of any fixed form of 

heating, cooking, washing and/or any electrical appliances where provided as 

part of the tenancy;  

ix. Details of arrangements for the storage and disposal of household waste including 
details of when to present  refuse for disposal; (see www.wirral.gov.uk for 

collection days);  

b) suitable emergency information and other management arrangements in the event of the 

licence holder’s absence through illness, holidays, or similar.   

2. The Licence holder must:-   
a) provide the Council with a copy of the ‘Tenant Information Pack’           (including any 

document contained within it) for inspection within 7 days of the demand;  

b) carry out ‘Right to Rent’ checks in accordance with Home Office requirements prior to 

agreeing to a tenancy (guidance downloadable from www.gov.uk);  

c) provide to the Council on demand proof of the ‘Right to Rent’ check for inspection within 

7 days of the demand.  

3. The licence holder and his representatives will ensure that the tenant’s right to quiet enjoyment 
of the dwelling is respected. Where entry is required to the premises for the purpose of 

undertaking landlord duties and responsibilities, the licence holder will ensure that the tenant 

receives at least 24 hours written notice of intention to enter the premises and tenants’ consent is 

given before entering.  

Page 240



  

 

 

4. The licence holder shall ensure that any inspections of the premises carried out are recorded and 

suitable notes taken identifying any problems that may be relevant to any further dispute subject 

to the tenancy ending.  

5. The dwelling must be inspected at least once within a 12-month period to ensure it is free from 

any disrepair and/or issues relating to the tenancy.  

6. The records of any inspection must be kept for the duration of this licence.  

This information must be provided to the Council within 7 days of the demand.   

3.2 Maintenance of Existing Installations and Equipment  

The Licence Holder must ensure:-  
  

a. the provision of adequate bathroom facilities and equipment within the premises such as 
lighting, ventilation, toilets, baths, showers, wash basins and any cupboards, shelving or 

fittings;  

b. the provision of adequate kitchen facilities for the safe storage and safe preparation of food 

within the premises such as lighting, ventilation, sink/drainer, worktops (including 

splashbacks), cupboards, draws and readily cleansable surfaces;  

c. all facilities, installations and equipment are maintained and kept in good repair and full 

working order;  

d. all repairs to the dwelling and any installations, facilities or equipment  are carried out to a 
good reasonable standard  by competent and reputable persons;  

e. all surface finishes are to a good standard and decorative order where required following any 
remedial work;  

f. that they provide on-going maintenance of the gas installation. In addition to the mandatory 

condition of providing annual gas safety records for appliances, the Licence Holder of 

premises also has further duties under the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 

and should not assume that carrying out annual gas safety checks will be sufficient to provide 

effective maintenance of all gas appliances. All such maintenance works and/or servicing 

should be carried to manufacturers recommendations and/or Gas Safety (Installation and Use) 

Regulations 1998 by a gas safe registered engineer which can be found at 

www.gassaferegister.co.uk;   

g. that any mains voltage household electric goods supplied by the landlord/licence holder to 
the occupier, in the course of business, are maintained in a safe and working condition and 

supply to the Council, on demand, a declaration and/or a Portable Appliance Test record by a 

competent person as to the safety of such electrical goods;   

h. that the premises provides a safe and secure environment for the occupiers of the house;  

i. that the premises, as far as is reasonably practicable, shall not become overcrowded subject 
to the Housing Act 2004;  

j. they are familiar with the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985  S11 covenant for keeping in repair 
and good working order the installations for water, gas and electrical;  

Page 241



  

 

 

k. that emergency works necessary to protect the security of the dwelling are undertaken within 

24hrs of notification, e.g. damage to windows/entry points to the property, as far as 

reasonably possible.  

3.3 Alley Gates  
Where there are alley-gates installed to the rear and/or side entry of licensed dwelling, the 

Licence Holder must, at the time of letting, provide all new tenants with the appropriate alley-

gate key.  Replacement keys may be requested via the telephone number (0151) 606 5443.  

3.4 Pests and Infestations  
 The licence holder shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the dwelling is free from any pest 

infestation at the start of a tenancy and where necessary carry out a treatment program to 

eradicate the pest infestation. Records shall be kept of such treatment programs and these 

must be provided to the Council within 28 days on demand.  

3.5 Fire Safety  
a. In addition to the mandatory condition for installing smoke alarms (See Section 1(d) (e), ensure 

that fire precaution facilities and equipment are maintained in accordance with the current 

British Standard BS 5839 Part  

6.  

3.6 Anti-Social Behaviour  
1. The Licence Holder must:-  

a. take reasonable and practical steps to reduce or prevent anti-social behaviour by persons 

occupying or visiting the dwelling and the use of the dwelling for illegal purposes;   

b. provide new occupants with a tenancy agreement that includes clauses that allow the 

licence holder to take steps to tackle anti-social behaviour (guidance note 6);  

c. have adequate facilities to receive and respond to initial complaints about the behaviour 

of other tenants and visitors;  

d. take reasonable steps to deal with anti-social behaviour, should it occur by the occupants 

or visitors to the premises;  

e. provide the relevant occupants of the dwelling with written confirmation detailing 

arrangements in place to report nuisance and anti-social behaviour;  

f. provide on demand a written action plan to the Council outlining procedures for dealing 

with anti-social behaviour. This must be reviewed periodically and submitted on request;  

g. obtain tenant references prior to granting a tenancy as to previous tenancy conduct, 

including behaviour of the proposed occupier and household and be satisfied that the 

tenant is not likely to cause any anti-social behaviour;  

h. keep records of any complaints received and action taken in respect of anti-social 

behaviour. These records should be kept for the duration of the licence and produced to 

the Council within 7 days of a demand.  

Page 242



  

 

 

3.7 External Area, Refuse and Waste  
1. The Licence Holder must ensure that:-  

a. the exterior of the dwelling is maintained in a reasonable decorative order and state of 

repair. This includes, but is not limited to, chimney stacks, roofs, rainwater goods, 

drainage, exterior brickwork, external timberwork, boundary walls/fences, paths/yards 

and gardens (including any foliage);  

b. prior to the commencement of any tenancy and between tenancies any gardens, yards 

and other external areas within the curtilage of the dwelling are kept in reasonably clean 

and tidy condition and free from rodent infestation;  

c. at the start of each new tenancy suitable and adequate provision is made for storage of 

refuse generated in the property and that occupants use receptacles provided by the 

Council (one green wheeled bin and one grey wheeled bin for storage prior to collection, 

where applicable). Bins must be in good condition. The licence holder must notify the 

council of missing green and /or grey bins and if applicable provide new bin(s). A 

replacement bin may be requested via the following web-link www.wirral.gov.uk/bins-

recycling/request-newbin;   

d. the receptacles, or plastic refuse sacks where receptacles have not yet been issued, must 
not be exposed for a period longer than 18 hours prior to collection and must not cause 

obstruction at any time;  

e. any new occupant of the dwelling is notified of the date of collection for the green and 
grey wheelie bins and the location of the nearest Council recycling centre/ rubbish tip.(see 

section 3.1)  

3.8 Energy Performance  
The Licence Holder must provide the tenant of the licenced dwelling with an Energy Performance 

Certificate (EPC). The Licence Holder must provide a copy of the EPC to the Council on demand. Please 

note that any new tenancy cannot be entered into after April 2018 where a property has an EPC rating of 

F or G (38 or lower).  

3.9 Training  
The licence holder of the dwelling shall attend any additional training as the Council see fit in relation to 

improving management skills to a sufficient level of competence to operate a licensed premises.   

3.10 HMOs  
Where the property is defined as a house in multiple occupation subject to section 254 to section 257 of 

the Housing Act 2004, the following conditions will also apply to a dwelling house as part of the selective 

licence conditions:-  

1. The Licence holder must:-  
a) comply fully with the  standards of the Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions)(England) Regulations 2006, 

Statutory Instrument No. 373 as amended by Regulation 12 of the 2007 Statutory Instrument, 

No. 1903;  

Page 243



  

 

 

b) comply fully with The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007, when deciding the suitability for 

occupation of an HMO by a particular maximum number of households or persons;  

c) comply fully with the licensing and management regulations for HMOs 2007 that apply to 

buildings containing only self-contained flats, to which section 257 of the Act applies;  

d) provide adequate amenity standards identified in SI373 as amended. Should the amenities be 

below the required minimum standard, the Council will require the licence holder to provide 

the additional amenities. The Council will use its discretion on specifying a suitable and 

reasonable timescale for these amenities to be provided as part of the licence condition;  

e) where there are temporary battery smoke detectors installed within the premises carry out a 

Fire Risk Assessment of the premises in accordance with the Fire Safety Order 2006 to 

determine the appropriate mains powered Automatic Fire Detection system.  

f) where there are no temporary battery smoke detectors, or an Automatic Fire Detection 

system installed within the premises carry out a Fire Risk  

Assessment of the premises in accordance with the Fire Safety Order 2006 to determine the 

appropriate mains powered Automatic Fire Detection system.  

g) supply the Council, on demand, with a written declaration as to the condition and positioning 
of the smoke detectors. As a minimum one detector is to be suitably located in the hallway 

and another on the landing or similar area;  

h) ensure that the house is compliant with the council’s guidelines and standards for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation, according to the type of accommodation offered.  These standards will 

be reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to the type of multi-occupied 

housing within the Council’s area and needs of residents;  

i) ensure that the name and contact details of the licence holder and/or manager are on display 

in a prominent position within the premises;  

j) display at all times a copy of the licence certificate and licence conditions in a prominent 

position within the premises;   

k) make reasonable and adequate arrangements, if applicable, to ensure that gas and electric 

supplies to any common parts are installed on a separate landlords supply by means of a 

suitable credit meter and that any payment required by a utility service is made on request. 

Prepayment meters are not acceptable on a landlords supply;  

l) ensure that any present fire precaution facilities and equipment are maintained in accordance 

with the current British Standards and Codes of  

Practice;  

m) produce on demand within 7 days to the Council the logbook detailing regular 

weekly/monthly tests undertaken on any fire alarm and/or emergency lighting.   

n) produce on demand within 7 days  to the Council for their inspection, a Fire Detection & 

Alarm System Certificate (in accordance with BS5839) obtained in respect of the house within 

the last 6 months;  

o) produce to the Council on demand a valid Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICR) or 

alternatively a valid Periodic Installation Report (PIR) for the whole of the electrical 

installations in accordance with current IEE wiring regulations. Such a report should be 

Page 244



  

 

 

provided by a competent person who is a member of an appropriate competent person 

scheme, details of which can be found at www.competentperson.co.uk  (to comply with Part 

P of the Building Regulations). Where the report expires during the term of the licence, an up-

to-date Electrical Installation Condition Report must be provided to the licensing team of the 

Council within 28 days of the expiry date; Ensure that any remedial works identified on the 

EICR or PIR are attended to subject to the required remedial action.  

3.11 Licence fee payments  

Failure to maintain any licence fee payment arrangement made with the Council will constitute a 

breach of licence conditions and will result in the removal of any discounts applied. Failure to pay 

the licence in full within 14 days of a demand for payment may result in in the existing licence 

being revoked and/or prosecution. It is the responsibility of the licence holder to ensure that any 

licence fee payment arrangement is maintained until the full licence fee balance has been paid to 

the Council.   

3.12 New legislation and/or amendments in legislation  

Subsequent changes and/or additional legislative requirements with regards to the management 

of privately rented accommodation within the duration of a designated Selective licensing scheme 

under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 will also be bound by conditions of a Part 3 Licence.  

  

  

  

  

Page 245



  

 

 

 

SELECTIVE LICENCING CONDITIONS  

GUIDANCE NOTES  

  

Guidance note 1  
Schedule 4 of the Housing Act 2004 stipulates that Licences under Part 2 (HMO’s) and Part 3 (Selective 

Licencing that it is a mandatory condition to keep electrical appliances and furniture made available to 

tenant in a safe condition. A portable electrical appliance is any item of electrical equipment with a lead 

and/or a plug and which is normally moved around or can be moved and is connected to the mains supply. 

Examples include but are not limited to cooking appliances, vacuum cleaners, heaters, washing machines, 

dryers, fridges, toasters, kettles, etc. A Portable Electrical Appliance (PAT) certificate is only required 

where the appliance is supplied as part of the tenancy agreement.  

Upholstered furniture supplied with rented accommodation must comply with the Furniture and 

Furnishings (Fire)(Safety) Regulations 1988 (as amended). This means that all cover materials must have 

passed cigarette and match ignition tests and filling materials must have passed flammability tests. You 

should check to see that your furniture has a label permanently attached to the lining or underside giving 

the appropriate details.  

  

  

Guidance note 2  
The landlord should provide tenants with a written statement of the terms of their occupancy, stating the 

following:  

• Address of the property being let, and what it is.  

• Start and end dates of the tenancy period.  

• Rent terms (frequency and method of payment).  

• Deposit amounts (and how the deposit will be protected).  

• Landlord’s contact address in the UK for the service of notices.  

• The landlord will inform the tenant in writing of any additional charges, utility bills, ground rent or 

maintenance charges that the tenant will be required to pay during the tenancy, stating where 

possible the amounts for each and the frequency and method of payment.  

• The landlord will provide the tenant, at the beginning of the tenancy, with a telephone number or 

other means of contacting the landlord or their agent in an emergency; in particular when the 

landlord is absent.  

  

  

  

  

Page 246



  

 

 

Guidance note 3  
Section 89 of the Housing Act 2004 states:  

(1 ) In deciding for the purposes of section 88(3)(a) or (c) whether a person (“P”) is a fit and proper person 

to be the licence holder or (as the case may be) the manager of the house, the local housing authority 

must have regard (among other things) to any evidence within subsection (2) or (3).  

(2) Evidence is within this subsection if it shows that P has—  

(a) committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, or violence or drugs, or any offence listed in 

Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003 (c. 42) (offences attracting notification requirements);  

(b) practiced unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national origins or disability in, 

or in connection with, the carrying on of any business; or  

(c) contravened any provision of the law relating to housing or of landlord and tenant law.  

(3) Evidence is within this subsection if:-  

(a) it shows that any person associated or formerly associated with P (whether on a personal, work or other 

basis) has done any of the things set out in subsection (2)(a) to (c), and  

(b) it appears to the authority that the evidence is relevant to the question whether P is a fit and proper 

person to be the licence holder or (as the case may be) the manager of the house.  

(4) For the purposes of section 88(3)(a) the local housing authority must assume, unless the contrary is 

shown, that the person having control of the house is a more appropriate person to be the licence 

holder than a person not having control of it.  

(5) In deciding for the purposes of section 88(3)(d) whether the proposed management arrangements for 

the house are otherwise satisfactory, the local housing authority must have regard (among other 

things) to the considerations mentioned in subsection (6).  

(6) The considerations are:-  

(a) whether any person proposed to be involved in the management of the house has a sufficient level of 

competence to be so involved;  

(b) whether any person proposed to be involved in the management of the house (other than the manager) is 

a fit and proper person to be so involved; and  

(c) whether any proposed management structures and funding arrangements are suitable.  

(7) Any reference in section 88(3)(b)(i) or (ii) or subsection (4) above to a person having control of the 

house, or to being a person of any other description, includes a reference to a person who is proposing to 

have control of the house, or (as the case may be) to be a person of that description, at the time when the 

licence would come into force.  

  

Guidance note 4  
The tenant should be provided with clear advice on what action is required in the event of an emergency. 

This includes advising the tenant of the location of the water isolation valve (stop cock), the incoming gas 

supply isolation valve and electrical installation isolation switch (trip switch). Tenants should also be made 

Page 247



  

 

 

aware of the location of all fire egress windows and any other facilities to enable the safe evacuation of 

the property in an emergency situation.  

  

  

Guidance note 5  
Section 89 (6)(c) of the Housing Act 2004 states that the local authority must take into consideration 

whether any proposed management structures and funding arrangements are suitable. Therefore, the 

licence holder must advise the Selective Licensing team if they are subject to a bankruptcy order, debt 

relief order or in certain other arrangements where an individual is insolvent and powers to deal with 

assets are restricted.  

  

  

Guidance note 6  
The licence holder must ensure that any tenancy agreement granted after the issue of this licence includes 

the following clause within the tenant’s obligations.  

‘Nuisance and Anti-social Behaviour: Not to cause, or allow household members, or visitors to engage in 

anti-social behaviour, which means any conduct causing or capable of causing a nuisance or annoyance to 

the landlord, other occupiers, neighbours or people engaging in unlawful activity within the locality. 

(Examples of anti-social behaviour include failure to control dogs or children, leaving gardens untidy, not 

properly disposing of rubbish, inconsiderate use of the property, as well as more serious problems such as 

noise, violent and criminal behaviour, domestic abuse, the supply and use of controlled drugs, and 

intimidation, harassment or victimisation on the grounds of a person’s race, sex (gender), sexual 

orientation, disability, age, religion or belief, pregnancy or maternity status, socio-economic status)’.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 248



  

 

 

Appendix 5 – Risk Register 

Business Case Risk Register

Likelihood impact total (LxI) Likelihood impact total (LxI) Likelihood impact total (LxI)

Challenge of the councils 

decision by seeking judicial 

review of the decision resulting 

in cost implicationsfor the 

council. 

high high high
Emma 

Foley

Robust consultation plan to be agreed by 

cabinet 

Consultation with landlords and agents to 

promote benefits of a scheme and seek 

views on fee structure & conditions

Licence conditions and fees ammended 

where appropriate to reflect views and 

concerns from consultation 

med / high med

monthly up 

to 

implementat

ion

Landlords working group in place 

and extended to reflect proposed 

new licensing areas and 

consulting with National 

Landlords Associations.  

Continue to engage following 

consultation

Articles in Landlord Link-up

Councils legal team involved in 

feasibility and consultation 

processess

Head of 

Operational 

Housing 

Services

Housing 

Services 

Senior 

Manager

Selective 

Licensing 

Team and 

Housing 

Investment 

team

Mar-18 med med med

Landlords do not licence 

their properties resulting in 

an income shortfall and or 

impact on staffing resources

med high med
Emma 

Foley

Comprehensive database

Full consultation taken place

All landlords receive regular information

Enforcement and appropriate publicity 

undertaken to highlight successes

early bird discounts to encourage 

landlords to come forward low high quarterly

Support given to landlords to 

ensure all apply for licences

Those landlords who do not 

apply for licenses are unable to 

say did not know about 

requirement as a defense if 

Council progress with 

prosecution.

High profile publicity- reinforce 

message we will prosecute or 

impose civil penalty if they do 

not licence- thereby encourage 

other landlords to licence. 

Cabinet asked for additional 

resources.

Head of 

Operational 

Housing 

Services

Housing 

Services 

Senior 

Manager

Selective 

Licensing 

Team and 

Housing 

Investment 

team

Apr-19 low med med

Landlords sell properties 

instead of licence
med med med

Emma 

Foley

Promotion of licensing benefits

Support and information to landlords

Encourage landlords to join 

Accreditation Scheme

low/med low/med quarterly

promoting benefits of scheme to 

landlords

publicising benefits e.g 

decreased empty homes / 

greater stability.  If landlords 

selling property encourage 

professional landlords to acquire.  

Ensure new landlords are aware 

of scheme requirements

Selective 

Licensing 

Team

Feb-19 low low low

Local authority inadequately 

manage the scheme
low high med

Emma 

Foley

Project plan is clear, concise and 

agreed

Properly resource team to coordinate 

scheme

Ensure scheme is enforced in robust 

and consistent manner

Clearly defined achievable expectations

targets set and scheme outputs 

monitored using performance 

management framework

low med quarterly

Project reported to head of 

Service if additional resources 

needed to manage higher than 

anticipated volume of 

applications

Staff performance appraisals, 

ergular performance meetings 

and appropriate staffing structure 

in place to deliver scheme

Selective 

Licensing 

Team

Feb-19 low low low

People move out of area or 

demand for housing 

decreases because of 

negative impression of area- 

high crime and ASB

low med low
Emma 

Foley

Positive publicity utilising local media, 

alndlord newsletter

Community awareness events to 

promote good work

Positive information given to letting 

agents for future tenants

Landlords to promote positive message

low low quarterly

promoting outcomes of scheme 

to landlords & community

publicising benefits e.g 

decreased empty homes / 

greater stability

Selective 

Licensing 

Team Feb-19

low low low

ASB increases despite 

selective licensing
low med low

Emma 

Foley

Ensure ASB is dealt with in quick and 

effective manner

Positive publicity

Targeted information about how to 

report ASB

Action group

Information sharing

Robust tenancy agreement

enforcement action taken against 

landlord where conditions breeched.

low med six monthly

Set up multi-agency meeting to 

target resources and address 

ASB

Develop Action Plan if ASB 

ongoing

ASB

Police

Selective 

Licensing 

Team

Landlords Apr-19

low low low

Standards of properties 

don’t improve
med med med

Emma 

Foley

All landlords receive regular information

Ensure that plan of inspecting properties is 

in place and is adhered to

Ensure lack of action by landlords is 

enforced in robust and consistent manner

Publicity including mail shot direct to all 

landlords

Pursue active enforcement policy

low med quarterly

Publicise prosecution cases

Pursue Management orders

EHOs

Selective 

Licensing 

Team

Landlords Apr-19

low low low

At end of five years, 

Selective Licensing has not 

achieved its aims

med high high
Emma 

Foley

 Robust and regular annual monitoring during 

the scheme on key performance outcomes

Ensure scheme is enforced in robust and 

consistent manner

Clearly defined achievable expectations

Clear exit strategy

low med

Annual 

Review via 

questionanir

e of 

residents 

and 

landlords in 

area, 

coupled with 

analysis of 

key 

performanc

e data.  Full 

4 evaluation 

Report

Evaluate barriers, successes and 

failures of each of the schemes 

and where appropriate make the 

case to re-designate areas for a 

further 5 yr period

Selective 

Licensing team

Police

Fire

Landlord 

working Group

Landlords Nov-22

low low low

Illegal evictions med high high
Emma 

Foley

Support and training for landlords

Information to tenants about their rights

Housing Options Case Worker assigned 

where tenant threatened with illegal eviction low med quarterly

Housing Options Team Briefings

Signposting of other partner 

agencies such as CAB

Report to Head of Service if 

numbers affected become 

significant

Selective 

Licensing 

Team

Landlords/Accr

editation 

Scheme Apr-19

low med med

Displacement of 

irresponsible or 

inexperienced landlords

med high med
Emma 

Foley

Information sharing between relevant 

partners

Support and training for landlords

Use of early warning system in neighbouring 

areas to ensure it’s identified early

Benefits of Selective Licensing promoted

med med quarterly

Targeted work with landlords 

known to be considering selling 

their properties

Promotion of benefits & positive 

outcomes of scheme resulting 

from Selective Licensing e.g 

greater stability, improved 

perception of landlords etc. LCR 

PRS group to share information 

on landlords / agents prosecuted

Continue to explore this option if 

the Selective Licensing proposal 

is supported. 

Housing 

Renewal Team 

Leader

Housing 

Delivery teams Apr-19

low med low

Inability to process and 

respond to high level of 

licence applications all 

submitted at the same time

high med high
Emma 

Foley

Re-organisation of appropriate staff 

workloads and priorisation of processing 

applications.  Consider option if required to 

draft in temprary staff to support process

high med monthly 
Extension of existing scheme 

online application and payments 

Housing 

Services 

Senior 

Manager and 

Selective 

Licensing 

Team

Dec-18 med low low

Risk Description
risk 

category

risk 

owner
Planned controls target date

current 

risk 

status

risk 

action 

update

unmanaged scores current scores target scores

control owner
risk review 

frequency

additional controls

 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Selective Licensing Area Definitions:

Scheme 1

From 1st July 2015 to end of June 2020. Consisting of 4 areas:

Birkenhead South (LSOA E01007129) 
Egerton North (LSOA E01007179) 
Egremont Prom South (LSOA E01007278) 
Seacombe Library (LSOA E01007278) 

Scheme 2

From 1st April 2019 to end of March 2025. Consisting of 4 areas:

Hamilton Square (LSOA E01007126)
Seacombe St Pauls (LSOA E01007273)
Birkenhead West (LSOA E01007127)
Birkenhead Central (LSOA E01007128)

Scheme 3 (proposed) Not yet declared. Consisting of 6 areas:

Birkenhead South (LSOA E01007129);
Egerton North (LSOA E01007179);
Egremont Promenade South (LSOA E01007215);
Egremont South (LSOA E01007275);
Seacombe Library (LSOA E01007278); and
Tranmere Lairds (LSOA E01007291);

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Proposed Re-designation of Selective 

Licensing in Wirral to four existing areas 

and extension to two further areas within 

Wirral Council 

 

 

 

Report of Public and Stakeholder Consultation 

 

 

 

November 2019 

  

Page 253



 

Contents 
 

Executive Summary 

 

Summary of Key Messages from Consultation Findings 

 

Landlord and Agent Views 

Landlord Drop-in Sessions 

Consultation Questionnaire Summary of Landlords and Agents Views 

 

Residents Views 

Consultation Questionnaire Summary of resident views 

 

Submission of Representations and Letters received 

 

Appendices 

 

Page 254



 

Executive Summary 

 

Introduction 

 

Wirral’s Cabinet gave approval on 22nd July 2019 for the Council to undertake a minimum of 10 

weeks consultation on proposals to re-designate the four Selective Licensing areas that have 

been in operation since 2015 and extend the scheme into two further areas, all in East Wirral. 

 

The Selective Licensing areas to be re-designated are: 

• Birkenhead South (LSOA E01007129) 

• Egerton North (LSOA E01007179) 

• Egremont Prom South (LSOA E01007278) 

• Seacombe Library (LSOA E01007278) 

 

The two new areas will be: 

• Tranmere Lairds (LSOA E01007291) 

• Egremont South (LSOA E01007275) 

 

Individual addresses and maps were made available on the Council’s website so that landlords 

and residents were able check whether their property lies within the boundaries of these proposed 

scheme areas. 

 

If a Selective Licensing Scheme is declared in an area, all private rented sector properties (who 

do not already hold a mandatory HMO license) will be required to hold a license for 5 years with 

the aim of improving the management standards, property condition and ultimately the stability in 

these communities which currently have a high level of transient tenants and empty 

properties.  Landlords that rent a property in the area will be required to be a ‘fit and proper person’ 

and will be required to conform to a set of license conditions which are available to view on the 

website. 

 

A Selective License Business Case was prepared giving the reasons why the Council is looking 

to re-designate and extend selective licensing.  This document also provides the evidence base 

used to identify proposed areas.  This document has been revised following the completion of the 

consultation exercise to reflect the views expressed by stakeholders. 

 

Various consultation methods were used for different stakeholder groups such as attending 

existing events to engage with residents, letters sent to landlord associations and focus groups 

were set up for local landlords and managing agents.  In total 347 people and organisations have 

responded to the consultation, broken down as follows: 

 

332   responses received to the on-line questionnaires 

8     written submissions (emails and letters) 

13      landlords and agents attended two landlord drop-in sessions 

 

Wirral Council was aware at the outset that there would be strong feelings both for and against 

these proposals and acknowledges that the critical considerations are the strength of the 

arguments and evidence submitted by supporters and critics for their respective positions. It is for Page 255



 

this reason that in addition to the on-line questionnaire, the Council invested significant resources 

in face to face consultation and discussion groups where qualitative responses could be recorded. 

 

Throughout this document general responses have been provided to queries raised through the 

various consultation mechanisms.  To avoid repetition, the first response provided to a query 

(which may be repeated elsewhere in the consultation) should be considered as having answered 

all subsequent queries of the same nature.  

 

Officers and Elected Members are invited to review the considerations emerging from the wide-

ranging consultation which has taken place whilst taking account of other relevant evidence 

including the Business Case and Evidence Base.  Any final decision on the extension of selective 

licensing and the operation of any further scheme will depend on the assessment of the merits of 

licensing as public policy. 

 

Summary of Key Messages from Consultation Findings 

 

• From the on-line surveys, the majority (61.15%) of respondents either strongly agreed or 
agreed with selective licensing proposals compared to 18.37% who either strongly disagree 
or disagreed.   

 

• 49 of the respondents to the on-line questionnaire, and many of the landlords and agents who 

attended the workshops made comments in support of the proposal. A common view was that 

whilst good landlords were already meeting these requirements, there were unscrupulous 

landlords that were neglecting their responsibilities and selective licensing would provide 

greater protection for tenants. 

 

• There were 31 general comments submitted via the on-line questionnaire against the proposal 

to extend the Selective Licencing scheme.  A number of reasons where highlighted for this 

including unnecessary regulation; it is penalising good landlords while not addressing the bad; 

the Council already has existing powers to tackle poor landlords, there are few benefits for 

landlords and it will increase rents as landlords will have to pass the costs on to tenants.   

 

• 14 respondents made neutral comments through the on-line questionnaire that were neither 

in support of nor against selective licensing but offered wide-ranging suggestions or 

observations about how the scheme should operate on a practical level.  These suggestions 

have been considered. 

 

Overall conclusions 

 

Opposing opinions on licensing cannot be reconciled in a policy that is equally acceptable to all. 

Therefore whilst this document sets out all views it is not set out to make recommendations. All 

of the above responses have informed the proposals and changes to the scheme which have 

been incorporated in the final Business Case. 

 

Wirral’s consultation exercise for selective licensing has been designed to be sufficiently robust 

and wide ranging to ensure that all affected residents, landlords and other stakeholders had a 

reasonable opportunity to participate and feedback their views.  Overall more than 8000 

stakeholders were invited to respond to the consultation exercise via direct e-mails, letters and Page 256



 

postcards through doors.  In addition a bespoke web-page was created, adverts placed in local 

press, information presented on social media, posters put up in the proposed selective licensing 

areas, and community events attended by staff to capture views and landlords forums held. 

 

There is a clear mandate for re-designating selective licensing in the four initial areas, and 

extending it into two further areas, which is supported by the majority of those who completed the 

on-line questionnaire, and reflected in their comments.  Despite this, many landlords oppose the 

scheme on the basis that they are meeting the requirements already, they consider the existing 

regulatory powers are adequate, only poor landlords should have to be licensed through the 

scheme. 

  

Page 257



 

Landlords and Agents Views 

 

Landlord Drop-In Sessions 

 

Four landlord and agent drop-in sessions were initially set up to capture views of landlords and 

agents and provide an opportunity for discussion and engagement about the proposals. 

 

To enable as many landlord and agents to attend as possible, the groups were set over different 

days, and several weeks.   

 

Specific notification of the sessions was: 
▪ An email sent to 2098 landlords who are known to receive Housing Benefit, or who 

have signed up to receive information for landlords from the Council. This will 
include many landlords who are already licensed. 

▪ Placed on the Council’s website (www.wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing),  
▪ Tweeted to all those who follow Wirral Council’s twitter account, 
▪ Placed on Facebook, 
▪ Specific invitation. 

 

 

In total, 13 landlords and agents attended the drop-in sessions which were facilitated by staff 

members from the Council’s Housing Services team and points raised during the sessions were 

noted.  The notes for all sessions are attached as Appendix 1 to this report.   All landlords who 

wanted to raise issues were accommodated, and those unable to attend a drop-in session were 

invited to speak with officers individually in order to have views recorded and included with other 

comments for the consultation report. 

 

The key points and comments landlords and agents made were captured and collated as per the 

information below.  As well as providing views for this report, in order to capture quantitative data, 

landlords were requested to complete an online survey to express their agreement or 

disagreement with the different elements of the proposals. 

 

In general, the landlords and agents who attended the workshops were split between thinking the 

scheme was beneficial and a good idea, and that the re-designation means that the original 

objectives had not been achieved and that it is simply a scheme to keep Council officers in jobs, 

and made comments such as: 

“Licensing is a good idea.” 

“selective licensing can only be good for the areas.” 

“I have seen a difference in occupancy rates in [specific named] Road” 

“If a change in original areas were to happen, it would have happened by now” 

“What has been achieved in the first five years of the licensing scheme?” 

 

One additional suggestion by a landlord was to refund ‘unused years of the licence fee if a 

property was sold’.  

 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

The licence fee is a set fee for the duration of the scheme, not an amount per year, so cannot be ‘part-

used’. 

Page 258

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing


 

 
Some landlords felt that the Scheme should be targeting only poor landlords and only these 
landlords should have to hold a licence, with comments such as: 
“I feel I am paying for the bad landlords . . .  the Council should focus on bad landlords, not the 
good ones!” 
“Some bad landlords need an inspection to carry out the repairs” 

 
 
 
Landlords and agents discussed in detail some issues they had experienced with tenants and felt 

the scheme would benefit from responsibilities being placed on tenants as well as landlords.  

There were further discussions about tenants damaging properties and the implications of this on 

the licence; 

“Some tenants cause damage even if managed correctly” 

“sometimes damage occurs after the initial inspection” 

 

 
 

During the workshops, landlords and agents discussed the proposed fees, fee structure of a 

licence, and asked many general operating questions over payments for licence fees and 

discounts.  Landlords and agents were split about the cost of the licence, as some thought the 

fee was reasonable whilst other felt it was expensive.   

 

During one drop-in session, landlords felt that the discounts should not be offered to larger 

landlords operating as a full-time business, whereas another group wanted further discounts 

available to those in the areas proposed to be re-designated where the property was compliant 

for the original licence and the landlord engaged.   

“Discounts for accreditation and early bird are fair” 

“Can there be a further reduction in fees or a longer licence for good landlords?” 

“larger landlords should not receive a discount” 

  

Response: 
Without a scheme such as selective licensing, it is not possible to identify any landlords who have their 
property in a poor condition or have poor management practices as many tenants will not complain for 
fear of eviction, and sometimes the tenant is not aware of their rights. Good landlords will benefit in the 
longer term if bad landlords are driven out of the market. 

Response: 
Responsibility of tenants for properties is included within a tenancy agreement, and this, along with 
tenant referencing would assist other landlords to know whether or not tenants are likely to cause 
damage to a property. The Council’s Healthy Homes Scheme can help landlords with more challenging 
tenants if they are engaged early in the tenancy and floating support services can be accessed free of 
charge if needed and the tenant agrees. 

Page 259



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There were general discussions about the scheme across the drop-in sessions,   

about how some tenants are now in poverty which included the ability to pay rent, adequately 

heat their property, which sometimes has a knock-on effect on a property causing issues such as 

damp and condensation. 

 

 

  

Response: 
The Housing Act 2004 stipulates that local authorities may charge for the introduction and administration 
of a Selective Licensing Scheme; however they cannot make a profit from such a scheme. The existing 
Selective Licensing scheme is subsidised by Council funding, however efficiencies gained from the 
processes of the existing scheme, which are now well established, means a reduction in the amount of 
funding required by the Council can be achieved while passing on savings where possible to landlords. 
 
The Council has been reluctant to pass on increases in staffing and associated costs to landlords since 
the initial scheme was introduced, however where possible, advances in IT and other efficiencies will be 
explored to keep the licence fee as low as possible. 
 
The Council will only recoup the costs of operating the scheme. 

Response: 
The Healthy Homes Team can help tenants with benefit maximisation and assistance with managing fuel 
debt / increasing energy efficiency in the home and other assistance to alleviate poverty. 
 

Page 260



 

Consultation Questionnaire Feedback from Landlords and Managing Agents 

 

The questionnaire for landlords was composed two demographic questions followed by six 

questions to which the respondent could strongly agree, agree, neither agree nor disagree, 

disagree and strongly disagree.  There was also an option to tick ‘don’t know’ and the ability to 

leave the question blank and move on through the form. 

 

The questionnaire was provided online, but paper copies were made available and those received 

were entered into the online system on behalf of the respondent.  All paper copies have been 

kept for audit.  A blank copy of the questionnaire can be found as Appendix 2. 

 

In total 91 Landlord online questionnaires were completed.  Responses to Question 1 of the 

questionnaire is shown below in Chart 1; of the 91 landlords and agents that completed the 

questionnaire, 53 also live in Wirral, 41 have property in an existing selective licensing area and 

20 have property in the proposed selective licensing area (one landlord/agent could tick both 

boxes so this does not necessarily represent 61 landlords). 

 

 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

d
e

n
ts

Chart 1.  Respondents to Landlord On-line 
Questionnaire

Page 261



 

The following section details each question and information on the responses from 

landlords/agents, and includes their comments where appropriate. 

 

Wirral Council proposes to re-designate the four areas that have been in place since 2015, 

and extend selective licensing into two new areas; do you agree or disagree with the 

selective licensing proposal?’  

 

 
 

21% agreed or strongly agreed with the proposal, 58% disagreed or strongly disagreed to the 

proposal and 21% were neutral about the proposal.  15 landlord/agents did not respond to this 

question. 

 

Comments about the proposal 

Six landlords or agents expressed positive comments about the proposals, including comments 

such as: 

“Yes, I strongly agree with selective licensing, it will put bad landlords out of business” 

“I agree with the principle of a licensing scheme as it ensures a standard for tenants” 
“I am a landlord and I keep my houses to a very high standard and therefor I totally agree with stopping bad 

landlords.” 

 

28 landlords or agents expressed negative comments about the proposals, including comments 

such as: 

 

“The introduction of selective licensing only cost me money and does not improve conditions for my tenants.” 

“Most landlords would do everything required of them without a license and the current law and mortgage and 

insurance requirements ensure this.” 

“The whole thing is a waste of time and money and imposes too much of an administrative and financial burden 

on landlords.” 

“You don’t need to punish everyone in order to control the rogue landlords” 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Strongly agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
d

e
n

ts

Chart 2.  Do you agree or disagree with the 
selective licensing proposal?

Page 262



 

Wirral Council proposes to charge a fee estimated at £645 over a five year period. 

Do you agree or disagree that this is a reasonable fee for this period? 

 

 
 

9% agreed or strongly agreed, whilst a majority of 57% disagreed or strongly disagreed with the 

fee, and some landlords/agents further elaborated by providing comments. 

 

“As a landlord with a total of five premises in the existing and proposed areas the fees are too expensive. The 

government has already made it more expensive for landlords.” 

 

“Good idea in principle but as with other licensing just quite expensive / could payment be spread paid monthly.” 
 
“The fees are too high so I am interested to see what discounts will be available for early registration, membership 

of a professional body and for multiple properties” 

 

“It is too expensive. Landlords who provide good neat and tidy accommodation should not be penalised.” 

 

Several landlord/agents felt that this was simply a money-making exercise for the Council, and 

that the Council does nothing for the licence fee, with comments such as: 

 

“I feel this is more a way to make money for the council than it is a system of improving rents. 

There are already measures in place to ensure properties are fit for use. This license scheme is nothing more than a 

money grab by the council.” 

 

“Licensing is a way of the council making money and placing unnecessary burden on landlords” 

“Selective licensing is another way of getting money from Private Landlords to keep Council staff in jobs? “ 

Four landlords thought that the cost of the licence would be passed on to the cost of renting in 

the private sector, with comments such as: 

 

“I feel that this is likely to push the cost of renting up. Many people who live in these areas do not earn the 
average wages stated in the proposal. Landlords are likely to pass the costs onto tenants with rent increases.” 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Strongly agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

d
e

n
ts

Chart 3.  Do you agree or disagree with the fee 
proposal?

Page 263



 

 
“Introducing the new schemes are unnecessary and may result in rental increase indirectly.” 
 

Some landlords wanted to know what their fee would be spent on, and what they would receive 

from the Council in return for the licence fee. 

 

“I would also like to know exactly how the licence fee will be spent.” 

 

“What services will the council be providing to Landlords in return for this hefty fee? It is tenants who will benefit 

and they should surely bare the costs? There is simply no more money to take from Landlords.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Response: 
The Housing Act 2004 stipulates that local authorities may charge for the introduction and administration 
of a Selective Licensing Scheme including developing a business case and evidence base, consultation, 
legal declarations and statutory notices, granting of the license and compliance inspections. The Council 
cannot make a profit from such a scheme. The existing Selective Licensing scheme is subsidised by 
Council funding, however efficiencies gained from the processes of the existing scheme, which are now 
well established, means a reduction in the amount of funding required by the Council can be achieved 
while passing on savings where possible to landlords. 
 
The Council has been reluctant to pass on increases in staffing and associated costs to landlords since 
the first scheme was introduced, however a new software system has been acquired for the extended 
HMO Licensing Scheme which will also be used for Selective Licensing, further streamlining the 
application process and generate a small saving to the overall cost of the license which will be passed 
on to landlords. 

Page 264



 

To what extent do you agree or disagree that it is reasonable to reduce the licence fee for 

landlords who have a membership of a national landlord association or an accredited 

property, reduce the licence fee for those with multiple properties and those who apply for 

a licence early? 

 

 
 

64.5% of landlord/agent respondents agreed or strongly agreed to reduce the licence fee for those 

who have a membership of a national landlord association or an accredited property with just 17% 

disagreeing to this proposal. 

 

65.8% of landlord/agent respondents agreed that the licence fee should be reduced for landlords 

with multiple properties, although 18.4% disagreed or strongly disagreed with this reduction. 

 

68.4% agreed with the proposal to reduce the licence fee for landlords who submit early licence 

fee applications, with just 13.2% disagreeing with this proposal. 

 

Question 6, asked the landlords and agents whether they agreed or disagreed with the conditions 

around the following issues and principles about the properties.  The following table shows the 

number of landlords and agents that agreed and disagreed with each statement. 

 

Table 1.  Question Six responses 

The licence holder must: Agree 
s/agree 

Disagree 
s/disagree 

Keep the property in a good state of repair 92% 3% 

Keep any outside areas clean and tidy 43% 40% 

Keep the property secure 77% 8% 

Have an electrical safety certificate for the property 74% 11% 

Fix any faults identified by an electrical inspection 92% 0 

Deal with any pests and infestations 75% 6% 

Ensure there are adequate kitchen facilities 86% 2% 

Provide keys for any window locks and instructions 
on how to use burglar alarm if fitted 

74% 9% 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

for landlords who have a
membership or accreditation

for landlords with multiple
properties

for landlords who submit early
applications

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
d

e
n

ts

Chart 4.  To what extent do you think it is 
reasonable to reduce the fee:

strongly agree agree neutral disagree strongly disagree

Page 265



 

 

Table 1 shows that most landlords/agents agree with the majority of the conditions set out, 

although there were few comments made about the conditions, the general consensus was that: 

“The landlord has a duty to keep the property in a habitable condition and secure. . . .” 

“I understand the ideal behind the licensing scheme and fully support the notion of providing safe 

and habitable accommodation for those who cannot afford their own properties.” 

“I agree with the principle of a licensing scheme as it ensures a standard for tenants.” 

 

Keeping outside areas clean and tidy was the only one of the proposed new condition not 

agreed with by the majority of respondents with 43% disagreeing with the statement.  The 

following points were raised regarding this issue: 

“You propose to make landlords accountable for tenants’ behaviour” 

“It is the responsibility of the tenants, not the landlord to keep the inside and outside of the property 

clean and tidy whilst they are living at the property’ 

 

Question 7, asked the landlords and agents whether they agreed or disagreed with the conditions 

around the following issues and relationship with the tenant.  The following table shows the 

number of landlords and agents that agreed and disagreed with each statement. 

 

Table 2.  Question Seven responses 

The licence holder must: Agree 
s/agree 

Disagree 
s/disagree 

Fix any repairs identified when a new tenant moves 
in 

84% 5% 

Provide information about mandatory tenancy 
deposit protection 

78.5% 6% 

Provide information about refuse collection 63% 15.5% 

Have arrangements for reporting repairs including 
in an emergency 

89% 1.5% 

Give 24 hours written notice before entering a 
property, except in an emergency 

81.5% 6% 

Provide operating instructions for any fixed form of 
heating, cooking, washing and or electrical 
appliance where provided as part of the tenancy. 

74% 9% 

Ensure emergency works necessary to protect the 
security of the premises are undertaken within 24 
hours of notification 

74% 7.5% 

 

Table 2 shows that most landlords/agents agree with the majority of the conditions set out in this 

question with no additional comments made. 

Page 266



 

Question 7, asked the landlords and agents whether they agreed or disagreed with the conditions 

about the way in which the property is managed.  The following table shows the number of 

landlords and agents that agreed and disagreed with each statement. 

 

Table 3.  Question Eight responses 

The licence holder must: Agree 
s/agree 

Disagree 
s/disagree 

Keep a copy of all references received for every 
occupier 

57% 25% 

Not allow more people to live in the property than 
specified by the tenancy agreement 

83% 5% 

Make sure that the tenant and their visitors don’t 
cause a nuisance to their neighbours 

63% 20% 

Deal with any complaints of anti-social behaviour in 
a proper and timely manner 

63% 15% 

Make sure that the tenant complies with other 
conditions about living in the property 

75% 3% 

Carry out Right to Rent checks in accordable with 
Home Office requirements prior to agreeing to a 
tenancy 

58% 17% 

Carry out an inspection of the premises at least once 
per year to ensure it is free from disrepair 

77% 8% 

Keep records of any complaints received and action 
taken relating to anti-social behaviour 

63% 15% 

 

Table 2 shows that although the majority of respondents did agree or strongly agree with the 

conditions, the percentage of agreement for some of the conditions included in question eight is 

lower than in the previous two questions.   

 

The condition with the lowest level of agreement and highest level of disagreement is to Keep a 

copy of all references received for every occupier, with just 57% of respondents in agreement and 

25% that disagree, but no comments were made in relation to this condition. 

 

The condition with the second lowest level of agreement is to Carry out Right to Rent checks in 

accordable with Home Office requirements prior to agreeing to a tenancy, with 58% agreement 

from landlords and agents, and 17% that disagree.  There were no comments made in relation to 

this condition. 

 

Although 63% of landlords and agents agreed that a landlord should deal with any complaints of 

anti-social behaviour in a proper and timely manner, those that disagreed felt strongly and of the 

ten people who disagreed (15%) nine made comments in relation to this, including: 

“The Council need to back up the landlord [re anti-social behaviour] up to the point of evicting the 

tenants” 

“I don’t see why landlords should be responsible in any way for tenants who display antisocial 

behaviour . . . or what the landlord can do to stop it . . .”   

“It is reasonable to expect tenants to govern their own behaviour, such that anti-social behaviour 

is primarily a police and/or civil (Council) matter.” 

 

  
Page 267



 

GENERAL COMMENTS FROM LANDLORDS 

Some Landlords had strong views and provided comments to support those view regarding the 

proposals to re-designate the four areas and further extend selective licensing into two new areas, 

both supportive and non-supportive.  Examples of those views are detailed below;  

 

Supportive; 
“I strongly agree with selective licensing, it will put bad landlords out of business and leave a 

bigger market for decent landlords” 

“I agree with the principle of a licensing scheme as it ensures a standard for tenants” 

I am a landlord and I keep my houses to a very high standard and therefore I totally agree with 

stopping bad landlords” 

 

Non supportive; 

“I keep and maintain my properties to a standard that I or members of my family would live in.  

The introduction of selective licensing will only cost me money and does not improve conditions 

for my tenants” 

“Most landlords do everything required of them without a license and the current law and 

mortgage and insurance requirements ensure this.” 

“so there is no advantage to the majority of the landlords, rather it adds to the expenses” 

 

There were specific comments made in relation to the re-designation of the four existing areas; 

 “I have seen no benefit from the licensing and neither has our tenant” 

“Having researched WBC statistics for existing licensing scheme it is clear that you have only 

inspected/visited a very low percentage of properties.  So how is this improving standards and 

protecting tenants and residents.” 

“As a landlord of licenced property I have not received an update of what the scheme has 

achieved set against the original targets and what the targets are for continuing to licence 

property.  If the properties are to need another five year licence then they have failed to achieve 

what they set out to achieve” 

 

Some comments further suggested that the extension of selective licensing into four new areas 

will result in landlords leaving the market;  

 

“Landlords will ultimately sell up and choose not to invest in properties under license or in such 

designated areas, creating wastelands, areas of increasing criminality and adding to the 

homelessness we read about so much.” 

“I’ve had enough of being a private landlord and I’m selling my properties one by one!” 

“my property is up for sale and I will no longer be part of the private rental sector” 

 

There were three comments that the re-designation and extension of selective licensing will 

have a knock on effect of increasing rents and costs to tenants. 

 

“I feel this is likely to push the cost of renting up . . . landlords are likely to pass the costs onto 

tenants with rent increases” 

“introducing the new schemes are unnecessary and may result in rental increase indirectly” 

“The rent on those properties that need to pay the licence will increase as landlords will just pass 

on the cost in the rent”. 

  
Page 268



 

Residents Views  

 

An integral element of the consultation was to engage with members of the community, 
specifically those who would be directly affected by the proposed Scheme.  During previous 
consultations, very few residents attended the drop in events that were scheduled, so for this 
consultation, officers attended various existing events across all areas to engage with attendees.  
Events included: 
 
Regular attendance at the Heart of Egremont daily lunchtime drop in events; 
Regular attendance at weekly Reachout Work Clubs in Birkenhead Library; 
Regular attendance at weekly Connexions in Seacombe Library; 
One Wirral Festival in Birkenhead Park; 
Children’s Centre Summer Park events in Birkenhead and Wallasey Central Parks; 
Attendance to waiting rooms at Council One Stop Shops and libraries; 
Attendance at Food Banks operating in the areas; 
Regular attendance to waiting rooms in local GP surgeries in the areas; 
 
Housing Standards Officers and Healthy Homes Officers also captured opinions when attending 
pre-arranged visits, and carried out door-knocks in the potential and existing Selective Licensing 
areas. 
 
Paper copies of questionnaires were left with Community Groups, GP surgeries and local shops 
and businesses to capture the opinions of as many local people as possible. 
 
During the consultation, Council Officers explained the reasons why the proposals had been put 
forward for consultation, showed the extent of the areas for potential inclusion and also respond 
to any issues or questions about the proposals directly.  All those who were spoken to at an event 
listed above or on the doorstep were invited to complete a questionnaire in order to quantify and 
record their views. 
 
In total, 241 questionnaires were completed by residents. 
 
 
  

Page 269



 

Consultation Questionnaire: Summary of Residents Views 
 

Of the 241 respondents to the resident questionnaire, 70% respondents live in Wirral, and of 

those, 33% live in one of the existing selective licencing areas and a further 11% in a proposed 

area.   

 

Chart 1: Respondents to the Resident Questionnaire 

 
 

The following section details feedback on the questions from residents, and includes their 

comments where appropriate. 

 

The first question asked was Wirral Council proposes to continue Wirral’s selective licensing 

scheme through re-designation of the four areas that have been in place snice 2015 and 

extending the scheme into two further areas . . . to what extent do you agree or disagree with the 

proposal. 

 

Chart 2: Do you agree or disagree with the selective licensing proposal?  

 
 

218 respondents answered this question, and a majority of 86% either agreed or strongly agreed, 

with just 8% who disagreed or strongly disagreed.   

 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
R

es
p

o
n

d
en

ts

Chart 1.  Respondents to Resident Questionnaire

0

50

100

150

Strongly agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
R

es
p

o
n

d
en

ts

Chart 2.  Do you Agree or Disagree with the Selective Licensing 
Proposal?

Page 270



 

From the majority of respondents who agreed with the proposals, many provided explanations for 

their view, including: 

“There are still too many landlords ticking boxes that need to provide quality accommodation and 
repairs that don’t create a negative impact on their tenants” 
“Landlords should be responsible for clearing furniture etc which has been dumped outside by 
their tenants when they leave . . . residents should not have to endure these eyesores for months 
before they are removed” 
“Emphasis on good property maintenance.  Keeping property clean and tidy and in good 
decorative order . . . ensuring tenants are considerate of their neighbours’ rights.  Addressing 
noise, anti-social behaviour, drug dealing and criminal behaviour.” 
Properties should be kept to a high standard outside ie not keeping bins and rubbish on the front 
of property and thereby bringing an area down”. 
 

Of the 80 respondents who indicated that they live in a current selective licensing area, 92% were 

in agreement with the proposals whilst just 2.5% disagreed or strongly disagreed, and of the 23 

respondents who indicated they live in one of the proposed selective licensing areas, 88.5% 

agreed or strongly agreed whilst no respondent disagreed or strongly disagreed. 

 
From respondents who live in the existing areas, some comments in support of the scheme have 
been included below: 
“I think the scheme is great and should be spread out a lot more with lots more staff” 
“Every person deserves a decent landlord” 
“Vetting and requiring references before renting properties” 
“Great idea” 
 

There were several comments from those who lived in selective licensing areas with regards to 

tenant behaviour and the vetting of tenants: 

“All tenants should be vetted properly ,checks made to see if they have been evicted from previous 
properties, there should be a black list for landlords to have access to, i.e. tenants who have not 
paid their rent, not looked after the  property ,inside and out, involved with drugs or any criminal 
activity, the landlords should be obliged to put the names of bad tenants into the list, for everyone 
to be aware that they could be getting a bad tenant” 
 
“Pick tenants that are drug free!   [specific area] has become a dealer’s paradise as all the houses 
converted to flats are now occupied by drug dependant individuals who are turning the road 
junction into a drug dealing streets!   These are descent houses turned into a ghetto with landlords 
who don’t care less who occupies their cheap apartments they have a duty of care to the 
community” 
 

“Should be made easier for homeowners/neighbours to know how/where to report bad tenants. 
Where evidence of bad/anti-social behaviour exists should be easier to have these tenants dealt 
with” 
 

From the 8% who disagreed with the proposals, only one comment was provided: 

“Landlords need to deal with their tenants if bad” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

Encouraging landlords not to take tenants with a poor reference improves the choice for tenants with 
good references. 
 

 

Page 271



 

The next question asked respondents whether they agreed or disagreed with a licence fee 

proposed at around £645 over a five-year period. 

 

Chart 3: Do you agree or disagree that this is a reasonable fee for this period? 

 
 

77.5% of those who responded to the questionnaire agreed or strongly agreed that the suggested 

fee was reasonable, with10.5% of respondents who thought it was unreasonable. 

 

There were several comments provided regarding fees, both in favour and against, including: 

“Fees should be more” 

“I think the fee is quite high” 

I would charge the landlord more so they would do more checks” 

“I think the fee is excessive because if you’ve bought a property and rent it out then there can be 

very little profit” 

“Only bad landlords should have to pay the fee” 

 

65% of respondents also through it was reasonable to offer a discount for those with membership 

of a national landlord organisation or an accredited property with Wirral Council’s Property 

Accreditation Scheme with just 10% disagreeing to this proposal. 

 

There was a more even split between those who felt it was reasonable to reduce the licence fee 

for landlords with multiple properties with just 40.5% who felt it was reasonable and 34% who 

disagreed, with one respondent leaving the following comment: 

“Only really good landlords should get a discount” 

 

When responding to the licence conditions, the vast majority (66%) thought the licence conditions 

area adequate, with 12% who did not believe they were adequate.  22% of respondents did not 

know whether the conditions were adequate or not. 

 

The following comments were provided for consideration and inclusion in the consultation report: 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Strongly agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
R

es
p

o
n

d
en

ts

Chart 3.  Do you agree or disagree that this is a reasonable fee 
for this period?

Page 272



 

“Multi-property landlords should contribute to the community around their properties too, such as 

planting trees or flowers or clearing alleyways.” 

“Where breaches of the requirements are encountered, subsequent costs for action and 

inspection visits should be met by the landlord.” 

“It would be nice if landlords got more involved in the area.” 

“I would support any proposal that encourages positive actions to bring about improvements to 

the area because we have been plagued with irresponsible landlords who have played a major 

part in sucking the life out of once thriving communities.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Response: 

Selective Licensing contributes to addressing the need for quality, affordable and safe homes which in 
turn assists in driving forward improvements to the quality of life, health and levels of achievement for 
our residents.  
 
The above points have all been considered within the licensing conditions. 
 
There is no requirement for private landlords to carry out any work outside of their properties in the 
general area. 

Page 273



 

Representations and Letters  

 

In total, eight written submissions were received from landlords, partner agencies, Councillors, 

Members of Parliament and organisations representing both tenants and landlords.  

 

One of the letters was relating to the inclusion of Mariners’ Park estate in the re-designation of 

Egremont Promenade South.  This is an estate owned and managed by the Nautilus Welfare 

Fund, a charity which provides housing, care and support to retired merchant mariners and their 

dependents.  The appeal for the estate not to be included provides evidence for each key driver 

to implement selective licensing in an area.  Following investigation of their evidence, it is 

recommended that Mariners’ Park estate be excluded from the re-designation of the four initial 

areas.   

 

Supportive written submissions were received from two residents asking for the scheme to be 

extended to include their areas.  One of the areas is included in the proposed Egremont South 

LSOA, and the other is in the Egerton North LSOA which is an existing Selective Licensing area.  

Further correspondence was entered into with this resident to assist with the issues that he was 

concerned about. 

 

One letter was received from Frank Field MP which stated that Mr Field was fully in favour of the 

proposals and further requested that three more areas could be considered.  Following 

investigation into the areas, these were not included in the priority matrix in the Business Case 

and therefore not experiencing the same issues as the selected areas. 

 

An email was received from the office of Margaret Greenwood MP on behalf of one of her 

constituents.  This email was not supportive of the proposals and raised a complaint about the 

scheme being a failure other than being an income source for the Council, and that there are 

existing laws in place to tackle landlords who offer sub-standard tenancies.  A full response was 

sent to Margaret Greenwood’s office, which disputed the existing scheme being considered a 

failure, and sought to explain how a scheme works, what has been achieved to date and what 

expectations there were for areas.   

 

One further email was received from a landlord of private rented property, who explained that he 

did not see selective licensing as positive for an area, and that he had seen ‘zero improvement’ 

in the areas where his properties are located.  The landlord does however offer his local 

knowledge and suggested another area which he would like to be considered for selective 

licensing as it is need of help.  Following investigations into the area recommended for 

consideration, in the overall matrix, this LSOA does appear in the top ten worst LSOAs for five of 

the tables in the evidence base (overall deprivation, educational attainment KS4, worklessness 

benefits, environmental health complaints and housing interventions), but when the data is 

entered into the overall matrix, the LSOA is 13th (this means there are 12 other LSOAs which are 

worse than this one), and the Council is currently working only on the top ten.  This will however 

be an area that will be monitored by the Council for future intervention. 

 

Two representations were received from professional bodies representing landlords and letting 
agents; the Residential Landlords Association (RLA) which exists to protect and promote the 
interests of private residential landlords, and ARLA Propertymark, the professional and regulatory 
body for letting agents. 

Page 274



 

 
With more than 35,000 individual landlords from around the United Kingdom the RLA’s role is to 
provide a comprehensive range of benefits and services to members and strive to raise standards 
within the private rented sector.  
 
The RLA seeks a fair legislative and regulatory environment for the private rented sector while 
aiming to ensure that landlords are aware of their statutory rights and responsibilities.  
 
The Residential Landlords Association (RLA) full letter of representation can be seen in Appendix 
?, and includes general objections to licensing schemes on the basis that there is little evidence 
that licensing schemes improve housing standards, and the council already has the necessary 
tools to tackle poor housing management. 
 
Their letter requests that the Council remove the cost to pay the licence feel in instalments, and 
the cost to submit a paper application. 
 
Their response further requests that the Council remove the Condition requirement to provide the 
Council with a copy of an Electrical Installation Condition Report or Periodic Inspection Report 
because it cannot be enforced through licensing and is therefore unlawful. 
 

 

Response 

The provision to pay a licence fee by instalments is a discretionary means provided by the 
council to assist landlords. A landlord is not compelled to pay the Selective Licensing fee by 
instalments and may pay the licence fee in full thus avoiding the £50 fee required to process the 
instalment plan. The process in setting up an instalment plan includes input from both the 
Housing Standards Team and Finance team, the £50 fee covers the cost to process the licence 
by instalment and no profit from this additional charge is made. 
 
The £50 administrative fee for making a paper-based application covers the cost for checking 
the application and entering the information provided within the form onto the Council’s 
database.  The fee has been calculated for the time taken in performing this task and no profit is 
made. 
With regards to this specific issue I can confirm that Section 87 (7)(a) of the Housing Act 2004 
states: 

“When fixing fees under this section, the local housing authority may (subject to any regulations 
made under subsection (5)) take into account— 

(a)all costs incurred by the authority in carrying out their functions under this Part, and 

(b)all costs incurred by them in carrying out their functions under Chapter 1 of Part 4 in relation 
to Part 3 houses (so far as they are not recoverable under or by virtue of any provision of that 
Chapter).” 

 
With regards to condition O of the Selective Licence Conditions (Amended January 2019), this 
specific condition only refers to properties which are defined as a house of multiple occupation 
(HMO) subject to section 254 to section 257 of the Housing Act 2004. An HMO, under these 
definitions, are required to comply with Management Regulations of 2006 and 2007 and this is a 
condition of those regulations and not a condition to improve/upgrade houses or installing of 
new facilities and/or equipment as in the Brown v Hyndburn Borough Council case. Properties 
that are not defined as HMO, subject to section 254 to section 257 of the Housing Act 2004 do 
not need to comply with Condition O of the Selective Licence Conditions (Amended January 
2019). 
 

Page 275



 

ARLA Propertymark is the UK’s foremost professional and regulatory body for letting agents, 

representing over 9,000 members, and campaigns for greater regulation in this growing and 

increasingly important sector of the property market to protect its members. 

 

ARLA Propertymark’s full letter of representation can be seen in Appendix 3 and includes 

general objections to discretionary licensing schemes which they do not believe are effective in 

promoting higher quality accommodation, and further argues the issues in the private rented 

sector do not lie with existing regulation but the lack of enforcement by Local Authorities. 

 

ARLA Propertymark suggest that instead of re-designating or introducing selective licensing 

schemes, local authorities should adopt a collaborative approach with letting agents, landlords 

and professional bodies to tackle issues in the private rented sector together. 

 

Petitions 

No petitions were received as part of the consultation process. 

  

Response 

Having considered ARLA Propertymark’s representation, the Council is already working with 

landlords, letting agents and professional bodies to tackle issues in the private rented sector, 

and believes that selective licensing is a tool to assist in the improvement of property conditions 

and low demand in an area. 

Page 276



 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 Points raised at landlord drop in events 

 

Appendix 2 Householder Questionnaire 

 

Appendix 3 Landlord Questionnaire 

 

Appendix 4 Written Representation 

 

  

Page 277



 

Appendix 1  Points raised at landlord drop-in sessions 

 

Points raised/comments made: 

• Landlord asked about timescales for properties to be inspected 

• The group agreed that the discounts for accreditation and early bird were fair. 

• The group thought that it would be useful if more training was available to landlords for CPD, 

suggesting that updates on Housing Benefit/ Universal Credit and how to deal with Anti-

social Behaviour would be beneficial.  

• The group all agreed that Healthy Homes services were useful, and asked whether tenants 

could be referred in to scheme 

• The group asked why redesignation was required if Selective Licensing was intended to 

improve standards, however accepted that standards were far worse than initially predicted 

and agreed that good work has been done. 

• The group agreed that there was still work to be done in the initial areas to tackle anti-social 

behaviour particularly. 

• Landlord does not agree with the benefits/discounts for large landlords 

• Landlord did not agree with the need to extended the licensing areas; discussed the benefits 

and that it takes a lot of time of getting in to properties and working with both landlords and 

tenants and getting the work done etc. and 5 years is not long enough for the desired 

effect/outcome 

• Landlord expressed views regarding tenant behaviour and problems for example tenant 

damage even if managed correctly from one HHSRS inspection to the sign-off visit tenant 

damage can cause further works required 

• Tenant poverty is a major problem including ability to pay rent and sufficiently heat home 

• Landlord highlighted there are good and bad landlords but it shouldn’t always fall on landlord 

for tenant behaviour / damage and this is not taken into consideration enough 

• Landlord highlighted that some repairs are annoying such as a broken letter box or other 

minor repairs which are included in the conditions 

• For landlords with a large number of properties it is a constant requirement of continually 

doing repairs and this is not taken into consideration 

• Landlord stated he felt held to ransom to repairs and there was not enough of a ‘pat on the 

back’ for good landlord 

• The tone of the Minded 2 Serve letter is intimidating and patronizing 

• On whole landlord said it was a success of his properties that have been inspected and 

agreed that some landlord need inspection for ‘kick up the bum’ 

• Re-licensing when building sold is unfair including not getting refund for non-used years  

• Inspection and re-inspection were inconsistent amongst officers  

• Landlord praised that officers were fairly flexible and ‘not down the neck for works’ – bonus 

point of selective licensing 

• Expect to have a better discount available for renewed areas who have been inspected and 

been compliant either on inspection or of notice and have engaged in the process, where no 

hazards exist anymore  

• In renewal and new schemes discussed that we are no longer guaranteeing every property 

• Landlord discussed that sometimes formal is better i.e. email for small amounts of works 

• Discussion around not a profit making enterprise; landlord asked how we differentiate to 

ensure that monies from selective licensing are only spent on the licensing scheme 

Page 278



 

• Discussed with landlord how we identified selective licensing areas including lower super 

output areas (LSOA) and statistical analysis of a variety of things 

• Discussed the benefits of selective licensing in improving the quality of streets and 

households but landlord was sceptical about where to put problem tenants without making 

them homeless 

• Landlord felt that the scheme is a good idea 

• Discussed the use of closure orders and Anti-social Behaviour and progress in this area 

• Discussed the targeting of problem areas 

• Healthy Homes Scheme phone number would be better if given to all landlords so that they 

can refer tenants who may be able to use this service and to help in landlord/Tenant 

relations 

• Landlord raised problems regarding the Direct Debit (DD) including its now a DD per 

property and not total of all properties and that it is also over one year and not the 5 year 

term which can create hardship discussed people cancel DD and that cost money and officer 

time but he argued that either way can get the money and to make it hard for those who pay 

license or cancel DD 

• Landlord discussed that he cannot see where he can increase rent as cannot in these areas 

due to demand and poverty etc. 

• Needs to be more incentives to improve existing stock i.e. free insulation/boilers and not 

sporadic and landlord highlighted that council schemes do improve areas  

• Discussed fire doors and FDIS in regards to 257 HMO’s including the difficult in FDIS who 

will do three doors  

• Discussed that there is now a higher occupancy rate in [specific] Road  

• Discussed retaliatory evictions do not get heard of around here especially in selective 

licensing areas 

• Landlord brought up problems regarding tenant not paying rent because of repairs but don’t 

inform landlord of needing repairs 

• Damp is difficult to identify and deal including tenant behaviour exacerbating the problem 

• Damp/ condensation due to tenant behaviour is also further fuelled by poverty and fuel 

poverty 

• Discussed needed a more robust attitude to problem tenants including the use of Section 

21s 

• Landlord highlighted that the statistic of 70% of landlords that haven’t complied with works 

could be major or minor problems for example, no silicone sealant  does not reflect the level 

of risk of more serious repairs issues such as cat 1 cat 2 hazards 

• Landlord highlighted that landlords with only one or two properties are usually the poor 

landlord who are hard to deal with 

• Thinks posters in selective licensing areas are good idea 

• Bulky service is a good service and that this service along with Healthy Homes Scheme 

needs to be further advertised to landlords  

• Landlord felt that selective licensing can only be good for the areas identified which need 

Council intervention 

• Landlord believes that nothing has been achieved since the scheme started. He explained 

that when the first round of licensing was introduced landlords were told that they would see 

a rise in property prices, areas would become more desirable with people wanting to move 

into the area to live and antisocial behaviour would decrease. Asked what we will have 

achieved once the first 5 years of the licensing scheme have passed?   Page 279



 

• Landlord felt that if a change in the selective licensing areas were to happen they would 

have happened by now.  

• Landlord felt like he is paying for bad landlords to be give chance after chance and that the 

council should be focusing on the bad ones and not the good ones. 

• Landlord feels that the selective licensing scheme is open ended and that there will be no 

end to it. He asked how long the scheme is due to be extended for and if he will have to 

keep paying each time to renew the license for his properties. 

• Landlord thought the purpose of the selective licensing scheme was to find the bad landlords 

and to deal with them.  

• Landlord asked where the fee money goes and what is it used to pay for?  

• Landlord stated/asked that this is in the interest of the council and the council staff to have 

the selective licensing scheme. He asked if the decision had already been made due to it 

being in the interest of the councillors, council employees etc… He advised that we (as 

council) staff would want the licensing to go ahead for job security.  

• Landlord asked what is considered as an ‘emergency’ in relation to tenants contacting him in 

‘emergency’ situations. He explained that on numerous occasions he has had drunken 

tenants contact him at 3am when they have locked themselves out of their property. He 

asked if he needs to be accessible 24 hours a day and if instances like this would count as 

an emergency. It was advised that this is a conversation and something that would need to 

be made clear to tenants. He also explained that he does not think it is fair that his home 

address needs to be stated on the license as this is accessible to tenants. He explained that 

he has a friend who is a landlord and they have had tenants turn up to their house drunk in 

the early hours of the morning as they have lost their key. He has asked if there is a way to 

not have his home address on the license and accessible to tenants.  

• Landlord asked if there can be a further reduction in license fees or a longer license period 

for good landlords (for example- good Landlords having a license for 10 years rather than 5 

if they have proved themselves to be decent) 

• Landlord asked for more rewards for good Landlords 

• Landlord felt that their area would benefit from the scheme 

• Landlords have two properties in an existing selective licensing area but had received no 

notification of selective licensing prior to this event. 

• Landlord asked about empty property grants to bring their property back into use 

 

 

  

Page 280



 

Appendix 2 – Householder Questionnaire 

  

 Page 281



 

Background Information 

Selective Licensing is a scheme to improve 

private rented homes within specific 

designated neighbourhoods by requiring 

landlords to obtain a licence and comply with 

certain agreed conditions.   Documents 

relating to the proposal, including detailed 

maps and address lists are available at 

wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing. 

 

The Scheme has been running in four small 

areas since 2015 and to date officers have 

issued 1236 licences in those areas and 

carried out 830 inspections.  70% of the 

properties inspected required works in order 

to meet standards. 

 

Why is it being re-designated in the 

original four areas and introduced to two 

new areas? 

Wirral has areas of low housing demand and 

almost one in three properties in Wirral’s 

private rented sector fails to meet the decent 

homes standard which can have an impact on 

the health and welfare of tenants and wider 

communities.  This scheme aims to improve 

homes in these areas by ensuring private 

landlords meet satisfactory standards of 

tenancy and property management.  The 

existing Scheme which commenced in 2015 

has resulted in improvements to more than 

580 properties. 

 

The six areas were identified using research 

from the Council’s Intelligence Service which 

identified key areas which had the poorest 

levels of property condition, higher than 

average levels of private rented stock, and low 

housing demand.  A full breakdown of the 

evidence, methodology and findings is 

included in the Business Case which can be 

found on the Council’s website at 

wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing. 

 

This evidence is supported by a recent survey 

of residents in the original four Selective 

Licensing areas which has shown that while 

there has been an improvement in the 

property condition, there is still a need for 

improvement in the external environment to 

make these areas more attractive. 

 

What benefits will it have? 

Poor property management has a very 

negative effect on areas where the housing 

market is already weak and contributes to 

high numbers of empty properties, high 

turnover of tenants and depressed rental and 

sale values.  It can also have an effect on the 

health and safety of residents if properties are 

in a poor condition. 

 

Selective Licensing will tackle poor 

management and is expected to deliver lots of 

benefits including: 

 

Benefits for Landlords 

• Free tenancy support service 

• Free bulky waste collections 

• Free healthy homes visits 

• Enhanced Empty Property Grants up 

to £5,000 

• Improved confidence in the market and 

potential growth in property values 

• A level playing field where all landlords 

in the area are required to operate to 

the same decent standard. 

• Improved communications with 

Council services. 

• Better understanding of their statutory 

responsibilities through training and 

briefing sessions. 

• Improved reputation of private 

landlords. 

 

Benefits for Tenants 

• Improve the quality of housing and 

management conditions. 

• Better understanding of the standards 

they should expect. 

• Better understanding of their 

responsibilities. 

• Written tenancy agreements, 

inventories and protected deposits. 

• Confidence that the Council will help if 

licence conditions are not met. 
Page 282



 

• Support to maintain tenancies e.g. 

budget management, benefit checks, 

fuel debt advice. 

 

Benefits for the wider community 

• Landlords encouraged not to take 

tenants with poor references. 

• Shorter void periods and less tenant 

turnover. 

• Improved quality of life, image and 

desirability of the area. 

• Fewer empty properties and blight. 

• Less anti-social behaviour. 

• Increase in the length of tenancies 

resulting in more settled communities. 

• Dedicated Healthy Homes Team to 

improve the health of the wider 

community. 

 

Will landlords have to pay for a licence? 

The Council proposes to recover some costs 

by charging a Licensing Fee.  The cost for a 

licence in the initial scheme was £695 over the 

duration of the scheme and the Council will 

continue to work hard to streamline costs for 

future designations and keep the fee as low 

as possible.   

 

The Council also proposes to offer the 

following discounts on licence fees: 

• Applications made during the first three 

months of the scheme for each 

property. 

• Landlords with multiple properties. 

• Landlords who have a membership of 

a national landlord organisation or 

have the property accredited with the 

Wirral Council property accreditation 

scheme. 

 

The following charges are also proposed: 

• Charge for yearly direct debits. 

• Assisted completion of application 

forms. 

• Completion of a paper application. 

Licence Conditions 

The licence contains a series of conditions the 

licence holder would need to comply with, 

including property management, fire safety 

and anti-social behaviour.  A full copy of the 

licence conditions can be found at 

wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing. 

 

 

What would happen to private landlords 

who let their property without a licence or 

don’t meet the licence conditions? 

It is a criminal offence to let a privately rented 

property in a designated Selective Licensing 

area without a licence.  

 

Failure to apply for a licence or failure to 

comply with the conditions of the licence could 

lead to an unlimited fine on conviction or a 

Civil Penalty Notice of up to £30,000. 

 

The Council, or tenants (including former 

tenants), may apply for a Rent Repayment 

Order (RRO) to reclaim up to 12 months’ rent 

from the landlord where a property is, or was, 

required to be licensed.” 

 

What are the next steps? 

If feedback from the consultation supports a 

Selective Licensing Scheme in the proposed 

six areas and Members approve a final 

scheme, it is expected to be operational from 

1st July 2020. 

More information about the consultation 

process, including how to get involved is 

available via: 

 

Online  wirral.gov.uk/selectivelicensing 

 

Email  SLconsultation@wirral.gov.uk 

 

By post Selective Licensing 

Consultation 

  Po Box 290, Brighton Street, 

Wallasey, CH27 9FQ 

  

Page 283

mailto:SLconsultation@wirral.gov.uk


 

Which of the following apply to you? (please tick all boxes that apply) 

 

Live in Wirral    

    

Live in one of the existing Selective Licensing areas    

    

Work in one of the existing Selective Licensing areas    

    

Live in one of the proposed Selective Licensing areas    

    

Work in one of the proposed Selective Licensing areas    

    

Represent an organisation based in or covering Wirral    

    

Own or manage a business in Wirral    

    

Own or manage a business in one of the Selective Licensing Areas    

    

Work in Wirral    

    

Private Landlord/agent in one of the existing Selective Licensing 
areas 

   

    

Private Landlord/agent in one of the proposed Selective Licensing 
areas 

   

    

Private Landlord/agent with a property elsewhere in Wirral    

    

Have another connection with Wirral      

    

No connection with Wirral    

 

 

Wirral Council proposes to continue Wirral's selective licensing scheme through 

re-designation of the four areas that have been in place since 2015 and extending 

the scheme into two further areas. Selective licensing will require all landlords to 

have a licence in order to let out homes in these areas between 1st July 2020 and 

30th June 2025.  

 

 Do you agree or disagree with the selective licensing proposal? (please 

circle) 

 

Strongly agree  agree    neither agree nor disagree 

Disagree    strongly disagree  don’t know 

 

 

 

Page 284



 

Wirral Council proposes to charge a fee estimated at £645 over a 5 year period 

depending on any discounts that can be applied. This would be around £130 per 

year or £2.50 per week before discounts can be applied.  

 

 Do you agree or disagree that this is a reasonable fee for this period?  

Strongly agree  agree    neither agree nor disagree 

Disagree    strongly disagree  don’t know 

 

Do you agree or disagree that it is reasonable to: 

  S
tr

o
n

g
ly

 a
g

re
e

 

 A
g

re
e
 

 N
e
it
h

e
r 

a
g

re
e
 

n
o

r 

d
is

a
g

re
e
 

d
is

a
g

re
e
 

 S
tr

o
n

g
ly

 d
is

a
g

re
e

 

 D
o
n

’
t 

k
n
o

w
 

Reduce the licence fee for landlords who 
have a membership of a national landlord 
organisation or have the property 
accredited with the Wirral Council property 
accreditation Scheme. 

            

            

Reduce the licence fee for landlords with 
multiple properties? 

            

            

Reduce the licence fee for landlords who 
submit early licence fee applications? 

            

            
 

A full copy of the selective licensing conditions can be found on the Council's 

website. 

The licence conditions are about the quality of properties, how they are managed and the 

responsibilities of tenants.  

 

Do you think the licence conditions are adequate?  

Yes    

  

No    

  

Don’t know   

  
Please tell us of any suggestions you have for additions or amendments to the 

conditions.  

 

 

Please return this questionnaire to Selective Licensing Consultation, P O Box 290, 

Brighton Street, Wallasey, CH27 9FQ or hand in to any Wirral Council One Stop Shop 

or Library. 

 

  

Page 285



 

Appendix 3 – Landlord Questionnaire 

 

 
 

Page 286



 

 

 

Page 287



 

 

 
 

  

Page 288



 

 

Page 289



 

 

 
  

Page 290



 

Appendix 4 Letters of Representation 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Sir or Madam,  

 

Selective Licensing consultation 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the above consultation.  

 

Though we appreciate the issues that Wirral Borough Council have mentioned and the impact 

they can have on tenants, landlords and the housing market in areas proposed, the Residential 

Landlords Association is opposed to the introduction of this scheme and has many general 

objections to Licensing overall, which are detailed below.  

 

Raising Standards 

 

There is little evidence that licensing schemes improve housing standards. The focus of staff 

becomes the processing and issue of licences, while prosecutions centre on whether a property 

is licensed or not, rather than improving management standards and property conditions. 

Additionally, the decent homes standard is a measure of the standard of housing and has no 

legal applicability to PRS housing. The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) is 

the relevant standard for the PRS. 

 

The Council already has the necessary tools to tackle poor housing management and 

conditions in the PRS. Rather than introduce a bureaucratic licensing scheme that will see 

scarce resources focused on processing applications, the council should continue to direct 

these limited resources at identifying private rented properties and taking effective enforcement 

action. 

 

Enforcement Powers 

 

There are over 150 Acts of Parliament and more than 400 regulations affecting landlords in the 

private rented sector.  

Councils should use the enforcement powers already granted to them by the Housing and 

Planning Act 2016 and Housing Act 2004 to their full extent, rather than rely on Licensing 

Schemes to regulate landlords in addition to these powers. The Council has also not taken into 

consideration the amount of informal enforcement activity undertaken between local authorities 

and private landlords.  

 

Pressure on non-licensed areas  

 

Wirral Council  
Date 
10th October 
2019 
 
 

Page 291



 

Landlords, especially those with properties outside the licence area will become risk-averse in 

terms of the tenants they let to. Tenant problems such as anti-social behaviour are impossible 

for the landlord to address alone and landlords will not wish to risk a breach of licensing 

conditions that may affect their ability to let properties elsewhere. Some may seek to evict 

already challenging tenants, which would mean additional costs to other council services, as 

they pick up the pieces created by the disruption to the lives of already vulnerable tenants.   

 

Fee structure  

 

In the document titled Selective Licensing Scheme Fee Structure, there is a £50 charge for 

paying the licence fee in instalments. Only one licence fee can be charged per application.  

 

The power to charge a fee is set out in s63(3) and s87(3) of the Housing Act 2004, with the fee-

charging ability limited by s63(7) or s87(7). These state that a fee must reflect the cost of running 

a scheme, with the local authority not being permitted to make a profit. The fee can be used for 

the operation of the scheme itself, necessary inspections, promoting education and all 

enforcement activity to ensure the scheme is effective. Fees are only chargeable in respect of 

the application itself, and not in respect of ancillary matters. 

 

No other charges can be implemented under the licensing regime, a point confirmed by the RPT 

(as was) in Crompton v Oxford City Council [2013]. Because of this, Oxford amended its fee 

structure to reflect this ruling. While we appreciate the need of local authorities to use their 

resources efficiently, this does not extend to the charging of fees that are not lawfully permitted. 

 

The council should, therefore, remove the charge to pay the licence fee in instalments.  

 

 

The administrative fee for making a paper-based application for a licence at £50 per application 

penalises applicants with limited technological knowledge or access to a computer. The council 

should not charge an additional fee on top of the £645 licence fee because the application is 

submitted in paper form.    

 

Licence Conditions  

 

EICR/PIR Requirement  

 

In the document titled “Licence Conditions amended January 2019” condition O) states that the 

licence holder must “produce to the Council on demand a valid Electrical Installation Condition 

Report (EICR) or alternatively a valid Periodic Installation Report (PIR) for the whole of the 

electrical installations in accordance with current IEE wiring regulations. Such a report should 

be provided by a competent person who is a member of an appropriate competent person 

scheme, details of which can be found at www.competentperson.co.uk (to comply with Part P of 

the Building Regulations). Where the report expires during the term of the licence, an up-to-

date Electrical Installation Condition Report must be provided to the licensing team of the 

Council within 28 days of the expiry date; Ensure that any remedial works identified on the 

EICR or PIR are attended to subject to the required remedial action”.  

 

Section 90(1) Housing Act 2004 is clear that a licence "may include such conditions as the local 

authority consider appropriate for regulating the management, use or occupation of the house 

concerned." In contrast to s67 Housing Act 2004, the equivalent provision in Part 2 of the Act, 

Page 292



 

no mention is made in s90(1) HA of the use of conditions to regulate the "conditions and 

contents" of the property. This is emphasised in the Court of Appeal case of Brown v Hyndburn 

Borough Council [2018] EWCA Civ 242. 

 

Following the Court of Appeal’s reasoning in Brown, any licence condition that seeks to regulate 
the condition or contents of the house is unlawful, and the local authority has no power to 
impose such a condition. Any such conditions should be removed. We note that the MHCLG 
recently drew the attention of local authorities to this case in one of their quarterly PRS 
newsletters. 
 
Likewise, In Brown Mr Justice Hildyard confirmed that the s90(5) of the Housing Act 2004 is not 

itself a source of any power, residual or otherwise permitting the local authority to include 

licence conditions that seek to identify, remove or reduce hazards. These are covered by Part 1 

of the Act and should be enforced using Part 1 powers, and the Housing Health and Safety 

Rating System. Councils should not rely on Part 3 licensing powers to enforce Part 1.  

 

Therefore, Wirral council should remove this condition.  

 

Conclusion 

 

The RLA reiterates its objection to the proposed scheme.  

 

There are alternatives to licensing. The RLA supports a system of self-regulation for landlords 

whereby compliant landlords join a co-regulation scheme which deals with standards and 

complaints in the first instance, while those outside the scheme remain under the scope of local 

authority enforcement. We also support the use of the council tax registration process to 

identify private rented properties and landlords. Unlike licensing, this does not require self-

identification by landlords, making it harder for criminals to operate under the radar.  

 

Yours faithfully,  

 

Samantha Watkin 

Policy Officer 

Residential Landlords Association 

Samantha.Watkin@rla.org.uk 

 

  

Page 293

mailto:Samantha.Watkin@rla.org.uk


 

 
 

Page 294



 

 
 

 

 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET
24TH FEBRUARY 2020

COMMUNITY WEALTH BUILDING STRATEGY

Councillor Janette Williamson (Cabinet Member Finance and Resources & Deputy 
Leader of the Labour Group) said:

“I am delighted to launch our Community Wealth Building Strategy. This is a key document 
for us that sets out our ambitions to support communities to become more independent, 
financially self-sufficient and take ownership of public assets to run them in ways that are 
beneficial to them.

The strategy is the result of several months of research and engagement with communities 
and partners and is supported by the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) who we 
commissioned as the UK leading body to work with us on developing the Strategy and 
subsequent action plan.

Wirral is clearly becoming a leader in Community Wealth Building evidenced by the number 
of number of invitations to speak at events and requests for support and guidance about 
how Wirral as approached the Strategy.

Community Wealth Building is intrinsic to everything the Council does and will be embedded 
into all our activity going forward. Following an initial discussion with our partners, I am 
pleased to see that we are now working closely with our partners and anchors to support 
them to embed the principles into their own organisations. This will enable a borough wide 
approach, supported by the Council rather than a Council run initiative. In time, we intend to 
also work with our private sector anchors to ensure that the strategy can be implemented 
across all sectors of the borough. This will become more prevalent once the North West 
Mutual Community Bank is live.

This Strategy is vital to demonstrate our mission to support communities in Wirral to support 
themselves by providing opportunities for: growing the number of small businesses, 
residents to be able to access employment and communities to come together to promote 
positive mental wellbeing. Therefore I am proud to launch this Strategy today to support this 
mission.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report outlines the Community Wealth Building Strategy for Wirral Council. Community 
Wealth Building reorganises local economies to be fairer and stops wealth flowing out of our 

Page 297

Agenda Item 8



communities, towns and cities. It places control of this wealth into the hands of local people, 
communities, businesses and organisations.  

Through work with the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES), five areas have been 
identified to build community wealth in the Wirral:

 Plural Ownership 
 Procurement  
 Land and Assets 
 Making Financial Power Work for local Places  
 Workforce 

The report details what steps have already been taken to build community wealth, and what 
else we will need to do to achieve our outcomes.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough, with particular focus on our most deprived 
areas. 

RECOMMENDATION/S:

1. Cabinet agrees to adopt the Community Wealth Building Strategy. 

Page 298



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 There are also a number of activities linked to Community Wealth already present in 
the council, and a strategy is necessary to pull these activities together to ensure a 
coordinated plan.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not to adopt the strategy. This could result in activities linked to Community Wealth 
continuing to work in isolation. The principles of community wealth building are all 
interconnected, and different elements continuing to work separately, with no overall 
strategy could lead to outcomes that are less than what could be achieved with a 
more joined up approach. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Rationale for a Community Wealth Building Strategy

3.1 Community Wealth Building is a people centred approach to local economic 
development and seeks to restructure the composition of the economy itself so that 
wealth is widely held, shared and democratised. It reorganises local economies to be 
fairer and stops wealth flowing out of our communities, towns and cities. It places 
control of this wealth into the hands of local people, communities, businesses and 
organisations.

3.2 Community Wealth Building has been taken up by a number of councils across the 
UK, most notably Preston. Since engaging with CLES (Centre for Local Economic 
Strategies) in 2013 Preston has seen: 

 £74million directed back into the Preston economy by pursuing a Community 
Wealth Building approach to procurement, 

 4000 extra employees receiving the real living wage, 
 Reduction in unemployment from 6.5% in 2014 to 3.1% in 2017, 
 A move out of the top 20% most Local Authority area in the UK. 

Community Wealth building fits strategically with our new Wirral Plan 2025. It will 
directly support an inclusive economy as well a wide range of our strategic goals, 
improving outcomes in relation to health and social care; families; environment and 
housing.

Community Wealth Building Vision for Wirral

3.3  The strategy Includes three strategic objectives: 

1. Democratic Economy: A shift in decision making power from corporate 
organisations to a larger group of public stakeholders including, workers, 
customers and the community to enable greater independence.

2. Generative Economy: An economy with a built-in tendency to be to be socially fair 
and ecologically stable. A generative economy is built on a foundation of 

Page 299



stakeholder ownership designed to generate and preserve real wealth that is 
shared by communities. 

3. Financial Resilience: Families and communities that hold assets (such as social 
networks, a home, some savings, an ownership stake in a business, a secure job) 
are more able to withstand setbacks such as job losses, illness, or recession. 

3.4 Outcomes of the strategy are as follows: 

 Plural Ownership: Residents of the Wirral have a say in what happens to the 
wealth generated by their communities. 

 Workforce: Residents of Wirral are employed in secure, well paid jobs with 
progression opportunities and good terms and conditions.

 Land and Assets: Council land and assets are used as a base to build community 
wealth. 

 Making Financial Power work for Local Places: Wealth that exists in Wirral is 
harnessed to increase investment in local communities. 

 Procurement: Procurement practices of Wirral anchor institutions are used to build 
the wealth of our local communities. 

3.5       Plural Ownership can have two meanings: 

1. Lots of small businesses, less big businesses; 
2. Democratic models of ownership such as community owned businesses, worker 

owned cooperatives, public-commons partnerships, insourcing and forms of 
municipal ownership.

The activities that Wirral Council are currently doing to deliver this are:

 Partnership with Capacity Lab to support the Voluntary Charity Faith (VCF) 
market.

 Community Action Wirral are producing a ‘State of the (VCF) Sector’ report that 
will help the council assess if there are VCF organisations that may be able to 
take on public sector contracts. 

 The Chamber of Commerce have established a Community Business Forum that 
puts the VCF sector on an equal footing with the rest of the industry sectors (e.g. 
construction). 

 The Wirral Growth company (Public Private partnership with the council owning 
50% and taking 50% of profits) will have social value policies tailored to the 
individual development e.g. use of local labour and local spend

To support this outcome the strategy proposes that Wirral: 

1. Encourage the development of the social business sector.
2. Explore public – commons partnerships as an alternative to public-private 

partnerships. 

Page 300



3.6 A community wealth building vision for the workforce means job security (i.e. no zero 
hours contracts), progression, opportunities and the real living wage. 

The activities that Wirral Council are currently doing to deliver this are:

 Wirral Ways to Work Programme 
 Households into work
 ConnectUs
 Health Related Worklessness programme
 Wirral apprenticeship scheme
 Strategic workforce planning process for Wirral is in Development. 
 Capacity Lab is working with the LCR to research Health Related Worklessness 

and health’s impact on productivity.

To support this outcome the strategy proposes that Wirral: 

1. Links workforce priorities across anchor institutions. 
2. Investigates methods to advance social inclusion through apprenticeship funding 

and in work progression. 
3. Ensures that workers in the businesses we procure goods and service from treat 

their employees fairly. 

3.7 A community wealth building approach to anchor institutions land and assets means 
they are used as a base to build community wealth. Function and ownership of these 
assets is deepened to ensure any gain is harnessed by citizens. Community use of 
assets are developed and extended.

The activities that Wirral Council are currently doing to deliver this are:

 20 community asset transfers in the last ten years.
 Supporting Make CIC to set up Make Hamilton Square in the treasury building. 
 Supporting the New Ferry Community Land Trust.
 Asset management strategy that lead to the One Wirral Public Estate Group, 

which brings together all public sector bodies in a locality to work together on land 
and property management.
  

To support this outcome the strategy proposes that Wirral:

1. Ensures council assets are used for the benefit of the local community. 
2. Builds on existing discussions with the Wirral partnership to explore the use of 

public sector assets. 
3. Encourages the set-up of community land trusts. 

3.8  Progressive procurement of goods and services means using the power of 
procurement to build community wealth by procuring locally and from smaller 
businesses, or those with diverse ownership models. This requires dense local supply 
chains comprising SMEs, employee owned businesses, social enterprises, 
cooperatives and other forms of community businesses.

Page 301



The activities that Wirral Council are currently doing to deliver this are:

 Working with Capacity Lab to support the VCF sector to enable them to apply for 
public sector contracts. 

 Social Value Policy has been integrated into the procurement process (15%) and 
will continue to be monitored to assess its impact on the VCF sector. 

To support this outcome the strategy proposes that Wirral:

1. Increases the amount of goods and services procured from social businesses.
2. Continues to extend and develop support for social businesses to enable them to 

access contract opportunities.
3. Continues to increase the amount of goods and services procured from local 

businesses.
4. Monitors the effectiveness of the social value policy.
5. Links procurement across anchor institutions, so that the European Single 

Procurement Document (or equivalent post Brexit) also covers Council 
Procurement.

3.9 Making financial power work for local places looks to increase investment in local 
economies by harnessing the wealth that exists locally, instead of attracting national 
or international capital. This outcome moves towards a more generative economic 
model of finance, one where investors want communities to prosper, not to extract 
their wealth, but because they have a real stake in the local community. 

The activities that Wirral Council are currently doing to deliver this are:

 Supporting the formation of the Northwest Community Bank along with Preston 
and Liverpool. 

 Working with Power to change to grow the community business sector (PTC have 
£150million in lottery funding and are very keen to develop the sector in Wirral). 

 Exploring the use of crowding to leverage match funding from the private sector 
with public donations.

To support this outcome the strategy proposes that Wirral:

1. Invests in the Northwest Community Bank.
2. Continues exploring the use of crowdfunding to build community wealth.
3. Works with Power to Change to grow the community business sector. 
4. Explores opportunities around increasing investment into the Wirral from the 

Merseyside Pension Fund.
5. Builds on existing discussions with the Wirral Partnership to maximise the impact 

of the ‘Wirral Pound’.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications at this time however actions from the strategy, 
such as the set-up of a social business development network may have financial 
implications. 

Page 302



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no legal implications at this time, however actions from the strategy, such 
as the set up of a social business development network may have financial 
implications. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 No adverse implications for Staffing, ICT and Assets

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 There are no relevant risks to this report. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Full engagement has taken place with all lead officers via the Community Wealth 
Board (e.g procurement, intelligence, finance, public health, economic housing 
growth, policy, organisational design, programme management and assets.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1    There are no equality implications to adopting the strategy however, there may be 
actions related to the strategy that may require an equality impact assessment at a 
later date.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are elements within the strategy that are expected to support the council’s 
response to the environment and climate emergency, such as increasing 
procurement from local businesses, thus shortening supply chains and lowering 
emissions. The content contained within this report is expected to lower emissions of 
CO2       

REPORT AUTHOR: Shaer Halewood
Director of Finance and Investment 
telephone:  (0151) 691 8688
email:   shaerhalewood@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Community Wealth Building Strategy.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None.

Page 303



SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Page 304



 

  Community 

Wealth Building 

Strategy  

2020-2025 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



FOREWARD:  

I am delighted to launch our Community 

Wealth Building Strategy.  This is a key 

document for us that sets out our 

ambitions to support communities to 

become more independent, financially 

self-sufficient and take ownership of 

public assets to run them in ways that 

are beneficial to them. 

The strategy is the result of several 

months of research and engagement 

with communities and partners and is 

supported by the Centre for Local 

Economic Strategies (CLES) who we 

commissioned as the UK leading body 

to work with us on developing the 

Strategy and subsequent action plan. 

Wirral is clearly becoming a leader in 

Community Wealth Building evidenced 

by the number of number of invitations 

to speak at events and requests for 

support and guidance about how Wirral 

as approached the Strategy. 

Community Wealth Building is intrinsic 

to everything the Council does and will 

be embedded into all our activity going 

forward.  Following an initial discussion 

with our partners, I am pleased to see 

that we are now working closely with 

our partners and anchors to support 

them to embed the principles into their 

own organisations.  This will enable a 

borough wide approach, supported by 

the Council rather than a Council run 

initiative.  In time, we intend to also 

work with our private sector anchors to 

ensure that the strategy can be 

implemented across all sectors of the 

borough.  This will become more 

prevalent once the North West Mutual 

Community Bank is live. 

 

 

 

 

 

This Strategy is vital to demonstrate our 

mission to support communities in 

Wirral to support themselves by 

providing opportunities for: growing the 

number of small businesses, residents 

to be able to access employment and 

communities to come together to 

promote positive mental wellbeing.  

Therefore I am proud to launch this 

Strategy to support this mission. 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor Janette Williamson  

 

 

Page 306



Introduction  

A prosperous, inclusive economy 

where local people can get good jobs 

and achieve their aspirations is a key 

priority of the Wirral Council Plan 2020. 

It is one of the ways in which to secure 

the best future for our residents. 

Community wealth building is a key part 

of how we will achieve this and makes 

a major contribution to the economic, 

social and health outcomes of the 

borough.  

We want an economy that benefits all of 

our residents and one which keeps 

money within Wirral. This Strategy 

outlines our vision for doing this and 

why it is an important part of realising 

our shared ambitions for the borough. 

 

What is Community Wealth 

Building?  

Community Wealth Building is a people 

centred approach to local economic 

development. Community Wealth 

Building seeks to restructure the 

composition of the economy itself so 

that wealth is widely held, shared and 

democratised. It reorganises local 

economies to be fairer and stops wealth 

flowing out of our communities, towns 

and cities, and instead places control of 

this wealth into the hands of local 

people, communities, businesses and 

organisations. 

A number of places across the UK, 

including are now developing strategies 

to implement community wealth 

building in their local economies. 

 
1 CLES are a think and do tank that have been at 
the forefront of pioneering work relating to Local 
Government, local economic development and 

The Centre for Local Economic 

Strategies (CLES)1 has five principles 

that underpin community wealth 

building: 

1. Plural Ownership of the 

Economy; 

2. Progressive Procurement of 

Goods and Services; 

3. Socially Just Use of Land and 

Property; 

4. Fair Employment and Just 

Labour Markets; and 

5. Making Financial Power work for 

Local Places. 
 

Harnessing the Power of Anchor 

Institutions  

A central element to community wealth 

building is harnessing the power of 

anchor institutions in a local economy.  

Anchor Institutions are organisations 

which have an important presence in a 

place. They are typically:  

• Large scale employers, 

purchasers of goods and 

services in the locality;  

• Overseeing large areas of land 

and having relatively fixed 

assets;  

• Tied to a place by their mission, 

histories, physical assets and 

local relationships.  

• Organisations that do not have 

profit as their main motivation. 

Examples include local authorities, 

NHS trusts, universities, trade unions, 

large local businesses, housing 

associations and the combined 

activities of the community and 

voluntary sector. With large budgets 

community wealth building. CLES have been 
working with Wirral Council to help develop this 
strategy.  

Page 307



and often thousands of employees, 

anchor institutions play a defining role 

in community wealth building. 

Arguably, commercial businesses can 

be considered anchor institutions, if 

they are rooted to place. Examples of 

businesses which play a role as 

community anchors might include 

major football clubs, or legacy industrial 

employers.  

 

A Democratic, Inclusive, Generative 

Economy  

Community wealth building seeks to 

change the economy by making it more 

democratic. Encouraging the setup of 

community businesses and 

cooperatives means that more people 

in our local communities can have a say 

in what happens to the wealth 

generated by them. This involves both 

democracy in the workplace (e.g. 

through encouraging cooperatives, and 

strong trade unions), but also in 

ensuring that residents have more 

power over how Wirral’s wealth is 

shared and spent.  

 

Why is Community Wealth Building 

important for Wirral?  

The UK is the fifth richest country in the 

world, yet 14.3 million people live in 

poverty, 8 million of whom are from 

working families. Poverty is a huge 

issue in the UK, and Wirral is no 

exception. The east of our borough has 

some of the most deprived wards in the 

country; there are high concentrations 

of child poverty (more than 35% in 

 
2 The Medium Term Financial Plan is a five year 
plan that describes how the council will generate 

some wards) and household income is 

well below the national average.  

High levels of income inequality 

increase instability and debt, and there 

are well established links between 

economic inequality and crime. Overall 

health is worse in more economically 

unequal countries, notably mental 

health and obesity. Recent evidence 

also suggests that rising income 

inequality may be associated with lower 

economic growth (OECD, 2015).  

Wirral has significant health inequalities 

compared to the rest of England, with 

higher levels of alcohol specific hospital 

admissions, cancer deaths, respiratory 

deaths and residents with long term 

disabilities (Wirral Council, 2019). 

There are also health inequalities within 

the borough: residents in the more 

affluent areas of Wirral can expect to 

live up to ten years more than those in 

our most deprived areas.   

The Local Plan, Strategic Regeneration 

Framework, The Growth Plan and the 

Wirral Council Plan 2025 emphasise 

the importance of economic growth. To 

ensure that our aspiration for growth is 

realised, we need to address the 

inequalities in Wirral. By focussing on 

generating wealth and keeping it in our 

local communities, The Community 

Wealth Building Strategy will work to 

address inequality and ensure that all 

residents in the borough feel the 

benefits of economic growth. 

 

Community Wealth Building in 

Strategic Context 

This strategy plays a vital role in the 

Medium-Term Financial Plan 2and the 

and allocate resources to meet its corporate 
priorities.  

Page 308



Wirral Plan 2025. It will help to 

reengineer our local economy and 

harness the power of our people and 

anchor institutions, to provide resilience 

where there is risk and local economic 

security where there is precarity. This 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

will drive everything Wirral Council 

does, specifically our approach to 

regeneration and investment, 

commissioning, procurement and 

management of our assets to build the 

wealth of our local communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Objective 2: 

Generative 

Economy 

Strategic Objective 1: 

Democratic 

Economy 

 

Strategic Objective 3: 

Financial 

Resilience 

A resilient economy is 

one where families 

and communities that 

hold assets (such as 

social networks, a 

home, some savings, 

an ownership stake in 

a business, a secure 

job) are more able to 

withstand knocks 

such as job losses or 

illness. It also means 

local public services 

and the community 

sector are less 

vulnerable to the 

shocks of austerity, 

budget cuts and 

economic recession.  

 

An economy where 

decision making 

power is shifted from 

corporate managers 

and shareholders to a 

larger group of public 

stakeholders 

including, workers, 

customers and the 

community.  

 

An economy with a 

built-in tendency to 

be to be socially fair 

and ecologically 

stable. A generative 

economy is built on a 

foundation of 

stakeholder 

ownership designed 

to generate and 

preserve real wealth 

that is shared by 

communities.  

 

The Strategy has three objectives: 

 

Page 309



The three strategic objectives will be delivered across the five pillars of the community wealth building as visualised in the diagram 

below.  

P
age 310



How does Community Wealth Building link into our overall ambition 

for Wirral? 

Community Wealth building is a new approach economic development that proposes 

a more common-sense approach to how we create a good local economy. It is 

common sense because it suggests that, rather than relying on inward investment as 

the sole source of wealth, Wirral harnesses its existing wealth in a more democratic 

and resilient manner.  

Community Wealth building fits strategically with our new Wirral Plan 2025. It will 

directly support the Wirral Plan 2025 priority inclusive economy as well supporting a 

wide range of our strategic goals to improve outcomes in relation to health and social 

care, families, environment and housing. All major regeneration projects such as The 

Wirral Growth Company, as well as our commissioning intentions and procurement 

approach should be directed and informed by the principles of Community Wealth 

Building to ensure that there is a coordinated approach across the Council.   

 

Community wealth building will help to deliver on the Wirral 2025 plan by directly 

supporting the 2025 priorities:  

Page 311



 

 

 

 

 

This outcome is linked to the principle 

of plural ownership of the economy. 

Plural ownership is defined as a diverse 

blend of ownership models including 

small enterprises, community 

organisations, cooperatives, insourcing 

and forms of municipal ownership. 

These models allow the wealth created 

by users, workers and local 

communities to be held by them rather 

than flowing out as profits to 

shareholders.  

 

Plural Ownership can take a variety of 

forms:  

1. Businesses with explicitly 

democratic forms of ownership e.g. 

community owned businesses, 

community interest companies, 

worker owned cooperatives, public-

commons partnerships etc (for the 

purpose of this report we will call 

these social businesses).  

2. Advancing the role of SMEs in a 

local economy, especially when 

compared to big businesses.  

3. Municipal forms of ownership e.g. 

local authority insourcing.  

 

What is Wirral already doing?  

 

▪ As regards insourcing, Wirral has a 

number of businesses that it wholly 

or jointly owns: 

o Edsential; 

o Wirral Evolutions; and  

o The Wirral Growth Company.  

 

 

 

 

 

▪ Wirral is working with Capacity Lab 

and Lloyds Bank, a partnership to 

help community groups strengthen 

their organisation and access more 

funding and support to ensure they 

are not disadvantaged in the 

tendering and commissioning 

services.  

▪ We commission Community Action 

Wirral to provide support to the 

community, Voluntary and Faith 

Sector. This includes advice and 

guidance on set up, funding 

applications and development as 

well as connecting the social sector 

in Wirral. 

▪ Our partners, Wirral Chamber of 

Commerce have set up a specific 

department responsible for the 

start-up and support of community 

and voluntary sector organisations.  

 

What else will Wirral do?   

1. Encourage the development of 

the social business sector.  

Businesses with different models of 

democratic ownership are less 

developed in the Wirral (compared 

to e.g. Liverpool). An 

underdeveloped sector will limit our 

other outcomes, as well as our 

overall objectives. We will explore 

how a social business network could 

support new and existing 

democratic businesses and 

increases awareness of other types 

of ownership. We will look to other 

examples of development networks 

 

Outcome 1: Residents of Wirral have ownership of 

the economy and have a say in what happens to the 

wealth generated by their communities. 
 

Page 312



in places such as Preston, 

Barcelona, Cleveland and 

Mondragon to design a network that 

works for Wirral. This will be 

supported by CLES and Capacity 

lab and supported by organisations 

such as the Wirral Chamber of 

Commerce, Involve Northwest and 

Community Action Wirral. We will 

need to understand what the sector 

needs to grow, and we will explore 

ways to do this.  An example of how 

this has been achieved elsewhere 

involves lending to social 

businesses using funds from a 

Public Works Loan Board. There are 

already a number of successful 

examples throughout the UK, 

including Hull City Council lending to 

the Goodwin Development Trust 

and Plymouth City Council’s 

investment in Plymouth Community 

Energy.  

 

2. Explore additional routes for 

municipal ownership 

Wirral Council is also committed to 

ensuring that municipal ownership 

is considered across appropriate 

sectors. In doing so, there will also 

be a focus on collaboration with 

local residents, for example through 

public-commons partnerships 

(PCPs). A Public Commons 

Partnership (PCP) is an 

arrangement between a public 

institution and a commons 

association such as a cooperative or 

community interest company. PCPs 

will be explored to assess what role 

they can play in community wealth 

building in the Wirral.  

 

 

How will we measure success? 

- Net new social businesses 

created. 

- Increase in value of the sector. 

-  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 313



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To achieve this outcome, we will need 

dense local supply chains, comprising 

SMEs, employee owned businesses, 

social enterprises, cooperatives and 

other forms of community businesses.  

 

The purpose of this work is not to get 

100% of local anchor spent to be within 

Wirral but is instead to ensure that as 

much social value is extracted from this 

spend as possible. 

 

What is Wirral already doing?  

▪ In 2017/18, Wirral Council spent 

£131.9 million on contracts for 

goods, works and and services. A 

analysis of this spend found that the 

council spends 46% (£61.3million) 

with suppliers in the Wirral and 71% 

(93.8million) with suppliers in 

Merseyside. 69% (£90.6million) was 

spent with SMEs.  

 

For comparison, Preston, which has 

embedded a community wealth  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

building approach, started off in 

2012 spending 5% and 39% which 

has increased to 18.2% in Preston 

and 79% in Lancashire (2016/17). 

By having a focus on procuring 

locally, Preston has able to retain an 

extra £200million in the Lancashire 

area. In comparison to Preston, 

Wirral is relatively good at keeping 

spending local, however this 

contrasts with Manchester City 

Council, which spent 74% with 

suppliers in Manchester, and 91% in 

Greater Manchester in 2015/16. 

Although the purpose of this work is 

not to have 100% of anchor spend 

within Wirral (and it is also important 

to recognise the greater potential 

that a council such as Greater 

Manchester has to procure within its 

boundaries), this analysis is useful 

to identify gaps and opportunities for 

social business development.   

▪ Wirral is currently in a partnership 

with Lloyds bank and capacity lab. 

This work will help ensure that more 

social businesses and SME’s are 

prepared and supported to apply for 

contracts from our anchor 

institutions.  

 

▪ Social Value is now an integral part 

of our procurement process, with 

weighting 15%.  

 

▪ The Children and Young People’s 

team have developed partnerships 

 

Outcome 2: Procurement practices of Wirral anchor 

institutions are used to build the wealth of our local 

communities. 
 

Page 314



with companies in the council supply 

chain to support care leavers into 

sustainable employment.   

 

What else will Wirral do?  

1. Increase the amount of goods 

and services procured from 

social businesses in Wirral. 

£73million (55% of procurement 

spend) is spent with just 43 

suppliers in the health and social 

care sector. The healthcare sector is 

our least plural spend, and as such 

the following actions should be 

focussed on, (but not limited to) the 

healthcare sector. We will work with 

other anchors to identify other 

opportunities to use our collective 

buying power.  

 

 

2. Continue to extend and develop 

support for social businesses to 

enable them to access contract 

opportunities. Continue to work 

with Capacity and CLES to analyse 

our procurement spend to identify 

contracts that could be provided by 

more plural elements of the 

economy. The social business 

development network will be used to 

encourage more entrants to the 

market. We will encourage our 

partners to inspect their contracts to 

identify goods and services that 

could be provided by other anchors, 

or the social business sector (e.g. 

pest control).  

 

3. Continue to increase the amount 

of goods and services procured 

from local businesses. This 

strategy aims to increase local 

procurement. We will, with our 

partners, identify gaps that could be 

filled by social businesses and 

cooperatives, and consider the 

development of business to fill gaps 

where there are none already 

available. Where this is not possible, 

the social value policy will be used 

to ensure that businesses that are 

not based in Wirral are still 

supporting our local communities. 

 

4. Monitor the effectiveness of the 

social value policy. Continue to 

monitor effectiveness of the social 

value policy, framework and portal, 

paying particular attention to how 

the social value policy is affecting 

smaller companies and social 

businesses. We are aware of the 

risks that large companies with 

dedicated corporate social 

responsibility (CSR) teams could 

‘swallow up’ Social Value-heavy 

contracts and will take steps to 

ensure that SMEs and social 

businesses get the support they 

need to meet the criteria. 

 

 

5. Link procurement across anchor 

institutions, so that the European 

Single Procurement Document 

(or equivalent post Brexit) also 

covers Council Procurement. We 

will also Build on existing 

discussions with the Wirral 

Partnership to embed social value 

across our partners’ Procurement 

policies.  

 
 

How will we measure success?  

- Measure the increase in spend 

procured from local social 

businesses. 

Page 315



- Measure the increase in social 

businesses applying for, and 

successfully winning public 

sector contracts. 

- Monitor unsuccessful contract 

bids to asses if the social value 

policy is putting social 

businesses at a disadvantage. 

- Measure the social value 

obtained from contracts.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 316



 

 

 

 

The function and ownership of these 

assets will be strengthened to ensure 

any gain is harnessed by citizens. 

Community use of assets will be 

developed and extended.  

 

What is Wirral already doing?  

▪ 20 community asset transfers in the 

last ten years. 

 

▪ Supporting Make CIC to set up 

Make Hamilton Square in the 

treasury building.  

 

▪ Supporting the New Ferry 

Community Land Trust. The CLT 

has been set up and is run by local 

people to develop and manage 

homes as well as other assets. 

 

▪ Asset management strategy that 

lead to the One Wirral Public Estate 

Group, which brings together all 

public sector bodies in a locality to 

work together on land and property 

management.   

 

What else will Wirral do?  

1. Ensure council assets are used 

for the benefit of the local 

community.  Council assets play a 

socially beneficial role in the in the 

local community. Community 

Connectors and other networks 

such as Wirral Community of 

Practice will be used to inform  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

communities about the council’s 

new community wealth building 

approach to asset management. To 

do this we will promote Community 

Right to Bid to add to the community 

asset register. The Council will also 

work with groups that have had 

successful and unsuccessful asset 

transfers to determine how the asset 

transfer policy needs to change 

align to the community wealth 

building strategy. The Council will 

continue to support the social 

business sector to ensure that the 

sector is able to take on assets that 

are important to local communities. 

The Social Business network would 

play a key role in linking up new and 

existing social businesses with 

potential assets for use or transfer.  

Current assets (e.g. Birkenhead 

Market) could be used to facilitate in 

this in the form of incubators, 

coworking spaces etc.  

 

2. Build on existing discussions 

with the Wirral Partnership to 

explore use of public sector 

assets.  

 

3. Encourage the set-up of 

Community Land Trusts. Promote 

the creation of community land 

trusts to allow residents to take the 

regeneration into their own hands. 

This could be as simple as the 

council taking a step back and 

transferring properties into the 

hands of CLTs. 

 
Outcome 3: Council land and assets are used as a 

base to build community wealth. 

 

Page 317



 

How will we measure success? 

- Increase in the number of 

community asset transfers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Increase in the number of assets 

on community assets register. 

- Increase in the number of 

community land trusts. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 318



 

 

 

 

 

In the past, regeneration in post-

industrial towns has relied on attracting 

national and international inward 

investment. Regeneration based on 

this type of investment can be volatile 

and often comes with conditions (e.g. 

Community Infrastructure Levey 

exemptions or grants from Government 

to encourage companies to invest). In 

this scenario, capital acts as a master. 

Alternatively, Community Wealth 

building aims for stakeholder finance, 

where capital acts as a friend and 

partner working to support the finance 

needs of the community. We can 

increase investment in local economies 

by harnessing the wealth that exists 

locally, instead of attracting national or 

international capital. 
 

 

What is Wirral already doing?  

▪ Wirral, along with Liverpool, Preston 

and the Community Savings Bank 

Association are looking to set up a 

North West Community Bank. 

Setting up a community bank is a 

key way to keep wealth in the 

borough. It will also help to address 

financial exclusion, by ensuring that 

our residents have access to 

financial services. Our approach to 

financial exclusion is detailed in the 

appendix. 

 

▪ Power to Change, have a 

nationwide £150million fund to  

 

▪  

 

▪  

▪  

▪  

 

 
 

support community businesses. 

Power to Change are keen to 

support and grow the sector in 

Wirral, starting with an event in 

Birkenhead Town Hall October 

2019. We are looking to develop this 

further with the Wirral Chamber of 

Commerce.  

 

What else will Wirral do?  

1. Work with Power to Change, 

Wirral Chamber of Commerce, 

Community Action Wirral and the 

Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority to grow the community 

business sector. Crucially, we will 

ensure that any grant-led 

investment is focused around 

increasing financial resilience, so 

our social businesses are able to 

survive beyond initial funding cycles 

and achieve long-term stability.  

 

2. Explore opportunities around 

increasing investment into the 

Wirral from the Merseyside 

pension fund. Wirral Council is the 

administrator of the Merseyside 

Pension Fund. A £9billion fund that 

has members in 208 organisations 

across Merseyside. MPF has the 

Catalyst Fund for local investment. 

This fund is 1% of the Merseyside 

pension fund (£90million) has 

invested £42million over three loan 

facilities to projects all based in 

Liverpool. There needs to be more 

 

Outcome 4: Wealth that exists in the Wirral is 

harnessed to increase investment in local 

communities. 
 

Page 319



consideration to the spread of this 

fund, to ensure that is fairly 

distributed across all the councils in 

the Liverpool City Region, and that 

investments build local wealth. We 

will work with other councils in the 

LCR and with the Merseyside 

Pension Fund to ensure that this 

occurs. We should also explore the 

possibility of increasing this fund. 

The Lancashire Pension Fund 

(£8billion) is slightly smaller than the  

Merseyside pension fund (£9billion) 

yet has committed to £100million of 

investments in Preston and a further 

£100million in the rest of 

Lancashire.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How will we measure success?  

- Number of Wirral residents and 

businesses banking with the 

North West community bank.  

- Amount of funds raised through 

crowdfunding. 

- Money, time and support 

invested by Power to Change. 

- Number of social business 

created through support from 

Power to Change. 

- Money invested in the Wirral 

from the Merseyside Pension 

Fund. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 320



 

 

 

 

 

 

Anchor institutions often have 

thousands of staff and it is up to us to 

lead the way and increase  recruitment 

from within areas of high 

unemployment and deprivation, commit 

to paying the real living wage and build 

progression routes for workers to 

encourage them to stay and work in the 

area. Anchor institutions can also use 

the power of procurement to ensure 

that businesses in their supply chains 

are held to the best possible standards.   

 

What is Wirral already doing?  

Many anchor institutions in Wirral 

already employ mostly Wirral 

Residents. There are a number of other 

programmes to support our residents to 

find work.  

• The Wirral Ways to Work 

Programme supports eligible young 

people into education, employment 

and training. Wirral Ways to Work is 

funded in part by the European 

Union and has supported over 2800 

residents into employment or further 

training.  

 

• Wirral apprenticeship scheme looks 

to employ young residents of the 

Wirral in the Council. The scheme 

follows gives young people the skills 

they need to succeed, provides 

them with good quality jobs, and 

helps to develop the future 

workforce of the council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Discussions are taking place with 

the Wirral Partnership to link 

workforce priorities. 

 

What else will Wirral do?  

1. Link Workforce priorities across 

anchor institutions. Work with our 

anchor institutions to ensure that 

talent stays in the borough, 

considering sideways movements 

across anchor institutions to 

develop skills while not losing talent 

to surrounding boroughs. Work 

within the Liverpool City Region to 

ensure that Local Wealth Building is 

at the core of the Local Industrial 

Strategy. 

 

2. Investigate methods to advance 

social inclusion through 

apprenticeship funding and in 

work progression. Build on our 

successes with the Wirral Ways to 

Work and apprenticeship scheme. 

These programmes could form a 

vital part of the Social Business 

Network by providing extra staff to 

cooperatives and community 

businesses. Advance social 

inclusion through employment 

creation e.g. Social Care as a 

workforce opportunity should be 

considered as a key priority; ideas 

and methods of delivery, such as 

training school leavers to work in 

care or attracting workers into the 

sector with the promise of a 

 

Outcome 5: Residents of Wirral are in secure and 

quality employment with progression opportunities 

and good terms and conditions. 
 

Page 321



structured ‘skills escalator’, should 

be investigated. 

 

3. Ensure that workers in the 

businesses we procure goods 

and services from treat their 

employees fairly. Build on our 

social value policy to include 

employee terms and conditions in 

our measures e.g. are employees 

paid at least the real living wage and 

have secure employment (i.e. no 

zero-hour contracts). Part of this 

work will also involve collaboration 

with trade union to ensure best 

practice in all procurement supply 

chains.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How will we measure success?  

- Percentage of people claiming 

out of work benefits in targeted 

areas recruitment areas. 

- Percentage of young people 

aged 16 and 17 who are NEET 

or categorised as ‘not known’. 

- Percentage of people earning on 

or above the real living wage.  

- Number of new apprenticeships 

starts.  

- Decrease in the number of 

employees on zero-hour 

contracts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 322



Appendix 1: Financial Inclusion  

Introduction 

‘Financial inclusion’ means that individuals, regardless of their background or income, 

have access to useful, affordable and appropriate financial products and services. 

These include products and services such as banking, credit, insurance, pensions and 

savings, as well as transactions and payment systems, and the use of financial 

technology (Department for Work and Pensions, 2019). Not having access to these 

products and services is known as financial exclusion.  

Financial inclusion relates to access to financial products and services; financial 

capability is a person’s ability to manage their money well, and also includes their 

capacity to use, and maximise their use of, financial products and services. 

Since the introduction of basic bank accounts (accounts with no overdraft facility, 

designed for those with bad credit scores), the number of people in the UK without a 

bank account has decreased, although there are still 1.25 million ‘unbanked’ in the 

UK. This is generally taken as a guide to the amount of people who are financially 

excluded. It is questionable whether holding a basic bank account constitutes true 

financial inclusion, as this figure does not take into account the amount of people that 

are unable to access affordable credit, are unable to pay for bills via direct debit or 

have no insurance, pensions or savings. Using the DWP’s definition of financial 

inclusion indicates that there may be as a many as 13 million people that are financially 

excluded (Financial Inclusion Commission , 2015). 

People can fall in and out of financial exclusion at any point in their lives. Low income 

and unemployment are by far the biggest indicators of financial exclusion, but there 

are other groups at risk. Those most at risk of financial exclusion are: young people 

not in employment, education or training; care leavers; lone parents; people with 

disabilities or mental health problems; carers; people with poor or no credit history; 

people with County Court Judgements against them; people living in isolated or 

disadvantaged areas; prisoners and ex-offenders and families of prisoners; people 

from minority ethnic communities; migrants; refugees and asylum seekers; older 

people; women; housing association tenants; people who are homeless and people 

with a post office card account or basic bank account(Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 

2008).  

The Government have taken some steps to tackle financial exclusion, such as setting 

up the financial inclusion policy forum. The forum has led to a feasibility study for a no-

interest loans scheme, a prize-linked savings scheme pilot for credit unions and a £2 

million fund harnessing UK fintech innovation to help social and community lenders. 

Fair4all Finance has also been established to deliver £55 million from dormant assets 

towards financial inclusion initiatives over the next three years. 

 

 

 

Page 323



Understanding Financial Exclusion 

Financial exclusion is a complex issue and people can be excluded from one or a 

number of financial products and services:  

Banking 

There are 1.25 million people in the UK without a bank account – a group of people 

who are clearly financially excluded. However, simply having a bank account is not a 

clear indication of financial inclusion, as about half of basic bank account holders 

prefer to withdraw all their money each week and manage it as cash. Some people 

prefer to do this because it gives them more control over their finances than using a 

bank account that does not suit their needs, or because they have a basic bank 

account that comes only with a cash card (National Consumer Council, 2005).  

Savings  

Savings are important for financial resilience, yet there are 13 million people in the UK 

who do not have enough savings to support them for one month if they experienced a 

25% cut in income. For some people, savings products are not suitable or rewarding 

enough when savings small sums. For others their monthly budget simply does not 

stretch to allow for savings.  

Credit 

The financial inclusion commission estimate that at least £3 million people in the UK 

use high cost credit as they are unable to access any other forms of credit. High cost 

credit includes high cost short term credit (payday loans), home collected credit, 

catalogue credit and store cards, rent to own, buy now pay later offers and overdrafts.  

For many households, credit is a necessity that is used to pay for everyday essentials; 

In 2013, 77% of people who took out a payday loan used it to pay for food ( Friends 

Provident Foundation, 2016). The demand for low-cost credit is high, and without 

which many people find themselves turning to high cost credit to supplement their 

income. There are few options available: high cost, high pressure (but licensed) sub-

prime lenders and informal and illegal borrowing. Research has found that lenders on 

the subprime market often have high APRs, additional costs and confusing and 

punitive terms and conditions. This can lead families into an endless cycle of borrowing 

and debt (Whyley, 2010 ). Fees and charges can further increase the cost of credit; in 

2016, more than 50% of bank’s unarranged overdraft fees came from just 1.5% of 

customers. People in deprived areas are more likely to incur these fees.  

Access to cash  

The amount of transactions carried out in cash has reduced from 6 in 10, in 2009 to 3 

in 10 today. Many people still rely on cash, with 9% saying that they withdraw cash to 

avoid the risk of overspending. People in more deprived areas are more likely to rely 

on cash for day to day spending, yet deprived areas have been hardest hit by ATM 

closures, with 5.7% of free cash machines closed compared to 3.9% in the more 

affluent areas. Holding a basic bank account can further restrict access to cash, with 

Page 324



8% of basic bank account holders finding accessing free cash difficult compared to 

4% of standard current account holders (Access to Cash , 2019). 

Insurance  

Half of households in the bottom half of the income distribution do not have home 

contents insurance. This is a concern, as households without home contents 

insurance are three times more likely to be burgled than households with insurance 

(Financial Inclusion Commission , 2015). There are a number of reasons why 

households do not hold insurance:  

- For households on a budget, insurance premiums are often low on the list of 

priorities.  

- Home contents insurance usually has a minimum value limit, leading 

households to be over insured.  

Insurance products on offer are neither appropriate nor affordable for those on low 

incomes.  

 

 

Reasons for Financial Exclusion  

People can face financial exclusion in one of more of the ways outlined below: 

Geographical exclusion 

Financial exclusion can result from branch closures. Elderly people who may not be 

confident using online banking and those in deprived areas are most likely to be 

geographically excluded. High street banks have collectively closed 990 branches in 

the most deprived areas of the country since 2010, compared with 230 in the richest 

local authorities. Also on the increase is the number of families that are geographically 

excluded (Financial Inclusion Commission , 2015). It is often assumed that families 

can avoid this type of exclusion through use of the internet, however many families 

only have internet on their phone, and many financial products can only be applied for 

through the full website, not the mobile site. 

Condition exclusion 

Failure to qualify for products because of the minimum deposit required, poor credit 

history or identity requirements. People with insecure housing, or without a home will 

have trouble producing the necessary documents to verify their address. People with 

low income and no identity documents may not be able to afford to purchase a form 

of photographic identity or replace items such as birth certificates. Condition exclusion 

can also include exclusion from direct debits, and their associated savings. Those with 

poor credit history will often be forced onto prepayment energy systems that can cost 

significantly more than direct debits.  

 

 

Page 325



Price exclusion 

This is related to the relative cost of financial products and services such as 

unauthorised overdrafts or insurance.  

Marketing exclusion 

Some less profitable groups of customers are not targeted by providers and so they 

are unaware of the financial services available. Banks tend to not advertise basic bank 

accounts as they operate at a loss for the bank as they cannot generate income from 

overdraft charges.  

Self-exclusion 

Cultural and psychological barriers can contribute to financial exclusion, seeing 

financial services as ‘not for people like us’.  

 

Financial Capability 

Financial capability relates to a person’s ability to use, and maximise their use of, 

financial products and services. Financial exclusion and financial capability are linked; 

however, it is important to note that financial exclusion is not caused by financial 

incapability. People on higher incomes can have low financial capability but will have 

a ‘cushion’ of financial assets and access to affordable credit that prevents them from 

becoming financially excluded.  

The Financial Services Authority (2006) (replaced by the Financial Conduct Authority 

in 2013) identified the five areas of financial capability as:  

1. Being able to manage money;  

2. Keeping track of finances; 

3. Planning ahead;  

4. Choosing financial products; and  

5. Staying informed about financial matters.  

To improve financial inclusion, it is essential that individuals feel confident and capable 

of making the right decisions for themselves and their families.  

The challenge here is how to ensure residents become more financially capable. The 

best empirical work finds that financial education is not likely to have major lasting 

effects on knowledge and especially on behaviour. It can however increase confidence 

and provide people with different options for accessing credit and savings products.  

The Financial Conduct Authority found that 61% of payday loan borrowers and 41% 

of short-term instalment borrowers have a lower level of confidence managing their 

money than the wider adult population (24%).  

 

Implications of financial exclusion 

The Poverty Premium 

Page 326



It has been shown that households with low income pay more for goods and services. 

This is known as the poverty premium and is estimated at an average of £490 per 

household per year (Davies, Finney, & Hartfree, 2016).  Low income and poverty are 

the biggest indicator of financial exclusion; the two issues are deeply linked and 

ensuring that residents are financially included can reduce the poverty premium paid 

by those who can least afford it.  

The University of Bristol has found that the poverty premium is paid through the 

following categories:  

1. Use of prepayment meters for fuel - £38 

2. Use of non-standard methods of bill payment (excluding prepayment meters) - 

£84 

3. Not switched to best fuel tariff - £233 

4. Paper billing - £12 

5. Area-based premiums (e.g. insurance and grocery shopping) - £84 

6. Insurance of individual items - £27 

7. Access to money (e.g. fee charging cash machines) - £9 

8. Higher cost credit - £55 

Not all low income households experience all of the categories, and the premiums 

households experience can range from an average of £350 among ‘premium 

minimisers’ to £750 among the ‘highly exposed’ (Davies, Finney, & Hartfree, 2016).  

The categories through which households pay the poverty premium are directly linked 

to the financial exclusion definition. It is clear that those on low incomes subject to the 

poverty premium are not able to access financial products that are useful, affordable 

or appropriate.  

Debt 

Financial debt has increased in the UK; driven by an increase in both the levels of 

debt, and the number of households with debt (Office for National Statistics , 2018). 

After adjusting for inflation, credit, store and charge card debt increased by £1 billion 

(4%) from 2016 to 2018. The poorest households are more likely to have financial 

debt, and this debt is more likely to make up a large proportion of their total wealth. In 

2018, the lowest income household’s total value of debt was three times the total value 

of their wealth. From the years 2016 to 2018, 15% of the poorest households had 

problem debt.  

High Cost Short Term Credit (HCSTC), also known as payday loans, have become 

part of many household’s financial management. Changes made by the Financial 

Conduct Authority to payday loans (including price caps and stronger guidance around 

credit checks) have decreased the number of payday loans from their highest in 2013 

(around 10 million loans per year) to 5.4 million in 2018. They are however, on the 

increase. The FCA found that those using HCSTC are likely to be overindebted.   

Non-Financial Implications  

While the effect of financial exclusion on health wellbeing has not been thoroughly 

researched, there is research that documents the negative impact of debt on an 

Page 327



individual’s physical and mental health (Sweet, 2013) (Jenkins, 2008) (Drentea, 2000). 

The view of debt as a personal failure is associated with significantly worse health 

across a range of measures, including blood pressure, adiposity, self-reported 

physical and emotional symptoms, depression, anxiety, and perceived stress (Sweet 

E. , 2018). Poor health related to debt can become a vicious cycle: time off work due 

to depression or other health problems caused by debt can leave the individual with 

less money to reduce their debt, which could cause a further deterioration in their 

health.  

  

The Wirral Context 

17.4% of Wirral residents experience income deprivation. This overall figure however 

masks the large variation between areas. For example, 58% of residents in 

Birkenhead East Float face income deprivation compared to 0% in Caldy South. Of 

the Borough’s 206 Lower Super Output areas, 65 are classed as being in the 20% 

most income deprived in England. 64 of these are in the east of the borough. Low 

income is the biggest indicator of financial exclusion; using the figure of 17.4% 

indicates that more than 56,000 residents of the Wirral are at risk.  

Other groups at risk of financial exclusion are the unemployed and those with mental 

health problems. 3.6% of people in Wirral claim benefits principally for the reason of 

being unemployed. This is slightly higher than the Northwest (3.3%) and higher than 

England as a whole (2.6%). Again, this figure again masks the large variation in 

claimants between wards, with 10% of residents in Birkenhead and Tranmere claiming 

benefits for unemployment compared to 0.8% for Clatterbridge. Residents with mental 

health conditions account for more than half of the total (52%) of ESA claims. This rate 

is slightly higher in the more deprived wards, accounting for 60% of claims in 

Birkenhead and Tranmere.  

Mosaic profiling can also be used to estimate the amount of people in Wirral at risk of 

financial exclusion. Mosaic is a geo-demographic population classification tool. It is 

constructed from a range of sources including the Census, consumer behaviour, 

financial data, hospital episode statistics (HES) and lifestyle factor data. The table 

below gives a short description of Mosaic groups:  

 

Page 328



 

 

 

 

 

The following profiles in Wirral are most at risk of financial exclusion, and are 

concentrated on the east of the borough:  

Page 329



L – Transient Renters: Single people privately renting low cost homes for the short 

term.  

Although this group has an average household income of £20,000 - £29,000, they are 

young (18-25), private renters with a low length of residence. Having a low length of 

residence could leave them conditionally excluded from financial products and 

services by not having proof of address.   

M – Family basics: Families with limited resources who have to budget to make ends 

meet.  

Families budgeting to make ends meet are unlikely to have savings, making them 

vulnerable to financial knocks that could lead them into high cost credit. Low income 

puts this group at risk of financial exclusion.  

N – Vintage Value: Elderly people reliant on support to meet financial or practical 

needs.  

Elderly people that need to support for financial or practical needs will also need 

support to be financially included. This group may be particularly vulnerable to bank 

branch closures, as only 30% of people aged 65+ use online banking.  

O – Municipal Challenge: Urban renters of social housing facing an array of 

challenges.  

Mosaic data shows that this group is most likely to be unbanked and therefore most 

at risk of financial exclusion.  

Using the mosaic profiles indicates that there are over 117,000 residents of Wirral 

likely to be at risk of financial exclusion.  

 

Strategic Context  

This strategy should be viewed in conjunction with the Community Wealth Building 

strategy and the Wirral 2025 plan. This strategy supports the Wirral 2025 plan priorities 

Inclusive Economy and Brighter Futures.  

Access to savings products, insurance and affordable credit can help to support the 

inclusive economy and brighter futures priorities by ensuring that our poorest residents 

aren’t paying more for goods and services.  

This strategy will support brighter futures by ensuring that families have access to 

financial products and services as well as the financial capability to choose the right 

products for them. This will contribute to their financial resilience, making sure that 

families are able to withstand financial knocks such as job loss or burglaries, and be 

able to access affordable credit if an unexpected expense arises. The Inclusive 

Economy priority of the Wirral 2025 plan has a focus on building an economy that 

works for people and place and this cannot be delivered if some of our residents are 

outside of the financial system.  

Page 330



Financial exclusion reinforces social exclusion. It is not just an individual problem; a 

whole community can suffer from under-investment in financial services. As such, 

financial inclusion initiatives can form an important part of regeneration and community 

wealth building.  

 

Strategic Objectives and Outcomes  

1. Support residents find employment in stable, well paid jobs. 

Low income and unemployment are by far the biggest indicator of financial exclusion, 

and so a key strategic objective should be to ensure that residents our residents are 

in stable, high quality jobs. This is a key target objective of many strategies in the 

council, including the community wealth building strategy and the Wirral 2025 Plan.  

Outcomes 

- More residents helped into work. 

- More residents earning the real living wage. 

- More residents in education, employment or training. 

 

2. Help overindebted residents to overcome their debt and promote responsible 

borrowing. 

Outcomes 

- More residents accessing a full range of advice and guidance.  

- More residents aware of illegal and high-risk borrowing. 

- More residents are aware of the physical and mental health issues related to 

debt. 

- Fewer residents with multiple or problem debt. 

 

3. Improve access to mainstream financial products and services and ensure that 

residents have the knowledge and confidence to make financial decisions that are 

right for them. 

Outcomes  

- More residents have access to basic bank accounts. 

- More residents have access to affordable credit options. 

- More residents will be saving regularly 

- Residents will be more aware of different financial products and services  

- Residents will be more confident in making financial decisions 

 

 

 

Page 331



Working in Partnership  

There are a number of organisations in the Wirral already working to support residents 

with financial and debt advice, such as the Wirral Advisory Centre, the Citizens Advice 

Bureau and Wirral Credit Union. There are health implications to financial exclusion 

and as such we will work in partnership with Wirral CCG and other health partners to 

deliver on these outcomes. It is essential that we engage and work with the wider 

partnership to deliver this strategy to ensure that Wirral is a place where residents 

have access to the products, services, knowledge and confidence to manage their 

finances.   

 

 

Page 332



MINUTE EXTRACT

LICENSING, HEALTH AND SAFETY AND GP COMMITTEE

22 JANUARY, 2020

25 REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARES

The Director of Governance and Assurance submitted a report requesting Members 
to consider representations received in respect of a proposed increase to the Hackney 
Carriage fare tariff advertised in accordance with the decision of this Committee on 13 
November 2019.

The Licensing Manager reported that a proposal had been considered by this 
Committee on 13 November 2019 to increase the Hackney Carriage Tariffs that had 
been submitted by a representative of Unite the Union.  

Members were advised that in accordance with the statutory requirement the proposed 
increase had been advertised for a period of fourteen days.  Six objections to the 
proposed increase had been received by the Licensing Authority and the organiser of 
the petition that had been submitted to the Committee on 13 November 2019 had 
requested the petition also be considered, however he had advised that he was unable 
to attend this meeting.

Mr D Cummins, Unite the Union addressed the Committee, he informed Members that 
all drivers would not be satisfied, however, he requested that the proposed increase 
be agreed.

On a motion by Councillor D Mitchell and seconded by Councillor K Greaney it 
was – 

Resolved (9:2) (1 abstention) – That the approval of the proposed increase to 
the Hackney Carriage fare tariff be recommended to Cabinet.

Page 333

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING HEALTH AND SAFETY AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

22 JANUARY 2020

REPORT TITLE REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARES

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND ASSURANCE

REPORT SUMMARY
The purpose of this report is for the Committee to consider representations received 
in respect of a proposed increase to the Hackney Carriage fare tariff advertised in 
accordance with the decision of this Committee on 13 November 2019. 

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough.

RECOMMENDATION/S
That the Committee consider the representations made following a recent consultation 
exercise and determine whether to recommend to the Cabinet the approval of the 
proposed increase to the Hackney Carriage fare tariff.

Page 335



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 A proposal to increase the Hackney Carriage Tariffs has been submitted by 
Unite the Union which has been subject to statutory consultation. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Hackney Carriage Tariffs remain unchanged.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 On 13 November 2019 the Committee considered a proposal submitted by a 
Unite the Union representative to increase the Hackney Carriage Tariffs.  A 
petition containing 51 signatures objecting to the increase was also submitted 
to the Committee.

3.2 A table comparing the current and proposed rates is shown at Appendix 1.  A 
table showing the effect of the proposed increases is attached at Appendix 2.  

3.3 The Committee resolved that the proposal be approved, subject to any 
objections being received as part of the consultation process.  

3.4 The proposed increase was advertised for a period of fourteen days in a local 
Wirral newspaper, in accordance with the statutory requirement. Six objections 
to the proposed increase have been received by the Licensing Authority. The 
organiser of the petition submitted to the Committee on 13 November 2019 has 
requested that the petition should also be considered alongside the separate 
objections.

3.5 The representations are attached at Appendix 3 and 4.

3.6 The Committee are asked to consider whether to recommend to the Cabinet 
the approval of the proposed increase to the Hackney Carriage Tariffs in light 
of the representations received as part of the consultation process.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The cost of £98.49 for the public advertisement will be recovered from licence 
fees.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Section 65(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
gives the power to set hackney carriage fares to the local authority as follows:

1 A District Council may fix the rates or fares within the district as well for 
time as distance, and all other charges in connection with the hire of a 

Page 336



vehicle or with the arrangements for the hire of a vehicle; to be paid in 
respect of the hire of a hackney carriage by means of a table (hereafter 
in this section referred to as a ‘table of fares’) made or varied in 
accordance with the provisions of this section. 

2 When a District Council make or vary a table of fares they shall publish 
in at least one local newspaper circulating in the district a notice setting 
out the table of fares or the variation thereof and specifying the period, 
which shall not be less than fourteen days from the date of first 
publication of the notice, within which and the manner in which 
objections to the table of fares or variation can be made.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS 

6.1 There may be an impact on resources in the Licensing Team as following any 
change in the Hackney Carriage Tariffs it is necessary to verify that the meters 
in the Hackney Carriages have been calibrated to take into account the changes 
and new fare tariff cards are issued to all Hackney Carriage Drivers.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The decision whether to increase the Hackney Carriage Fares may have an 
impact on what members of the public reasonably expect to pay and whether 
drivers have sufficient incentive to provide a service when it is needed. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The guiding principles for a fair consultation can be summarised as follows;

• It should be at a time when proposals are at a formative stage;
• Must include sufficient reasons for particular proposals to allow those 

consulted to give intelligent consideration and an intelligent response;
• Those consulted should be made aware of the factors that are of decisive 

relevance to the decision;
• Adequate time should be given for consideration and response;
• The product of the consultation should be conscientiously taken into 

account by the decision makers in finalising their statutory proposals/ 
when the ultimate decision is taken.

8.2 The proposal has been advertised for fourteen days in a local Wirral newspaper, 
in accordance with the statutory requirement.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality?

Page 337



Yes and impact review is attached - https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-
and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-
assessments-2017/busine-0

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Hackney Carriage Vehicles contribute to harmful emissions. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Margaret O’Donnell
Licensing Manager
telephone:  (0151) 691 8606
email:   margaretodonnell@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Table comparing current and proposed Hackney Carriage Tariffs

Appendix 2 – Table showing the effect of the proposed increase 
Appendix 3 – Individual objections to proposed increase
Appendix 4 – Petition of 51 signatures objecting to proposed increase

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Licensing Health and Safety and General Purposes 
Committee

27 January 2016

23 November 2016

25 January 2017

18 July 2018

18 September 2019

13 November 2019

Page 338

mailto:margaretodonnell@wirral.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Comparison of current and proposed Hackney Carriage tariffs

Current rate Proposed rate 

TARIFF 1

First 300 yards £3.20

First 289 yards £3.20

Each subsequent 230 yards 20p

Each subsequent 221 yards 20p

TARIFF 2

First 300 yards £3.60

First 289 yards £3.60

Each subsequent 175 yards 20p

Each subsequent 169 yards 20p

TARIFF 3

First 300 yards £3.80

First 289 yards £3.80

Each subsequent 165 yards 20p

Each subsequent 159 yards 20p

TARIFF 4

First 300 yards £6.00

First 289 yards £6.00

Each subsequent 230 yards 40p

Each subsequent 221 yards 40p

Page 339



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2
Table showing effect of the proposal

Distance Fare based on 
current tariff

Fare based on 
proposed tariff 

Percentage 
increase

1 mile £4.60 £4.60 0.0%

2 miles £6.00 £6.20 3.2%

3 miles £7.60 £7.80 2.6%

4 miles £9.20 £9.40 2.2%

5 miles £10.60 £11.00 3.8%

 

Tariff 1

10 miles £18.40 £19.00 3.3%

1 mile £5.40 £5.40 0.0%

2 miles £7.40 £7.60 2.7%

3 miles £9.40 £9.60 2.1%

4 miles £11.40 £11.60 1.8%

5 miles £13.40 £13.80 3.0%

Tariff 2

10 miles £23.40 £24.20 3.3%

1 mile £5.60 £5.80 3.6%

2 miles £7.80 £8.00 2.6%

3 miles £10.00 £10.20 2.0%

4 miles £12.00 £12.40 3.3%

5 miles £14.20 £14.60 2.8%

Tariff 3

10 miles £24.80 £25.60 3.2%

1 mile £8.80 £8.80 0.0%

2 miles £11.60 £12.00 3.4%

3 miles £14.80 £15.20 2.6%

4 miles £18.00 £18.40 2.2%

5 miles £20.80 £21.60 3.8%

Tariff 4

10 miles £36.40 £37.20 3.3%

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Document is Restricted

Page 355

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 409

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Executive Key Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers
	Exec Member Decision Form - Pollinators Action Plan

	4 Wirral Growth Company
	D. APPENDIX 3 BCD Redline Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	E. Appendix 4 LLP and Council Objectives
	F. Appendix 5 Moreton Foxfield Redline Plan
	G. Appendix 6 Moreton Pasture Road Redline Plan
	H. Appendix 7 Bromborough Old Hall Lane Redline Plan

	5 Wirral Youth Offer - Phase 1
	Enc. 1 for Wirral Youth Offer

	6 Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled Primary and Secondary Schools and the Coordinated Admission Schemes for 2021-2022
	Appendix 1 - Primary Admission Scheme
	Appendix 2 - Secondary Admission Scheme

	7 Consideration of Proposal To Implement Selective Licensing Following Consultation
	Appendix 1: Selective Licensing Business Case 2019
	Appendix 2: Definition of Schemes 1,2 & 3
	Appendix 3: Selective Licensing Consultation Report

	8 Community Wealth Building Strategy
	Appendix A - Community Wealth Building Strategy

	9 Review of Hackney Carriage Fares
	HCV TARIFF REPORT JAN 2020
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3 Tariff reps
	Appendix 4 petition

	11 Wirral Growth Company - Exempt Appendices
	C. EXEMPT Appendix 2 BCD FBC Final Version


